DNA Methylation and Transgenerational Stress Memories in Arabidopsis thaliana

Tom Sean Smith

PhD

The University of York

Biology

September 2013

I. Abstract

The long-standing proposition that plants may pass on a memory of stress events to the following generations is again gaining interest now that a plausible mechanism has been identified. Specifically, changes in DNA methylation, a dynamic epigenetic mark which regulates gene expression, can be inherited. Whilst indirect evidence indicates transgenerational stress memories may involve perturbations to the DNA methylome, we are still some way from identifying specific regions of the epigenome which can carry a memory of stress to the following generations. This research therefore sought to establish to what extent stress-induced changes in DNA methylation are inherited and what regions of the genome are epigenetically regulated in the progeny of stressed plants.

A novel stress memory was observed in the progeny of *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants subjected zinc stress. This stress memory was observed to be stable over an untreated generation and appears to be specific to zinc. RNA-Seq analysis suggests that the progeny of zinc stressed plants display an altered transcriptome relative to control progeny in the absence of stress. Genes involved in iron uptake in the roots, which are upregulated in zinc stress, show a reduced expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants. Biochemical analysis identified alterations in iron uptake in the zinc stress progeny. The activity of the jasmonate signalling pathways also appears to be altered in the zinc stress progeny.

Wide-scale changes in DNA methylation were not observed during zinc stress or in the progeny of zinc stressed plants. Indeed, the DNA methylation profile of *Arabidopsis thaliana* was observed to be stable in response to a variety of stress conditions. Additionally, none of the other stressors tested resulted in a stress memory in the progeny. The results presented here suggest that transgenerational stress responses, such as the zinc stress memory identified, are rare in *A.thaliana*.

ii

Contents

I.	Abst	ract	ii
II.	Tabl	es	vii
III.	Figu	res	.ix
IV.	Spec	zial Thanks	xiii
V.	Ack	nowledgements	xiv
VI.	Auth	nor's Declaration	xvi
Cha	pter 1	. General Introduction	17
1	.1	Stress imprinting	19
1	.2	Stress memories	20
1	.3	Transgenerational stress memories	.23
1	.4	Possible mechanisms for transgenerational stress memories	26
1	.5	DNA methylation	.29
	1.5.1	Maintenance of DNA methylation	.30
	1.5.2	2 RNA-dependent DNA methylation	.32
	1.5.3	3 DNA demethylation	.35
	1.5.4	4 Functions of DNA methylation in plants	.36
	1.5.5	5 Dynamics of DNA methylation in A.thaliana	.43
	1.5.0	5 Inheritance of parental DNA methylation profile	.46
	1.5.7	7 DNA methylation as a stress response	.48
1	.6	DNA methylation in stress imprinting, stress memories and transgenerational	
st	ress r	nemories	53
1	.7	How could inherited changes in DNA methylation increase stress tolerance in th	e
p	rogen	y?	56
1	.8	Concluding remarks	59
1	.9	Research aims	59
Cha	pter 2	2. Methods	62
2	.1	Plant cultivation and husbandry	63

2.1.1	Soil	63
2.1.2	2 Agar-plate	64
2.1.3	B Hydroponics	64
2.2	Seed storage	65
2.3	General molecular biology	65
2.3.1	Nucleic acid extractions and analyses	65
2.4	Generation of promoter::GUS lines	66
2.4.1	Biochemistry	67
2.4.2	Cloning with the Gateway® system	68
2.4.3	8 Amplification of promoter sequences and cloning into pCXGUS-P	69
2.4.4	Transformation of Agrobacterium tumefaciens	69
2.4.5	5 Transformation Arabidopsis thaliana	70
2.4.6	Selection of representative lines	
2.4.7	GUS staining protocol	71
2.5	DNA methylation analysis	72
2.5.1	Methylation Sensitive Amplified Polymorphism	72
2.5.2	2 Bisulphite sequencing	74
2.6	Stress treatments	76
2.6.1	Stress treatments for screening	76
2.6.2	2 Stress treatments for examination of stress tolerance	81
2.6.3	Statistical tests applied to identify parental effects	83
2.7	RNA-Seq and Quantitative reverse transcriptase-PCR	85
2.7.1	RNA extraction for RNA-Seq and qRT-PCR	85
2.7.2	2 RNA-Seq	85
2.7.3	Bioinformatics	85
2.7.4	Identification of differentially regulated genes	87
2.7.5	Gene Ontology enrichment analysis	88
2.7.6	6 Quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR	89
2.8	Recipes	90

2.8.1	ATS medium
2.8.2	MS medium90
2.8.3	Agarose gel electrophoresis loading buffer91
2.8.4	Agarose gel electrophoresis running buffer91
2.8.5	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis loading buffer92
Chapter 3. D	NA methylation as a stress response93
3.1 De	veloping methods to investigate the mechanism for stress-dependent changes in
DNA meth	nylation94
3.1.1	Methylation sensitive amplified polymorphism assays
3.2 DN	VA methylation changes in stress
3.2.1	DNA methylation in stress conditions105
3.2.2	DNA methylation in response to PEG stress108
3.3 Pro	omoter activity in response to PEG stress116
3.3.1	Promoter::GUS reporter lines116
3.3.2	Promoter activity117
3.4 Dis	scussion
Chapter 4. Id	entification and characterisation of a novel transgenerational stress memory 126
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide	entification and characterisation of a novel transgenerational stress memory 126 entifying conditions that produce a transgenerational stress memory in
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops	entification and characterisation of a novel transgenerational stress memory 126 entifying conditions that produce a transgenerational stress memory in is thaliana
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops <i>4.1.1</i>	entification and characterisation of a novel transgenerational stress memory 126 entifying conditions that produce a transgenerational stress memory in is thaliana
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops <i>4.1.1</i> <i>4.1.2</i>	Interview Interview Interview
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3	Interview Interview Interview
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.2 Dis	Interview Interview Interview
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.2 Dis 4.2.1	Interview Image: Produce a transgenerational stress memory in a stress memory in a stress tolerance in the progeny of stress treated A.thaliana
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.2 Dis 4.2.1 thaliana	Interview Image: Construction of a novel transgenerational stress memory 126 Interview Image: Construction of a novel transgenerational stress memory in Is thaliana 127 Stress tolerance in the progeny of stress treated A.thaliana 127 Zinc stress results in transgenerational stress memory 137 DNA methylation status in stress and in progeny following stress 146 Scussion 150 Most stressful conditions do not produce a stress memory in Arabidopsis 150
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.2 Dis 4.2.1 thaliand Chapter 5. Tr	Interview
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.2 Dis 4.2.1 thaliand Chapter 5. Tr plants	Interview
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.2 Dis 4.2.1 thaliand Chapter 5. Tr plants	Interview
Chapter 4. Id 4.1 Ide Arabidops 4.1.1 4.1.2 4.1.3 4.2 Dis 4.2.1 thaliand Chapter 5. Tr plants 5.1 RN 5.1.1	Initiation and characterisation of a novel transgenerational stress memory 126 Initiation and characterisation of a novel transgenerational stress memory in is thaliana

5.1	.3 Validation of RNA-Seq results	174
5.1	.4 SMT expression in the progeny of the independent zinc stress experiment	ıt177
5.2	Ferric reductase oxidase activity in the roots of zinc stress memory plants	179
5.3	Discussion	182
Chapter	6. General discussion and future directions	192
6.1	DNA methylation is relatively unresponsive to stress	193
6.2	Is DNA methylation involved in the transgenerational stress memory?	195
6.3	Heritable effects of stress are rare in A.thaliana	196
6.4	A novel transgenerational zinc stress memory	199
6.5	Concluding remarks	203
VII. Ap	pendices	206
Oligo	nucleotides	207
Chem	icals, enzymes, kits, consumbles and equipment	209
Abbre	eviations	211
VIII.Ref	ferences	214

II. Tables

Table 1. Summary of the stress treatments and the stress tolerance carried out in the	
following generation.	61
Table 2. MSAP primer pair analysis.	84
Table 3. MSAP primer pair annealing temperature analysis.	84
Table 4. Methylation changes in PEG stress in Col-0.	99
Table 5. Genes upregulated in zinc stress as derived from the Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C) comparison.	147
Table 6. Genes downregulated in zinc stress as derived from the Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C) comparison.	148
Table 7. Genes with higher expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C) listed in order of change.	fold 148
Table 8. Genes with lower expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C) listed in order of change.	fold 149
Table 9. Gene ontology terms enriched for genes upregulated and downregulated in zin stress (Mock(Z) relative to Mock(C)).	c 150
Table 10. Gene ontology terms enriched for genes with reduced expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C).	151
Table 11 Zinc stress responsive genes with a reduced expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C).	153
Table 12. Expression of genes involved in DNA methylation and DNA demethylation i zinc stress (Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C).	n 155
Table 13. Tables of oligonucleotides used.	192

Table 14. Details of chemicals, enzymes, kits, consumables, equipment and other itemsused.

III. Figures

Figure 1. RNA interference (RNAi) and RNA-directed DNA methylation (RdDM): Sh	ared
protein functionalities.	18
	1 1
Figure 2. Possible mechanism by which stress-induced changes in DNA methylation c	ould
enhance stress tolerance in plants two generations after the stress treatment.	42
Figure 3. Experimental plan by two parallel approaches.	45
Figure 4. Methylation-sensitive amplified polymorphism assay (MSAP).	80
Figure 5. HpaII and MspI methylation sensitivities and inferring DNA methylation stat	tus
from MSAP band presence or absence using the isoschizomers.	80
Figure 6. A modified MSAP assay workflow.	82
Figure 7. Alignment of whole genome amplified (WGA) sample and genomic sample	in
MSAP assay analysed by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis.	85
Figure 8. Redeveloped MSAP assay.	86
Figure 9. A comparison of the MSAP band profiles using AseI in combination with M	boI,
Sau3AI or DpnII.	88
Figure 10. WGA fragment profiles using the AseI & MboI MSAP assay.	89
Figure 11. Plant stress measurements in response to PEG, NaCl and temperature extreme	nes.
	91
	<i>.</i> .
Figure 12. Asel & Hpall/Mspl MSAP analysis of DNA methylation in response to osn	10110
and temperature stress.	92
Figure 13. The effect of aeration on DNA methylation changes in response to PEG stre	xss. 95
Figure 14. A comparison of DNA methylation changes in response to 5% PEG, 5% PE	G
post-sterilisation and an equivalent sorbitol concentration.	96
-	

Figure 15. The consistency of DNA methylation changes in response to PEG stress.	97
Figure 16. Effect of single knock out mutations on DNA methylation changes in response	se to
PEG stress.	98
Figure 17. Multidimensional scaling analysis of DNA methylation pattern in A.thaliana	roots
in response to PEG stress.	99
Figure 18. Promoter activity in PEG stress.	103
Figure 19. Schematic of stress conditions examined.	114
Figure 20. Biomass accumulation and seed production in the F1 progeny of plants grown	n
under nitrogen deficient conditions.	115
Figure 21. Effect of parental treatment on temperature stress tolerance in F1 progeny.	
Growth conditions on X-axis.	116
Figure 22. Effect of parental treatment on germination frequency and germination rate in	n F1
progeny under low water-potential stress conditions.	117
Figure 23. Effect of parental treatment on NaCl stress tolerance.	119
Figure 24. Effect of two sequential treated generations on germination under high NaCl.	120
Figure 25. Reproducing a NaCl-dependent stress memory.	120
Figure 26. Effect of parental treatment on zinc stress tolerance in F1 progeny.	125
Figure 27. Effect of parental treatment on F1 progeny development in zinc stress.	125
Figure 28. Effect of parental treatment on zinc stress tolerance in the F1 progeny assesse	ed at
an early developmental stage.	126
Figure 29. Effect of parental treatment on zinc stress tolerance in the F1 progeny assesse	es at
a later developmental stage.	127

х

Figure 30. Effect of two successive parental treatments on zinc stress tolerance in the F progeny.	2 128
Figure 31. Distribution of average plant weights for F2 progeny of zinc stressed plants.	128
Figure 32. Effect of parental zinc treatment on tolerance to heavy/transitional metals an NaCl in F1 progeny.	ıd 129
Figure 33. Resetting of the transgenerational stress memory in the F2 generation after 1 months seed aging.	6 130
Figure 34. MSAP analysis of methylation in zinc and NaCl stress and in the progeny of stressed plants.	zinc 132
Figure 35. GUS staining of the pPOLIV:GUS and pRDR2:GUS lines in NaCl and zinc stress.	133
Figure 36. Bisulphite sequencing peaks for the MIR843A promoter.	133
Figure 37. RNA-seq sample preparation, seedling weight and RNA sample nomenclatu	re. 143
Figure 38. Adjustment of data to remove relationships between gene expression or gene length and fold-difference between the two control samples.	e 145
Figure 39. Venn diagrams of overlap between zinc stress responsive genes and genes w increased or decreased expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants relative to cont progeny under non-stress conditions.	rith an rol 152
Figure 40. Differential expression of zinc stress-regulated genes in Zinc(Z) relative to Mock(Z).	154
Figure 41. Expression of OPDA and JA upregulated genes in the RNA-Seq data. A. Ke distribution plot for the expression of OPDA and JA-regulated genes in zinc stress (Mo vs. Mock(C)).	ernel ck(Z) 157
Figure 42. A comparison of the Fe-deficiency and Zn stress transcriptome responses.	158

xi

Figure 43. Independent validation of RNA-Seq by qRT-PCR. A & B: RNA-Seq and PCR data expressed at log2 fold relative to Mock(C). 160

Figure 44. qRT-PCR quantification of AOC1, VSP1, NATA1 and JAL23 transcripts in root and aerial portions of the progeny of zinc stressed (Zn(500)2) and control plants (Control2) in zinc stress (500 μ M Zn2+; +Zn) and control (Zn) growth conditions. 162

Figure 45. Effect of zinc on root ferric chelate reductase activity and root weight in the F1 progeny of zinc stressed plants. 164

Figure 46. Root weight, root Fe(III) chelate reductase activity and aerial chlorophyll content in F1 progeny of zinc stressed plants under varying concentrations of zinc and iron. 165

IV. Special Thanks

Foremost I would like to thank my family, especially Mum and Dad for their unwavering belief in me. There have been times I wondered what I had myself into and whether I would make it through; your belief meant everything to me.

Katrina, thank you for your love and support, but most of all, for helping me see a world outside my PhD.

V. Acknowledgements

First and foremost, my sincere appreciation goes to my supervisor, Louise Jones for her encouragement, advice and calmness, especially through the early days of my research project. Thank you for seeing my PhD as a training in how to conduct research and not a route to publications; for giving me enough space to make mistakes, for your honest criticisms, your openness to discuss the latest idea I'd just thought up, and for keeping me on track. I may not have achieved much of what I set out to, but I have some pretty good ideas how I should have done it all in the first place now.

Thank you also to my training advisory panel members Frans Maathuis, Ian Graham and Steven Penfield for discussing my research and for offering a critical appraisal. Your advice and encouragement were deeply appreciated. Thanks to the other members of the lab, Tom Brabbs and Eleanor Walton for putting up with me, and the frogs (you know who you are) for letting me borrow countless pieces of equipment, enzymes, solutions etc. Thanks also to the Leyser group for helping me settle into the world of Arabidopsis with assistance on experiment design and plant husbandry.

Without the assistance of the University of York Horticultural Service, these experiments would not have been possible. Thank you Colin, Alison, Nicola, Chris, Paul and Idowu for looking after my plants even when I had forgotten them in a corner of the greenhouse. I am also indebted to Celina Whalley for the fragment analysis and DNA sequencing analysis and for letting me loose on the qRT-PCR (after training). Additionally, I would like to thank our collaborators at the University of Exeter Sequencing Service, Konrad Paszkiewicz and Karen Moore, for analysing my RNA-Seq samples and offering advice on the downstream bioinformatics.

Thanks to Joe Vaughan for your shared appreciation for the shining majesty of the Trafalgar and for getting my backside back into playing sports. Thanks also to the amazing people I have met through the Samaritans at York who helped me get out of my PhD bubble. I will miss the socials and the fundraisers but definitely not the overnight shifts! There's not enough space to list you all but thanks especially to Adam, Claire, Dan, Peter, Roz, Gilli, Paul and Emma Last but certainly not least, thank you to my closest friends, Dean, Lauren, Charlotte, Siobhán, Heather and Joe. You may not have much idea what I have been up for the past 4 years but your support and friendship have been amazing.

VI. Author's Declaration

The experiments and their analyses detailed herein were performed by the author under the supervision of Dr Louise Jones, except where specified in Chapter 2. Specifically, the RNA-Seq was performed by The University of Exeter Sequencing Service and fragment analysis and DNA sequencing analyses were performed by the University of York Technology Facility. No material contained herein has been previously published.

Chapter 1. General Introduction

As sessile organisms, plants react to changes in environmental conditions through a complex network of responses to adjust their development and cellular biochemistry (Raghavendra et al., 2010; Taj et al., 2010; Turner et al., 2002). In extreme environmental conditions, plant survival is dependent upon an appropriate stress response. For example, in response to osmotic stress, the initial stress response prevents or reduces damage, before homeostasis can be re-established in the stressful conditions (Jian-Kang Zhu, 2002). Following the adjustments in cellular biochemistry and systemic responses through hormonal signalling, plant growth is then resumed at a slower rate. Additionally, exposure to stressful environmental conditions can modify the response to subsequent stressors within the same generation, referred to as "stress imprinting" by Bruce et al (Bruce et al. 2007). Stress exposure can even modify the stress response of subsequence generations. When discussing heritable effects of stress, the terms "stress memory" and "transgenerational stress memory" are used to describe effects of parental stress that are observed only in the immediate progeny and those observed for multiple generations after the initial stress treatment. It should be noted at the outset that these "memories" are clearly quite separate from animal memories which rely upon a nervous system. Unfortunately, the study of transgenerational stress memories in plants is tainted by associations with Lamarckian theories on evolution and controversial scientists, including Trofim Lysenko, who believed cold-induced flowering (vernalisation) could be inherited and provided evidence for non-Darwinian evolution (Roll-Hansen, 1985). Previous attempts to explain observed intergenerational memories often evoked Lamarckian theories on evolution as no mechanisms were known which could encode such a memory (Gliboff, 2005; Vargas, 2009). We now know that modifications to the epigenome can affect gene expression. These chemical modifications include methylation of the genomic DNA and various chemical modifications to the tails of histones. With the discovery that some environmental conditions can induce heritable changes in DNA methylation, the hypothesis that transgenerational stress memories may be dependent upon changes in DNA methylation is gaining traction. However, much of the evidence is still circumstantial and, to date, there are no examples of transgenerational stress memories which have been shown to be wholly dependent upon a defined change(s) in DNA methylation.

This introduction will discuss in order, observations of stress imprints and transgenerational stress memories, the regulation, inheritance and function of DNA methylation, and the potential role for DNA methylation in transgenerational stress memories.

1.1 Stress imprinting

Stress imprints may be encoded in the short term by changes in the transcriptome or proteome, for which stability is determined by the rate of mRNA/protein turnover, or by chromatin modifications which have the potential to be maintained throughout the plant's lifespan.

The molecular impacts of stress are usually short lived. For example, expression of the heat shock protein HSP70 is maintained for less than three hours after a heat shock treatment in *Oryza sativa* (Goswami *et al.*, 2010). However, pre-treatment with arsenic increases the intensity of HSP70 expression during recovery and the duration of the recovery period, suggesting abiotic stressors interact to influence the duration of short term stress imprints (Goswami *et al.*, 2010). Stress imprints may be observed lasting a few days after a stress treatment or hormone application. *A.thaliana* subjected to pre-treatment with *Pseudomonas syringae* (*psm.*) pv. *maculicola* or a salicylic acid (SA) analogue application display an enhanced transcriptional response to subsequent wounding by water infiltration 72 hours later (Jaskiewicz *et al.*, 2011). Likewise, in response to repeated exposure to ABA, *A.thaliana* increases expression of ABA-responsive genes for at least 3 days after the end of exposure (Goh *et al.*, 2003).

Longer lasting stress imprints have also been observed weeks or even months after the stress treatment. *Cakile maritima* plants exposed to salinity, drought, or cadmium followed by a 14 day recovery period display an altered response to subsequent NaCl stress, including a reduced synthesis of JA and a lower accumulation of hydrogen peroxide and malondialdehyde, indicative of a lower level of oxidative stress (Ellouzi *et al.*, 2013). Stress imprints can even be maintained in the absence of much of the tissue which was exposed to the initial stress treatment. Drought treatment of *Arrhenatherum elatius* enhances tolerance to a subsequent drought treatment 3 months later, during which time the total aboveground biomass has been harvested and the plant regrown (Walter *et al.*, 2011). The increased tolerance involves an improved photoprotection with correlated increase in plant biomass, although the mechanism by which the imprinting of the original drought treatment occurs has not been identified.

The classic examples of stress imprinting are systemic acquired resistance (SAR) and induced systemic resistance (ISR) (Van Wees *et al.*, 2008) which involve modification of the SA and JA response pathways respectively in response to biotic stress, and the production of volatile organic compounds (VOC) by herbivore challenged plants which signals to distal

portions of the plant and even to neighbouring plants (Heil & Ton 2008). Alongside stress imprinting by endogenous plant signalling molecules such as SA, JA and VOCs, imprinting can also take place in response to beta-aminobutyric acid (BABA) -a plant xenobiotic compound - in an ABA-dependent manner (Ton & Mauch-Mani 2004). The mechanisms by which biotic stress imprinting enhances biotic tolerance includes the enhanced accumulation of inactive defence compounds and enhanced expression of MAP kinases and transcription factors (Conrath *et al.*, 2006; Pastor *et al.*, 2013). Stress imprints in response to biotic stress are associated with a cost to the plant since an enhanced response to one biotic stress imprinting can also influence abiotic stress tolerance, highlighting the overlap between biotic and abiotic stress response pathways. Pre-treatment with BABA, which induces resistance against pathogens (Jakab *et al.* 2001), also increases the speed of the stomatal closure response to drought and NaCl stressors with a concurrent increase in both drought and NaCl stress tolerance (Jakab *et al.* 2007).

1.2 Stress memories

So far we have considered responses to abiotic and biotic stressors which maintain an "imprint" of the stress in the treated generation. Heritable effects of stress treatment in plants have also been observed in response to a range of stress treatments, whereby the offspring appear to possess a "memory" of the parental stress.

Leading on from the biotic stress imprints, stress memories in response to biotic stress appear to be a common response across the plant kingdom (Rasmann *et al.*, 2012b). *A.thaliana* and *Solanum lycopersicum* progeny originating from parents challenged with caterpillar herbivory or application of methyl jasmonate display a lower caterpillar growth when challenged themselves with *Pieris rapae* or *Helicoverpa zea* (Rasmann *et al.*, 2012a). The *A.thaliana* progeny exhibit higher expression of jasmonate biosynthesis genes *LOX2* and *AOS* in response to *P.rapae* (Rasmann *et al.*, 2012a), suggesting the increased tolerance in the following generation is likely to depend on alteration to the jasmonate signalling pathway. Additionally, the progeny of *A.thaliana* plants challenged with *Pst.* exhibit lower expression of the JA-responsive defence genes *PLANT DEFENSIN1.2 (PDF1.2)* and *VEGETATIVE STORAGE PROTEIN2 (VSP2)* in response to JA (Estrella Luna *et al.*, 2012). This and other experiments suggest alteration of the JA-dependent biotic response is a common mechanism in biotic stress memories (Gális *et al.*, 2009).

An increased stress tolerance is also observed in the progeny of cold and heat treated A.thaliana. The progeny of cold treated plants recover photosynthetic yield faster following freezing stress than control progeny, with associated changes in transcription factor expression levels (Blödner et al., 2007). However, the increased tolerance to freezing stress is accompanied by decreased fitness in favourable conditions, suggesting the tolerance comes with an attached cost to the plant in the absence of stress. Stress memories in A.thaliana in response to heat stress may be partially accession-dependent. Following 3 generations of heat stress, Sha-0 but not Col-0 plants display accelerated flowering in control conditions compared to the progeny of untreated plants (Suter and Widmer, 2013). Interestingly, the progeny of Sha-0 x Col-0 also display an increased salt stress tolerance when either parental plant has experienced 3 generations of salt stress, although the increased tolerance is not observed in either self-fertilised Sha-0 or Col-0, or in the reciprocal Col-0 x Sha-0 cross (Suter and Widmer, 2013). There are indications that hybrid vigour may involve 24nt siRNAs (Groszmann et al., 2011), which leads Suter & Widmer to suggest that the stress memory they observe depends on an interaction between the initial stress treatments and heterosis. Why this should be observed in the Sha-0 x Col-0 cross but not the reciprocal cross is unclear, however an imbalance has been observed between maternal and paternal 24nt siRNA in the seed (Mosher et al., 2009) which may explain why the stress memory is not observed in both crosses.

Evidence for a stress memory mechanism in response to salinity comes from the observation that the offspring of *Taraxacum officinale* (dandelion) plants exposed to NaCl stress show altered stress responses. Specifically, the progeny of NaCl stressed plants display a greater leaf length than control progeny under NaCl stress conditions (Verhoeven and Van Gurp, 2012). Additionally, Boyko *et al* observed an increase in NaCl stress tolerance in the immediate progeny of NaCl-treated *A.thaliana* (Boyko *et al.*, 2010), suggesting stress memories in response to salinity may be a common response in plants. Stress tolerance was assessed by germination frequency and root growth, both of which were greater in the offspring of NaCl-treated plants (Boyko *et al.*, 2010). However, this apparent memory of stress was unstable, being lost following a single untreated generation. It is unclear whether an increased germination frequency and root growth under high salinity can be considered beneficial to the progeny as germination under high salinity is usually inhibited to protect the seedling from developing in unfavourable conditions (J. Park *et al.*, 2011) and modulation of root growth in high salinity may also be a protective response (F. Sun *et al.*, 2008).

In addition to the above stress memory in response to salinity, *T.officinale* has previously been observed to pass on a memory of nutrient deficient conditions, as identified by a greater shoot:root ratio under nutrient-deficiency stress in the progeny of stressed plants relative to control progeny (Verhoeven and Van Gurp, 2012). However, this observation was not reproducible, suggesting the observation was either false positive, or else the plant responds to nutrient stress in interaction with other environmental conditions which were not sufficiently controlled. More convincing evidence for stress memories in response to nutrient stress comes from experiments with *Plantago lanceolata*. Parental effects on offspring traits are observed in the progeny of *P. lanceolata* plants grown under low nutrient conditions which display a shorter time to flowering under low nutrient conditions with concurrent increases in carbon storage and biomass compared to control progeny (Latzel *et al.*, 2013, 2010).

These observations allude to a possible common stress memory mechanism in plants in response to abiotic and biotic stress conditions which modifies growth traits in the offspring. However, the progeny of A.thaliana C24 ecotype plants subjected to NaCl stress produce hypertolerant progeny (Boyko et al., 2010), whereas the progeny of A.thaliana Col-0 or Sha-0 do not (Suter and Widmer, 2013). This inconsistency between ecotype could be due to differences in stress treatment. Boyko et al observed a stress memory in the C24 ecotype in response to 75 mM NaCl for 3 weeks from germination (Boyko et al., 2010). In contrast, Suter and Widmer did not observe a stress memory in self fertilised Col-0 or Sha-0 ecotypes subjected to 50 mM NaCl for 4 weeks from germination for 3 successive generations (Suter and Widmer, 2013). Given the considerable variation in NaCl tolerance between A.thaliana ecotypes (Katori et al., 2010), it's difficult to assess whether these treatments would induce a similar level of NaCl stress, and hence whether the inconsistency in eliciting a stress memory response is due to ecotype specific stress memory mechanisms or due to differences in the stress treatment. Currently, the specific conditions required to elicit a stress memory response are far from clear. In the examples discussed, all the stress treatments were initiated in the vegetative growth stage, however, the duration of the treatment lasted from 3 days for the caterpillar herbivory treatment in A.thaliana and S.lycopersicum (Rasmann et al., 2012a) to the entire lifespan for the nutrient stress treatment in *P. lanceolata* (Latzel et al., 2013, 2010). As stress memories are observed in response to biotic stress and NaCl stress when the treatment is restricted to the vegetative state, it appears that the stress memory mechanism(s) does not depend upon the stress occurring during seed development. Further experiments are required to establish the specific conditions required to elicit a stress memory response. More detailed analyses are also required to establish to what extent the

stress memories are beneficial to the offspring and whether modifications of hormonal response pathways are a fundamental component of stress memories in general.

1.3 Transgenerational stress memories

Where a stress memory is observed to be stable over multiple generations in the absence of stress, the term "transgenerational stress memory" is used (Lang-Mladek *et al.*, 2010; Molinier *et al.*, 2006). While most stress memories do not persist following an untreated generation, there is increasing evidence that plants can transmit effects of stress through multiple generations, although there have been some difficulties reproducing observations between laboratories.

In plants, biotic and abiotic stress conditions have been observed to induce an increase in homologous recombination, which functions to repair double strand breaks (Boyko et al., 2006; Lebel et al., 1993; Lucht et al., 2002). Given that increased homologous recombination frequency (HRF) in response to stress has also been observed in mammals (Bhattacharyya et al., 1989; Boyko et al., 2006), it appears to be a general stress response mechanism. However, the hypothesis that increased HRF response to stress increases the genomic mutation rate as an adaptive response remains controversial (Rosenberg, 2001). Multiple groups have also identified increased HRF in the offspring of stressed plants. Molinier et al identified an increased HRF in the progeny of A.thaliana subjected to UV-C and flg22 treatments, which was still observed 4 generations after the UV-C treatment in which it was approximately 4-fold higher than in control progeny (Molinier et al., 2006). Surprisingly, gene expression was apparently unaffected in the UV-C-treated progeny (Molinier et al., 2006), raising the question of how HRF activity is differentially regulated in the progeny and whether the increase in HRF affects the transcriptome? It is still unclear whether increased HRF in response to UV-C is heritable for multiple untreated generations. Two attempts to reproduce this observation confirmed that UV-C increases HRF in the treated generation (Boyko et al., 2010; Pecinka et al., 2009). However, Pecinka et al observed no increase in HRF in the following generation (Pecinka et al., 2009), whilst Boyko et al observed an increase in the immediate progeny but this was much reduced following an untreated generation (Boyko et al., 2010). Boyko et al also reported that NaCl, heat and cold increased HRF in the following generation, whilst drought reduced HRF (Boyko et al., 2010). In contrast, Pecinka et al (2009) did not observe an increase in HRF in the progeny of NaCl, heat or cold treated plants and observed an increase in HRF in response to drought in the treated generation. These results highlight the difficulties in

reproducing observed transgenerational effects of stress between laboratories, even when measuring a restricted outcome such as HRF. A further concern is that the observed changes in HRF have all been observed using transgenic constructs consisting of two incomplete, overlapping regions of a reporter gene. HRF events are then inferred from the restoration of the functional reporter gene. As yet, the transgenerational effects on HRF observed in these transgenic lines has not been validated by an independent method.

Further stress conditions which have been reported to induce transgenerational modifications to HRF include treatments with heavy metals. Treatment with stressful concentrations of cadmium, nickel and copper all induce an increase in HRF in A.thaliana that can be inherited over untreated generations (Rahavi et al., 2011). Interestingly, the increase in HRF is also associated with an increased root growth under heavy metal stress conditions and an increased tolerance to NaCl and genotoxic stress in the immediate progeny. Although these results suggest stress-induced transgenerational changes in HRF may be linked to improved stress tolerance, the treatments described used concentrations of heavy metal ions approximately 1000-fold greater than usually applied to induce heavy metal stress (for comparable stress experiments see (Kim et al., 2006; Mei et al., 2009; Ou et al., 2012)) and would be expected to be lethal almost immediately. Presumably, the concentrations applied were actually considerably less than specified in the publication. Unfortunately, the stability of the increased root growth over an untreated generation was not assessed. Transgenerational responses to heavy metals have been studied in monocotyledons. Treatment of *O.sativa* with 100 μ M Hg²⁺ significantly increases the tolerance of the second generation progeny to 100-500 μ M Hg²⁺ as measured by plant height, although no effect on plant biomass was observed (Ou et al., 2012). These two examples allude to a possible general transgenerational response to heavy metals across the plant kingdom, although further experiments are required to establish if the transgenerational stress memory in O.sativa improves plant fitness in stress and whether the increased HRF in A.thaliana for multiple generations following heavy metal stress is associated with increased stress tolerance.

Inheritance of transgenerational stress memories has been studied with transgene systems in which a reporter gene is repressed (Lang-Mladek *et al.*, 2010; Pecinka *et al.*, 2010; S.-H. Zhong *et al.*, 2013). Transcriptional gene silencing (TGS) of a 35S::GUS *A.thaliana* line is released after heat (42 °C), freezing (-4°C) or harsh UVB treatment (Lang-Mladek *et al.*, 2010). Small areas of GUS expression are still observed in the leaves of the progeny after two intervening untreated generations, indicating the treatments induce a transgenerational stress memory in the following generations that maintains the reduced TGS at the transgene

upon stress treatment. Interestingly, GUS derepression is lost during seed aging: GUS expression decreases following 3-6 months seed aging, and the derepression is completely reversed after 17 months of seed aging (Lang-Mladek *et al.*, 2010). In a separate study, reduced TGS of a transgene was observed in response to heat stress but the derepressed state was not inherited (Pecinka *et al.*, 2010). A likely explanation is that that the derepressed state failed to penetrate into the meristem tissue as heat stress-induced nuclei decondensation was observed in leaf tissue but not meristem tissue, hence the failure to inherit the derepressed state through the germline. Although these results are based upon analysis of transgenic loci, they provide added evidence for an endogenous transgenerational stress memory response to abiotic stress in *A.thaliana* which is dependent upon stress-induced derepression penetrating into the meristem.

Further evidence for transgenerational responses to abiotic stress comes from a separate study of the progeny of heat-treated plants which appear to possess a memory of the environmental conditions of their progenitors. The progeny of *A.thaliana* which have been subjected to two successive generations of elevated temperature growth conditions ($30 \,^{\circ}$ C) followed by a generation of control conditions ($23 \,^{\circ}$ C) display an increased tolerance to heat compared to control progeny (Whittle *et al.*, 2009). Interestingly, the increased tolerance is limited to seed production and does not extend to plant growth measurements. Thus, whilst the progeny of heat stressed plants displayed an increased fitness in heat stress, it does not appear the plants possessed an overall heat stress hypertolerance. No data were collected to investigate the mechanism underlying the stress memory but the authors reasonably postulate that epigenetic factors must play a role given that the increased fitness was observed after an intervening untreated generation.

Biotic stress conditions can also induce a transgenerational stress memory. The aforementioned stress memory in response to caterpillar herbivory or application of methyl jasmonate in *A.thaliana* and *Solanum lycopersicum* (Section 1.2) is still observed after an intervening untreated generation and the resistance is not specific to the parental herbivory treatment (Rasmann *et al.*, 2012a). *A.thaliana* responds similarly to *Pseudomonas syringae* (*Pst.*), with the second generation progeny of challenged plants exhibiting increased accumulation of SA-induced transcripts including *PATHOGENESIS-RELATED GENE 1* (*PR1*) in response to SA or avirulent *Pst* (Luna *et al.*, 2012; Slaughter *et al.*, 2012). This response appears to require BABA signalling as simulation of pathogen stress by BABA treatment also leads to an increase in pathogen tolerance in the second generation progeny, and the BABA-response mutant *ibs1* displays an abated transgenerational response (Slaughter *et al.*, 2012).

In summary, both biotic and abiotic treatments may result in transgenerational responses. Observed molecular transgenerational effects include the release of TGS, increasing HRF and the increased accumulation of SA-induced transcripts upon induction. These molecular changes in the second generation progeny may also be associated with an increased stress tolerance or fitness under stress. We shall now consider the possible mechanism by which such transgenerational stress memories may be produced and inherited.

1.4 Possible mechanisms for transgenerational stress memories

Although there are now numerous examples of transgenerational stress memories in plants, the mechanism for these transgenerational effects of stress are still unclear. Where an increased stress tolerance is only observed in the following generation, it may be dependent upon changes in the seed composition, especially where the increased tolerance is observed early in the lifecycle of the progeny. For example, a shift in parental treatment from 25 °C to 15 °C is sufficient to significantly increase the content of fatty acids in the seed (Blödner *et al.*, 2007). Fatty acids are generated by lipase catalysis of triacyclglycerol in the first stage of oil breakdown upon initiation of germination (Theodoulou and Eastmond, 2012) and the fatty acid linoleic acid (18:2) has been shown to be essential for germination under high NaCl (Zhang *et al.*, 2012). Hence, parental growth conditions could influence the germination of progeny under stress conditions through modification of seed content. Where the memory is observed two or more generational stress memory.

As transgenerational stress memories are also observed in animals, it is worth considering the mechanisms that have been identified. In mammals, a stress memory can be maintained through the maternal line via modification of the hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis. Exposure to stress during particular stages of pregnancy affects the set-point of HPA responses in the offspring, and hence their stress tolerance in a feedback loop that can maintain the altered HPA state for multiple generations (Matthews and Phillips, 2010). Although a similar mechanism obviously cannot be proposed for plants given the lack of a neuroendocrine system, modifications of hormonal responses may play a role in transgenerational stress memories in plants also by altering the response to endogenous hormones in the progeny. As discussed above, there are indications that alterations in JA and SA responses are important in transgenerational responses to biotic stressors in plants (Gális *et al.*, 2009; Slaughter *et al.*, 2012). However, the feedback loop in mammals involves successive modifications of hormonal stress responses in each generation. A similar

feedback loop cannot explain the observed stability of transgenerational stress memories over unstressed generations in plants where the intervening generation is not exposed to the stressor. In Caenorhabditis elegans, transgenerational stress memories can involve RNA interference (RNAi; Figure 1), in which mRNA is targeted for degradation by the RNAinduced silencing complex (RISC) through complimentary siRNAs, leading to posttranscriptional genes silencing (PTGS) (Gu *et al.*, 2009; Lee *et al.*, 2012). As *C.elegans* possess an RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRP) they can sustain the presence of a stress-induced siRNA by continual amplification of the precursor double stranded RNA in the absence of stress, allowing a memory of stress to be maintained for multiple untreated generations (Alcazar *et al.*, 2008; Buckley *et al.*, 2012; Luteijn and Ketting, 2013; Shirayama *et al.*, 2012). Although plants also possess RdRP enzymes, these have not been implicated in the perpetuation of transgenerational stress memories.

Instead, it is proposed that stress memories in plants are encoded by epigenetic changes (Akimoto *et al.*, 2007; Bird, 2002; Gutzat and Mittelsten Scheid, 2012; Mirouze and Jerzy Paszkowski, 2011; Molinier *et al.*, 2006; Thellier and Lüttge, 2013). The word epigenetics was coined by Conrad Waddington in 1942 to describe the complex developmental process by which gene products are regulated to produce the phenotype (Waddington, 2012). The Greek "epi-" means "over" or "upon", thus epigenetics originally referred to the network of developmental processes that exist between the genotype and phenotype. The use of the word epigenetic has changed considerably and it now commonly used to describe mitotically or meiotically heritable changes in chromatin and DNA methylation (Jablonka and Lamb, 2002). In this sense, epigenetics now refers to chemical changes "upon" DNA or associated proteins which are maintained through cell division and have the potential to influence transcriptional activity.

There are at least 8 different distinct types of modifications that can occur on histone tails, including acetylation, methylation and ubiquitination, with each modification capable of regulating transcription (Kouzarides, 2007; Li *et al.*, 2007). In plants, the specific effects of these modifications are becoming clearer. For example, the distribution of histone 3 lysine 9 acetylation (H3K9ac) and H3K4 trimethylation (H3K4me3) are correlated and they are predominately located at the 5' region of genes and associated with high expression levels (Ha *et al.*, 2011; Zhou *et al.*, 2010). Further well characterised histone modifications include H3K9me which is biased towards coding regions of genes and associated with low gene expression (Zhou *et al.*, 2010).

An additional epigenetic modification is the methylation of DNA at cytosine or adenosine residues. The functions of DNA methylation include DNA repair, preventing restriction digest and regulating transcription, depending on species and genomic loci (Bernatavichute *et al.*, 2008; Cokus *et al.*, 2008; Ratel *et al.*, 2006a; Sheldon *et al.*, 2008; Slotkin *et al.*, 2009). In plants, the primary function of DNA methylation appears to be the transcriptional silencing of transposable elements (TEs) (Bernatavichute *et al.*, 2008; Cokus *et al.*, 2008; Suhua Feng *et al.*, 2010a; R. Lister *et al.*, 2008; Sheldon *et al.*, 2008; Slotkin *et al.*, 2009), although the silencing function also controls the expression of genes (Cao and Jacobsen, 2002a; Chan *et al.*, 2004), and additional functions for DNA methylation in coding regions have been suggested (Takuno and Gaut, 2012; Widman *et al.*, 2009).

Additional changes to chromatin structure such as the loss of nucleosome occupancy are sometimes referred to as epigenetic changes, however, these changes are observed to be transient and are therefore not heritable (Pecinka et al., 2010). When considering possible epigenetic mechanisms for transgenerational stress memories, it is crucial that changes in the epigenetic modification are not only mitotically heritable but also meiotically heritable. On current evidence it is suggested that while histone modifications are mitotically heritable (Kouskouti and Talianidis, 2005) they are not meiotically heritable (Kouzarides, 2007). Hence, it appears unlikely that changes in histone modifications could mediate a transgenerational stress memory. In contrast, changes in DNA methylation can be meiotically heritable in plants and are therefore considered a plausible mechanism by which transgenerational stress memories may be transmitted between generations, given their influence on transcription (Bossdorf et al., 2010; Johannes et al., 2009; Kinoshita et al., 2007; Mathieu et al., 2007; Rangwala et al., 2006; Verhoeven et al., 2010). Since the plant germline differentiates from meristem tissue, one would expect transgenerational stress memories to require a stress-induced epigenetic change which penetrates into the meristem, as suggested earlier in reference to nuclei decondensation in response to heat stress (Pecinka et al., 2010).

The remainder of this Chapter focuses on the pathways which regulate DNA methylation, the functions of DNA methylation, and the inheritance of DNA methylation, and finishes with a critical evaluation of the published evidence that changes in DNA methylation transmit transgenerational stress memories in plants.

1.5 DNA methylation

DNA methylation refers to the addition of a methyl group to cytosine or adenine residues. Initial studies failed to observe adenine methylation in multicellular eukaryotes above a detection limit of ~0.1% (Lawley *et al.*, 1972). Although adenosine methylation has now been detected in plants (Ashapkin *et al.*, 2002) and a mammalian DNA adenine methyltransferase has been identified (Ratel *et al.*, 2006b), the presence of functional quantities of adenine DNA methylation in higher eukaryotes is still contentious (Ratel *et al.*, 2006a; Vanyushin and Ashapkin, 2011). In contrast, cytosine DNA methylation is observed in most eukaryotes and serves various functions in plants including the silencing of transposons and repeat elements and TGS (Feng *et al.*, 2010a; Glastad *et al.*, 2011; M. M. Suzuki and Bird, 2008; Daniel Zilberman, 2008). Thus, the term "DNA methylation" usually refers solely to the presence of a methyl group on carbon 5 of a cytosine residue.

In mammals, DNA methylation is almost completely limited to CG dinucleotides, although, non-CG methylation has recently been observed in embryonic stem cells (Lister et al., 2009). In plants, DNA methylation is more diverse and occurs frequently in CG, CHG and CHH contexts (where H = A, T or C) (Lister *et al.*, 2008; Xiaoyu Zhang *et al.*, 2006). In the model plant species, A.thaliana, 55% of methylated cytosines reside in CG sites, with CHG and CHH sites accounting for 23% and 22% of methylated cytosines respectively (Lister et al., 2008). In contrast to vertebrates where methylation is observed across the genome except in CpG islands (Suzuki and Bird, 2008), in A.thaliana a mosaic DNA methylation pattern is observed across the genome, with TEs, pseudogenes and repeat elements representing the majority of methylation sites and methylation observed to a lesser extent in gene bodies and promoters (Cokus et al., 2008; Suhua Feng et al., 2010a; Lister et al., 2008; Xiaoyu Zhang et al., 2006). Methylation of TEs involves extensive CG, CHG and CHH methylation (Bernatavichute et al., 2008; S. J. Cokus et al., 2008; Sheldon et al., 2008; Slotkin et al., 2009). DNA methylation of coding regions is almost entirely within the CG context, with CHG and CHH methylation enriched at the 3' and 5' ends of genes and in promoter regions (Cokus et al., 2008).

The DNA methylation pathways of *A.thaliana* have been studied extensively with methylation in each sequence context found to be controlled by distinct but overlapping pathways (Mathieu *et al.*, 2007; Singh *et al.*, 2008). At the simplest level, the three sequence contexts may be considered to be regulated by three specific methyltransferase: METHYLTRANSFERASE 1 (MET1) - a homolog of mammalian DNA METHYLTRANSFERASE 1 (DNMT1) - catalyses methylation of CG dinucleotides (Finnegan and Dennis, 1993), the plant specific methyltransferase, CHROMOMETHYLASE 3 (CMT3) controls methylation at CHG sites (Lindroth *et al.*, 2001), while DOMAINS REARRANGED METHYLTRANSFERASE 2 (DRM2), a homolog of mammalian DNMT3 is primarily responsible for CHH methylation via the RNA-directed DNA methylation pathway (RdDM) (Cao and Jacobsen, 2002b). However, CG, CHG and CHH methylation are all redundantly controlled by MET1, CMT3 and DRM2 to some extent (Chan *et al.*, 2004; Henikoff and Comai, 1998; Mirouze *et al.*, 2009; Singh *et al.*, 2008; Zilberman *et al.*, 2003) as described in the following section.

1.5.1 Maintenance of DNA methylation

In *A.thaliana*, CG methylation at any one site is typically 80-100%, whereas CHG and CHH methylation is typically lower (30-80% and 20-50%, respectively) (Cokus *et al.*, 2008; R. Lister *et al.*, 2008). Since the above figures relate to methylome analysis on mixed tissue samples, the higher level of CG methylation may reflect more consistent CG methylation patterns between different tissues types. However, the observed relationship between sequence context and degree of methylation may also reflect the differing mechanisms for maintaining CG, CHG and CHH DNA methylation patterns.

The symmetry of CG methylation allows faithful maintenance of DNA methylation patterns after DNA replication. In mammals, DNMT1 is localised to the replication fork and displays a preference for activity at hemi-methylated DNA (Ooi and Bestor, 2008). Maintenance of mammalian CG methylation is partly dependent upon UBIQUITIN-LIKE, CONTAINING PHD AND RING FINGER DOMAINS 1 (UHRFI) which binds hemi-methylated DNA and directly interacts with DNMT1 (Bostick *et al.*, 2007). The *A.thaliana* UHRFI homolog, VARIANT IN METHYLATION 1 (VIM1), is required for heterochromatin CG methylation (Woo *et al.*, 2007), suggesting a conserved mechanism for CG methylation maintenance. In addition, VIM2 and VIM3 can compensate for the loss of VIM1 in the vim1 mutant (Woo *et al.*, 2008), indicating the VIM proteins act redundantly.

The symmetrical nature of CHG methylation could also enable faithful maintenance through the binding of proteins to hemi-methylated CHG sites, however, there is no evidence that such a mechanism exists. Instead, it appears CHG methylation is maintained at loci such as the retrotransposon *Ta3*, through a feedback loop involving CMT3 and KRYPTONITE (KYP) (Cao and Jacobsen, 2002a; Chan *et al.*, 2006; Jackson *et al.*, 2002; Johnson *et al.*, 2007): CMT3-mediated CHG methylation is required for recruitment or activation of KYP (Johnson *et al.*, 2007), in turn KYP catalyses methylation of histone H3 lysine 9 (H3K9me2), enabling binding of CMT3 via its chromodomain (Malagnac *et al.*, 2002). As such, approximately 90% of CHG methylation overlaps with H3K9me2 enriched regions (Bernatavichute *et al.*, 2008).

Non-CG methylation patterns can also be maintained by the RdDM pathway (discussed below) through continuous de novo methylation by DRM2. For example, FWA is regulated by methylation of repeat elements around the transcription start site (Kinoshita *et al.*, 2007) and requires RdDM to maintain CHG and CHH methylation (Chan et al., 2004). The specific requirement for particular methyltransferases to maintain methylation is dependent upon the loci. Unlike FWA, non-CG methylation at AtSN1, SUP and MEA-ISR is reduced in both cmt3 and drm2 single mutants (Zilberman et al., 2003), indicating that methyltransferases can function cooperatively at some loci. Further evidence for redundancy in the activities of CMT3 and DRM2 comes from their joint requirement for DEFECTIVE IN RNA-DIRECTED DNA METHYLATION 1 (DRD1) activity (Kanno et al., 2004), and the observation that the *cmt3 drm2 drm1 (cdd)* triple mutant shows a pleiotropic suite of developmental abnormalities (Cao and Jacobsen, 2002a) whilst the *cmt3* mutant and *drm2* drm1 double mutant show no such abnormalities (Cao and Jacobsen, 2002b; Lindroth et al., 2001). However, some CHH methylation still remains in the *cdd* mutant (S. J. Cokus *et al.*, 2008), suggesting CHH methylation may also be laid down by MET1. This is supported by the observation that CHH methylation at a retrotransposon is lost only in the met1 drm2 double mutant and not in either single mutant (Mirouze et al., 2009).

Methylation at the transgenic *RPS* locus is decreased in all sequence contexts in *met1*, *cmt3* and *drm2* single mutants, with non-CG methylation reduced drastically in all three single mutants, hinting at a possible loci-specific cooperative activity between the three methyltransferases (Singh *et al.*, 2008). Interestingly, initiation of methylation at the *RPS* loci is also independent of RdDM (Gentry and Meyer, 2013; Singh *et al.*, 2008), and appears to be dependent upon the stem-loop formation potential of a *RPS* sequence (Gentry and Meyer, 2013), suggesting secondary DNA secondary structure may regulate the recognition of methylation targets by methyltransferases, as has been suggested in animals also (Bestor, 1987).

1.5.2 RNA-dependent DNA methylation

DRM2-dependent DNA methylation is guided by 24-nt small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) via the RNA-dependent DNA methylation pathway which was first discovered in tobacco

plants challenged with viral cDNA (Wassenegger *et al.*, 1994). This TGS pathway shares protein functions with the PTGS RNAi pathway including the involvement of ARGONAUTE and DICER-LIKE proteins (Huettel *et al.*, 2007) Figure 1). The RdDM pathway is detailed here as it is most widely described (M. Matzke *et al.*, 2009).

Production of siRNAs for RdDM can occur via multiple routes, including RNA POLYMERASE II (POLII) transcription of double-stranded RNAs from endogenous inverted repeats (IR) which subsequently form secondary structures (Dunoyer et al., 2010), or transcription by the plant specific RNA POLYMERASE IV (POL IV) (Ream et al., 2009; Yokthongwattana et al., 2010). POL IV appears to be physically coupled to downstream components (Law et al., 2011), including RNA-DEPENDENT RNA POLYMERASE 2 (RDR2) which generates double stranded RNA from the POL IV transcript (Jia et al., 2009). Double stranded RNA from IRs or POL IV/RDR2 activity is processed by DICER-LIKE 3 (DCL3) to generate 24-nt siRNAs (Liu et al., 2009) which are methylated by HUA ENHANCER 1 (HEN1) (Li et al., 2005; B. Yu et al., 2010). Subsequently, the siRNAs are loaded onto ARGONAUTE 4 (AGO4) (He et al., 2009; Zilberman et al., 2003). NRPE1 (previously named NRPD1b), the largest subunit of POLV then binds the AGO4-siRNA, and the complex moves towards the genomic region of homology. AGO4-siRNA interacts with the C-terminal domain (CTD) of NRPE1 (Shami et al., 2007) and the nascent POLV transcript scaffold (Wierzbicki et al., 2008), recruiting DRM2 which methylates the region of DNA homologous to the siRNA, in all sequence contexts (Cao and Jacobsen, 2002a; I. R. Henderson et al., 2010; M. Matzke et al., 2007). This process depends upon a multitude of accessory proteins, including DRM3 and KTF1 (Gao et al., 2010; I. R. Henderson et al., 2010; L. M. Johnson et al., 2008; J. a Law et al., 2011, 2010; Rowley et al., 2011).

A considerable degree of redundancy exists within the RdDM pathway. Two additional argonaute proteins, AGO6 and AGO9 can both function in place of AGO4 (Eun *et al.*, 2011; Havecker *et al.*, 2010). Further redundancy is observed in the dicer proteins, of which there are four in *A.thaliana* (*DCL1-4*) (Gasciolli *et al.*, 2005). In the absence of DCL3, both DCL2 and DCL4 can produce RDR2-dependent siRNAs for the RdDM pathway (Gasciolli *et al.*, 2005). This redundancy prevents *dcl2* and *dcl3* single mutants displaying a phenotype, whereas the *dcl2 dcl3* double mutant shows a stochastic developmental phenotype after three generations (Gasciolli *et al.*, 2005). Further evidence for the interaction between PTGS and TGS pathways comes from the competition between siRNAs and miRNAs for HEN1- mediated 3' methylation, the identification of miRNA genes which also produce siRNAs (Chellappan *et al.*, 2010), and the association of POLV-dependent siRNAs with the essential miRNA argonaute, AGO1(Wang *et al.*, 2011). Recent reports indicate that splicing factors

may also be involved in RdDM during DCL3 and POLV activity (Ausin *et al.*, 2012; Dou *et al.*, 2013). However, there is still debate as to whether the general splicing machinery is involved in RdDM or only specific factors are involved (Zhang *et al.*, 2013).

The major targets of RdDM in the genome are TEs and repeat elements (Huettel *et al.*, 2006; Kanno *et al.*, 2010, 2008, 2004), although the promoter regions of some genes contain elements targeted by RdDM, such that their expression is correlated with upstream RdDM-mediated DNA methylation (Huettel *et al.*, 2006). Analysing the genome, methylome, 24-nt siRNA and gene expression data sets for *A.thaliana*, Baev *et al* (2010) identified over 1700 genes with promoter regions which appear to be methylated by the RdDM pathway. Interestingly, 100 of these genes have previously been annotated as biotic or abiotic stress responsive. In agreement with these findings, a recent ChIP-Seq analysis of NRPE1 (POLV) binding sites revealed an overrepresentation of promoters and observed that promoters overlapping POLV binding sites contained much higher levels of DNA methylation and 24-nt siRNAs, which was suggested to be due to the increased prevalence of transposons in the promoters bound by POLV (Zhong *et al.*, 2012).

In summary, RdDM involves the production of 24nt siRNAs which target genomic sequences for DNA methylation *by DRM2*. The production of siRNAs occurs through multiple routes and is dependent on one or more of three RNA polymerases. Redundancy exists in the downstream DICER-LIKE proteins and in the ARGONAUTES which bring siRNAs to POLV. RdDM and miRNA pathways interact, via the competition for bi-functional proteins such as HEN1, and the redundancy between siRNA and miRNA pathway components. The major function of RdDM appears to be repressing the expression of TEs and repeat elements (discussed in 1.5.4.1); although there is increasing evidence that RdDM may regulate gene expression also. The dynamics of methylation mediated by the RdDM pathway are discussed in section 1.5.5.1.



Figure 1. **RNA interference (RNAi) and RNA-directed DNA methylation (RdDM): Shared protein functionalities**. For simplicity most of the pathway components are not shown. RNAi: Single stranded RNA (ssRNA) from *POL II* transcription of a micro RNA (miRNA) gene folds to form a pre-miRNA. Dicer cleavage activity produces a miRNA which is bound by an argonaute protein and brought into the RNA-induced silencing complex (RISC). miRNA:mRNA homology targets the mRNA for degradation in post-transcriptional gene silencing (PTGS). RdDM shares many similarities with RNAi. An RNA-dependent RNA polymerase produces doubles stranded RNA (dsRNA) from a *POL IV* transcript. Dicer activity produces siRNAs which are bound by an argonaute. siRNA homology with a nascent *POL V* transcript targets the genomic region for DNA methylation by *DRM2*. dsRNAs from *POL II* transcription of inverted repeats and viral replication intermediates can also enter the RdDM pathway. Adapted from Verdel *et al.* (2009).

1.5.3 DNA demethylation

Demethylation can occur both actively and passively. Passive loss of DNA methylation occurs when DNA methylation patterns are not faithfully maintained following cell division or methyl-C spontaneously deaminates to thymine (Frederico et al., 1990). Active DNA methylation requires the activity of one of four demethylases in A.thaliana: REPRESSOR OF SILENCING 1 (ROS1) (Gong et al., 2002; Ponferrada-Marín et al., 2009; Zhu et al., 2007), DEMETER (DME) (Choi et al., 2002; Mok et al., 2010; Penterman et al., 2007) and DEMETER-LIKE 1 & 2 (DML1, DML2) (Choi et al., 2002). DME is predominantly expressed in the central cell of the female gametophyte where it functions to imprint genes by demethylating the maternal genome (Choi et al., 2002; Jullien et al., 2006). In contrast, ROS1, DML1 and DML2 demethylate genic regions, including those targeted by RdDM (Lister et al., 2008; Penterman et al., 2007). Hypermethylation in the ros1 dml1 dml2 triple mutant is primarily at the 5' and 3' ends of genes and variable across the genome, suggesting the demethylation may reduce the spread of DNA methylation into specific genic regions which could affect transcription (Lister et al., 2008; Ponferrada-Marín et al., 2009; Zhu et al., 2007). The mechanism of action of ROS1 has been studied most extensively of the four demethylases. In the current model, ROS1 binds DNA independently of DNA methylation to perform a searching function (Ponferrada-Marin et al., 2010), followed by formation of a transient 'interrogation complex' to extrude normal and damaged bases for inspection (Ponferrada-Marín et al., 2010) before conversion to an 'excision complex' upon recognition of the methylated DNA. ROS1 and DME share a hitherto unique discontinuous glycosylase domain (Ponferrada-Marín et al., 2010), suggesting the mechanism of action of these two demethylases may be conserved. Following cleavage of the phosphodiester backbone at the 5me-C, the 3' phosphate is removed by ZINC FINGER DNA 3' PHOSPHOESTERASE (ZDP) (Martínez-Macías et al., 2012), and the gap filled by an undefined polymerase before ligation to complete the conversion from methyl-cytosine to cytosine.

Many second site suppressors of *ros-1* induced hypermethylation are RdDM components (He *et al.*, 2009; Penterman *et al.*, 2007; Zheng *et al.*, 2007), suggesting interplay between these two pathways. Currently, it is not known how demethylases are targeted to specific sequences, however, *ROS1* activity is dependent upon the siRNA binding protein *ROS3* (Zheng *et al.*, 2008), suggesting it may be targeted to genomic regions by siRNAs. The counteracting DNA methylation and demethylation pathways could enable plants to modulate DNA methylation at specific loci in response to internal developmental cues and external environmental factors, and there is increasing evidence that this is an important function of DNA methylation (Baek *et al.*, 2010). However, the major role of DNA

methylation in plants appears to be transcriptional silencing of "parasitic" DNA elements. We shall now consider molecular functions of DNA methylation, starting with its role in genome defence.

1.5.4 Functions of DNA methylation in plants

The function of cytosine DNA methylation in prokaryotes appears to be limited to protecting DNA from restriction digest, whilst adenosine methylation functions in DNA repair, transposition and expression (Ratel et al., 2006a). In plants, cytosine DNA methylation functions in genomic defence through transcriptional silencing of transposable elements (Bernatavichute et al., 2008; S. J. Cokus et al., 2008; Sheldon et al., 2008; Slotkin et al., 2009). The main evidence for this comes from the observation that hypomethylation directly results in increased transposition (Jia et al., 2009; Lippman et al., 2004, 2003; Miura et al., 2001). This is in contrast with humans, where hypomethylation is not observed to result in increased transposition (Wilson et al., 2007) and DNA methylation is thought to predominantly exert its function at genes (Suzuki and Bird, 2008). TEs and other repeat elements have now been shown to represent the majority of methylation sites across the genome in plants (Feng et al., 2010a; R. Lister et al., 2008), suggesting the major function of DNA methylation is to suppress the activity of TEs and repeat elements in order to protect the genome from these parasitic elements. As we shall see later, this silencing function at TEs and repeat elements has been co-opted to control the expression of genes with repeat elements in their promoter regions (Cao and Jacobsen, 2002a; Chan et al., 2004), and CG methylation in coding regions likely functions entirely separately from these TGS functions (Takuno and Gaut, 2012; Widman et al., 2009).

The molecular mechanism by which DNA methylation regulates transcription involves the inhibition of protein binding by bringing about secondary changes to the chromatin structure that render it inaccessible (Bell and Felsenfeld, 2000). In *A.thaliana*, the loss of CG methylation is associated with a reduction in the heterochromatic mark H3K9me (Tariq *et al.*, 2003), and the percentage of DNA contained within the densely packed heterochromatic chromocentres decreases in the *met1* mutant (Vaillant *et al.*, 2008). Plant and animal methylbinding proteins (MBPs) frequently either repress transcription through histone modifications or are themselves histone-modifying enzymes (Ballestar and Wolffe, 2001; Feng and Zhang, 2001; Johnson *et al.*, 2007; Yaish *et al.*, 2009; Zemach and Grafi, 2007). For example, the human MBP METHYL CPG BINDING PROTEIN 2 (MECP2) binds to methylated promoter regions and depressed gene expression by recruiting histone deacetylases (Xu and Pozzo-Miller, 2013). In agreement with a model in which DNA
methylation brings in MBPs to form heterochromatin in *A.thaliana*, MBPs are observed to colocalise to the highly methylated chromocentres, and the colocalisation is disrupted in the DNA methylation deficient mutants *met1* and *ddm1* (Zemach *et al.*, 2005).

1.5.4.1 DNA methylation of transposons and repeat elements

The first evidence for the importance of DNA methylation in controlling TE activity came from studies in maize. Inactivation of the *Activator* (*Ac*) element was observed to correlate with the extent of DNA methylation, with active *Ac* elements showing hypomethylation in their transposase promoter sequences (Brutnell *et al.*, 1997; Chomet *et al.*, 1987; Wang *et al.*, 1996). The generality of this mechanism in maize was established through studies of the *Mutator* (*Mu*) and *Mu*-family elements in maize which also show a correlation between DNA methylation and transposon activity (Banks *et al.*, 1988; Hershberger *et al.*, 1991). Further studies in *A.thaliana* identified transcriptional reactivation of TEs in the DNAmethylation defective *met1* and *ddm1* single mutants (Lippman *et al.*, 2004, 2003; Miura *et al.*, 2001).

TEs are typically associated with MET1 activity, H3K9me2 and matching siRNAs, leading to CG, CHG and CHH methylation (Bernatavichute et al., 2008; Cokus et al., 2008; Sheldon et al., 2008; Slotkin et al., 2009). However, detailed studies highlight the variability in DNA methylation between different TE loci, and the differing requirements to maintain transcriptional repression. For example, gypsy class retrotransposon ATPG3 elements are transcribed and mobilised in the *ddm1* single mutant and the *met1 cmt3* double mutant, both of which are depleted in CG and non-CG methylation, but not in the *met1* and *cmt3* single mutants (Tsukahara et al., 2009). Similarly, the endogenous DNA-type transposon CACTA is remobilised only in the *met1 cmt3* double mutant, although transcription is derepressed in both met1 and cmt3 single mutants (Kato et al., 2003). By contrast, Evadé (EVD), a copialike retrotransposon, is mobilized in *met1* concurrent with a loss of CG methylation, but not in *cmt3* or *kyp*, despite loss of CHG methylation (Mirouze *et al.*, 2009). In the *met1 nrpe2a* double mutant, only EVD is mobilised, with other DNA transposons remaining inactivated, highlighting the selectivity in transposon control (Mirouze et al., 2009). Interestingly, mobilisation of EVD was much more pronounced in the *met1 kyp* double mutant than the *met1* single mutant although EVD transcript levels remained the same, and no increase in EVD transcripts was observed in the kyp single mutant, suggesting kyp may restrain mobilisation of EVD at the post-transcriptional level. This requirement for post transcriptional control by kyp to silence a transposon shares similarities with the silencing of the LTR-retrotransposon MAGGY in the fungus Magnaporthe grisea which occurs post-

transcriptionally and does not involve DNA methylation (Nakayashiki *et al.*, 2001). Unfortunately, H3K9me2 marks laid down by KYP are closely associated with CHG methylation in *A.thaliana* (Bernatavichute *et al.*, 2008), which is a common mark in TEs (Cokus *et al.*, 2008; Tompa *et al.*, 2002), making inference of the respective contributions of H3K9me2 and CHG methylation to TE silencing difficult. Interestingly, the *met1 cmt3* double mutant does not show the drastic *EVD* mobilisation of the *met1 kyp* double mutant (Mirouze *et al.*, 2009), suggesting KYP and CMT3 may act independently to repress transposition at some loci. It is clear that other histone modifications also play a role in silencing TEs in concert with the DNA methylation pathways. For example the histone deacetylase mutant, *hda6*, shows activation of several classes of TEs with an associated DNA hypomethylation at the loci (Lippman *et al.*, 2003). As both the silencing and hypomethylation were reversible upon backcrossing with wild type plants, this suggests HAD6 is involved in *de novo* TGS at these loci.

The relative contribution of RdDM to TE repression is unclear. In A.thaliana, met1 and *ddm1* display a widespread reactivation of TEs (Lippman et al., 2004; R. Lister et al., 2008; Xiaoyu Zhang et al., 2006; Daniel Zilberman et al., 2007), whilst release of TE silencing is restricted to a small number of specific loci in RdDM mutants (Huettel et al., 2006; Kanno et al., 2010, 2008, 2004), and this silencing is typically more prominent with the addition of the *met1* mutation (Mathieu *et al.*, 2007; Mirouze *et al.*, 2009). Additionally, the previously described increase in EVD mobilisation in the met1 nrpe2a double mutant is not observed in the met1 drm2 double mutant, which suggests POLIV and or POLV may operate independently of RdDM to suppress some transposons (Mirouze et al., 2009). However, there is convincing evidence that RdDM is required for complete transposon silencing at some loci. Following backcrossing of the methylation deficient *ddm1* mutant, a progressive remethylation is observed at many transposons, and the transcriptional activity of a transposon 5 generations after the backcrossing was observed to correlate with its capacity to be remethylated (Teixeira et al., 2009). Crucially, this remethylation was severely impaired when *ddm1* was crossed with *rdr2*, indicating the remethylation is RdDM-dependent. Furthermore, a maize rdr2 mutant displays increased expression of DNA TEs, although transposition rates in wild type and rdr2 were not established (Jia et al., 2009).

1.5.4.2 Promoter DNA methylation

The silencing of transposons by methylation appears to have been co-opted to control the expression of genes with repeat elements in the promoter regions. Consistent with this,

RdDM is targeted towards promoters containing repeat regions (Baev *et al.*, 2010) and differential gene expression is observed in RdDM-deficient maize (Jia *et al.*, 2009).

Specific examples of promoter DNA methylation regulating gene expression include the *FWA* and *SDC* loci, both of which have repeat elements in their promoters (Henderson and Jacobsen, 2008; Kinoshita *et al.*, 2007; Lippman *et al.*, 2004). Methylation at the *FWA* gene is restricted to the promoter and 5' untranslated region which contains siRNA-generating tandem repeats (Kinoshita *et al.*, 2007; Lippman *et al.*, 2004). This methylation is correlated with transcriptional silencing which is released following demethylation of the maternal allele in the endosperm (Kinoshita *et al.*, 2007). Endogenous FWA is demethylated and reactivated in *ddm1* and *met1* (Johannes *et al.*, 2009; Kakutani, 1997; Kinoshita *et al.*, 2007), indicating CG methylation is required for complete silencing of endogenous *FWA*. Similar to *FWA*, *SDC* contains tandem repeats in its promoter region which are targeted by RdDM for non-CG methylation, leading to transcriptional silencing (Henderson and Jacobsen, 2008). In contrast to *FWA* silencing which is dependent upon *met 1* and RdDM, methylation at *SDC* appears to be maintained by continuous *de novo* methylation as silencing is immediately restored in the F1 progeny of *drm1drm2cmt3* plants upon outcrossing (Henderson and Jacobsen, 2008), or transformation with *DRM2* or *CMT3* transgenes (Chan *et al.*, 2006).

Higher levels of promoter methylation are not always correlated with low levels of gene expression. In some specific cases, promoter DNA methylation has also been correlated with increased gene expression. The leucine-rich repeat gene *Pib* is upregulated in *O.sativa* in response to the blast-causing fungal pathogen Magnaporthe grisea and abiotic stressors (Wang et al., 1999). Two regions of the promoter were examined by bisulphite sequencing (~1200 bp in total) in response to treatment with 5-azacytidine (5-azaC), a chemical homolog of cytosine which reduces the activity of methyltransferases, resulting in hypomethylation (Li et al., 2011). Surprisingly, demethylation of the heavily methylated promoter of *Pib* by 5-azaC treatment was correlated with a decrease in gene expression. However, the regulation of *Pib* expression in response to *M.grisea* does not involve demethylation at the two regions examined. As the 5-azaC treatment causes genome wide hypomethylation, it is not possible to establish whether the decreased *Pib* expression is actually a direct effect of promoter demethylation, or a secondary effect of demethylation of a trans-acting repressive factor. The analysis of *Pib* highlights the difficulty in establishing the effect of promoter DNA methylation on gene expression with treatments such as 5-azaC which affect DNA methylation across the whole genome. Additionally, there are difficulties in analysing the DNA methylation status of promoters by bisulphite sequencing only a portion of the promoter, as the regulatory elements are often unknown. Indeed, Pib contains

a transposon 2.4 kb upstream whose methylation status was not examined. Although this is more than 1 kb upstream of the region that was examined, promoters are frequently defined as up to 3 kb upstream of the start site and siRNA targeted regions have been shown capable of regulating gene expression from this far upstream, as highlighted by the example below.

In a more targeted approach to examine the role of promoter DNA methylation Baek *et al* (2010) removed a putative siRNA targeted region from the promoter of the salt stress induced gene *HKT1*. Although this region is located 2.6 kb upstream of the start site, their results established that methylation of the siRNA region is crucial for suppressing expression of *HKT1* in the aerial portion of the plant. In the *rdr*2 mutant, promoter non-CG methylation is reduced, with a correlated increase in the expression of *HKT1* in the aerial portion. Plants lacking the siRNA region were also salt hypersensitive, suggesting correct spatial expression of *HKT1* by RDR2-dependent methylation of the upstream region is required for salt tolerance in Arabidopsis.

The above examples indicates that promoter DNA methylation controls gene expression at specific loci, however, the genome-wide correlation between promoter DNA methylation and gene expression is poor. For example, changes in promoter methylation and gene expression under drought stress do not show a significant correlation in A.thaliana (Colaneri and Jones, 2013). Furthermore, there is evidence that in humans, promoter DNA methylation may be responsive to gene expression rather than regulating it. Following the recent ENCODE publications of an integrated map of DNA elements in the human genome, a genome wide assessment of the interaction between DNA methylation and TFs has been performed for the first time (Bernstein et al., 2012; Thurman et al., 2012). Although this established that >98% of sites bound by TF are in DNAaseI hotspots, i.e. euchromatin devoid of DNA methylation, a negative correlation was observed between the expression of an individual TF and the methylation status of its binding sites across the genome (Thurman et al., 2012). It was suggested that this correlation is not easily explained by DNA methylation inhibition of TF binding and is more reasonably explained by a model in which the DNA methylation machinery passively methylates vacant TF binding sites (Thurman et al., 2012). It is possible then that in mammals, promoter DNA methylation prevents the binding of TFs at specific loci but that the major function of DNA methylation is to reinforce transcriptional silencing of inactive genes, as suggested by Bird (2002). Further studies in A.thaliana and other plant species are required to establish if this is the case for plants also.

So far, the functions of DNA methylation which have been discussed are genome defence against parasitic DNA, and the control of gene expression by promoter DNA methylation. DNA methylation is also observed in coding regions in most eukaryotes (Feng *et al.*, 2010a) and may yet be found to be as important as promoter DNA methylation in regulating the transcriptome.

1.5.4.3 Gene body DNA methylation

The function of gene body DNA methylation in plants is currently unclear, with the regulation of alternative splicing and suppression of cryptic promoters being the most commonly postulated functions (Chodavarapu et al., 2010; Lister et al., 2008; Maunakea et al., 2010; Zhang et al., 2006). Consideration has also been given to the suggestion that genebody DNA methylation may simply be a by-product of transcription (Teixeira and Colot, 2009). This is supported the observation that genic DNA methylation is variable between individuals (Vaughn et al., 2007). However, two genome-wide analyses by Widman et al and Takuno and Gaut indicate genic DNA methylation is likely to be functional in Arabidopsis (Takuno and Gaut, 2012; Widman et al., 2009). Widman et al analysed the conservation of all nucleotides including methyl-cytosine in duplicated genes and established that methylated cytosines were more highly conserved than any other nucleotide, strongly suggesting a function for the methyl group. Takuno and Gaut (2012) took an alternative approach, hypothesising that if gene body DNA methylation played a role in either suppressing cryptic promoters or enhancing splicing, as previously suggested (Chodavarapu et al., 2010; Maunakea et al., 2010), it should be enriched in essential genes and/or long genes. Analysis of existing data sets confirmed that methylated genes tend to be larger and knock-out mutants of these genes are more likely to have a phenotype, suggesting methylated genes are more "essential" (Takuno and Gaut, 2012). However, previous analyses indicate that the level of DNA methylation for pseudogenes, transposons and repeats also increases with the length of the genomic unit (Cokus et al., 2008), suggesting the observed correlation between length and gene body DNA methylation may not be informative. Although their analysis did not provide evidence for the exact function of genic DNA methylation, it does suggest a functional role for DNA methylation. In A.thaliana, gene body methylation does not show a linear correlation with gene expression, with methylated genes possessing a moderate level of gene expression (Zilberman et al., 2007). Interestingly, loss of genic DNA methylation in A.thaliana leads to an slight increase in gene expression, which may indicate that DNA methylation interferes with transcription elongation (Zilberman et al., 2007), as occurs in the fungus Neurospora crassa (Rountree and Selker, 1997) and mammals (Lorincz et al., 2004). In vitro experiments have

established that DNA methylation alters the force required to separate the DNA strands, in a sequence specific manner (Severin *et al.*, 2011), suggesting inhibition of elongation may be due a change in stacking energies of the cytosines as a result of methylation. However, given the relationship between genic DNA methylation and gene expression, the major function of gene-body DNA methylation in *A.thaliana* does not appear to be to supress gene expression.

An enrichment of DNA methylation in exons is observed across a variety of plants and animals, suggesting this enrichment may be an ancestral condition (Feng *et al.*, 2010a). The exon enrichment for genic DNA methylation in Arabidopsis is thought to be driven by nucleosome enrichment in exons over introns and postulated to play a role in exon definition and alternative splicing regulation (Chodavarapu et al., 2010). DNA methylation has been studied in honey bee (Apis mellifera) where it is observed at very low levels (<1%) and almost exclusively in the CG context in exons (Feng et al., 2010a). Disruption of CG methylation in A.mellifera by RNAi knockdown of DNMT3 causes widespread and diverse changes in alternative splicing which are significantly correlated with changes in DNA methylation (Li-Byarlay et al., 2013). Additionally, genic DNA methylation in mammals has been shown to regulate alternative promoters in a tissue and cell-type specific manner (Maunakea et al., 2010) and to reduce transcriptional noise (Huh et al., 2013). To the author's knowledge, similar such observations linking DNA methylation to the regulation of alternative splicing or cell-type specific promoters have not been made in plants, although a shared functionality would not be unexpected given the shared enrichment in exons. Interestingly, in the absence of MET1 activity in A.thaliana, CHG methylation is increased in the transcribed region of genes (Lister et al., 2008), suggesting either CHG methylation may compensate for the lack of CG methylation in *met1*, or else CG methylation represses genic CHG methylation.

On current evidence, exonic DNA methylation appears to be common across the plant and animal kingdom and predominantly functions to regulate alternative splicing (Alexander and Beggs, 2010; Schor and Kornblihtt, 2010), with additional functions suppressing cryptic promoters (Li-Byarlay *et al.*, 2013) and regulating transcript elongation (Lorincz *et al.*, 2004; Rountree and Selker, 1997; Zilberman *et al.*, 2007).

An additional role for genic DNA methylation has been proposed based on the observation that siRNAs are produced from introns in rice and observed to drive RdDM-dependent *cis*-methylation (Chen *et al.*, 2011). The authors hypothesise this methylation functions to homeostatically self-regulate transcription, however further analysis is required to establish whether these siRNAs and the intron methylation they facilitate are indeed functional or are

predominantly due to incidental and non-beneficial incorporation of intronic RNA into the RdDM pathway.

In summary, DNA methylation has multiple molecular functions. The primary function of DNA methylation in plants is to silence "parasitic" DNA, however, methylation at promoter regions has also been observed to regulate gene expression and gene-body DNA methylation seems likely to have multiple functions, including the regulation of splicing.

1.5.5 Dynamics of DNA methylation in A.thaliana

As described in section 1.5.3, the apparent possible dual requirement of RdDM and ROS1dependent DNA demethylation for siRNAs may allow the two opposing pathways to target the same genomic regions (He et al., 2009; Penterman et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2007). Given that plants possess mechanisms for both active DNA methylation and demethylation, and DNA methylation can influence the transcriptome, it is unsurprising that DNA methylation is to some extent dynamic through development (Gehring and Henikoff, 2007; Vining et al., 2012). Perhaps the most striking examples are the dynamic DNA methylomes of male and female gametes (Gutierrez-Marcos and Dickinson, 2012), including the demethylation of the A.thaliana endosperm which is required for the endosperm-specific gene expression profile (Choi et al., 2002; Gehring et al., 2009; Hsieh et al., 2009). Clearly, regulation of expression for proteins involved in the DNA methylation/demethylation pathways could lead to genome wide changes in DNA methylation. Indeed the promoter region of DRM2 is observed to be heavily methylated (Ashapkin et al., 2002), and ROS1 expression is regulated by RdDM (Huettel et al., 2006; Li et al., 2012), suggesting feedback mechanisms exists to regulate levels of DNA methylation at the genome wide level. However, how such genome wide changes in DNA methylation could result in specific changes in the transcriptome as part of the plant response to stress stimuli is more difficult to envisage. The RdDM pathway would appear to be a likely candidate mechanism for such directed DNA methylation changes as expression of a particular component in response to particular developmental or environmental stimuli could drive specific changes to the methylome. For example, in rice, the expression of an archesporial-specific argonaute family protein MEIOSIS ARRESTED AT LEPTOTENE1 (MEL1) is essential for the completion of normal sporogenesis and meiosis in both male and female organs (Nonomura et al., 2007). It is reasonable to believe MEL1 drives changes in gene expression required for sporogenesis by changing the active pool of argonaute-bound small RNAs. This could occur by sequestering specific small RNA species, as occurs with AGO10 and mi165/166 in A.thaliana (Zhu et al., 2011), or alternatively by binding small RNAs that are not normally

bound by an argonaute. Currently, it is not clear whether the change in MEL1 expression drives a change in RdDM activity.

This section will discuss mechanisms for dynamic DNA methylation which show potential for specific changes in gene expression that could be utilised by plants in response to external stimuli. Following this, the inheritance of DNA methylation patterns will be discussed.

1.5.5.1 De novo RdDM at transposons and repeat elements

The aforementioned competing activity of RdDM and ROS1/DML1/DML2 at the same loci suggests plants may be capable of fine tuning DNA methylation at some RdDM targeted loci. Furthermore, RdDM has been shown to be required for de novo methylation of unmethylated sequences, suggesting it may be involved in methylating sites in response to stress. As described in section 1.5.4.1, remethylation of transposons in backcrossed *ddm1* plants is dependent upon rdr2 (Teixeira et al., 2009). Further evidence for RdDM-dependent de novo DNA methylation comes from studies in which additional copies of two genes with repeat elements in their promoter, FLOWERING WAGENINGEN (FWA) and SUPPRESSOR OF DRM2, DRM1, CMT3 (SDC) were introduced into A.thaliana (Ausin et al., 2009; Cao and Jacobsen, 2002a; Chan et al., 2004). Transgenic copies of FWA are targeted for methylation at their promoter by RdDM and become transcriptionally silenced (Ausin *et al.*, 2009; Cao and Jacobsen, 2002a; Chan et al., 2004). The requirement for RdDM for de novo DNA methylation and silencing of FWA transgenes is demonstrated with the RdDM mutants rdr2, dcl3, drm2 drm1, ago4, idn1 and idn2 which all show depleted non-CG methylation at a newly introduced FWA transgene and a non-FWA silenced phenotype, in contrast with cmt3 and kyp which display the wild-type phenotype (Ausin et al., 2009; Chan et al., 2004). Furthermore, a stable non silenced endogenous *fwa* epiallele can be reverted to the silenced FWA epiallele by generating a large quantity of siRNAs from FWA transgenes to direct RdDM (Kinoshita et al., 2007), demonstrating that RdDM is required to establish DNA methylation and silencing at this locus. Similarly, de novo methylation of tandem repeats in the promoter of transgenic SDC loci is reduced in the RdDM mutants drm2 drm1, idn1 and idn2 (Ausin et al., 2009; Henderson and Jacobsen, 2008), suggesting RdDM may be the general mechanism by which de novo DNA methylation is initiated in A.thaliana. RdDMdependent, MET1-independent, *de novo* methylation has also been observed at a transgenic 35S promoter following targeting of the promoter sequence by infection with plant RNA viruses modified to carry a portion of the 35S promoter which generates homologous siRNAs (Jones et al., 2001). On current evidence it appears that de novo DNA methylation

of transposons and repeat elements is dependent upon the RdDM pathway and does not involve MET1 or CMT3.

The observation that *de novo* DNA methylation can also be directed towards specified loci by generating homologous siRNAs suggests that plants may be able to modify their DNA methylation pattern by expressing stress-induced siRNAs, or suppressing specific siRNAs in response to stress. This is further supported by a recent observation that induced expression of the inverted repeat IR71 leads to production of IR71-derived siRNAs which in turn drives DNA methylation in *trans* and *cis* (Dunoyer *et al.*, 2010). Given the role of DNA methylation at promoter regions (discussed in 1.5.4.2), *A.thaliana* could potentially modify the siRNA pool in response to stress to regulate gene expression. Furthermore, since TGS induced at the 35S promoter can be maintained in the following generations in the absence of the initial RdDM trigger (Jones *et al.*, 2001), it's possible that stress induced changes in the siRNA pool could lead to heritable changes in DNA methylation and their associated downstream effects on gene expression.

1.5.5.2 Dynamics of gene body DNA methylation

As described in section 1.5.4.3, DNA methylation in coding regions is predominantly observed in the CG context and siRNAs are depleted in the gene body (Cokus et al., 2008). Gene body DNA methylation looks to involve two processes: CG methylation of coding regions and restriction of CHG methylation in coding regions. Restriction of CHG methylation appears to be dependent upon the activity of the H3K9 demethylase IBM1, as the *imb1* mutant displays increased genic CHG methylation without affecting CHG methylation of transposons (Miura et al., 2009). As previously described in section 1.5.1, CMT3 activity and H3K9 methylation are closely associated. Thus, it seems IBM1 restricts genic CHG methylation by demethylating H3K9. Based on this observation, Teixeira and Colot (2009) proposes a model for gene body DNA methylation in which POL II activity is coupled to MET1 activity (by an unknown mechanism) and IBM1 activity which demethylates H3K9, preventing its recognition by the chromodomain-containing, CHG methyltransferase CMT3. Given that genic CHG methylation occurs in met1 (Lister et al., 2008) and met1drm1drm2 (Cokus et al., 2008) mutant plants, it appears that genic CG methylation may be required to recruit IBM1. This model implies that genic CG DNA methylation at an individual loci may be dynamic in response to changes in gene expression and could therefore be responsive to changes in environmental conditions which necessitate changes in the transcriptome. Thus, changes in genic DNA methylation in response to environmental stimuli could affect alternative splicing events or regulate transcription from

alternative start sites, given the postulated functions of genic DNA methylation (1.5.4.3). If these changes in DNA methylation persisted into the following generation they could then maintain a memory of the transcriptome changes induced by the stress event. The obvious contradiction in this model is that it requires genic DNA methylation to be dynamic in response to the stress-induced transcriptome changes but at least partially maintained when the transcriptome changes are reversed after the stress event. For such a model to exist, additional mechanisms are required which more permanently fix the genic DNA methylation state, perhaps by modifying additional chromatin markers.

1.5.6 Inheritance of parental DNA methylation profile

Mammals set down their germline in early development and reprogram DNA methylation through genome-wide erasure of DNA methylation in primordial germ cells and in the early stages of embryo development, before immediate re-methylation by the *de novo* methyltransferases DNMT3A and DNMT3B (Feng et al., 2010b; Hackett and Surani, 2013; Hemberger et al., 2009; Reik, 2007). In contrast, plants germ cells differentiate from somatic cells in developing flowers and their methylation pattern reflects the DNA methylation profile of the somatic cell from which they derive (Boavida et al., 2005). Thus, mammals possess a barrier to epigenetic inheritance which is not present in plants (Paszkowski and Grossniklaus, 2011). However, Calarco et al (2012) recently demonstrated that the inheritance of DNA methylation patterns in plants differs for the three sequence contexts. Whereas CG and CHG methylation are faithfully maintained in both the male and female germlines, CHH methylation is almost completely abolished in the sperm cell of the pollen grain. The associated loss of DRM2 expression suggests the loss of CHH methylation is due to a limited capacity for RdDM in sperm cells. As the CHH methylation is restored in the embryo when RdDM has been observed to be active (Jullien et al., 2012) it is thought RdDM restores the DNA methylation. POLIV-dependent 24-nt siRNAs in the seed have previously been shown to be predominantly maternal (Mosher et al., 2009). Thus, the CHH methylation pattern set down in the embryo will likely reflect the maternal epigenetic status. Given that CG methylation patterns are faithfully maintained through the germlines, whereas CHH methylation undergoes a resetting process which likely involves maternally-driven de *novo* methylation, it is not surprising that CG methylation has previously been postulated to be the coordinating epigenetic mark (Mathieu et al., 2007).

Differential methylation statuses of a single gene are referred to as epialleles. In some cases epialleles have been observed to be heritable over multiple generations and can confer phenotypes (Richards, 2006). For example, hypomethylation of the *FWA* promoter in *ddm1*

correlates with FWA expression and time to flowering (Kinoshita *et al.*, 2007). This hypomethylation is variable and in the most highly demethylated lines, a stable *fwa* epiallele is generated which remains unsilenced after outcrossing and is not observed to spontaneously revert to the wild-type silenced *FWA* epiallele (Johannes *et al.*, 2009), indicating stable inheritance of the altered DNA methylation state at this locus. Naturally occurring epialleles have also been observed. An interesting example is the naturally occurring mutant of *Linaria vulgaris* in which flower symmetry switches from bilateral to radial, a mutant first described by Linnaeus over 250 years ago. This mutant phenotype is wholly dependent on the methylation status of *LCYC* which controls dorsoventral asymmetry and is silenced by DNA methylation (Cubas *et al.*, 1999). The hypermethylated *lcyc* epiallele and its associated radial flower symmetry co-segregate, with occasional reversion to the unmethylated *LCYC* epiallele (Cubas *et al.*, 1999). A further naturally occurring epiallele which co-segregates with a phenotype is the hypermethylated epiallele of *COLOURLESS NON-RIPENING (CNR)*, which prevents ripening in tomatoes (Manning *et al.*, 2006).

Induced changes in DNA methylation have also been shown to be heritable. 5-azaC induces gene expression changes (Jones, 1985) with associated developmental phenotypes including early flowering and dwarfism in Perilla frutescents (Kondo et al., 2010, 2006), and early flowering in vernalisation-requiring A.thaliana ecotypes (Burn et al., 1993). This 5-azaCinduced dwarfism in *P.frutescents* is inherited (Kondo et al., 2010), in line with similar observations of 5-azaC-induced heritable dwarfism phenotypes in rice (Sano et al., 1990) and maize (Sano et al., 1989). Taking an alternative approach to study inheritance of DNA methylation and the effect of DNA methylation on plant phenotypes, two groups independently generated epigenetic Recombinant Inbred Lines (epiRILs) that possess almost identical DNA sequences, but contrasting DNA methylation patterns (Johannes et al., 2009; Reinders et al., 2009). In both cases, a wild type A.thaliana Col-0 plant was crossed with a hypomethylation mutant (*met1* or *ddm1*), before propagation through single seed descent for at least 6 generations to produce lines with varied stable DNA methylation patterns. Considerable phenotypic variation was observed between the epiRIL lines, as measured by flowering time, NaCl stress tolerance, biomass, Pseudomonas resistance and plant height (Johannes et al., 2009; Reinders et al., 2009), suggesting the variability in inherited DNA methylation induced impacted on plant phenotypes. This was further supported by DNA methylation analysis of the *ddm1*/Col-0 epiRILs, in which late-flowering time outliers were all observed to display low expression levels for FWA, and associated high DNA methylation of the promoter region (Johannes et al., 2009). A further study of the ddm1/Col-0 epiRILs observed that trait plasticities in drought stress were higher within the epiRIL

lines than the control lines, suggesting that the variation in DNA methylation between the epiRILs results in variability of stress responses (Zhang *et al.*, 2013).

The studies outlined above provide further evidence for the hypothesis that DNA methylation may transmit transgenerational stress memories. Altered DNA methylation patterns may be faithfully inherited in plants, and these DNA methylation states are observed to co-segregate with particular phenotypes, including stress tolerance. The remainder of the introduction will discuss dynamic DNA methylation in stress responses, before considering the possible role for DNA methylation in transgenerational stress memories.

1.5.7 DNA methylation as a stress response.

The group of Hiroshi Sano at the Nara Institute of Science and Technology, Japan, were instrumental in providing early evidence for changes in DNA methylation in response to stress in plants (Steward et al., 2002; Wada et al., 2004). Their initial observations of decreasing global DNA methylation in the root tissues of maize (Zea mays L. cv.Golden Arrow) plants subjected to cold stress, along with a more detailed analysis of demethylation of CG and CHG loci in a long terminal repeat suggested that DNA methylation may regulate expression in response to stress (Steward et al., 2002). Unfortunately, this initial observation was somewhat hindered by the severity of the treatment which prevented recovery and ultimately killed the plants. As such, it is difficult to assess whether the response observed truly related to the cold stress or was the result of cell death. Their follow-up studies in tobacco plants (Nicotiana tabacum cv. Xanthi nc) investigated the expression of genes differentially expressed in a transgenic tobacco line in which DNA methylation was suppressed by anti-sense NtMET1 and hence, whose expression was thought to be regulated by DNA methylation (Choi and Sano, 2007; Wada et al., 2004). Infection with tobacco mosaic virus induced accumulation of NtA1ixl, a known pathogen response gene, and was associated with NtAlixl gene-body methylation changes (Wada et al., 2004). However, the expression changes preceded the changes in DNA methylation CCGG loci by 24 hours, indicating that changes in DNA methylation were not responsible for triggering a stress responsive change in expression for this gene. In a separate study, they observed that aluminium, cold and salt stress induced expression of NtGPDL and gene-body demethylation (Choi and Sano, 2007). This expression change was thought to be in response to oxidative stress as a similar expression change was observed with paraquat treatment but not pathogen infection. Demethylation was observed to precede the expression change by 5 hours, implying the expression change may be been due to the change in DNA methylation

for this particular gene. Another early indication that DNA methylation may be important in plant stress responses came from a screen for mutants with deregulated expression of a luciferase transgene under the control of an ABA-responsive promoter (Gong *et al.*, 2002). This screen identified the DNA Glycosylase/Lyase gene, *ROS1* which functions to demethylate RdDM targets. Mutants of *ROS1* were observed to be hypersensitive to genotoxic stress and hydrogen peroxide, suggesting the demethylase function of *ROS1* may be important in response to some abiotic stressors (Gong *et al.*, 2002).

For this section, DNA methylation change in response to different stressors will be discussed separately with most of the examples given being experiments with the model plant species *A.thaliana*

DNA methylation changes have been observed in response to NaCl stress in A.thaliana (Baek et al., 2010; Boyko et al., 2010), tobacco (Choi and Sano, 2007), maize (Tan, 2010), cotton (Cao et al., 2011), rice (Karan et al., 2012) and crystalline iceplant (Dyachenko et al., 2006), suggesting alterations in DNA methylation may be a common NaCl stress response across the plant kingdom. However, studying different rice genotypes, Karan et al noted that there did not appear to be a consistent methylation change between rice genotypes and no correlation was observed between DNA methylation and gene expression (Karan et al., 2012), indicating that the observed DNA methylation changes in response to NaCl stress do not necessarily represent an adaptive response. Although there is evidence that NaCl stress preferentially leads to differential methylation of stress responsive genes (Choi and Sano, 2007; Tan, 2010), this observation has rarely been followed by a detailed analysis to establish if the DNA methylation drives functional gene expression change. One example where DNA methylation has been shown to be important for NaCl stress tolerance is the aforementioned regulation of the Na⁺-selective uniporter HKT1 in A.thaliana. HKT1 gene expression appears to be regulated by MET1 and RdDM at a small RNA binding region 2.6 kb upstream of the start site as this region is hypomethylated in the *met1* and *rdr2* mutants, and removal of this region lowers NaCl stress tolerance so that it resembles met1 (Baek et al., 2010). The regulation of *HKT1* by DNA methylation in response to NaCl stress clearly demonstrates that DNA methylation can play a role in stress tolerance by modifying gene expression.

Osmotic stress, which is physiologically similar to NaCl stress (Verslues *et al.*, 2006), also alters DNA methylation in maize (Tan, 2010), rice (Zhang *et al.*, 2013) and Arabidopsis (Colaneri and Jones, 2013). Two genes which function in the biosynthesis of proline which accumulates in response to osmotic stress (Yoshiba *et al.*, 1995), *PYRROLINE-5-*

CARBOXYLATE SYNTHETASE (P5CS) and *ORNITHINE-DELTA-AMINOTRANSFERASE* (δ -OAT) (Roosens *et al.*, 1998; Székely *et al.*, 2008), are demethylated and upregulated in rice in response to polyethylene glycol (PEG) treatment (Zhang *et al.*, 2013). Using a genome-wide approach to examine DNA methylation changes in response to PEG in *A.thaliana*, Colaneri and Jones (2013) established that differentially methylated regions centre around the transcription start site, suggesting that DNA methylation changes in response to PEG may affect gene expression. These differentially methylated regions are predominantly hypermethylated and membrane transport proteins were enriched within the genes affected. Interestingly, no correlation was observed between transcription and differential methylation in promoter regions. The authors suggest this was due to threshold selections used and detection limitations, as some known stress responsive genes were not identified as PEG stress-responsive by RNA-Seq (Colaneri and Jones, 2013).

Elucidation of the possible role of DNA methylation in NaCl and osmotic stress responses in plants is only just beginning. On current evidence, it appears that osmotic stress induces wide scale changes in DNA methylation which seem to be targeted to stress responsive genes. Which DNA methylation/demethylation mechanisms are involved is currently unknown, although the CG hypermethylation around transcription start sites and changes in CG methylation at *P5CS* and *delta-OAT* loci suggests a role for MET1 and/or DRM2. Whether the observed modified DNA methylation patterns trigger functional transcriptome changes in response to NaCl or osmotic stress has not yet been determined.

Heavy metals stressors can also cause changes in DNA methylation (Ou *et al.*, 2012). Rice DNA methylation patterns are altered in response to both excesses of the essential heavy metal ion Cu^{2+} and also in response to lower concentrations of the non-essential heavy metal ions Cd^{2+} , Cr^{3+} and Hg^{2+} (Ou *et al.*, 2012). These methylation changes are detected for transposable elements and genes involved in heavy metal stress response, implying a broad change in DNA methylation occurs during heavy metal stress. Interestingly, all the observed changes were at CHG loci, suggesting the involvement of CMT3 in the stress response. Again, the effect of the changes in DNA methylation on the expression of these genes was not determined.

In low relative humidity (LRH) *A.thaliana* reduces stomatal index (SI) and induces CG and CHH methylation of the promoters of two stomatal developmental genes (*SPEECHLESS* and *FAMA*) (Tricker *et al.*, 2012). Both the SI and *SPCH* and *FAMA* expression are unaffected by LRH in the methyltransferase mutants *drm2drm1* and *met1*, whereas *cmt3* displays a wild type response, indicating CG and CHG methylation changes at these loci are

required for the LRH response. Furthermore, increased production of siRNAs mapping to regions upstream of *SPCH* and intergenic to *FAMA* are detected upon LRH treatment and the RdDM mutants, *rdr2* and *dcl3* fail to respond to LRH, firmly implicating the RdDM pathway in the response (Tricker *et al.*, 2012).

The RdDM pathway has also been implicated in restricting retrotransposition triggered by environmental stress. The retrotransposon *ONSEN* is transcriptionally and transpositionally activated in response to heat stress in *A.thaliana* and hyperactivated in RdDM mutants in heat stress, indicating activation of *ONSEN* is repressed by RdDM (Ito *et al.*, 2011). Interestingly, the new *ONSEN* insertions occur predominantly in genes, and can confer heat stress-responsive characteristics on nearby genes, suggesting stress events could lead to genome rearrangements with potential associated benefits or costs of causing novel gene heat-sensitivity (Ito *et al.*, 2011). Intriguingly, siRNAs have recently been shown to be capable of moving across grafts (Dunoyer *et al.*, 2010; Molnar *et al.*, 2010), suggesting the existence of a systemic silencing pathways which could enable plants to regulate DNA methylation in response to stress in tissues distal to the tissue perceiving the stress. Further experiments are required to establish whether this does indeed occur.

In addition to the abiotic stressors described so far, many biotic stressors have been observed to cause changes in DNA methylation in plants. In the example given earlier, tobacco mosaic virus infection associated changes in DNA methylation at the pathogen response gene NtAlix1 occurred after the increase in gene expression (Wada et al., 2004). Since this publication there have been a number of observations which indicate DNA methylation is important in some pathogen stress responses. Firstly, DNA methylation can inhibit the expression of defence genes. Chemically induced abolition of DNA methylation at the promoter of the disease resistance gene Xa21G increases expression of Xa21G and confers an increased tolerance to Xanthomanas oryzae pv. Oryzae (Akimoto et al., 2007). In contrast, demethylation of the *Pib* promoter in *O.sativa* by 5aza-C treatment is correlated with a decrease in gene expression and compromised blast resistance (Wang et al., 1999). Secondly, defence responses include demethylation of endogenous loci (Dowen et al., 2012; A. Yu et al., 2013). The pathogen-derived signature flg22 triggers a derepression of RdDM targets including AtGP1, AtSN1 and the Onsen long terminal repeats, concurrent with a downregulation of AGO4, AGO6, POL IV and POLV subunits, IDN2 and MET1(Yu et al., 2013), suggesting a general repression of the TGS pathways. Activation of AtSN1 in response to flg22 relies upon ROS1-dependent CHH demethylation (Yu et al., 2013), indicating the depression requires active demethylation in addition to the passive demethylation by TGS repression. The requirement for active demethylation also extends to

the defence gene *RMG1* whose promoter is targeted by RdDM and whose activation in response to flg22 is ROS1-dependent (Yu et al., 2013). Growth of the bacterial pathogen Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato strain DC3000 (Pst. DC) is increased in ros1 and inhibited in RdDM mutants, indicating that the identified regulation of defence genes by RdDM repression and *ROS1* activity is required for the pathogen response (Yu *et al.*, 2013). In response to *Pst*, *A.thaliana* differentially methylates small regions of the genome, with an enrichment for genic regions (Dowen et al., 2012). This occurs predominately at CG and CHH loci with a significant underrepresentation of CHG, in contrast with the methylation response to heavy metals discussed above which occurred solely at CHG loci (Ou et al., 2012). Given that gene body methylation does not correlate with gene expression (Zilberman et al., 2007), is it interesting to note that gene-body hypomethylation in response to Pst is associated with increased expression, indicating the methylation changes are correlated with transcriptome changes in response to Pst (Dowen et al., 2012). Mutants impaired in CG and CHH methylation display misregulation of these genes in the absence or presence of *Pst*, over and above the background misregulation (Dowen et al., 2012), further indicating the expression of these genes is regulated by DNA methylation.

The list of stress conditions in which have DNA methylation changes have been observed in plants is now considerable, and includes osmotic (Colaneri and Jones, 2013; Tan, 2010; Zhang et al., 2013), NaCl (Baek et al., 2010; Cao et al., 2011; Choi and Sano, 2007; Dyachenko et al., 2006; Karan et al., 2012; Tan, 2010), temperature (Boyko et al., 2010; Hashida et al., 2006; Steward et al., 2002), nitrogen deficiency (Kou et al., 2011), low humidity (Tricker et al., 2012) heavy metal (Ou et al., 2012; Rahavi et al., 2011) stressors, and a range of biotic stressors (Dowen et al., 2012; Wada et al., 2004, Yu et al., 2013). However, as promoters may be passively methylated at vacant transcription factor binding sites (1.5.4.2) and gene-body DNA methylation is thought to be coupled to transcription (1.5.5.2), it appears that DNA methylation can reflect as well as regulate gene expression. As we saw above, DNA methylation changes may occur before or after gene expression changes in response to stress, and there have been further observations of DNA methylation changes occurring as a secondary effect of stress-responsive expression changes (Hashida et al., 2006). Therefore, the question of whether changes DNA methylation represent an actual stress response with downstream effects on transcript abundance or are themselves secondary effects caused by changes in gene expression in response to stress requires further investigation in each instance.

In summary, DNA methylation is observed to be dynamic in response to various stress conditions in plants. The response to individual stressors appears to involve particular DNA

methylation/demethylation components as different sequence contexts are affected. Whether these changes in DNA methylation actually regulate the expression of stress responsive genes needs to be determined in each individual case by monitoring DNA methylation and gene expression over time following stress initiation. While examples exist where DNA methylation changes precede gene expression changes, in the majority of cases, the cause and effect relationship between the DNA methylation and gene expression changes has not been established. The importance of DNA methylation in stress responses is suggested by the biotic stress hypersensitivity of plants in which DNA methylation has been chemically reduced. However, such chemical treatments induce widespread demethylation of DNA, preventing analysis of which stress response pathways might be controlled by stressresponsive dynamic DNA methylation.

1.6 DNA methylation in stress imprinting, stress memories and transgenerational stress memories.

Beyond the role for DNA methylation in responding transiently to stress conditions, it's becoming increasingly clear that modifications to the DNA methylome can be maintained through the plant's lifespan and into the following generation(s) (Bossdorf *et al.*, 2010; Johannes *et al.*, 2009; Kinoshita *et al.*, 2007; Mathieu *et al.*, 2007; Rangwala *et al.*, 2006; Verhoeven *et al.*, 2010), giving them the potential to encode stress imprints and transgenerational stress memories.

Given that DNA methylation is frequently altered in response to stress, is mitotically heritable, and is linked to transcriptional regulation, there is considerable scope for DNA methylation to encode some of the longer term stress imprints discussed earlier. Unfortunately, many observations of stress-dependent changes in DNA methylation do not include a temporal element. As such, little is known about the persistence of the changes after stress and what contribution DNA methylation makes to stress imprints.

The discovery that DNA methylation patterns can also be inherited meiotically in plants has led to the hypothesis that DNA methylation may act as a epigenetic mark which carries a memory of the stress into the following generation (Boyko and Kovalchuk, 2011; Thellier and Lüttge, 2013). As discussed earlier, chemical alterations to the DNA methylome can be inherited, along with any associated phenotype, the classic example being the inheritance of 5-azaC-induced dwarfism (Kondo *et al.*, 2010). This is in contrast to the observed "resetting" of DNA methylation patterns in mammalian germline development (Feng *et al.*,

2010b; Reik, 2007). *Taraxacum officinale* (Dandelion) exposed to low nutrient growth conditions, salt stress, jasmonic acid (JA) application, or SA application all displayed an altered DNA methylation pattern that is largely inherited by the progeny via asexual reproduction (74-92% of changes inherited) (Verhoeven *et al.*, 2010). In some of the stress memories and transgenerational stress memories discussed earlier, DNA methylation changes were also observed in the hypertolerant progeny.

A.thaliana appears to transmit stress memories through alteration in its DNA methylation profile. NaCl stress increases HRF and NaCl tolerance in the progeny with an associated DNA hypermethylation (Boyko et al., 2010). The DNA hypermethylation seems essential for the stress memory as treatment with 5-azaC eliminates the hypermethylation in the progeny of NaCl treated plants and concurrently erases the stress memory (Boyko et al., 2010). NaCl-induced hypermethylation in the progeny is observed in both gene-body and promoter DNA methylation and is enriched at genes involved in regulating chromatin structure (Bilichak et al., 2012). The altered DNA methylation pattern inherited by the progeny seems likely to encode the stress memory as DNA methylation changes broadly correlate with changes in H3K9ac and HK9me2 and gene expression differences between the progeny of NaCl stressed plants and control progeny. Interestingly, the stress memory is dependent upon DCL3, suggesting a role for siRNAs and RdDM (Boyko et al., 2010). Furthermore, a follow up experiment in which salt stressed plants were crossed with untreated plants showed that increased HRF is only observed in progeny in which the maternal plant was NaCl treated (Boyko and Kovalchuk, 2010). Unfortunately, the salt tolerance and DNA methylation of the crosses were not assessed, although it is expected that the increased HRF, increased salt tolerance and DNA hypermethylation will co-segregate. Given that RdDM is responsible for CHH methylation (Matzke et al., 2009) and CHH methylation is lost in the paternal germline shortly before fertilisation (Calarco et al., 2012), a reasonable postulation would be that the NaCl stress memory involves DCL3-dependent CHH hypermethylation which is maintained in the female gamete and passed onto the following generation.

RdDM has also been implicated in transgenerational responses to biotic stress in *A.thaliana*. Unlike wild type plants, *nrpd2a,b* and *dcl2,3,4* knock-out mutants do not display an increased tolerance in the progeny of plants subjected to herbivory or MeJA application (Rasmann *et al.*, 2012a), suggesting RdDM is required to lay down a memory of the parental JA response. Additionally, in the absence of parental stress, the *A.thaliana cmt3 drm2 drm1* (*cdd*) mutant displays an increased tolerance to *Pst*. relative to wild-type which appears similar to the previously described transgenerational stress memory in response to *Pst*.

challenge in *A.thaliana* (Luna *et al.*, 2012). As the increased SA-induced PR-1 expression in the progeny of *Pst.* challenged plants is also observed in the *cdd* mutant in the absence of parental stress (Luna *et al.*, 2012), DNA hypomethylation in *cdd* is proposed to mimic the DNA methylome of *Pst.* challenged progeny.

Nitrogen deficiency stress in O.sativa induces DNA methylation changes which are inherited by approximately 50% of the progeny (Kou et al., 2011). This new DNA methylation pattern then becomes stable, being inherited by 100% of the following generation. This occurs with modifications to cytosine methylation in CG, CHG and CHH contexts, a surprising observation given that CHH methylation requires *de novo* methylation of the daughter strand following cell division (Cao and Jacobsen, 2002b) and CHH methylation is considered to be less meiotically heritable (Calarco et al., 2012). Crucially, the altered DNA methylome two generations after the stress treatment is correlated with an increased tolerance to nitrogen deficiency, with only those plants displaying the modified DNA methylation pattern also displaying an increased tolerance (Kou et al., 2011). Although the regions of the O. sativa DNA methylome modified by nitrogen deficiency have not yet been determined, these results strongly indicate that the modified DNA methylome induced by nitrogen deficiency encodes a transgenerational stress memory. The previously described transgenerational stress memory in response to heavy metal stress in O.sativa is also observed to be concurrent with DNA methylation changes in the progeny (Ou et al., 2012), suggesting DNA methylation may be a general mechanism by which O.sativa encodes stress memories.

In summary, a few studies have attempted to understand the underlying biochemical basis for the increased tolerance in the progeny of stressed plants by identifying genomic regions which are differentially methylated in the progeny of stress plants. There is now a considerable body of evidence that DNA methylation patterns are responsive to stress and stress-modified methylomes can be inherited. Furthermore, RdDM components have been implicated in some stress memories (Boyko *et al.*, 2010) and transgenerational stress memories (Luna *et al.*, 2012; Rasmann *et al.*, 2012a) and nitrogen-deficiency in rice is associated with a stress memory two generations later in which stress tolerant and non-stress tolerant fall into two distinct cohorts with regard to their DNA methylation pattern (Kou *et al.*, 2011). Unfortunately, DNA methylation does not show a simple linear relationship with gene expression (Colaneri and Jones, 2013; Zilberman *et al.*, 2007). Thus, in many instances, differences in DNA methylation are observed in the progeny but it is not possible to infer the downstream effects on gene expression and ultimately which changes in DNA methylation (if any) the increased stress tolerance is dependent upon. As such, whilst some

in the field are of the firm belief that plants do pass on a memory of stress to the following generation via epigenetic mechanisms (Boyko and Kovalchuk, 2011), there are also those who argue that further detailed and well-designed experiments examining such mechanisms are required to "[move] from interesting observations towards robust evidence" (Pecinka and Mittelsten Scheid, 2012).

1.7 How could inherited changes in DNA methylation increase stress tolerance in the progeny?

As all the molecular functions of DNA methylation identified to date involve regulation of the transcriptome, it is reasonable to expect that if changes in DNA methylation do indeed transmit a stress memory, they will enhance stress tolerance by modifying the transcriptome.

One could postulate two possible routes by which DNA methylation could enhance stress tolerance of the progeny by modifying the transcriptome (Figure 2). Both mechanisms involve at least partial inheritance of the stress-induced changes in DNA methylation through to G_2 plants in which the altered epigenome changes the transcriptome. However, the mechanisms differ in how the altered epigenome exerts its stress tolerance benefits. In mechanism 1, the basal transcriptome is altered in G_2 such that the plants are "stress adjusted", whereby they display an altered expression of stress responsive genes in non-stress conditions, reducing the initial shock of stress and reducing stress sensitivity. In mechanism 2, the G_2 plants are "stress primed" such that the transcriptional response to stress is altered, enabling a more rapid and/or more effective response to stress. These models are not mutually exclusive and the expression of some loci may be affected in the G_2 plants both in the absence of stress and upon subsequent stress treatment.

Currently, there have been few studies characterising the transcriptome component of a transgenerational stress memory from which we can assess the relative contribution of these two mechanisms. In most published transgenerational stress memories, the hypertolerant progeny do not display alter growth traits in non-stress conditions, suggesting mechanism 2 is more likely. However, the second generation progeny of *P.lanceolata* plants grown under low nutrient conditions do display altered plant growth traits under control conditions (Case *et al.*, 1996), and the progeny of cold treated *A.thaliana* show a reduced fitness in favourable conditions (Blödner *et al.*, 2007), both of which may be due to the parental treatment modifying the basal transcriptome of the offspring. Providing more direct evidence for mechanism 1, it appears gene expression is affected in the progeny of NaCl-treated

A.thaliana under control conditions and involves the hypermethylation and reduced expression of chromatin modifying genes (Bilichak *et al.*, 2012) although the inheritance of these transcriptome alterations over an untreated generation was not examined. On the other hand, biotic stress memories appear to involve increased expression of defence genes in response to stress (Pastor *et al.*, 2013; Slaughter *et al.*, 2012), in line with mechanism 2. Transgenerational responses to biotic stress appears to involve a similar stress priming, as the second generation progeny of *Pst*DC3000 challenged plants display an increased expression of *PR-1* in response to SA, with no change in basal expression (Luna *et al.*, 2012).

Mechanisms for an epigenetic transgenerational stress memory



Figure 2. Possible mechanism by which stress-induced changes in DNA methylation could enhance stress tolerance in plants two generations after the stress treatment. G_0 plants subjected to stress treatment which induces modification of the DNA methylome. The DNA methylome is then inherited by the following generations, with the stress-induced changes at least partially maintained. In the G_2 plants, two mechanisms are proposed. Mechanism 1 invokes a stress primed state for the progeny of stress plants, in which the inherited changes in the DNA methylome produce a mild stress-like transcriptome in the abscence of stress, reducing the shock of a subsequent stress treatment and/or reducing sensitivity to the stress treatment. Mechanism 2 proposes that the altered DNA methylome manifests itself in an altered transcriptional response to the stress, increasing the speed of response and/or responding to the stress in a more effective manner. The two mechanisms are not mutually exclusive.

1.8 Concluding remarks

It is becoming increasingly clear that plants possess mechanisms to enhance the tolerance of their progeny in response to various stressful environmental conditions. Where this stress memory is only observed in the immediate progeny, it is conceivable that this involves loading the seed with transcripts, lipids or metabolites to enhance stress tolerance. However, transgenerational stress memories observed two or more generations after the original stress treatment requires information flow between the generations which can be stably maintained.

Evidence outlined in this Chapter leads to the hypothesis that transgenerational stress memories in plants are encoded by modified DNA methylation patterns. DNA methylation is dynamic in response to stress, it can be maintained through mitosis and meiosis, and it can exert transcriptional control over nearby genomic regions and perhaps regulate alternative splicing.

As discussed above, although an increasing body of evidence supports the hypothesis that DNA methylation transmits transgenerational stress memories, there are no published experiments which directly link a stress memory to a particular DNA methylation event(s). Until a stress memory is shown to be dependent upon DNA methylation modifications at specific genomic region(s), and the downstream effects of these specific changes in DNA methylation established, the hypothesis that DNA methylation can encode stress memories in plants will remain unproven.

1.9 Research aims

The aims of this research project were to further our understanding of how transgenerational stress memories can enhance stress tolerances, and to establish whether changes in DNA methylation can transmit stress memories in the model plant species, *Arabidopsis thaliana*. The hypothesis was that transgenerational stress memories are dependent upon stress-induced changes in DNA methylation that are inherited into the following generations. This altered DNA methylome was expected to increase stress tolerance in the second generation progeny by modifying the transcriptome as discussed in section 1.7.

Two parallel approaches were taken (Figure 3). One approach was to start by analysing DNA methylation changes during stress and then to establish whether the altered DNA

methylome was inherited by the progeny. The results of this approach are discussed in Chapter 3.

In a second approach, stress conditions were screened to identify conditions which generate an increased stress tolerance in the following generations. The results from the second approach, including the identification and characterisation of a novel transgenerational stress memory are discussed in Chapter 4. For both approaches, a wide range of stress conditions were examined, including conditions that had previously been shown to generate either a change in DNA methylation, or a transgenerational stress memory.

Ideally one of these approaches would have identified conditions which resulted in a transgenerational stress memory with an associated change in DNA methylation. The inheritance of DNA methylation could then be examined to establish if all stress-induced changes in DNA methylation were inherited and whether the inheritance was variable between individually treated plants. Following this, a transcriptome analysis could then be utilised to identify difference in the transcriptomes of the second generation progeny of stressed plants. This would enable interrogation of the relative contribution of the two mechanisms proposed in section 1.7, as well as identifying genomic regions for further DNA methylation analysis.

Unfortunately, no stress treatment was observed to generate a transgenerational stress memory with an associated change in DNA methylation. Therefore, the transcriptome analysis was performed on the progeny of plants displaying the novel transgenerational stress memory detailed in Chapter 4. The transcriptomics analysis and follow-up biochemical analysis of the transgenerational stress memory progeny are discussed in Chapter 5.

Finally, Chapter 6 provides an overall discussion of the results and identifies possible future directions. The methods employed in Chapters 3-5 are detailed in Chapter 2.



Figure 3. Experimental plan by two parallel approaches. Both approaches start with a screen of suitable stress conditions to identify either heritable DNA methylation changes or a transgenerational stress memory. If either approach is successful the final stage is a transcriptomic analysis of the hypertolerant G_2 plants.

Chapter 2. Methods

2.1 Plant cultivation and husbandry

The general *A.thaliana* cultivation, husbandry and seed collections methods are detailed below. Details of stress treatments and stress tolerance experiments are in section 2.6. *A.thaliana* was cultivated in soil, on agar-plates and in hydroponics. Unless otherwise specified the ecotype used in all experiments was Col-0. Col-0 seeds were obtained from The Nottingham Arabidopsis Stock Centre (NASC). All experiments were conducted on seeds derived from a single self-fertilised plant to ensure experimental plants were isogenic. Fresh Col-0 seeds were sown every 6 months to maintain a collection of fresh isogenic seeds for experimentation.

2.1.1 Soil

Cultivation of *A.thaliana* in soil was carried out in line with the protocols outlined by The European Arabidopsis Stock Centre (http://arabidopsis.info/). Unik Paks with 5, 15, or 0 cavities were filled with a 5:2:1 mixture of potting soil, vermiculite and perlite and treated with InterceptTM (Bayer) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Three seeds were sown in the centre of each cavity before stratification (4 °C in the dark for 48 hours), after which trays were placed in a growth room or glass house. Growth room relative humidity was kept between 0-30%, with temperature between 18-22 °C and light (~ 80 µmol) supplied from above for 16 hours a day. Green house temperature was maintained between 17-24 °C, with light levels maintained at a minimum of 100 µmol for 16 hours a day. Soil moisture was maintained by watering trays from below twice daily. After 7-10 days, plants were thinned to 1 per cavity plug by removing the outermost seedlings.

Two methods were used to collect seeds from soil cultivated plants. The first method involved tying inflorescence stems loosely to vertical supports approximately 2 weeks after initiation of bolting. Upon observation of the first fully dried silique, the above ground portion of the plant was contained within a glassine bag and water was restricted once approximately 90% of siliques were fully dried. Glassine bags containing dried plant material were excised from the plant and massaged to shatter siliques for seed collection (section 2.2).

The second method utilised microperforated cellophane (360 holes/inch², Focus Packaging & Design) tubes (48 mm in diameter, 300 mm in length, sealed at on end) which were taped to a plastic plant label and placed over the plant 21 days post stratification (dps). Upon

observation of the first fully dried silique, the tube was tied approximately 50 mm above the base of the inflorescence stem. Water was restricted once approximately 90% of siliques were fully dried. Once all siliques were fully dried, the inflorescence material was excised from the plant and the seeds collected as described above.

2.1.2 Agar-plate

Seeds were surface sterilised by vapour phase sterilisation as described by Clough and Bent (Clough and Bent, 1998). Briefly, seeds were placed into racked 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tubes which were left open and placed inside a sealable container in a fume hood. Concentrated HCl (3 ml) was added to 100 ml commercial bleach in a beaker placed inside the container which was immediately sealed. Seeds were incubated in the resulting chlorine gas for 3 hours before the container was opened and the microcentrifuge tubes immediately sealed. Sterilised seeds were sown directly onto square petri plates containing ATS media (section 2.8.1) (Lincoln *et al.*, 1990) solidified with 1% BactoTM Agar in a sterile environment and sealed with micropore tape. Plates were held vertical in racks and stratified (4 °C in the dark for 48 hours) before being placed a growth room or glasshouse as described above.

2.1.3 Hydroponics

Hydroponic tanks were constructed consisting of 1 L plastic boxes made opaque with commercial black tape into which 10 equally spaced 7 mm holes were punched into the lid. For the cultivation of plants in hydroponics, plants were sown onto agar-plates as described above. Fourteen dps (approximately 13 days after germination) seedlings were transferred into hydroponic tanks containing 900 ml ATS. More plants than required in a particular experiment were transferred to hydroponic tanks (10 % excess) so that plants which displayed signs of wilting within 48 hours could be removed and replaced with healthy plants. No obvious relationship between plant growth traits at transfer and the likelihood to display signs of wilting after transfer to hydroponics were observed. The ATS was replenished every 7 days. Siliques were removed once they became dry and they were stored in glassine bags. Once sufficient quantities of siliques were collected, seeds were separated from the siliques by gentle disruption and sieving before air drying and storage as detailed below.

2.2 Seed storage

Seeds collected from both soil and hydroponic cultivated plants were separated from the dry reproductive material by sieving. For storage, seeds were transferred to 1.75 ml glass vials and left at room temperature to air-dry for 14 days, after which the cap was screwed on. Where sufficient quantities of seed were collected (i.e. for identification of stress memories), the moisture content of seeds was measured before seed storage. Approximately 100 mg of seeds were weighed in a 1.75 ml glass vial and heated to 85 °C for 24 hours. Weight postheating was recorded and used to calculate the moisture content of the seeds using the formula:

% Moisture Content = 100 x ((wet weight - dry weight) / wet weight)

The measurement was repeated twice for each treatment group. Where moisture content exceeded 6%, seeds were air-dried for a further 7 days and the moisture content re-measured. Labelled seed vials were stored in the dark at room temperature.

2.3 General molecular biology

2.3.1 Nucleic acid extractions and analyses

2.3.1.1 DNA extraction

DNA was extracted with a DNeasy Plant Mini Kit according to the manufacturer's protocol. Briefly, plant tissue (rosettes, roots or whole seedlings) weighing approximately 200 μ g was ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen in a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube, to which extraction buffer and RNase A were added. Successive column-based steps to remove detergent, proteins, and polysaccharides from the lysate were followed by isopropanol precipitation of the DNA onto a silica column from which it was eluted with deionised water. All DNA samples were analysed by agarose gel electrophoresis to inspect DNA for degradation and analysed on a NanoDrop 2000/8000 (Thermo Scientific) to establish the concentration of the sample. Samples were stored at 4 °C (<1 month) or at -20 °C (> 1 month).

1.1.1.1 RNA extraction

RNA extraction was based on the Trizol method (Chomczynski and Sacchi, 2006). Approximately 100 mg of plant tissue was ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen in a microcentrifuge tube, taking care not to allow the tissue to thaw, before addition of 1 ml Trizol reagent and vigorous mixing. After 3 minutes incubation, 0.2 ml chloroform was added and the tube gently mixed and inverted for 3 minutes. Samples were then centrifuged for 5 min at \geq 20 000 g relative centrifugal force (RCF). The upper aqueous layer (~500 µl) was removed to a fresh microcentrifuge tube and 500 µl isopropanol and 100 µl 3M NaOAc added. Precipitation of RNA was carried out by incubation at room temperature for 5 minutes before centrifugation at \geq 20 000 g for 20 minutes. The supernatant was removed and the pellet washed with 1 ml 70 % ethanol and air dried for approximately 5 minutes. RNA was dissolved in 50 µl of sterile water. All RNA samples were analysed by agarose gel electrophoresis to inspect for degradation, and analysed on a NanoDrop 2000/8000 to establish the concentration of the sample. Samples were stored at -20 °C (>1 month) or -80 °C (>1 month). After grinding of plant material, the extraction was performed on ice where possible and centrifugation steps were performed at 4 °C.

2.4 Generation of promoter::GUS lines

8 genes were selected for promoter activity analysis: *DRM2* (*AT2G33830*), *DCL3* (*AT3G43920*), *RDR2* (*AT4G11130*), *NRPD1* (*AT1G63020*), *NRPE1* (*AT2G40030*), *CMT3* (*AT1G69770*), *MET1* (*AT5G49160*) and *ROS1* (*AT2G36490*). Promoters were defined as the region upstream of the gene transcription start site up to the translated region of the next upstream gene, up a maximum of 3 kb. Promoter regions were amplified from genomic DNA by PCR with PfuUltraTM II fusion which is optimised for amplifying long sequences with a high fidelity. PCR primers were designed with Primer3 (http://primer3.ut.ee/).

PCR was performed by addition of the following to 0.5 μ l Col-0 DNA template: 1 units PfuUltra DNA polymerase, 5 μ M dNTPs, 10 nM 3' primer, 10 nM 5' primer and sterile water to 20 μ l, with 1 X PfuUltra buffer. Cycling parameters were dependent upon primer annealing temperatures (see Table 13). The PCR program was:

- 94 ° C 1 min
- 94° C 30 s
- Annealing temperature (See Table 13) 30 s
- 72 ° C 30 s
- 72° C 5 min
- $4 \circ C Hold$

PCR products were purified from a 1 % agarose gel using the Gel Extraction Kit (GenoCruz [™]) and sequenced to confirm successful amplification of target promoter sequences. Attempts were made to clone all promoter fragments into the Gateway® pENTR[™] entry vector (see below). Where this was unsuccessful, promoter fragments were cloned into the pCXGUS-P binary vector (section 2.4.3).

2.4.1 Biochemistry

2.4.1.1 Ferric reductase activity assay

Root ferric reductase activity was quantified using the method described by Yi and Guerinot (1996). Seeds were sown onto ATS-agar and transferred at 7 dps onto ATS-supplemented with varying containing concentrations of zinc. At 14 dps, root material from a whole plate of seedlings (30 plants) was pooled together, weighed and added to 1 ml assay solution comprising 100 μ M Fe(III)-EDTA, 300 μ M FerroZine in distilled water. Following 20 minutes incubation in the dark, the root material was removed and the absorbance at 562 nm measured with a Ultraspec 2000 Spectrophotomoter (Pharma Biotech) zeroed at 750 nm. An aliquot of assay solution containing no plants acted as a blank. The concentration of reduced iron (Fe(II)-EDTA) was determined using the molecular extinction coefficient of 28.6 mM/cm. Testing for statistical significance was carried out in SPSS using a 2-way ANOVA.

2.4.1.2 Chloroform extraction

Chloroform extraction was performed based on the method described by Porra *et al* (1989) using the aerial portion of the same seedlings from which root material was removed for the ferric reductase assay above. Aerial tissue was submerged in 4 ml DMF and incubated overnight in the dark at 4 °C. The DMF was then removed and stored in the dark at 4 °C whilst a second extraction in 4 ml DMF for 6 hours was performed. The two 5 ml portions

Cycle 40 times

were then pooled and absorbance determined at 647 nm and 664 nm with an Ultraspec 2000 Spectrophotomoter (Pharma Biotech) zeroed at 750 nm and DMF-resistant UV cuvettes. Total chlorophyll (A & B) content was calculated using the equation: Chlorophyll = $17.67 \text{ A}^{647} + 7.12 \text{ A}^{664}$. Testing for statistical significance was carried out in SPSS using a 2-way ANOVA.

2.4.2 Cloning with the Gateway® system

To enable directional cloning into the pENTRTM entry vector, the forward PCR primers contained the sequence, CACC, at the 5' end of the primer which then base pair with the overhang sequence, GTGG, in the pENTRTM vector. The following promoters were cloned into the pENTRTM entry vector using the pENTRTM/SD/D-TOPO® cloning kit according to the manufacturer's instruction: pNRPE1(POLV), pCMT3, pDRM2 and pRDR2.

A transformation mixture was prepared consisting of 0.5 µl gel purified PCR product, 0.5 µl salt solution, 0.5 µl sterile deionised water and 0.5 µl vector and incubated on ice for 10 minutes. The transformation mixture was added to a vial of One Shot® TOP10 *E. coli* cells and incubated for 30 min on ice. Transformation was achieved by heat-shocking the cells for 30 seconds at 42°C without shaking, before immediately transferring to ice. The cells were then diluted in Super Optimal Broth (S.O.C) medium (Hanahan, 1983) and incubated at 37°C for 1 hour with shaking. Cells were then spread on Lysogeny Broth (LB) (Bertani, 1951) - agar plates containing 50 µg/ml kanamycin, and incubated overnight at 37°C.

Colonies were examined by PCR to identify transformants containing the insert in the correct orientation. A pipette tip was used to pick colonies and add them to a reaction mixture containing 1 units Taq DNA polymerase, 5 μ M dNTPs, 10 nM M13 forward primer , 10 nM 5' primer and sterile water to 20 μ l, with 1 X Standard Taq buffer. Cycling parameters were dependent upon primer annealing temperatures (see Table 13). The PCR program was:

- 94 ° C 1 min
- 94° C 30 s
- Annealing temperature (see Table 13) 30 s
- 72 ° C 30 s
- 72° C 5 min
- $4 \circ C Hold$

Cycle 30 times

Positive colonies were then picked and cultured overnight in 3 ml LB medium containing 50 μ g/ml kanamycin before isolation of plasmid by QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit (QIAGEN) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Plasmids were then analysed by PCR as above with 0.5 μ l of plasmid preparation used as template and analysed by restriction digest to confirm the presence and orientation of the insert.

Inserts were transferred to the GatewayTM binary vector pBGWFS7 which contains the GUS gene (Xiao *et al.*, 2010) by performing a recombination reaction with the Gateway® LR ClonaseTM II Enzyme Mix kit (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. 50 μ l of Library Efficiency® DH5 α^{TM} competent cells was incubated with the LR reaction mixture and heat-shock transformed as described above. After incubation at 37 °C for 1 hour, the cells were spread onto LB-agar plates containing 100 μ g/ml spectinomycin. Positive colonies were identified by colony PCR as above, before culturing in 3ml LB medium containing 100 μ g/ml spectinomycin for isolation of plasmid by QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions.

2.4.3 Amplification of promoter sequences and cloning into pCXGUS-P

Promoter sequences for pNRPD1(POLIV), pROS1 and pMET1 were incorporated into a pCXGUS-P binary T-vector according to the method described by Chen (2009). Briefly, a ligation mixture was prepared composed of 50 ng of the T-vector and the corresponding concentration of A-tailed PCR product to give a 6:1 molar ratio of insert:vector, with 20 units T4 DNA ligase in 10 μ l total volume. The ligation mixture was transformed into 50 μ l Library Efficiency® DH5 α^{TM} competent cells by the heat shock method described above. After incubation at 37 °C for 1 h, the cells were spread onto LB-agar containing 50 μ g/ μ l kanamycin. Positive colonies were identified by colony PCR as described above, before isolation of plasmid by QIAprep Spin Miniprep Kit and restriction digest and plasmid sequencing to confirm insertion and direction of insert.

2.4.4 Transformation of Agrobacterium tumefaciens

Regardless of cloning procedure, successful cloning into the binary vector (pBGWFS7 or pCXGUS-P) was followed by transformation into *Agrobacterium tumefaciens* strain GV3101. Competent *A.tumefaciens* were prepared as described by Höfgen and Willmitzer (1988). Transformation was achieved by electroporation as described by Weigel and Glazebrook (2006). Briefly, pre-prepared frozen 500 µl aliquots of competent *A.tumefaciens* were thawed on ice, mixed with 1 µl binary vector and incubated on ice for 5

min. The cells and binary vector were then transferred to an electroporation cuvette and electroporated in a Gene Pulser apparatus (Bio-Rad) at 25 mF and 2500 V with resistance set to 200 ohms. The cells were then diluted in 1 ml LB medium, transferred to a 1.5 ml microcentrifuge tube and incubated at 28 °C for 2 h. Cells were spread onto LB containing 100 μ g/ml spectinomycin (pBGWFS7) or 50 μ g/ml kanamycin (pCXGUS-P) for selection. Positive colonies were identified by colony PCR as described above.

2.4.5 Transformation Arabidopsis thaliana

Arabidopsis thaliana was transformed with the positive colonies by the Agrobacterium tumefaciens-mediated floral dip method described by Clough and Bent (1998). Briefly, GV3101 harbouring a binary vector was cultured overnight in 3 ml LB with selective antibiotics at 28 °C with shaking. An aliquot of 100 µl was removed and added to 500 ml LB with selective antibiotics and incubated at 28 °C with shaking overnight. An infiltration mixture was prepared by harvesting cells by centrifugation at 5 000 g for 10 min before resuspending in 500 ml 5% sucrose, 0.05% Silwet L-77 in a beaker. The aerial portion of *A.thaliana* plants with primary bolts clipped and secondary bolts of approximately 2-10 cm were submerged in the infiltration mixture with gentle agitation for approximately 5 s. Dipped plants were covered to maintain humidity and left in a low light location overnight before being uncovered and returned to the greenhouse. Seeds were harvested by the glassine method (section 2.1.1).

2.4.6 Selection of representative lines

Seeds were collected from dipped plants and grown under selective conditions to identify progeny containing the insertion. Selection of plants transformed with the Gateway® expression vector was carried out by sowing seeds in soil at a density of approximately 0.1-1 per mm² across a seed tray insert. After 7 days, trays were sprayed with Basta (phosphinothricin) solution 120 mg/L three times over a period of 7 days. Plants which survived the Basta treatments and appeared healthy were then potted on and self-fertilised before seeds collection. Segregation analysis was carried out in the following generation to identify plants which produced progeny with a 3:1 ratio of Basta resistant:Basta sensitive as these will only contain the resistance gene on one chromosome and are therefore more likely to possess a single insertion. Segregation analysis was performed by Basta to identify lines segregating 3:1 for resistance (Exact Binomial Test conducted in R). Where the null hypothesis that the line segregated 3:1 was not rejected (p>0.05), the plants were self-fertilised to identify offspring which were homozygous for the Basta resistance trait. A

minimum of 6 independent transformants were examined by GUS staining (see section 2.4.7) before a single transformant was selected as possessing a representative expression of GUS. This line was then used for all experiments to investigate promoter activity. Selection of representative transformants from plants transformed with the pCXGUS-P vector was carried out in an identical manner except that hygromycin selection was used. Hygromycin selection was performed by sowing sterilised seeds on ATS-agar supplemented with 50 μ g/ml hygromycin. At14 dps, plants displaying healthy root growth were transferred to ATS-agar and cultivated until sufficiently large to transfer to soil for self-fertilisation and seed collection.

2.4.7 GUS staining protocol

The method for visually inspecting GUS activity was adapted from the method described by Kobayashi (2007). Plant tissue (rosette, root or whole seedlings) were fixed in 3.7% formaldehyde in pH 7.0 phosphate buffer (0.1 M NaH₂PO₄, 0.1 M Na₂HPO₄) for 30 min before washing in several changes of ice cold phosphate buffer for 30 min. Tissues were then submerged in 1.5 ml GUS staining solution (10 mM EDTA, 0.1 % Triton-X-100, 1 mM K₃Fe(CN)₆, 2.0 mM X-Gluc, 0.1 M NaPO₄, pH 7.0 made to volume with sterile deionised water) in a 2 ml microcentrifuge tube and vacuum infiltrated for 5 min. Vacuum infiltration was repeated for tissue samples that did not sink. Samples were then incubated at 37 °C for 24 h to allow the GUS protein to convert colourless X-Gluc (5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl ß-Dglucuronide) to 5-br-4-Cl-3-indolyl which undergoes subsequent oxidation to form an insoluble indigo final product. GUS stained plant tissue was washed in distilled water and taken through a series of ethanol washes by incubation in 20%, 35% and 50% ethanol for 30 min each. Following this, tissues were fixed for 30 min in FAA (50% Ethanol, 3.7% Formaldehyde, 5% acetic acid, sterile water to volume) for 30 min at room temperature. A second ethanol series followed involving incubation in 70% (overnight), then 80% and 90% (1 h each) ethanol, before a final overnight clearance in 1.5 ml 5:2 (w:v) chloral hydrate, glycerol solution. Chloral hydrate cleared tissues were then mounted on slides for microscope imaging. A 35S::GUS line (donated by Leyser, O) was used as a positive control and WT Col-0 used as a negative control for each GUS staining procedure. The exception to this protocol was the GUS staining of the pMET:GUS line which was performed with a 1 h incubation step as the activity of the promoter was far in excess of the other promoters examined.

2.5 DNA methylation analysis

DNA methylation was analysed by bisulphite sequencing and Methylation-Sensitive Amplified Polymorphism (MSAP).

2.5.1 Methylation Sensitive Amplified Polymorphism

MSAP protocols were based previously published methods (Cervera *et al.*, 2002; Kageyama *et al.*, 2008). Two protocols were developed based on the AseI and HpaII/MspI and AseI and MboI/Sau3AI/DpnII restriction endonuclease combinations.

2.5.1.1 AseI and HpaII/MspI MSAP

DNA samples were digested with AseI and HpaII, and AseI and MspI in parallel. Digestion and ligation were carried out simultaneously having established that sequential and simultaneous digestion and ligation steps produced the same band profile. The following were added to 100 ng DNA: 10 units AseI, 10 units HpaII or MspI, 20 units T4 DNA ligase, 62.5 pM HpaII/MspI oligonucleotide adapter, 12.5 pM AseI oligonucleotide adapter and sterile water to 20 μ l, with 1 X T4 DNA ligase buffer. The oligonucleotide adapters were prepared by adding equal quantities of 100 μ M adapter oligonucleotides 1 and 2 (Table 13) and heating to 90 °C for 1 minute before bringing back down to 25 °C over 15 min. Digestion and ligation were carried out at 37 °C for 6 hours before denaturation of enzymes at 65 °C for 10 min. Ligated samples were then diluted by addition of 180 μ l sterile water. Pre-selective PCR was performed by addition of the following to 1 μ l diluted ligation sample: 1unitsTaq DNA polymerase, 5 μ M dNTPs, 15 nM AseI +1 primer , 15 nM HpaII/MspI +1 primer and sterile water to 20 μ l, with 1 X Standard Taq buffer. Cycling parameters were dependent upon primer annealing temperatures (See Table 13). Preselective program was:

- 72 °C 2 min
- 94 ° C 1 min
- 94° C 30 s
- Annealing temperature (see Table 13) 30 s
- 72 ° C 30 s
- 72° C 5 min
- 4 °C Hold

Cycle 20 times
Pre-selective PCR samples were analysed by agarose gel electrophoresis to examine amplification before dilution by addition of 180 μ l sterile water. Selective PCR was performed by addition of the following to 1 μ l pre-selective PCR sample: 1unitsTaq DNA polymerase, 5 μ M each dNTPs, 5 nM AseI +2 primer, 15 nM HpaII/MspI +3primer, and sterile water to 20 μ l with 1 X standard taq buffer. AseI +2 primers were labelled with ARD700 or FAM for polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (PGE) or capillary electrophoresis (CE) analysis respectively. Cycling parameters were dependent upon primer annealing temperatures (see Table 13). Selective program was:

> Step-down PCR - 20 cycles

- Static PCR – 20 cycles

- 94 ° C 60 s
- 94° C 30 s
- (Annealing temperature +10 °C) -0.5 °C/cycle 30 s
- 72 ° C 30 s
- 94° C 30 s
- Annealing temperature 30 s
- 72 ° C 30 s
- 72° C 5 min

Selective PCR samples were analysed by agarose gel electrophoresis to examine amplification before 1:10 dilution with sterile water.

PGE was performed with a Li-COR 4200L according to the manufacturer's instructions. Polyacrylamide gels (6%) were prepared by addition of 200 µl ammonium persulfate to 5 ml of SequaFLOWGel Complete Buffer and 20 ml of SequaFLOWGel XR Monomer Solution which was mixed and immediately dispensed between glass plates held between rail assemblies. Running buffer comprised 0.8 x TBE (section 2.8.4). A buffer tank was attached to the top of the polyacrylamide gel cassette and loading buffer added to the tanks above and below the gel. A pre-run was carried out for each gel to optimise the focal plane of the detection microscope. Loading buffer (2.8.5) was then thawed on ice and added to diluted samples (10-fold dilution in sterile water) which were heated to 90 °C for 5 min to denature them. Loading buffer was removed from the top tank to below the level of the gel. Ficoll (1.5 ml) was then added to the top of the gel and the samples comb-loaded onto the gel, before gentle replacement of the running buffer. Samples were run for 1 min before removal of the comb. Samples were then run for 2 h and fragments detected by excitation of the ARD700-labelled AseI +2 primer as the sample passed an excitation laser. IRDye700 50-700 Sizing Standard samples were run at either end of the gel. Fragment

presence/absence scores were obtained by visual inspection of the gel images and tabulated accordingly.

Capillary electrophoresis analysis was performed with an ABI 3130XL. 0.3 μ l of GeneScan TM 600 Liz Size standard was added to 0.7 μ l of 20-fold diluted sample before loading on a 96-well plate and analysis on the ABI 3130XL according to the manufacturer's instructions. Fragments were detected by excitation of the FAM-labelled AseI +2 primer. Data analysis was performed in GeneMapper® Software v3.7. The peak sizes of each sample were automatically determined based on a 2nd-order least squares size calling curve using the retention times for the size standard peaks. Total peak intensities for each individual sample were normalised across the experiment.

2.5.1.2 AseI and MboI/DpnII/Sau3AI MSAP

The AseI and MboI MSAP assay was performed in an identical manner to the 1.3.1.1AseI and HpaII/MspI MSAP assay described above with the following exceptions. As ligation of adapter oligos onto MboI, DpnII and Sau3AI reconstitutes the cleavage sites, digestion and ligation steps were performed separately. The following were added to 100 ng DNA: 10 units AseI, 10 units MboI or DpnII or Sau3AI, and sterile water to 10 µl, with 1 X T4 DNA ligase buffer, with incubation at 37 °C for 6 h before denaturation of enzymes at 65 °C for 10 min. Ligation was achieved by addition of 20 unitsT4 DNA ligase, 62.5 pM MboI/DpnII/Sau3AI oligonucleotide adapter, 12.5 pM AseI oligonucleotide adapter and sterile water to 10 µl, with 1 X T4 DNA ligase buffer. Ligation was carried out at 4°C overnight before denaturation of enzymes at 65 °C for 10 min. Ligated samples were then amplified as described above except that HpaII/MspI primers were replaced with MboI/DpnII/Sau3AI primers.

2.5.2 Bisulphite sequencing

Bisulphite sequencing to detect DNA methylation involves conversion of unmethylated cytosine to uracil in the presence of the bisulphite ion (HSO_3^-) , with methylated cytosine remaining unconverted. Unmethylated cytosines are displayed as thymines in the resulting amplified sequence of the sense strand whereas methylated cytosine are displayed as cytosines.

2.5.2.1 Bisulphite conversion

To prepare genomic DNA for bisulphite conversion, a restriction digestion was performed to reduce the complexity of the genomic DNA. DNA was digested overnight with ApaI due to the absence of its recognition sites (GGGCCC) from the regions which were sequenced. Bisulphite conversion was performed with the EZ DNA Methylation-LightningTM Kit (Zymo Research) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, 130 µl of Lightning Conversion Reagent was added to 100 ng of DNA sample in a PCR tube and mixed. Samples were heated to 98°C for 8 min, followed by 54°C for 60 min. Samples were then bound to silica-based column and washed to remove reagents before DNA desulphonated on-column for 20 min at room temperature, followed by a further wash step to remove reagents. Samples were eluted in 20 µl sterile deionised water and stored at -20 °C.

2.5.2.2 Bisulphite PCR

Primers for bisulphite sequencing were manually designed to amplify the sense strand with minimal incorporation of cytosine into the 3' primer and guanine into the 5' primer. To ensure that full conversion of cytosines had occurred, bisulphite sequencing was performed on a 157 bp sequence of the chloroplast *PsaA* promoter which is not methylated and therefore all cytosine within this region should be converted to thymines (Finn *et al.*, 2011). For bisulphite PCR reactions, the following were added to 0.5 μ l of bisulphite treated DNA sample: 1 unit Taq DNA polymerase, 5 μ M dNTPs, 10 nM 3' primer, 10 nM 5' primer and sterile water to 20 μ l, with 1 X Standard Taq buffer. Cycling parameters were dependent upon primer annealing temperatures (See Table 13 below). PCR program:

- 94 ° C 1 min
- 94° C 30 s
- Annealing temperature (see Table 13) 30 s
- 72 ° C 30 s
- 72° C 5 min
- 4 °C Hold

Where no product of the expected size was observed, the PCR was repeated with 0.5 μ l of the first PCR reaction used as the template for an identical second reaction. Sequence reads for the *PsaA* fragment indicated that 100% (21/21) of cytosines in this region were converted, indicating that the bisulphite treatment was successful.

- Cycle 40 times

2.5.2.3 Sequencing

Bisulphite PCR samples were sequenced by the Genomics Laboratory within the Technology facility at the University of York. Samples were analysed on a ABI Prism 3130XL. Resulting Seq files were inspected in Chromas. The underlying methylation status of each cytosine within the region amplified was determined by visually comparing the cytosine and thymine peak height ratio (C:T) resulting from the incorporation of these nucleotides: C:T >3:1 = unmethylated, C:T <1:3 = methylated, 3:1<C:T>1:3 = partially methylated

2.6 Stress treatments

Stress treatments were used for two purposes: Screening for conditions which generated either a change in DNA methylation or a transgenerational stress memory and examining stress tolerance in the progeny of plants subjected to stress treatments. All experiments were conducted with *A.thaliana* ecotype Col-0 unless otherwise specified. Stress treatments were either initiated from germination onwards or at a set number of days after the end of stratification. Where stress treatments were conducted to examine stress tolerance in the progeny, parental plants self-fertilised and seeds were collected from individual plants separately. A summary of the stress treatments and F1 generation stress tolerance testing is given in Table 1.

2.6.1 Stress treatments for screening

2.6.1.1 Screening stress conditions for DNA methylation changes

NaCl, drought, PEG, sorbitol and temperature stress treatments were performed to examine DNA methylation in response to stress. These treatments are detailed below. The DNA methylation profile of zinc stressed plants was also examined. The zinc stress treatment was performed as part of the screen for transgenerational stress memories. This experiment in detailed in section 2.6.2.4.

F0 treatment		Cultivation	Number of plants	Developmental stage	F1 stress tolerance testing (for all F1 progeny in F0 treatment group)	Statistical test	
Nitrogen deficiency	9 mM NO₃ (Control)	Agar	40 0-21 dps		Fresh weight: 10 plants on agar. 9 mM or 1.8 Mm NO ₃ from 0-14 dps (x 6 repeats).	2-way ANOVA	
	1.8 mM NO ₃	Agar	40	0-21 dps	Seed weight: 10 plants in hydoponics. Transferred to tanks containing 9 mM, 1.8 mM or 0.9 mM NO ₃ from 21 dps (x 6 repeats).	2-way ANOVA	
	9 mM NO₃ (Control)	Hydroponics	10	>21 dps			
	1.8 mM NO₃	Hydroponics	10	>21 dps			
	0.9 mM NO₃	Hydroponics	10	>21 dps			
Tempearature extremes	12 °C	Soil	40	>21 dps	Fresh weight: 20 plants in soil at 12, 22 or 34 °C for 0-21 dps (x 4 repeats)	2-way ANOVA	
	22 °C (Control)	Soil	40	>21 dps	Seed weight: 20 plants in soil at 12, 22 or 34 °C from germination (x 4 repeats)	2-way ANOVA	
	34 °C	Soil	40	>21 dps			
Elevated Nacl	1 mM NaCl (Control	Agar	40	0-21 dps	Germination: 100 seeds on agar. 0, 50, 100, 150, 200 mM NaCl for 0-14 dps (x 4 repeats)	Student's t-test with multiple testing correction and G-test	
	100 mM NaCl (Control)	Agar	40	0-21 dps	Root growth: 30 plants transferred at 7dps to 0, 150, 175 mM NaCl. Growth measured 9dps	NA	
Low water potential	Control	Agar	40	0-21 dps	Germination: 50 seeds on agar. 0, 4, 8, 12, 16 % PEG for 0-14 dps (x 4 repeats)	Student's t-test with multiple testing correction and G-test	
	+ 15% PEG	Agar	40	0-21 dps			
	1 µM ZnSO₄ (Control)	Agar	40	0-10 dps	Fresh weight: 50 seeds on agar. 1 μM, 250 μM or 500 μM ZnSO4 0-10 dps (x 6 repeats)	2-way ANOVA	
Elevated Zinc	500 μM ZnSO₄	Agar	40	0-10 dps	Developmental progression: 30 plants on agar. 1μM, 50 μM, 250 μM, 500 μM ZnSO4 from 2 leaf stage for 13 days	NA	
	1 mM ZnSO₄	Agar	40	0-10 dps	Heavy metal stress tolerance. Fresh weight: 37-50 plants on agar supplemented with 50-500 Ni, 500 µM Co or 100 mM Nacl from 0-14 dps	NA	
Elevated Zinc	inc 1 μM ZnSO ₄ (Control) Agar 80 0-10 dps Fresh weight: ¹		0-10 dps	Fresh weight: 100 seeds on agar. 1 μ M, 50 μ M 250 μ M or 500 μ M ZnSO4 0-10 dps (x 10 repeats)	2-way ANOVA		
(Repeat experiment)	500 μM ZnSO₄	Agar	80	0-10 dps	Fresh weight: 10 plants in hydroponics. 1 μM, 50 μM 250 μM or 500 μM ZnSO4 21-35 dps (x 9 repeats)	Randomised block design ANOVA	

Table 1. Summary of the stress treatments and the stress tolerance carried out in the following generation. For each F0 treatment, the conditions tested are described, including the cultivation method, the number of plants in each treatment group, and the developmental stage during which the stress treatment occurred. The F1 stress tolerance experiments were identical for all F1 progeny from each F0 treatment group. The statistical tests employed to identify significant difference between control and stress progeny are listed.

2.6.1.1.1 NaCl and drought in soil

Twenty one dps, watering was ceased for 4 trays of 40 plants each. Three trays were then watered from below with 25, 50 or 100 mM NaCl with the 4th tray remaining unwatered to affect drought stress. As water retention was greater in cavities in the middle of the tray, 1-5ml of sterile water was added daily to the outermost cavities to maintain more equal soil

moisture across the tray for the drought stress. An additional tray of plants were watered throughout to provide a control group. At 35 dps, rosette tissue was excised from 10 random plants in each tray and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for extraction of DNA (section 2.3.1.1) for MSAP analysis (section 2.5.1).

2.6.1.1.2 NaCl, PEG and sorbitol in hydroponics

Plants were transferred to hydroponics at 14 dps and cultivated on liquid ATS media as outlined in 2.1.3. Seven days later, ATS was removed and replaced with ATS supplemented with 150 or 200 mM NaCl or 5%, 10% or 15% PEG for 1 tank each (10 plants). One tank was supplied with ATS not supplemented with NaCl or PEG as a control group. The maximum quantum yield of photosystem II (Fv/Fm) was measured daily with a Pocket PEA portable chlorophyll fluorimeter as a measure of stress. Treatments proceeded until a decrease in Fv/Fm of stress plants was observed relative to control plants. NaCl treatments lasted for 48 hours, whilst PEG treatments lasted for 7 days. Rosette and root tissues were separately pooled for each treatment group and snap frozen for DNA extraction (section 2.3.1.1) for MSAP analysis (section 2.5.1). For MSAP analysis of the roots of individual plants subjected to 5% PEG stress, the above 5% PEG stress treatment protocol was carried out and DNA extracted from root tissue from each plant separately after 7 days. For the comparison of osmotic stress induced by PEG, sorbitol and sterilised PEG stress, the above 5% PEG stress treatment was performed with 2 additional tanks. One tank was treated with ATS supplemented with sufficient sorbitol to induce an identical osmotic stress (as measured by osmometer measurements of the solutions). The second tank was supplied with a sterile solution of ATS supplemented with 5% PEG.

2.6.1.1.3 Temperature stress

Three trays of 40 plants each were grown as described in 2.1.1. At 21 dps, the trays were placed in Sanyo MLR-352 growth cabinets set at 12 °C (cold), 22 °C (control) or 34 °C (hot). Light intensity for all cabinets was set at ~ 120 μ mol, with a 16 hour photoperiod. At 35 dps, Fv/Fm was measured with a portable chlorophyll fluorimeter and the rosette

diameter was measured for 10 random plants in each tray. Rosette tissue was then excised from 20 random plants in each tray and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for extraction of DNA (section 2.3.1.1) for MSAP analysis (section 2.5.1).

2.6.1.2 Screening stress conditions for induction of a transgenerational stress memory

2.6.1.2.1 Nitrogen deficiency stress

Plants were subjected to nitrogen deficiency stress on agar-plates (2.1.2) and hydroponics cultivation (2.1.3). For nitrogen deficiency stress on agar-plates, 40 seeds each were sown onto ATS-agar with nitrogen content in the media altered to 9 mM NO₃ (control) or 1.8 mM NO₃ (nitrogen deficient) (see section 2.8). At 21 dps, seedlings were transferred to soil and cultivated as described in 2.1.1. with seeds collected by the glassine bag method. Seeds were collected separately from the 80 plants.

For nitrogen deficiency stress in hydroponics, plants were cultivated as described in (2.1.3). 21 dps, ATS was removed and replaced with ATS with nitrogen content adjusted to 9 mM NO₃ (control), 1.8 mM or 0.9 mM NO₃ (nitrogen deficiency) for one tank each (10 plants). ATS with adjusted nitrogen content was refreshed every 7 days and siliques collected as described in (2.1.3). Seeds were collected separately from the 30 plants.

2.6.1.2.2 Temperature stress

Plants were cultivated as described in 2.6.1.1.3 except rosette tissue was not removed and plants were maintained in the control (23 °C), cold (12 °C) and hot (34 °C) temperature conditions through to seed collection by the cellophane method (2.1.1).

2.6.1.2.3 NaCl stress

Plants were subjected to NaCl stress on ATS-agar (2.1.2). Forty seeds were sown onto ATSagar supplemented with 100 mM NaCl, with an additional 40 seeds sown onto ATS-agar as a control group. At 21 dps, seedlings were transferred to soil and cultivated as described in 2.1.1. with seeds collected by the glassine bag method. Seeds were collected separately from the 80 lines and labelled as C 1-40 (control) and N 1-40 (NaCl). A single seed from each of the 40 NaCl lines was subjected to a NaCl stress and control treatment as described above, with collected seeds denoted as NN 1-40 (NaCl, NaCl) or NC 1-40 (NaCl, control). A single seed from each of the 40 control lines was taken through a second control treatment, with collected seeds labelled as CC 1-40 (control, control). An additional experiment was conducted with the C24 ecotypes following the treatment outlined by Boyko *et al* (2010). Briefly, the above experimental plan was followed with ½ Murashige & Skoog (MS) media (see section 2.8) (Murashige and Skoog, 1962) used in place of ATS and NaCl stress induced by addition of 75 mM NaCl, with 80 plants in each treatment group. Twenty one dps, rosette tissue was excised from 10 random plants in each tray and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for extraction of DNA (section 2.3.1.1) for bisulphite sequencing (section 2.5.2). Seeds were collected separately from the 160 lines. An equal portion of the seeds from the two treatment groups were pooled and sown onto soil (section 2.1.1). Twenty one dps, rosette tissue was excised from 10 random plants in each tray and snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for extraction of DNA (section 2.3.1.1) for bisulphite sequencing (section 2.5.2).

2.6.1.2.4 Drought stress

Drought stress was simulated by addition of PEG to ATS-agar to reduce water potential. PEG-infused ATS-agar plates were prepared as described by Verslues (2006). Briefly, 40 ml ATS-agar in a square petri plate was overlaid with 40 ml ATS containing 30% PEG 6000 and placed in the dark at 4 °C to allow the PEG to equilibrate between the solidified and liquid ATS. After 48 h the ATS-PEG solution was removed. Water potential measurement of the ATS-PEG solution before and after incubation on top of the ATS-agar confirmed that equilibrium was reached within this time period. 40 seeds were sown onto ATS-agar-PEG plates. At 21 dps, plants were transferred to soil and cultivated as described in 2.1.1, with seeds collected by the glassine bag method. Seeds were collected separately from the 40 lines and labelled P 1-40 (PEG). The initial PEG and NaCl stress experiments were conducted at the same time, therefore the C 1-40 seed lines acted as control for both NaCl and PEG stress experiments.

2.6.1.2.5 Zinc stress

Plants were subjected to zinc stress in ATS-agar cultivation (2.1.2). Forty seeds each were sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with 500 μ M ZnSO₄ or 1mM ZnSO₄. Forty seeds were sown onto ATS-agar without supplemented zinc (ATS contains 1 μ M ZnSO₄) as a control. At 10 dps, seedlings from both treatment groups were transferred onto ATS-agar and at 21 dps, seedlings were transferred into soil and placed in a growth room and seeds collected by the glassine method. Seeds were collected separately from the 120 lines and labelled as Zn(1) 1-40 (control), Zn(500) 1-40 (500 μ M Zn²⁺) or Zn(1000) 1-40 (1 mM Zn²⁺). A single

seed from each of the 40 Zn(500) lines was subjected to each of 500 μ M Zn²⁺ stress and control treatment as described above, with collected seeds denoted as ZZ 1-40 (zinc, zinc) or ZC 1-40 (zinc, control). A single seed from each of the 40 control lines was taken through a second control treatment, with collected seeds labelled as Zn(1)CC 1-40 (control, control). As a repeat of the initial stress treatment, 80 seeds each were sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with 500 μ M ZnSO₄ and ATS-agar (control). Seedlings were transferred at 10 dps to trays of soil and placed in a glasshouse. Seeds were collected separately from the 160 lines by the cellophane method and labelled Zn(500)² 1-80 and Control ² 1-80.

2.6.2 Stress treatments for examination of stress tolerance

Unless otherwise specified, stress treatments for the examination of stress tolerance were conducted on pooled seeds. These were generated by pooling an equal quantity of seeds from each plant for each treatment group. Statistical tests applied are specified for each stress treatment in Table 1.

2.6.2.1 Nitrogen deficiency stress

The progeny of plants subjected to nitrogen deficiency stress were sown onto ATS-agar with nitrogen adjusted to 9 mM NO₃ or 0.9 mM NO₃ as described in 2.6.1.2.1. Ten plants per parental treatment were sown onto a plate of 9 mM NO₃ (high) or 0.9 mM NO₃ (low) conditions. Fourteen dps, the fresh weight of the 10 seedlings was recorded. The progeny were also cultivated hydroponically (2.1.3) on liquid ATS media with nitrogen adjusted to 9 mM (high) NO₃, 1.8 mM NO₃ (medium) or 0.9 mM NO₃ (low) as described in 2.6.1.2.1. Inflorescence stems were covered with a glassine bag once the first silique had dried, and the total seed produced by each plant weighed once production of siliques had ceased. Average seed weight per plant was then calculated for each parental treatment at each concentration of NO₃. Both experiments were repeated 6 times.

2.6.2.2 Temperature stress

Forty seeds each from the progeny of temperature stressed plants were sown onto soil and cultivated in growth cabinets set at 12 °C, 22°C and 34°C as described in section 2.6.1.1.3. At 21 dps, the fresh aerial weight of 20 plants was recorded per parental treatment per growth condition. Seeds were collected from each plant individually by the cellophane method and weighed. This experiment was repeated 4 times. Drought stress

Fifty seeds from the progeny of drought stressed and non-stressed plants were sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with 4-16% PEG as described in section 2.6.1.2.4. Germination frequency was recorded at least once every 24 hours for 14 days by noting radicle emergence. The experiment was repeated 4 times.

2.6.2.3 NaCl stress

One hundred seeds from the progeny of NaCl stressed and non-stressed Col-0 plants were sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with 50-200 mM NaCl. Germination frequency was monitored as described above, with 4 repeat experiments. Thirty seeds from the progeny of NaCl stressed and non-stressed Col-0 plants were also sown onto ATS-agar and transferred 7 dps onto ATS-agar supplemented with 150 mM or 175 mM NaCl or control ATS-agar. Root growth was recorded 48 h later. The germination of NaCl stressed progeny of the C24 ecotype was monitored as described above for the Col-0 ecotype; 50 seeds from both treatment groups were sown onto ATS supplemented with 0-150 mM NaCl, with 4 repeat experiments.

2.6.2.4 Zinc stress

The stress tolerance of the progeny of zinc stressed plants was examined by measuring plant fresh weight, root growth and developmental progression in ATS agar, and by measuring plant fresh weight in hydroponics. Plant fresh weight under zinc stress in ATS-agar was examined by sowing Zn(500), Zn(1000) and Control seed (50 each) onto ATS-agar supplemented with 0μ M, 250 μ M and 500 μ M Zn²⁺. Ten dps, the fresh weight of the seedlings was recorded. The experiment was repeated 6 times.

For the examination of stress tolerance in the second generation, 50 seeds each of CC, ZC and ZZ were sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with 0-500 μ M Zn²⁺ and the seedling weight recorded 10 dps, with 5 repeat experiments. For the examination of stress tolerance in the individual CC and ZC lines, 34 seeds each from 17 CC and 17 ZC lines were sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with 500 μ M Zn²⁺. Plant weight was measured 14 dps.

For the examination of stress tolerance in the progeny of plants subjected to the repeat zinc stress, 100 seeds each of $Zn(500)^2$ and control² were sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with 0-1000 μ M Zn²⁺ and the fresh weight measured 10 dps.

As a screen for possible general heavy metal stress tolerance of the progeny of zinc stressed plants, 50 Zn(500) and Control seeds were each sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with 50-500 mM of NiSO₄, CuSO₄, CoSO₄ or CsCl and the seedling weight recorded 10 dps. As plant weight was higher for Zn(500) in 50, 100 and 500 μ M Ni, 500 μ M Co and 100 mM NaCl, the experiment was then repeated 3 times with ATS-media supplemented with these concentrations of Ni, Co and NaCl.

Zinc stress tolerance was also examined in the $Zn(500)^2$ and $Control^2$ plants in hydroponics. Forty plants each of $Zn(500)^2$ and $Control^2$ were cultivated by hydroponics (8 tanks of 10 plants each, section2.1.3). At 21 dps, ATS was replaced with ATS supplemented with 0, 50, 250 or 500 μ M Zn²⁺. Thirty five dps, root and aerial root portions from each tank were weighed. As considerable variation was observed in the plant weight between repeat experiment the experiment was repeated 9 times. To examine the general heavy stress tolerance of $Zn(500)^2$, the hydroponics stress tolerance experiment was repeated with ATS-agar supplemented with 250 μ M Zn²⁺, 100 μ M Ni, 50 μ M Cd, 50 μ M Co.

To measure root growth under zinc stress, 120 Zn(500), Zn(1000) and Control seeds were sown onto ATS-agar and at 7 dps the seedlings were transferred onto ATS-agar supplemented with 0, 50, 250 and 500 μ M Zn²⁺. Root growth was measured 7 days later. The experiment was repeated 3 times.

To monitor developmental progression under zinc stress, Zn(500), Zn(1000) and Control seeds were sown onto ATS-agar and the seedlings transferred to ATS-agar supplemented with 0, 50, 250 and 500 μ M Zn²⁺ upon emergence of the first two rosette leaves. The developmental stage of the seedlings was then recorded for the next 13 days by counting rosette leaves. For each parental treatment and growth condition 3 plates of 10 plants each were monitored.

2.6.3 Statistical tests applied to identify parental effects

The statistical tests that were applied to test for effects of parental stress treatment on the stress tolerance in the F1 progeny are listed in Table 1. In all cases, the null hypothesis was that parental stress treatment had no effect on stress tolerance measurements in the progeny. The alternative hypothesis was that parental treatment does affect the stress tolerance in the progeny. All statistical tests were designed to identify significant changes in either direction, i.e. 2-tailed. In most cases a two-way analysis of variance (2-way ANOVA) with Tukey post hoc testing was conducted in SPSS, with the categorical variables being the F0 parental

treatment and F1 stress tolerance conditions, and the dependent variable being the measurement of stress tolerance, e.g plant fresh weight. Where significant contributions of the parental treatment were observed (p<0.05) these are reported.

As considerable inter-experimental variation was observed when measuring fresh weight in plants subjected to zinc stress from 21-35 dps, an alternative ANOVA test was applied. Here, statistical testing was conducted using a randomised block design ANOVA to enable testing for a parental effect on fresh weight against a background of experimental-to-experiment variation (Lew, 2007).

To identify significant effects of parental stress on F1 progeny germination under stress, two statistical tests were applied. To identify significant effects of parental treatment on the number of germinated seeds after 14 days in stress conditions, the results were analysed with a G-test with a Holm-Bonferroni correction for multiple testing. The G-test is similar to a chi-squared test in that it is a likelihood ratio test suitable for testing for significant deviations from the expected frequency, however it is preferable to the widely used chi-squared test as the chi-squared test involves approximations to avoid the calculation of log-likelihood values and is therefore less precise. Germination frequency was recorded at least once every 24 hours. Hence it was also possible to compare germination rates. A 5-parameter logistics curve of the equation $F(x) = A + (D/(1+(X/C)^B)^A E)$ was fitted to the germination frequency data with the online ReaderFit tool (ReaderFit.com) where A is the minimum asymptote, B is the Hill slope, C is the inflection point, D is the maximum asymptote and E is the asymmetry factor. The time taken for 50% of final germination frequency to be reached (G50) was calculated by extracting parameters from the curve and entering them into the formula:

 $G50 = C((2^{(1/E)} - 1)^{(1/B)})$

Germination rates were compared for the parental treatment groups by student's t-test, with a Holm-Bonferroni correction applied to correct for the multiple conditions tested in the F1 progeny.

2.7 RNA-Seq and Quantitative reverse transcriptase-PCR

2.7.1 RNA extraction for RNA-Seq and qRT-PCR

RNA extraction for RNA-Seq and qRT-PCR was performed with the RNeasy Plant Mini Kit according to the supplier instructions to purify RNAs >200 nucleotides in length. Briefly, approximately 100 μ g of plant tissue was placed in a microcentrifuge tube and ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen. Lysis was achieved with a highly denaturing guanidine thiocyanate and β -Mercaptoethanol-based buffer before homogenisation of the material via a shredder column. RNA was precipitated and bound to a silica-based column membrane followed by DNase treatment of the RNA, multiple wash steps and, finally, elution in 50 μ l sterile water. Samples were analysed and stored as described in 1.1.1.

2.7.2 RNA-Seq

RNA samples for RNA-Seq were prepared from seedlings (CC and ZC; section 2.6.1.2.5) 10 dps following germination on ATS-agar supplemented with 0 or 500 μ M Zn²⁺ (Control and 500 µM Zn). RNA-Seq was performed with a single replicate for each parental treatment grown under each condition. For each RNA-Seq sample, RNA was separately extracted from 3 batches of seedlings (Control = 37-40 plants per batch, 500 μ M Zn = 100-113 plants per batch) and pooled in equal measure. RNA-Seq samples are referred to as Mock(C), Mock(Z), Zinc(C) and Zinc(Z) to denote whether they received a zinc stress treatment in their parental treatment (Mock = CC, Zinc = ZC) and the conditions the G2 progeny were grown under for transcriptome analysis (C = control, Z = zinc stress). 5µg of each RNA-Seq sample was sent to the University of Exeter Sequencing Service for analysis by Illumina HiSeq 2500. RNA samples were examined in house for contamination by proteins and salts by nanodrop 2000/8000, and by analysis with a 2100 Bioanalyser (Agilent) at the University of Exeter. Library preparation from polyA mRNA-enriched cDNA was carried out by the University of Exeter with the ScriptSeq[™] v2 RNA-Seq Library Preparation Kit (Epicentre). Fragments in the range of 150-350 were sequenced. All 4 samples were analysed in a single lane of an Illumina HiSeq 2500 for 100 bp paired-end sequencing.

2.7.3 **Bioinformatics**

Filtering and trimming of reads was conducted by the University of Exeter using the FastqMcf sequence quality filter, clipper and processor to remove low quality reads. Reads

were trimmed from the 3' end to remove bases with Phred scores below 20 (<99% base calling accuracy). After trimming, reads less than 20 bp were discarded. Reads with average Phred scores below 25 were also removed.

The remainder of the bioinformatics was conducted by the author via the web-based Galaxy server using the Tuxedo suite (Trapnell *et al.*, 2012). *Arabidopsis thaliana* reference genome and gene annotations (TAIR10) were downloaded from illumina's iGenomes website (http://support.illumina.com/sequencing/sequencing_software/igenome.ilmn). For each sample, filtered reads were mapped onto the reference genome with the Tophat tool using the default parameters except where specified below. A description of the parameter is included in brackets:

- -r (mean inner distance between mate pairs) 150
- --mate-std-dev (standard distribution for the distribution on inner distance between paired reads) 200
- -a (minimum anchor length) 20
- -i (minimum intron length) 50
- -I (maximum anchor length) 50000
- --library-type (specifies the RNA-Seq protocol) fr-unstranded
- --no-coverage-search (disables the coverage based search for exons)
- -G (Supply Tophat with a set of gene model annotation as a .GTF file)
- --no-novel-juncs (only look for reads across junctions in the supplied .GTF file)

Quantification of transcript abundance was performed with Cuffdiff using the "accepted hits" .bam files from Tophat and the reference annotation .GTF file. Cuffdiff analysis was performed with default parameters except as specified below:

 -N (Normalises by the upper quartile of the number of fragments mapping to individual loci instead of the total number of sequenced fragments. This can improve robustness of differential expression calls for less abundant genes and transcripts (Bullard *et al.*, 2010; Dillies *et al.*, 2012))

Transcript abundances were outputted as "Fragments Per Kilobase exon model per Million mapped fragment" (FPKM) although this is somewhat misleading given the parameters used here. As the denominator in the normalisation was the upper quartile of the number of fragments mapping to an individual loci rather than the total number of fragments mapped to

either the genome or the gene annotations, the correct unit for transcript abundance would be "Fragments Per Kilobase exon model per upper quartile of fragments mapping to an individual loci". As the upper quartile of the number of fragments mapping to an individual loci will be less than the total number of mapped fragments, the denominator for normalisation is lower, hence the FPKM values are higher than if normalisation was performed against the total number of fragments.

2.7.4 Identification of differentially regulated genes

As RNA-Seq was not performed with repeats, variance of transcript abundance could not be estimated. Therefore to identify genes with differential expression between two samples an alternative approach was taken. The fold-differences between gene expression in the control samples (Mock(C) and Zinc(C)) was calculated for all genes to estimate the distribution of gene expression differences between the two samples. Relationships were observed between the expression and length of a gene and the absolute value of the fold difference between the two control samples; on average shorter or lowly expressed a gene displayed a higher absolute fold difference. As this was assumed to be due to a relationship between the accuracy of transcript abundance quantification and the length and expression of a gene, lowly expressed or short genes were removed from the analysis. Thresholds for inclusion were set as FPKM values greater than 0.01 in both samples and an average FPKM greater than 1, and length in excess of 256 bp. Genes with a low expression value (14501) were removed from the analysis. Essentially, the abundance cannot be accurately quantified for these genes as it is close to 0. A further 80 short genes were removed, leaving 18697 remaining genes. To remove these relationships entirely, curves were fitted to the correlations and the curve parameters used to adjust the fold difference of each individual gene towards the mean based on its length and average expression across the control samples. After these adjustments, no correlation existed between the length or expression of a gene and the fold difference between the control samples.

For each gene the null hypothesis is that its expression should not be different between the two control samples. It was expected that this null hypothesis would be correct for the vast majority of genes. The distribution of \log_2 fold-differences for the control samples therefore represents the biological variation, analytical random error and inaccuracies in the quantification of transcript abundance. Genes which are statistically outside of this distribution will likely be differentially regulated. Post adjustment, the distribution of fold differences between the two samples was observed to be normal (p > 0.05, Two-sample Kolmogorov-Smirnov test). The average \log_2 fold-difference between the two control

samples was calculated as -0.046, with a standard deviation of 0.077. Z-scores were then calculated for each gene, based on the formula: $z=(x-\mu)/\sigma$, where x is the fold difference value for an individual gene, μ is the mean of the distribution and σ is the standard deviation of the distribution.

To calculate Z-scores for the genes in other pairwise comparisons of samples, e.g Mock(C) and Mock(Z), the same adjustment was performed to remove the relationship between gene expression or length and absolute \log_2 fold difference between the samples. The mean of the distribution of \log_2 fold differences was then calculated. Z-scores were calculated with μ as the mean of the distribution of \log_2 fold differences for the samples being compared, and the σ being the standard deviation calculated above in the comparison of the two control samples. This was because a σ value calculated from the distribution of \log_2 fold difference between two samples where large numbers of genes are expected to change expression would be inflated by these gene expression changes and would no longer only represent the variation occurring from the sources mentioned above.

To select genes which were differentially expressed between the two control samples, a conservative Z-score threshold of +/- 5 was applied, equivalent to a p-value of <5.8 x $10^{-7.}$ For comparison, a Bonferroni correction (Abdi, 2007) with an α value of 0.05 and 18 697 comparisons gives a corrected α of 2.7 x 10^{-6} .

2.7.5 Gene Ontology enrichment analysis

Gene ontology analysis was performed with Gene Ontologizer (http://compbio.charite.de/contao/index.php/ontologizer2.html). Gene ontology terms and terms relationships were downloaded from TAIR (ftp://ftp.arabidopsis.org/home/tair/Ontologies/). The frequency of ontology terms within a gene set was compared to frequencies in the genome population to identify enriched terms. Model-based Gene Set Analysis (MGSA) analysis (Bauer *et al.*, 2010) within Gene Ontologizer was employed to analyse all enriched terms and identify the likely active terms by probabilistic inference. The advantage of this approach over term-for-term analysis is that it returns a much smaller set of active categories which explain the enriched terms. A marginal posterior probability cut off of 0.5 was employed for identification of active categories, as recommended by Bauer (Bauer *et al.*, 2010).

2.7.6 Quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR

RNA-Seq samples used for quantitative Reverse-Transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR) were prepared as described in 2.7.1. For the validation of the RNA-Seq results, the same RNA samples were used, such that for each parental treatment in each F2 growth condition, 3 biological replicate RNA samples were analysed. Generation of complimentary DNA (cDNA) was carried out with Superscript II reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. To 200 ng RNA sample, 500 μ g Oligo(dT)₁₂₋₁₈ and 1 μ M 10 mM dNTP were added in a total volume of 12 μ l made up with sterile deionised water. The mixture was heated to 65 °C for 5 min and chilled on ice before addition of 2 μ l 0.1 M DTT and 4 μ l 5X buffer and incubation at 42 °C for 2 min. 1 μ l Superscript RT was then added with gentle mixing by pipette and incubation at 42 °C for 50 min. Inactivation of Superscript RT was achieved by heating the reaction to 70 °C for 15 min.

qRT-PCR primers for were designed using Primer Express® v3.0.1 (Applied Biosystems) with the supplier's recommended primer parameters for SYBR green qRT-PCR: Theoretical melting temperature (Tm) between 58-60 °C, 20-80 % GC content, optimal length of 20 nucleotides and the 5' end not to contain greater than 2 G/Cs. In addition amplicons were also designed to span at least one intron to avoid amplification of genomic DNA.

qRT-PCR was performed on an ABI Prism 7000 Sequence Detection Systems using 50 ng cDNA, 12.5 μ l SYBR® Green I PCR Master Mix, 1 μ l each of 3' and 5' primers (10 μ M) and sterile deionised water to 5 μ l. All primers were first tested on a pooled sample of cDNA in a dilution series to test for linearity between the cycle at which the threshold of fluorescence was reached and the cDNA concentration. This was followed by a melting curve to confirm that only one amplicon was produced. Where primers failed to show linearity and a single product, new primers were designed for the target mRNA.

qRT-PCT was performed using the triplicate cDNA samples that were pooled for RNA-Seq, with 3 technical replicates each. For all samples, 3 normalisation genes were analysed on the same plate. 2 normalisation genes were selected based on their previously observed stability with increased metal concentrations (Remans *et al.*, 2008) (AT5G15710, AT2G28390) and an inspection of the RNA-Seq data which confirmed that three genes are stable over the zinc stress treatment. The third gene (AT5G14030) was chosen based on its apparent stability in the RNA-Seq data and its stability across the perturbations available in Genevestigator (https://www.genevestigator.com/gv/).

For each amplicon, the fluorescence threshold was set automatically and the quantification carried out in Excel. The number of cycles taken to reach the threshold (Ct) for a particular gene in a particular sample was transformed into dCT by subtracting the average Ct for the 3 normalisation genes in that sample. The ddCT was then calculated by subtracting the dCT value from the control sample (Mock(C)) for the gene. Final results were either displayed as the fold difference in expression relative to control (ddCT) or by quantification of the expression by calculating 100 x (2^dCT).

2.8 Recipes

2.8.1 ATS medium

ATS medium was prepared as described by Lincoln et al (1990):

- 5 mM KNO₃
- 2.5 mM KPO buffer (adjusted to pH 5.5)
- 2 mM MgSO₄
- 2 mM Ca(NO₃)
- 50 µM Fe(III)-EDTA
- 70 µM H₃BO₃
- 14 µM MnCl₂
- 0.5 μM CuSO₄
- 1 μM ZnSO₄
- 0.2 μM Na₂MoO₄
- 10 µM NaCl
- 0.01 μM CoCI₂

Adjustment of nitrogen content in ATS media required alterations to the media. Specifically, KNO_3 and $Ca(NO_3)_2$ were reduced 5-fold or 10-fold as required with the potassium and calcium replaced by addition of KCl and $CaCl_2$.

2.8.2 MS medium

MS medium was prepared using MS salts (PhytoTechnology Laboratories). Full strength MS media contained the following salts and was adjusted to pH 5.8.

- 19 mM KNO₃
- 21 mM NH₄NO₃
- 100 µM H₃BO₃
- 3 mM CaCl
- 0.1 µM CoCl₂
- 0.1 µM CuSO₄
- 100 µM NaEDTA
- 100 µM Fe(II)SO₄
- 1.5 mM MgSO₄
- 100 μM MnSO₄
- 1 µM Na₂MoO₄
- 5 μM KI
- 1.25 mM KPO₄ monobasic
- 30 µM ZnSO₄

2.8.3 Agarose gel electrophoresis loading buffer

Samples analysed by agarose gel electrophoresis were diluted 1:6 in 6X loading buffer comprising:

- 30 % glycerol
- 0.25 % Bromophenol blue
- 0.25 % Xylene blue
- 300 µl/L 0.5 M EDTA

2.8.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis running buffer

Agarose gels were run in 1X TBE buffer. 5X TBE stock comprised:

- 54 g/L Tris base ($C_4H_{11}NO_3$)
- 27.5 g/L boric acid (H₃BO₃)
- 20 ml/L 0.5 M EDTA (pH 8.0)

2.8.5 Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis loading buffer

Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis analysed samples were analysed in 1X loading buffer. 5X loading buffer comprised:

- 10 mM EDTA, pH8.0
- 240 mg/L bromophenol blue
- Made to volume with deionised formamide

5X buffer was stored in 500 μl aliquots at -20 °C.

Chapter 3. DNA methylation as a stress response

As discussed in the introduction there is an increasing amount of interest in transgenerational stress memories in plants, and the possible role of DNA methylation in acting as the mechanism for transgenerational information flow. DNA methylation can regulate gene expression (Baek et al., 2010; Cao and Jacobsen, 2002a; Chan et al., 2004; Johannes et al., 2009; Kakutani, 1997; Kinoshita et al., 2007; Li-Byarlay et al., 2013; Wang et al., 1999) and has been observed to be dynamic in response to stress (Baek et al., 2010; Boyko et al., 2010; Cao et al., 2011; Choi and Sano, 2007; Colaneri and Jones, 2013; Dowen et al., 2012; Dyachenko et al., 2006; Hashida et al., 2006; Karan et al., 2012; Kondo et al., 2010; Kou et al., 2011; Ou et al., 2012; Rahavi et al., 2011; Steward et al., 2002; Tan, 2010; Tricker et al., 2012; Wada et al., 2004; Yu et al., 2013; Zhang et al., 2013). Furthermore, changes to the DNA methylome have been shown to be heritable in plants (Bossdorf et al., 2010; Johannes et al., 2009; Kinoshita et al., 2007; Mathieu et al., 2007; Rangwala et al., 2006; Verhoeven et al., 2010). However, to date, only a few observations of stress memories or transgenerational stress memories have been found to be concurrent with DNA methylation changes in the progeny (Boyko et al., 2010; Ou et al., 2012), and even fewer have linked changes in DNA methylation to transcriptome differences which could enhance the stress tolerance of the progeny (Bilichak et al., 2012). Further questions also remain surrounding which methylation/demethylation pathways are involved in generating the inherited changes in DNA methylation, how stable these changes are across multiple generations and whether their stability can be enhanced by successive generations of stress treatment.

This Chapter will focus on the direct analysis of DNA methylation changes during stress, starting with the development of techniques for examining DNA methylation, and moving on to present the results obtained by utilising these techniques to study a range of stress responses.

3.1 Developing methods to investigate the mechanism for stressdependent changes in DNA methylation

Bisulphite sequencing is considered the gold standard method for DNA methylation analysis as it provides single base pair resolution. However, it remains time-consuming and requires the experimenter to specify a genomic region of interest. For the analysis of multiple samples and where a genomic region of interest has not been defined, methylation sensitive amplified polymorphism (MSAP) is a more suitable alternative. This assay is based on amplified fragment length polymorphsim (AFLP) (Vos *et al.*, 1995) and utilises methylation-sensitive restriction endonucleases to enable analysis of a small fraction of cytosines across the whole genome. For the purposes of examining DNA methylation changes in response to stress, MSAP is more appropriate than bisulphite sequencing as multiple conditions and individual plants and/or tissues may be analysed within a single gel or capillary electrophoresis run. MSAP was therefore utilised here to screen multiple conditions for changes in DNA methylation, to establish the reproducibility of these changes across individual plants, and to investigate the mechanism of the DNA methylation changes by comparing wild type and single gene knock-out lines. For these purposes, the MSAP assay was first modified as described below to improve the value of the assay output.

Another approach taken to investigate the mechanism of stress-dependent changes in DNA methylation was to generate GUS reporter lines under the control of promoters for genes which may be involved in the DNA methylation changes. Analysing the activities of these promoters in stress conditions will help interrogate the possible role for these genes in the stress-responsive changes in DNA methylation.

3.1.1 Methylation sensitive amplified polymorphism assays

MSAP is frequently utilised to identify changes in DNA methylation as a result of stress (Baránek et al., 2009; Karan et al., 2012; Kondo et al., 2010; X. Ou et al., 2012; Tan, 2010; L. Zhong et al., 2009). Commonly, the methylation-sensitive restriction endonucleases, HpaII and MspI are paired with the methylation-insensitive EcoRI (Reyna-López et al., 1997) for MSAP analysis of DNA methylation in plants. The comparison of HpaII and MspI band profiles yields information on both CG and CHG methylation as MspI cannot cleave CCGG sites where the external cytosine is methylated, whereas HpaII cannot cleave CCGG sites where the internal cytosine is methylated but is capable of cleaving CCGG sites where the external cytosine is hemimethylated (McClelland et al., 1994) (Figure 4 and Figure 5). Frequently, the methylation status of anonymous loci is inferred from the presence/absence scores of bands in the HpaII and MspI profiles (Ou et al., 2012; Tan, 2010). This inference is flawed because the loss or gain of a band may be due to either a methylation or a demethylation event (Figure 5). The implications of this may be considerable. If Figure 5 represented a methylation change in response to stress, the assumed methylation event could lead one to investigate the role of CMT3 and DRM2-dependent methylation in the stress response, whereas the assumed demethylation event could lead one to investigate the role of DNA demethylases. Additionally, EcoRI cleavage of the GAATTC site is blocked by methylation of the cytosine (Brennan et al., 1986), further complicating the inference of methylation status from band presence/absence scores in the EcoRI & HpaII/MspI MSAP assay.

Chapter 3 DNA methylation as a stress response



Figure 4. **Methylation-sensitive amplified polymorphism assay (MSAP)**. Genomic DNA is digested by EcoRI & Hpall or EcoRI & Mspl, before ligation of adapter oligonucleotides. Two amplification steps (+1 PCR and +3 PCR) produce a subpopulation of fragments which can be analysed by gel electrophoresis or capillary electrophoresis. Band presence or absence will be dependent on restriction site methylation status (Figure 5)



Figure 5. Hpall and Mspl methylation sensitivities and inferring DNA methylation status from MSAP band presence or absence using the isoschizomers. Top: Isoschizomers methylation sensitivities. Mspl will cleave in the absence of DNA methylation or where the internal cytosine is methylated. Hpall will cleave in the absence of DNA methylation or where the external cytosine is hemimethylated. Bottom: Inferring methylation status. Each change in EcoRI & Hpall and Mspl & EcoRI band profiles may represent a methylation or demethylation event, depending on whether the band represents a "simple" or "complex" fragment. In the example given, the difference observed between the two samples may be due to a CHG methylation event which prevents Mspl cleavage, or a demethylation event which allows Mspl cleavage. To improve the MSAP assay, two approaches were taken; firstly, the original HpaII/MspI assay was modified to enable inference of methylation status based on band presence/absence scores. Secondly, the MSAP assay was completely redeveloped with the intention that the new MSAP assay would enable analysis of CG, CHG and CHH methylation in isolation. The two approaches will be discussed in turn.

3.1.1.1 Modifying the existing HpaII/MspI MSAP assay

Three modifications were proposed for the HpaII/MspI MSAP protocol; firstly, replace EcoRI with AseI, secondly, repeat the final amplification with only the AseI primer and thirdly, generate an additional methylation free template with a whole genome amplification (WGA) step (Figure 6). Replacing EcoRI with AseI ensures only methylation changes at the HpaII/MspI site will affect fragment presence as the AseI site does not contain any cytosines. The "AseI only" amplification identifies bands which have AseI sites at both ends which can therefore be removed from the analysis. When analysed by MSAP, the methylation-free genomic template generated by WGA should produce a band profile equivalent to a genomic DNA sample in which all sites are demethylated. Since the "complex fragments" with internal restriction sites will not appear in the profile of the unmethylated WGA sample, the analysis can focus on only the "simple fragments" by analysing only those fragments which are also present in the WGA sample. Having removed the "AseI only" fragments and restricted the analysis to only the simple fragments, assigning the methylation status based on presence/absence in the HpaII and MspI profiles should be straightforward as each fragment will have only one HpaII/MspI restriction site. In most instances the methylation status of both cytosines can be inferred, the only exception is fragments which are present in the WGA sample but absent from the AseI & HpaII and AseI & MspI profiles (Figure 6). In these fragments the external cytosine is expected to be fully methylated but the methylation status of the internal cytosine cannot be determined.

As a first step in establishing the modified HpaII/MspI MSAP assay, the fragment profiles of 32 primer pairs were analysed by capillary electrophoresis to identify the most suitable primer pairs. An initial analysis at a single annealing temperature (55 °C) analysed the number of peaks (fragments), the distribution of the peaks across the size range analysed and the number of peaks that were hard to resolve for each primer pair (Table 2). Ideally a primer pair should produce a large number of peaks spread evenly across the size range analysed (50-700 bp), with each peak easily resolved from the surrounding peaks. Shoulder peaks may be difficult to score as their separation from the main peak can change from sample to sample, and are therefore best avoided.



Figure 6. **A modified MSAP assay workflow**. The original assay workflow is shown in the grey box, with EcoRI having been replaced by AseI. An additional sample is generated by whole genome amplification (WGA) of genomic DNA which is then taken through the digestion and amplification steps. For fragment analysis, bands which are present when performing the final amplification step (+3 PCR) with only the AseI primer are removed. Combining the fragment presence/absence data from the WGA sample with the AseI & MspI and AseI & HpaII profiles, loci methylation status can be precisely assigned in most instances.

The number of peaks which could easily be scored varied considerably between the primer pairs, with the best primer pairs producing 91 peaks, and the worst 21, and two primer pairs failing to amplify any fragments. Primer pairs with the AseI primer "GG" more consistently produced a suitable fragment profile. However, primer pairs with 3 different AseI primers were selected for further analysis as the other AseI primers may have higher optimal annealing temperatures, making them appear less suitable at the initial annealing temperature. In total, 4 primer pairs were taken forward for optimisation of annealing temperature (Table 3). From this a single annealing temperature was chosen for each primer

pair. Ideally, the primer pair analysis would have also examined the number of peaks which overlapped with WGA peaks as these represent fragments for which methylation status can be inferred. However, MSAP analysis of a WGA sample generated with the GenomePlex® WGA kit was unsatisfactory, with the final amplification step prone to producing an inconsistent fragment profile, and few fragments aligning between the WGA and genomic samples (Figure 7). Successful whole genome amplification was not achieved until the redesigned MSAP had been developed (1.1.1.2), after which DNA methylation analysis was performed with the redesigned MSAP assay. Therefore, the application of the WGA step will be discussed alongside the redesigned MSAP assay.

Asel Primer	Hpall Primer	No. of peaks (>100rfu)	<200 bp	>200 bp	% >200 bp	Poor resolution (shoulder/ stutter/ no separation)	No. peaks - poor resolution
GG	TCA	75	30	45	60	12	63
GG	TGA	104	73	31	30	13	91
GG	тст	75	45	30	40	10	65
GG	TGT	52	37	15	29	9	43
GG	CGT	44	32	12	27	8	36
GG	CGA	75	54	21	28	12	63
GG	ССТ	57	36	21	37	10	47
GG	CCA	41	34	7	17	8	33
GC	TCA	45	31	14	31	5	40
GC	TGA	40	30	10	25	5	35
GC	тст	56	36	20	36	9	47
GC	TGT	51	29	22	43	14	37
GC	CGT	29	15	14	48	8	21
GC	CGA	39	16	23	59	1	38
GC	ССТ	FAILED	FAILED	FAILED	FAILED	FAILED	FAILED
GC	CCA	41	21	20	49	9	32
CC	TCA	47	28	19	40	6	41
СС	TGA	60	47	13	22	19	41
СС	тст	78	50	28	36	14	64
CC	TGT	51	28	23	45	4	47
СС	CGT	45	17	28	62	10	35
СС	CGA	60	28	32	53	6	54
СС	ССТ	41	28	13	32	9	32
CC	CCA	44	20	24	55	7	37
CG	TCA	60	30	30	50	8	52
CG	TGA	79	40	39	49	14	65
CG	тст	57	33	24	42	10	47
CG	TGT	53	26	27	51	8	45
CG	CGT	58	28	30	52	11	47
CG	CGA	FAILED	FAILED	FAILED	FAILED	FAILED	FAILED
CG	ССТ	34	22	12	35	5	29
CG	CCA	56	20	36	64	4	52

Table 2. **MSAP primer pair analysis**. 32 primer pairs (4 Asel x 8 Hpall/Mspl primers) were examined at a single annealing temperature (55 °C). The name of the primer reflects the selective 3' nucleotides. The number of peaks >100 relative florescence units (rfu) were recorded, along with the number of bands under and over 200 base pairs (bp), and the number of peaks which were hard to score (shoulder peaks, stutter peaks and peaks with poor separation). Primer pairs selected for further analyse highlighted in yellow.

Asel Primer	Hpall Primer	Annealing temperature	No. of peaks (>100rfu)	<200	>200	% >200	Poor resolution (shoulder/ stutter/ little separation)	Nº peaks - poor resolution	No. of peaks (>500rfu)
GG	тст	57 °C	84	51	33	39	14	70	69
GG	тст	59 °C	42	29	13	31	6	36	22
GG	тст	61 °C	30	19	11	37	5	25	19
GG	тст	63 °C	26	16	10	38	5	21	21
GG	TGA	57 °C	118	67	51	43	21	97	69
GG	TGA	59 °C	59	33	26	44	14	45	11
GG	TGA	61 °C	58	36	22	38	6	52	20
GG	TGA	63 °C	77	42	35	45	8	69	47
CG	CCA	57 °C	105	54	51	49	14	91	53
CG	CCA	59 °C	79	38	41	52	9	70	49
CG	CCA	61 °C	64	28	36	56	10	54	40
CG	CCA	63 °C	62	26	36	58	9	53	38
СС	CGA	57 °C	46	42	4	9	15	31	24
СС	CGA	59 °C	52	46	6	12	9	43	35
СС	CGA	61 °C	63	47	16	25	11	<mark>52</mark>	28
СС	CGA	63 °C	63	51	12	19	11	52	32

Table 3. **MSAP primer pair annealing temperature analysis**. 4 primer pairs selected from Table 2 and analysed to determine the most suitable annealing temperature. Fragment profile details recorded as per Table 2 with number of peaks >500 rfu also recorded. Selected annealing temperatures highlighted in yellow.



Figure 7. Alignment of whole genome amplified (WGA) sample and genomic sample in MSAP assay analysed by polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis. Left: A single genomic analysed by Asel & Hpall MSAP with the digestion step repeated 4 times. Right: The same genomic sample subjected to WGA and analysed by Asel & Hpall MSAP with the WGA step repeated 4 times. Black arrows indicate fragments aligning between the genomic and WGA MSAP profiles.

3.1.1.2 Redeveloping the MSAP assay for improved methylation analysis

In addition to modifying the existing HpaII/MspI MSAP assay, the MSAP was redeveloped in the belief that this would enable analysis of CG, CHG and CHH methylation in isolation. HpaII/MspI were replaced with Sau3AI/MboI, isoschizomers whose cleavage site (GATC) contains a single cytosine at the 3' end. Sau3AI is sensitive to methylation of this cytosine, whereas MboI and DpnII are not (Hermann and Jeltsch, 2003). In the final amplification step, the additional 5' nucleotides of the Sau3AI/MboI primer specify the context in which this 3' cytosine resides. It was erroneously believed that the presence of all fragments from a single amplification would therefore depend on the methylation status of this cytosine in the context specified by the Sau3AI/MboI primer, such that CG, CHG and CHH methylation could be examined in isolation from a single digested DNA sample. Upon later examination, it is clear that this is not the case. Whilst the sequence context of one cytosine within the restriction site can indeed be specified by the 5' nucleotides of the Sau3AI/MboI primer, the sequence context of the other cytosine remains unknown (Figure 8). As methylation of either cytosine will prevent cleavage by a methylation-sensitive restriction endonuclease, it is not possible to determine the sequence context of the methylated cytosine. Unfortunately, this was not realised until the assay had been developed and employed extensively in place of the HpaII/MspI assay as it was believed the new MSAP represented an improvement upon the HpaII/MspI assay. Hence, the results below include results obtained using the new AseI & Sau3AI/MboI assay. Whilst this assay will still examine changes in DNA methylation, and will allow determination of loci methylation status, it is not possible to determine the sequence context of the cytosines. 11 Sau3AI/MboI primers were tested with the "GG" AseI primer as per the development of the AseI & HpaII/MspI MSAP assay. Most primers were observed to produce suitable fragment profiles following annealing temperature optimisation, with the "GTC" and "AGC" Sau3AI/MboI primers producing the greatest number of fragments.



Figure 8. **Redeveloped MSAP assay. Hpall/Mspl replaced with Sau3Al/Mbol which cut at the GATC site**. 3' nucleotides on Sau3Al/Mbol (+3) primer specify the sequence context in which one of the cytosines resides for all the fragments amplified. The sequence context of the other cytosine is unknown.

The GATC restriction site was originally chosen because there are a multitude of isoschizomers for this site, one of which, MboI has been previously shown to be methylation insensitive (Hermann and Jeltsch, 2003). A comparison of fragments produced by parallel AseI & Sau3AI and AseI & MboI MSAP assays would therefore allow direct inference of

methylation status in a similar manner to the comparison of AseI & HpaII/MspI and WGA fragments. Unfortunately, fragment profiles from MSAP with AseI and MboI, SauAI or DpnII were identical (Figure 9). Furthermore, differences in band profiles were observed between the two genetically identical samples, indicating that all three enzymes were sensitive to DNA methylation in the conditions tested. As the MSAP assay protocol is simplified by digestion in T4 DNA ligase buffer and buffer sensitivity was lowest for MboI, this restriction endonuclease was used in all further MSAP assay. To enable inference of loci methylation status by MboI digest alone, a WGA step was introduced to generate a band profile from unmethylated DNA.

The whole genome amplification was initially tested during the modification of the AseI & HpaII/MspI MSAP assay and was performed through a process of genome fragmentation, adapter ligation to produce a library and library amplification. As mentioned in 3.1.1.1, MSAP analysis of the WGA sample was inconsistent, with the fragment profile varying considerably between independent WGA samples. Therefore, an alternative WGA process was tested utilising Phi29. This enzyme is capable of strand displacement amplification and generates fragments up to 10 Kb long. Although the Phi29-based WGA is relatively unbiased (Hosono et al., 2003), the AseI & MboI MSAP band profile is not completely 7consistent between independently amplified samples (Figure 10). Therefore, 6 WGA samples were always run alongside the genomic AseI & MboI MSAP samples, with analysis of genomic bands only performed if the band was observed in a minimum of 4 of the WGA samples. As we will see later, WGA band profiles for the AseI & MboI MSAP assay are not identical to the genomic samples, confirming the previous conclusion that MboI is sensitive to DNA methylation. Thus, a comparison of WGA and MboI fragments allows inference of loci methylation status. As the WGA step was not introduced immediately, some figures do not include a WGA sample. In these cases, no inference is drawn on the nature of the DNA methylation changes observed.



Figure 9. A comparison of the MSAP band profiles using Asel in combination with Mbol, Sau3Al or DpnII. Two genetically identical *A.thaliana* samples were digested with Asel in combination with the three GATC isoschizomers and the resulting fragments amplified by a single primer pair and analysed by gel electrophoresis.



Figure 10. **WGA fragment profiles using the Asel & Mbol MSAP assay**. A single genomic sample was subjected to 6 independent whole genome amplifications to give 6 WGA samples. WGA samples were taken through the Asel & Mbol MSAP assay and amplified with two primer pairs (specified below the gel images).

3.2 DNA methylation changes in stress

3.2.1 DNA methylation in stress conditions

In order to investigate the mechanisms responsible for DNA methylation changes in stress responses, and analyse the possible inheritance of these changes, it was first necessary to establish conditions which generated reproducible changes in DNA methylation. Therefore, DNA methylation was examined in low-water potential conditions that have previously been shown to produce changes in DNA methylation in plants, namely, osmotic stress (NaCl (Karan *et al.*, 2012; Tan, 2010; Verhoeven *et al.*, 2010), drought and PEG (Tan, 2010)), and

cold stress (Hashida *et al.*, 2006; Steward *et al.*, 2002). In addition, elevated temperature was examined as it has previously been shown to increase stress tolerance of the progeny (Whittle *et al.*, 2009), presumably through an epigenetic mechanism. Initially, the DNA methylation of a pooled sample of plants was analysed with the intention to re-examine the DNA methylation of individual plants if changes were observed in the pooled stress sample.

An initial examination of DNA methylation in aerial tissues of A.thaliana grown in soil with NaCl and drought stress from day 21-35 failed to identify any changes across 239 AseI & HpaII/MspI fragments (data not shown). Since methylation changes may be limited to the root tissues, osmotic stress conditions were reapplied under hydroponics culture to allow DNA extraction from the root tissue. 14 day old A.thaliana were transferred from tissue culture to hydroponics culture and supplied with ATS media. On day 21, 150 or 200 mM NaCl or 5-15% PEG was added to the hydroponics media to produce an osmotic stress. Aerial and root DNA were extracted and analysed for DNA methylation by MSAP after 2 days (NaCl) or 7 days (PEG). Additional plants were grown in soil at 23 °C for 3 weeks and transferred to elevated (34 °C) or reduced (10 °C) temperatures, with DNA extracted from aerial tissues for MSAP analysis 3 weeks later. Stress was measured by determining the maximum quantum yield of photosystem II (Fv/Fm) and measuring leaf diameter (Figure 11). Whilst 150 mM and 200 mM NaCl were both observed to significantly decrease Fv/Fm after 24h and 48 h respectively, a significant reduction in Fv/FM in response to PEG was only observed after 168h. The increases in osmotic pressure (Mpa) upon addition of 5-15% PEG 6000 were observed to be 0.05 ± 0.01 , 0.10 ± 0.01 and 0.21 ± 0.02 respectively, in broad agreement with previous measurements (Money, 1989).

Of the conditions tested, only PEG stress was observed to cause a change in DNA methylation (Figure 12). Furthermore, this change in DNA methylation in response to PEG stress was observed exclusively in the roots, and appeared to be largely independent of the severity of treatment. Zinc stress also failed to alter DNA methylation in either the aerial or root tissues. These data are presented in the following section (4.1.3).





Figure 11. Plant stress measurements in response to PEG, NaCl and temperature extremes. A. Fv/Fm in response to PEG and NaCl. Fv/Fm measured for 10 plants at timepoints indicated. Asterisks indicate significant difference compared to control (Student's t-test, Benjamini-Hochberg correction) * = p< 0.05, ** p<0.005. B. Effect of elevated or reduced temperature on growth and photosynthetic capacity. Plants grown under normal growth conditions (22 °C) for 3 weeks before transfer to elevated (34 °C) or reduced (10 °C) temperature. Rosette diameter and Fv/Fm of 10 plants measured at 5 weeks, error bars = SD.


Figure 12. Asel & Hpall/Mspl MSAP analysis of DNA methylation in response to osmotic and temperature stress. A single primer pair is shown for the Asel & Hpall and Asel & Mspl digests of DNA sample from 10 plants. NaCl and PEG treatments were initiated at day 21 in hydroponics culture, with samples taken at day 23 (NaCl) or day 8 (PEG). Temperature treatments were initiated at day 21 in soil with samples taken at day 42. A=Aerial, R=Root.

3.2.2 DNA methylation in response to PEG stress

Since the severity of PEG-dependent changes in DNA methylation pattern was largely unaffected by the concentration of PEG used and did not occur with NaCl treatment, and the reduction in Fv/Fm was only slightly greater in 15% PEG relative to 5% PEG although the osmotic pressure of 15% PEG was 4-fold greater, it was apparent that the DNA methylation change could be due to non-osmotic stress. Addition of PEG to hydroponic media reduces availability of oxygen and can lead to hypoxia (Verslues *et al.*, 1998), which can in turn encourage saprophytic microorganisms (Asao, 2012). Experiments were therefore performed to examine the possibility that hypoxia explained the observed DNA methylation changes. The possible contribution of hypoxia was examined by repeating the 5% PEG treatment

under various aeration regimes and by testing a line which overexpresses *RAP2.2* whose expression is hypoxia-responsive and expression levels observed to correlate with hypoxia survival rates (Hinz *et al.*, 2010).

During the previous PEG treatments, the hydroponics solution was replaced twice and aerated for 20 minutes every 2 hours, using an air pump. Altering either the extent of aeration or maintaining the roots in the same ATS media + 5% PEG solution for the duration of the treatment did not affect the severity of DNA methylation change (Figure 13), suggesting the DNA methylation changes observed were not due to hypoxia. To further confirm that hypoxia was not contributing to the changes in DNA methylation, the response of a hypoxia-tolerant *RAP2.2* overexpressor line (Hinz *et al.*, 2010) to the 5% PEG treatment was examined. Although the gel resolution is extremely poor, a visual assessment confirmed that DNA methylation changes occurred in the hypoxia stress-tolerant line.

In order to verify that the DNA methylation changes were indeed due to osmotic stress, an equivalent osmotic pressure (0.05 Mpa) was induced with sorbitol. Additionally, alongside the comparison of PEG and sorbitol treatments, an additional 5% PEG treatment using a presterilised PEG solution was tested to further confirm the DNA methylation changes were not due to stress induced by microorganisms introduced with the PEG. Although the DNA methylation patterns are not identical between the two osmotic stressors, sorbitol did produce some of the same fragment profile changes (Figure 14), indicating that, at least in part, the DNA methylation changes in response to 5% PEG relate to the reduced water potential of the hydroponics solution. The band profiles obtained from treatment with unsterilised and sterilised PEG were not identical, with both additional bands and missing bands in sterilised PEG compared to unsterilised PEG or sorbitol, suggesting either that the sterilisation had an effect on the stress experienced by the plants, or else that the response to PEG is inconsistent. To examine the consistency of the DNA methylation changes in response to 5% PEG, the root DNA methylation profiles of 5 individual plants was analysed. The PEG stress DNA methylation response was observed to be consistent between the individual plants (Figure 15). The previously observed independence of the response to the severity of PEG treatment was also confirmed.

The observed DNA methylation changes detected by AseI & MboI and AseI & HpaII/MspI MSAP indicate genome-wide DNA methylation changes occur in response to PEG stress. To examine the contribution of the DNA methylation and demethylation pathways and proteins, the methylation profile was analysed for T-DNA knockout lines *met1*, *cmt3*, *drm2*, *dcl3*, *rdr2* and *ros1* in the Col-0 background in control and PEG stress conditions and compared to

wild type (WT). Additionally, a WGA sample was also run alongside the genomic samples to enable inference of the DNA methylation change in response to PEG stress. Looking at the band profiles for Col-0, it is apparent that the majority of the methylation changes are DNA hypermethylation events as most changes in band presence/absence are either WGA bands present in the control root samples but not the PEG root sample, or non-WGA bands which are absent in the control root sample but present in the PEG root sample (Figure 16). Restricting the analysis to only those bands present in the WGA sample, we can observe that 37 out of 41 (90.2%) methylation differences observed between the control and PEG root samples in the primer pairs shown in Figure 16 are DNA hypermethylation events. Over the 7 primer pairs tested, hypermethylation events represent 86 % of methylation changes in PEG stress (Table 4).

When comparing band profiles for the T-DNA mutants under PEG stress to WT, it is important to consider that differences may be due to changes in DNA methylation under control conditions. Therefore analysis for each mutant was restricted to bands whose presence/absence score changed between control and PEG conditions in Col-0 but was the same in Col-0 and mutant profiles in control conditions. Inspecting the band profiles in PEG stress conditions, it appears that many of the methylation changes are maintained in the absence of a single DNA methyltransferase, component of the RdDM pathway or demethylase. However, 27% of PEG stress-dependent DNA methylation changes are dependent upon DRM2 and in some cases the RdDM pathway components RDR2 and DCL3 also (12%). Less than 10% of methylation changes were observed to be dependent upon MET1. A multidimensional scaling approach (MDS) was taken to visualise the similarities and differences between the single T-DNA knockout lines in PEG stress. Fragment presence/absence scores (1/0) were converted into a distance matrix. Again, where the fragment presence/absence for a mutant line in control conditions was not identical to WT, the fragment was not included in the analysis. WT and knockout lines were then plotted in 2 dimensions to approximate the true distances between them. As we can see in Figure 17, drm2 was most dissimilar to WT in PEG stress, with the other RdDM mutants, dcl3 and rdr2 lying somewhere between WT and *drm2* on the first dimension. Compared to the RdDM mutants, *met1*, ros1 and cmt3 were more similar to WT. In summary, PEG stress results in DNA hypermethylation in the root tissues which is largely maintained in single mutant backgrounds, although it appears that the drm2, dcl3 and rdr2 mutants are impaired in their ability to modify DNA methylation in response to PEG stress.



Figure 13. The effect of aeration on DNA methylation changes in response to PEG stress. A single primer pair is shown for the Asel & Hpall and Asel & Mspl digests of DNA sample from 10 plants. Treatments = Control (C) and 5% PEG (P). Aerations = Constant (C), Intermittent – 20 minutes every 2 hours (I) and No aeration (N). Fresh media was either supplied every 3 days (Y) or not supplied (N).



Figure 14. A comparison of DNA methylation changes in response to 5% PEG, 5% PEG post-sterilisation and an equivalent sorbitol concentration. In all instances, 10 plants were treated at day 21 in hydroponics culture and DNA extracted at day 28. A single CG and CHG primer pair is shown for the Asel & Mbol MSAP assay. Arrows indicating example methylation changes are colour coded to indicate the treatments in which the change is observed.



Figure 15. **The consistency of DNA methylation changes in response to PEG stress**. Plants were treated at day 21 in hydroponics culture and DNA extracted at day 28. Where specified, DNA was extracted from the roots of a single plant. Otherwise, DNA was extracted from 10 plants. Two primer pairs are shown for the Asel & Mbol MSAP assay.



Figure 16. Effect of single knock out mutations on DNA methylation changes in response to PEG stress. In all instances 10 plants were subjected to 5% PEG on day 21 in hydroponics culture and DNA extracted on day 28. Root Asel & Mbol MSAP profiles with two primer pairs shown for wild type (Col-0) and 6 T-DNA knockout mutants. Col-0 whole genome amplification (WGA) samples shown alongside. Arrows indicate band profile changes between WT control and WT PEG samples. Red = PEG-dependent changes maintained in all mutants. Black = PEG-dependent changes which are not observed in at least one mutant.



Figure 17. **Multidimensional scaling analysis of DNA methylation pattern in** *A.thaliana* **roots in response to PEG stress**. Fragment presence/absence scores for WT (Col-0) and knockout lines were converted into a distance matrix. WT and knockout lines were then plotted in 2 dimensions to approximate the true distances between them. The closer two points are, the more similar their respective methylation patterns.

	Primer pairs						
	GG + AGG	GG+AGC	GG+ACC	GG+ACG	GC+ACG	GC+AGG	GC+AGC
Total differences between Control and PEG	29	25	22	24	13	26	20
Bands also present in WGA sample	23	18	17	15	8	22	16
Methylation events	3	1	2	3	1	5	2
Demethylation events	20	17	15	12	7	17	14

Total number of band changes where	110	%	
methylation status can be assigned	119		
Total hypermethylation events	17	14	
Total hypomethylation	102	86	

Table 4. **Methylation changes in PEG stress in Col-0**. The number of changes in band profiles (either gain or loss of a band) across all 7 primer pairs used are presented. For those bands which align with a band in the WGA it is possible to assign a change in the methylation status of a loci based on the loss or gain of the band in the PEG sample. Of the changes in band profile where methylation status could be assigned, 14% were hypomethylation events and 86 were hypomethylation events (demethylation).

3.3 Promoter activity in response to PEG stress

3.3.1 Promoter::GUS reporter lines

As discussed in the introduction, DNA methylation changes in response to stress are frequently observed in plants. Currently, very little is known about the mechanism by which this change in DNA methylation occurs. For instance, are the demethylation events observed due to increased activity of a demethylase such as *ROS1*, the decreased activity of a methyltransferase such as MET1, or a change in the siRNA profile directing RdDM? To examine the mechanism of stress-dependent changes in DNA methylation in A.thaliana, transgenic promoter::GUS (β- GLUCORONIDASE) reporter lines were generated. These reporter lines contain the β -glucoronidase gene under the control of the promoter sequence of a gene of interest. As β -glucoronidase catalyses the production of a coloured product from a colourless substrate, it is possible to examine the expression and tissue localisation of the β -glucoronidase gene under the control of the specified promoter sequence. Five promoter::GUS lines were generated to examine promoter activity in response to stress for the CG methyltransferase MET1, the RdDM pathway components NRPD1, RDR2, DCL3 and the demethylase ROS1. Promoters were defined as the region between the gene of interest and the next upstream gene, up to a maximum of 3kb. A construct containing a promoter upstream of GUS was stably transformed into A.thaliana by Agrobacteriummediated transformation. To increase the likelihood of selecting plants with a single insertion, multiple independent lines in which the transgene was segregating with a ratio of 3:1 were taken forward. Homozygous progeny were tested to identify lines with representative GUS staining. These representative lines were then utilised to study the promoter activities of the 5 promoters. The intention had been to generate further lines to examine the activity of the NRPE1, DRM2 and CMT3 promoters also, however, the number of successfully transformed lines was insufficient to establish a representative transgenic line for these promoters.

Before presenting the results from the transgenic line, it is important to consider the limitations of using a reporter gene approach to study the expression localisation of a gene. Firstly, the promoters of these genes have not been well defined. Therefore, the promoters used in the reporter assay may not include regulatory elements that control expression of the gene of interest. Although up to 3kb upstream of the transcription start site was taken to define the promoter region, this may still miss long-distance enhancer elements, or elements that reside between the transcription and translation start sites. Secondly, the reporter gene

expression has not been quantified here but rather visually assessed. As such, the assay is not sensitive to small changes in expression.

3.3.2 Promoter activity

As described above, consistent DNA methylation changes were observed in response to PEG stress. To investigate the mechanism behind this response, the promoter::GUS lines were utilised. The advantage of this approach over gene expression analysis by techniques such as qRT-PCR is that the promoter::GUS lines enable visualisation of expression localisation throughout the plant rather than providing a value for the whole tissue or part thereof. Plants were sown onto ATS-agar plates and transferred to hydroponics culture on day 14. On day 21, PEG stress was initiated by addition of 5% PEG to hydroponics growth media. On day 28 aerial and root tissues were taken for GUS staining. The promoter activity for the 4 genes involved in methylating DNA (MET1, NRPD1, RDR2 and DCL3) decreased slightly in PEG stress, whilst ROS1 promoter activity was largely unaffected (Figure 18). No differences were observed for the aerial tissues in control and PEG stress conditions (images not shown). In control conditions, *NRPD1* promoter activity was visible throughout the roots, with GUS expression highest in the stele, root tips and root hairs of young lateral roots. When exposed to PEG stress, NRPD1 promoter activity was observed to decrease slightly and GUS expression was no longer visible in the root hairs, although expression was still observed in the primary root, lateral roots and root tips. In control conditions, RDR2 promoter activity was visible throughout the roots, with GUS expression strongest in the primary root, and the stele and root tip of lateral roots. In PEG stress conditions, RDR2 promoter activity was slightly reduced, although the localisation of expression was unchanged. In control conditions, root DCL3 promoter activity was weak with a low level of GUS expression observed in the upper-most portion of the primary root and a small number of lateral roots. In PEG stress, DCL3 promoter activity was insufficient for GUS expression to be observed anywhere in the roots. *MET1* promoter activity was far in excess of the other promoters, such that substrate incubation had to be reduced from 24 hours to 1 hour. In control conditions, expression of GUS under the control of the MET1 promoter was observed most prominently in the lateral roots and root tips, with expression in the primary root limited to the portion closest to the aerial tissues. When exposed to PEG stress, GUS expression in the pMET1:GUS line was slightly reduced in all portions of the root tissues. GUS expression under the control of the ROS1 promoter was observed to be weak in control conditions and limited to the upper-most section of the primary root and a small number of lateral roots. ROS1 promoter activity did not appear to respond to PEG stress. In summary, promoter activity for MET1 and the RdDM genes POL IV, RDR2 and DCL3 deceased

slightly in response to PEG stress. Localisation of expression was only observed to change in PEG stress in the pPOLIV:GUS line which showed loss of GUS expression in the root hairs. GUS expression under the control of the *ROS1* promoter was lower than under the control of the other promoters examined in control conditions, and was unaffected by PEG stress.



Figure 18. **Promoter activity in PEG stress**. Promoter::GUS lines subjected to PEG stress on day 21 in hydroponics culture by addition of 5% PEG. Root tissue harvested on day 28 and stained for GUS expression. All lines except pMET1:GUS were incubated with 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-indolyl glucuronide (X-Gluc) for 24 hours, pMET1:GUS was incubated with X-Gluc for 1 hour. The results presented here are representative of multiple independent lines. The following lines were used above: pPOLV:GUS_3_1, pRDR2:GUS_17_2, pMET1:GUS_5_7, pDCL3:GUS_6_1 and pROS1:GUS_17_3.

3.4 Discussion

This Chapter has detailed the development of methods for examining the mechanism underlying DNA methylation changes in response to stress and the results obtained with these techniques. DNA methylation is frequently implicated in the stress response of plants by MSAP analysis (Cao et al., 2011; Karan et al., 2012; Ou et al., 2012; Tan, 2010; Verhoeven et al., 2010; Zhong et al., 2009). However, flaws were identified here with the interpretation of MSAP output. Specifically, current MSAP analyses do not allow inference of a discrete methylation status of loci, although this is commonplace (Cao et al., 2011; Karan et al., 2012; Tan, 2010; L. Zhong et al., 2009). Direct inference of methylation status from MSAP analysis is not possible because, without sequencing fragments, it is not possible to know whether they have restriction sites only at their terminals, a prerequisite to infer methylation status from fragment presence or absence. The modifications described above were therefore carried out on the widely used EcoRI & HpaII/MspI MSAP assay to restrict the analysis to only those bands with a single CCGG site. Analysis of a Phi29 WGA sample by AseI & MboI MSAP assay clearly demonstrated that the WGA sample aligned well with the genomic samples, enabling inference of methylation status. A similar alignment of Phi29 WGA MSAP fragment profile with AseI & HpaII/MspI genomic fragment profiles would enable inference of the methylation status of cytosines in the CCGG site. To the author's knowledge, this is the first use of WGA in MSAP to allow direct inference of methylation status. A modified MSAP to generate a fragment profile in the absence of methylation was proposed previously by Baurens et al. (Baurens et al., 2003) to enable identification of loci with a fully methylated external cytosine which in a standard HpaII/MspI MSAP analyses would remain undetected. Their proposed solution was to digest genomic DNA with EcoRI, ligate adapters and amplify the fragments before passing the EcoRI sample through the complete MSAP assay, a modification previously described for AFLP analysis and named secondary digest AFLP (SD-AFLP) (Baurens et al., 2003). However, it appears they did not consider the possibility that EcoRI & HpaII/MspI fragments could contain internal restriction sites as their hypotheses for why only 60% of HpaII/MspI fragments were observed in the SD-AFLP focused on the amplification steps. Regardless, SD-AFLP may be seen as a direct alternative to WGA to generate a methylation-free template to enable identification of bands without internal restriction sites. The WGA modification proposed here has two major advantages over SD-AFLP: Firstly, taq PCR amplification of EcoRI fragments will be inefficient for long fragments, whereas Phi29 is highly efficient and has a low error rate (Blanco et al., 1989; Hutchison et al., 2005),

secondly, EcoRI is not methylation insensitive (Brennan *et al.*, 1986). Thus, the WGA modification demonstrated here represents a valuable improvement on current practice.

In addition to modifying the existing EcoRI & HpaII/MspI MSAP assay, a new AseI & MboI/Sau3AI MSAP assay was developed to examine DNA methylation at GATC sites. Previous reports suggest that MboI is cytosine methylation insensitive, whereas Sau3Ai is sensitive to cytosine methylation (Brooks and Roberts, 1982; Hermann and Jeltsch, 2003). However, when digesting in T4 DNA ligase buffer it appears both enzymes are methylation sensitive. Previous reports have also indicated that MboI may be impaired by cytosine methylation (L. Huang et al., 1982). The apparent methylation sensitivity of MboI reported here could also explain a previous report that the promoter of DRM2 is resistant to MboI cleavage which was postulated to be due to adenosine methylation as a small number of DpnII sites were identified (GA^{me}TC) (Ashapkin et al., 2002). However, there was no correlation between lines displaying DpnII sensitivity and those displaying MboI insensitivity. As far as the author is aware, this is the only report of adenine methylation to date. It is possible then that the resistance to MboI digestion was instead due to the cytosine methylation which was reported in the same paper. Given the contrasting reports of methylation sensitivity for MboI (Brooks and R. J. Roberts, 1982; Hermann and Jeltsch, 2003; L. Huang et al., 1982) it is clear that further experiments are required to fully elucidate the sequences at which it will cleave. Parallel AseI & MboI MSAP with digestion performed in MboI or T4 DNA ligase buffer was carried out here and yielded identical final fragment profiles (data not shown). Thus, it appear MboI is methylation sensitive to an identical extent as Sau3AI in the conditions tested here, and hence the combination of these two enzymes would not yield any more information on methylation state than either in isolation. Therefore, to generate a fragment profile which was unaffected by restriction site methylation status from which the direction of methylation change could be determined, a WGA step was introduced as per the AseI & HpaII/MspI MSAP assay.

The innovation of using the GATC restriction site was to use the amplification steps to specify the sequence context of a cytosine within a restriction site, rather than to simply amplify a subpopulation of fragments, in the belief that this would allow analysis of CG, CHG and CHH methylation in isolation. Unfortunately, the sequence context of the other cytosine was not considered. Since methylation of either cytosine will prevent cleavage by a methylation-sensitive restriction endonuclease, specifying the sequence context of a single cytosine within the restriction site is insufficient to enable examination of CG, CHG or CHH methylation in isolation. As this was not realised when the assay was developed, priority was given to the development of the AseI & MboI assay over the AseI & HpaII/MspI assay.

Hence, when whole genome amplification was achieved with Phi29, the WGA step was used with the AseI & MboI assay for the continued examination of root-specific DNA methylation changes in response to PEG stress. Although the AseI & MboI MSAP assay will still provide evidence for changes in DNA methylation, and the direction of change can be determined by comparing sample fragment profiles with the WGA fragment profile, the AseI & HpaII/MspI MSAP assay would have been more suitable as it would have enabled analysis of both CG and CCG methylation. Unfortunately, this was not realised during the experimentation and therefore all later experiments analysing DNA methylation changes were performed by AseI & MboI MSAP only.

A variety of stressors likely to result in DNA methylation changes based upon previous publications were examined by MSAP analysis, including osmotic stress (NaCl (Karan et al., 2012; Tan, 2010; Verhoeven et al., 2010), drought and PEG (Tan, 2010)), cold stress (Hashida et al., 2006; Steward et al., 2002) and heat stress (Whittle et al., 2009). Across the stress conditions examined, DNA methylation changes were only observed in response to PEG stress, and these changes were restricted to the roots. The observation that DNA methylation changes in response to PEG stress occur predominantly in the roots fits with previous observations of DNA methylation changes in response to alkali and NaCl stress in Gossypium hirsutum (Cao et al., 2011), NaCl and heavy metal stress in Oryza sativa L. (Karan et al., 2012; Ou et al., 2012). Upon first observing the DNA methylation response to PEG stress there were a number of reasons to believe the response may not be due to osmotic stress. Firstly, no response was observed to NaCl which will also result in osmotic stress. Secondly, the severity of the response was not correlated with the severity of the treatment. These observations led to a concern that the DNA methylation response may be due to hypoxia as PEG has been observed to cause hypoxia in hydroponics culture (Verslues et al., 1998). It appears hypoxia was not responsible for the observed DNA methylation changes in response to PEG as this response was still observed in a hypoxia tolerant line and was not affected by changes to the aeration regime. Furthermore, a second osmoticum, sorbitol, was also observed to induce DNA methylation changes in A.thaliana roots, although the changes were not identical to PEG. Given that sorbitol is synthesised by some plant species (Teo et al., 2006) and can be taken up and broken down by A.thaliana (Aguayo et al., 2013), whereas PEG is xenobiotic and more biologically inert, it is not surprising the changes in DNA methylation in response to sorbitol and PEG are not identical. Aligning the genomic and WGA MSAP fragment profiles, it's clear that the majority of methylation changes are hypermethylation events. These changes are highly reproducible, with individual plants showing almost identical changes in root DNA methylation, suggesting a highly targeted hypermethylation in *A.thaliana* roots in response

to PEG stress. Interestingly, a previous examination of DNA methylation changes in response to PEG stress in A.thaliana also found the majority of CG methylation changes were hypermethylation events (Colaneri and Jones, 2013). Colaneri & Jones detected 10 862 differentially methylated CG sites across the A.thaliana genome in response to PEG stress, of which 9 898 (91%) were hypermethylation events, in line with the observation here that 86% of the DNA methylation changes detected were hypermethylation events. From the study of single knockout mutants it appears that this hypermethylation is partly dependent on the RdDM pathway. However, even in a DRM2 knockout line which should be incapable of RdDM-mediated DNA methylation, the majority of DNA hypermethylation events were maintained in response to PEG stress. This suggests the previously observed redundancy at some loci between CMT3, MET1 and DRM2 (Cao and Jacobsen, 2002a; Xiao et al., 2006) may partially maintain the PEG stress hypermethylation response in the absence of a single methyltransferase of RdDM component. Unfortunately, the sequence context of the cytosines examined here cannot be determined from the AseI & MboI MSAP assay, however, since DRM2 is capable of methylation cytosine in any context, it's likely the hypermethylation is not restricted to the previously observed CG hypermethylation (Colaneri and Jones, 2013). Given that RdDM has been observed here to function in the PEG stress response, it is perhaps surprising that the activity of the DRM2, DCL3 and POL IV promoters in root tissues appears to decrease slightly during PEG stress and no change in localisation of expression was observed. An exception was the POL IV promoter, whose activity was no longer observed in the root hairs during PEG stress. It's possible this slight decrease in activity relates to the reduced growth rate of the roots during PEG stress -which may explain why MET1 promoter activity slightly decreased also - and the function of RdDM in PEG stress does not require transcriptional regulation of these or other components of the pathway. Quantitative reverse-transcriptase PCR analysis of transcript abundance in the root tissues for components of the RdDM pathway could help establish if the slightly decreased promoter activity observed here was indeed a reflection of reduced growth rate, or whether these genes are truly downregulated during PEG stress. Either way, the role of RdDM in the PEG stress response should be examined by analysis of siRNA in the root tissues in response to PEG. This could identify further regions of the genome that are targeted for hypermethylation by RdDM in the roots during PEG stress. A previous analysis of functional groups affected by CG hypermethylation indicated that genes annotated with terms relating to membrane transport were enriched (Colaneri and Jones, 2013). If a similar enrichment was identified for siRNAs generated during PEG stress, this would provide firm evidence that RdDM has a biological function in the PEG stress response.

Interestingly, a broadly similar change in DNA methylation in response to PEG stress was observed across a range of PEG concentrations. The poor correlation between severity of treatment and severity of response could indicate a gating of the PEG stress DNA methylation response, such that upon sufficient osmotic stress being received, the root DNA becomes hypermethylated to an identical extent regardless of the severity of the osmotic stress experienced. How such an apparently binary response to PEG stress could be established is unclear although presumably this would require some form of gating to restrict the observed DNA methylation changes to only those stress conditions which cross a threshold. Before an investigation of the hypothesised gating can begin, it would be beneficial to test a wider range of PEG concentrations to establish if the PEG response is indeed binary, or whether a correlation between PEG concentration and extent of hypermethylation can be observed at lower concentrations of PEG.

The original aim of analysing DNA methylation in response to stress was to identify conditions which could lead to changes in DNA methylation that could be inherited by the progeny in the hope that these would correlate with an enhanced stress tolerance. As the only changes in DNA methylation observed here were restricted to the root tissues, analysis of inherited DNA methylation changes and their hypothesised function in plant stress memories could not be investigated through this approach. The lack of DNA methylation changes in response to the other stressors tested suggests abiotic stress responses in *A.thaliana* do not usually include wide scale regulation of DNA methylation.

In summary, the modifications proposed for the EcoRI & HpaII/MspI MSAP assay will significantly improve the value of the data output, enabling inference of the discrete methylation status of cytosines at CCGG which is currently not possible. Replacing EcoRI with AseI and introducing a final amplification with only the AseI primer are both straightforward modifications that have been carried out here. The alignment of a Phi29 WGA MSAP fragment profile with genomic MSAP fragment profiles has been demonstrated here with another MSAP assay and could easily be incorporated into an AseI & HpaII/MspI MSAP workflow. Indeed, the WGA step could be incorporated into any MSAP which uses a combination of a methylation-sensitive and a non-sensitive restriction endonuclease to enable inference of the direction of methylation change. The attempt to develop a MSAP assay which could examine CG, CHG and CHH methylation in isolation relied upon flawed reasoning. However, the AseI & MboI MSAP assay could be employed in parallel with AseI & HpaII/MspI MSAP to ensure observed methylation changes are not limited to a particular restriction site. Additionally, promoter::GUS lines have been

generated which enable examination of promoter activities in response to stress for 5 genes involved in DNA methylation/demethylation.

Unexpectedly, DNA methylation changes were not observed in the majority of stress conditions examined here. Instead, only osmotic stress generated by addition of PEG or sorbitol to the growth media was found to result in DNA methylation changes. Furthermore, these changes were limited to the root tissues. The majority DNA methylation changes in response to PEG stress were observed to be hypermethylation events which are not dependent on a single methyltransferase, RdDM component or demethylase, suggesting the methyltransferases act redundantly in the PEG stress hypermethylation. However, there were some DNA methylation changes which were *DRM2*/RdDM-dependent. The activity of the *MET1*, *NRPD1*, *DCL3* and *RDR2* promoters were all slightly decreased in PEG stress, although, with the exception of a loss of pNRPD1 activity in the root hairs in PEG stress, localisation changes were not observed. This is taken to indicate that the RdDM-dependent DNA hypermethylation is brought about by changes in the siRNA profile or post-transcriptional control of RdDM proteins. However, given that many RdDM components were not analysed here, it is also possible that the DNA hypermethylation depends on the regulation of another RdDM gene in response to PEG stress.

Although the aim to investigate the role of DNA methylation in transgenerational stress memories was not achieved by the approach detailed above, the results do provide further evidence for the role of DNA methylation in low water potential stress in *A.thaliana*. The next two Chapters focus on an alternative approach to studying transgenerational stress memories, starting from a screen of stressors to identity suitable conditions to generate a transgenerational stress memory, and going on to present a transcriptomics analysis of the stress tolerant progeny.

Chapter 4. Identification and characterisation of a novel transgenerational stress memory

4.1 Identifying conditions that produce a transgenerational stress memory in Arabidopsis thaliana

As described in the introduction, stress memories and transgenerational stress memories have been observed in the progeny of plants subjected to a variety of stress conditions (Boyko and Kovalchuk, 2010; Boyko et al., 2010; Ito et al., 2011; Lang-Mladek et al., 2010; Luna et al., 2012; Molinier et al., 2006; Ou et al., 2012; Rahavi et al., 2011; Rasmann et al., 2012a; Slaughter et al., 2012; Whittle et al., 2009) although independent attempts to reproduce results are often not successful (Boyko et al., 2010; Pecinka et al., 2009). Therefore, to investigate the stress memory mechanism in Arabidopsis thaliana, a number of stress conditions were first examined. In all instances, the immediate progeny (F1) were tested for an increased stress tolerance. Where observed, stress tolerant progeny were taken through a second generation of non-stress conditions and the progeny (F2) re-tested to provide evidence for a transgenerational stress memory. For all stress conditions tested, 40 isogenic Col-0 plants were given the stress treatment, with an additional 40 plants receiving no treatment as a control. Seeds were collected from individual treated plants and pooled in equal quantities for use in stress tolerance testing to ensure the examination of the F1 generation was not biased towards plants producing a greater number of seeds. Stress tolerance testing in the F1 generation involved measuring germination frequency and rate, plant fresh weight, seed production or root growth as specified. In all instances the data are plotted with the conditions tested in the F1 generation along the x-axis and the parental treatments defined in the legends.

4.1.1 Stress tolerance in the progeny of stress treated A.thaliana

Plants were subjected to a range of conditions and examined in the following generation to establish whether the progeny displayed an increased stress tolerance. Conditions examined were chosen based on previously observed stress memories and comprised: nitrogen deficiency, elevated and reduced temperature, excess NaCl, drought, and excess zinc (Figure 19). Where possible, the stress treatments used here emulate the previous publications with regards to the defined treatment and the developmental stage at which treatment occurs. Stress tolerance testing in the F1 generation also reflects the published stress memories.

4.1.1.1 Nitrogen deficiency

Rice (*Oryza sativa L.*) plants grown under nitrogen deficient conditions produce progeny with an increased tolerance to nitrogen deficiency, as measured by plant weight, and concurrent local and global changes in DNA methylation (Kou *et al.*, 2011). In order to establish whether a similar transgenerational stress memory mechanism existed in *Arabidopsis thaliana*, and whether the mechanism is sensitive to the developmental stage at which stress is introduced, nitrogen deficiency was initiated at two developmental stages: plants were either subjected to nitrogen deficiency from day 21 through to seed production in a hydroponics set up similar to the previously published transgenerational stress memory in rice (Kou *et al.*, 2011), or subjected to nitrogen deficient conditions from germination for 21 days. The progeny were examined for a stress memory by measuring fresh weight and seed production under nitrogen deficient conditions.

As expected, fresh weight and seed production in F1 plants was negatively affected by reducing nitrogen concentration. However, an increased stress tolerance was not observed in the progeny of nitrogen deficiency treated plants. No difference in fresh weight was observed for the progeny of stressed plants compared to control progeny when grown under nitrogen deficient conditions (Figure 20A). Likewise, seed production under nitrogen deficient conditions was unaffected by parental treatment (Figure 20B).

4.1.1.2 Elevated and reduced temperature

Subjecting *Arabidopsis thaliana* to successive generations to mild heat stress (30 °C) has previously been observed to result in an increased heat tolerance in the progeny relative to the progeny of control plants (Whittle *et al.*, 2009). However, of the many fitness parameters tested in the progeny under heat stress, only seed production was found to be significantly improved. Interestingly, mild cold (16 °C) was not observed to result in an increased tolerance to reduced temperature in the progeny. To increase the likelihood of detecting a stress memory after a single treated generation, a less mild treatment was performed here; 3 week old *Arabidopsis thaliana* plants were subjected to elevated (34 °C) or reduced (10 °C) temperature through to seed production. In the following generation, the tolerance of the progeny was assessed by recording fresh weight and seed production under elevated or reduced temperature.

Both stress treatments were observed to reduce rosette diameter and decrease the photosynthetic capacity of the F0 plants as measured by Fv/Fm, indicating both elevated and

reduced temperatures were stressful (Figure 11B). However, attempts to reproduce the published transgenerational stress memory (Whittle *et al.*, 2009) in response to elevated temperature were unsuccessful. No difference was observed in the stress tolerance of the progeny of heat or cold-treated plants as measured by aerial fresh weight or seed production (Figure 21A, B).



Germination on stress plates

Figure 19. Schematic of stress conditions examined. *A.thaliana* subjected to stress either from germination on media-agar plates (top), from day 21 in hydroponics (middle) or from day 21 in soil (bottom).





Figure 20. Biomass accumulation and seed production in the F1 progeny of plants grown under nitrogen deficient conditions. Plants subjected to nitrogen deficiency from day 0-21 or from day 21 onwards. Sufficient nitrogen = 9 mM NO₃, nitrogen deficiency = 1.8 mM NO₃ or 0.9 mM NO₃. Growth conditions on X-axis. Parental treatment colour coded as indicated in legend. **A.** Progeny sown onto ATS-agar with 9 mM NO₃ or 0.9 mm NO₃. Whole seedling fresh weight recorded after 28 days. Data presented as average of 10 plants, 4-6 repeat experiments, Error bars = SE. **B.** Progeny grown hydroponically with 9 mM, 1.8 mM or 0.9 mM NO₃. Seed weight recorded once the plant had ceased producing siliques. Data presented as average of 5 plants, 6 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE.





Figure 21. Effect of parental treatment on temperature stress tolerance in F1 progeny. Growth conditions on X-axis. Parental treatment colour coded as indicated in legend. A. Aerial fresh weight at 35 days. Average of 20 plants, 4 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE. B. Seed weight. Average of 12 plants, 4 repeat experiments, Error bars = SE.

4.1.1.3 Drought

Low water potential stressors have been employed previously to examine transgenerational memories of stress in plants with varying success (Boyko *et al.*, 2010; Pecinka *et al.*, 2009). Here, PEG was used to reduce the water potential and simulate drought stress. As osmotic stress treatment in early developmental stages has previously been shown to generate a stress memory (Boyko *et al.*, 2010), treatment was initiated from germination for 14 days by supplementing growth media with 15% PEG 6000, after which all plants were grown on in non-stress conditions through to seed collection. In the following generation, germination frequency and rate, and biomass under low water potential (up to 16% PEG) were recorded. Germination frequency and rate of germination were both lower when PEG was increased to

12%. However, both germination frequency and germination rate were observed to be unaffected by parental treatment (Figure 22). Likewise, plant biomass was reduced by PEG, with no observed hypertolerance in the progeny of PEG-treated plants (data not shown)





Figure 22. Effect of parental treatment on germination frequency and germination rate in F1 progeny under low water-potential stress conditions. Growth conditions on X-axis. Parental treatment colour coded as indicated in legend. A. Germination (radicle emergence) recorded at day 14 for 50 plants, 4 repeat experiments. B. Time (hours) for half of final number of germinated seeds to germinate (G50). Error bars = SE.

4.1.1.4 NaCl

NaCl treatment of *A.thaliana* (acc. C24) has previously been reported to increase the germination frequency and root growth of the progeny under high NaCl concentrations (Boyko *et al.*, 2010). To examine whether NaCl treatment could also generate a stress memory in the Col-0 accession, plants were subjected to 100 mM NaCl for 3 weeks from germination, in line with the published treatment. In the following generation (F1), germination frequency and rate and root growth were measured under high NaCl. Germination frequency at 150 mM NaCl was significantly increased in the progeny of NaCl stressed plants (p<0.05, G-test), although the increase was much smaller than previously reported (7% compared to ~40%; Figure 23A). The rate of germination (G50) and root growth under high NaCl were unaffected by parental treatment (Figure 23B, C).

To investigate if the increased NaCl tolerance could be inherited over an untreated generation, and if it could be enhanced by treating sequential generations with NaCl, the progeny of NaCl treated plants were taken through an untreated generation or subjected to a second NaCl stress treatment. An identical germination experiment was performed to examine the stress tolerance of the F2 progeny, referred to here as CC, NC and NN to denote the previous two parental treatments, where C=control and N=100 mM NaCl. Germination frequency under high NaCl was observed to be unaffected by parental treatment (Figure 24). Rate of germination was also unaffected (data not shown).

4.1.1.5 Reproducing a published stress memory

As mentioned above, Boyko, A *et al* (2010) previously observed that the progeny of *A.thaliana* (C24) plants subjected to 3 weeks of 25 or 75 mM NaCl displayed a ~40% increase in germination frequency under 125-150 mM NaCl compared to the progeny of control plants. Having failed to reproduce such a considerable increase using the Col-0 accession, the NaCl stress treatment was repeated following the original publication with regards to accession, defined treatment and stress tolerance testing in the following generation (Boyko *et al.*, 2010). Again, the result could not be reproduced here: repeating their 75 mM NaCl treatment of C24 *A.thaliana* did not result in an increased germination frequency or germination rate in the progeny under any concentration of NaCl (Figure 25A & B).





Figure 23. Effect of parental treatment on NaCl stress tolerance. *A.thaliana* exposed to 100 mM NaCl for 3 weeks from germination. NaCl stress tolerance in Control and NaCl progeny examined: **A.** Germination frequency. *=*p*<0.05 (G-test) 100 plants, 4 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE. **B.** Germination rate. G50 = Time in hours for germination to reach 50% of maxima. 100 plants. 3 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE **C.** 7 day old plants transferred onto NaCl stress plates. Root growth measured after 48 hours. Average of 30 plants, error bars = SD.



Figure 24. Effect of two sequential treated generations on germination under high NaCl. Parental treatments colour coded as indicated in legend. C=Control, N=NaCl, i.e NC denotes NaCl stress in F0 and control growth conditions in F1. Stress tolerance testing conducted on F2 progeny. Germination frequency of 50 plants measured. 4 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE.







4.1.2 Zinc stress results in transgenerational stress memory

Unlike the stress treatments described so far, elevating zinc in the media to a stressful excess does result in an increased zinc stress tolerance in the progeny. Furthermore, the stress tolerance appears to be specific to zinc, is maintained in the progeny after an intervening non-stress generation, and is reproducible.

4.1.2.1 The progeny of zinc stressed plants are more tolerant to elevated zinc

The progeny of *A.thaliana* and *O.sativa* treated with heavy metals, have previously been reported to display an enhanced tolerance (Ou *et al.*, 2012; Rahavi *et al.*, 2011). As discussed previously, Rahavi *et al* (2011) reportedly grew *A.thaliana* on media supplemented with 50-100 mM cadmium, nickel or copper(Rahavi *et al.*, 2011). The reported stress memory in *O.sativa* involved parental treatment with 50-1000 μ M mercury and was correlated with inheritance of hypomethylated CHG loci (Ou *et al.*, 2012). To date, there have been no reports of a transgenerational stress memory in any plant species after parental treatment with zinc.

To investigate if zinc stress results in a stress memory in *A.thaliana*, 40 plants were subjected to 14 days of elevated Zn^{2+} by germinating seeds directly on ATS-agar (containing 1 μ M ZnSO₄) supplemented with 500 μ M or 1 mM ZnSO₄. The intention had been to subject plants to 21 days of elevated Zn^{2+} , however, extreme chlorosis was observed with the 1mM Zn²⁺ treatment from day 10. Both stress treatments were therefore stopped on day 14 with all plants transferred to control conditions for the remainder of their lifespan. The progeny will here be referred to as "Zn(500)", "Zn(1000)" and "control".

Zinc stress tolerance in the progeny was examined by measuring fresh weight and root growth. Seeds germinated on ATS-agar supplemented with 0, 250 or 500 μ M ZnSO₄ were weighed 10 days after the end of stratification. Parental treatment had a significant effect on zinc tolerance in the progeny: Zn(500) and Zn(1000) displayed a 23% and 35 % increase respectively in plant fresh weight compared to progeny of control plants when germinated on 250 μ M Zn²⁺, and Zn(1000) was observed to be significantly heavier than control at 500 μ M Zn (p<0.05, ANOVA; Figure 26A). There was an apparent increase in fresh weight under non-stress conditions for Zn(1000), however, this was not significant (p>0.05, ANOVA).

Root growth was measured by transferring 7 day old seedlings to ATS-agar supplemented with 0-500 μ M Zn²⁺ and measuring additional root growth at day 14. Although the mean root length was higher in Zn(500) and Zn(1000) compared to control at 250 μ M Zn², this difference was not significant (Figure 26B).

4.1.2.2 The increased weight is not due to an increased rate of development in zinc stress

In the experiments quantifying plant weight under zinc stress, a reduced developmental progression was observed above 250 μ M zinc. To investigate if the increased plant weight in Zn(500) relative to control progeny in zinc stress was correlated with an increased rate of development, seedlings at the 2 leaf stage were transferred to ATS-agar plates supplemented with 0, 50, 250 or 500 μ M Zn and rosette developmental progression recorded for 13 days. As expected, 250 μ M and 500 μ M zinc reduced the rate of development, however, no difference was observed between the progenies under any condition (Figure 27).

4.1.2.3 Zinc stress reproducibly results in an increased zinc stress tolerance in the progeny

As previously discussed, reported stress memories can show poor reproducibility. To confirm that the stress memory observed was at least reproducible within the same laboratory, 60 isogenic Col-0 seeds were sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with 500 µM $ZnSO_4$ and transferred to control conditions on day 10. As a control, 60 seeds were sown onto ATS-agar without supplemented zinc and transferred to ATS-agar on day 10. The progeny will be referred to here as $Zn(500)^2$ and control² to denote the parental treatment and their being the progeny of the repeat experiment. Previously, the increased tolerance in the progeny was observed when seeds were sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with high Zn^{2+} and also when 14 day old seedlings were transferred to hydroponics and subjected to zinc stress from day 21-28 (data not shown, single experiment with 10 plants each). Unexpectedly, $Zn(500)^2$ plants were not more tolerant of zinc stress as determined by fresh weight 9 days after germination on 50-1000 μ M Zn²⁺ (Figure 28). However, an increased tolerance to zinc was observed when zinc stress tolerance was tested at day 21 (Figure 29A & B). The contribution of experiment-to-experiment variation to the noise in the data required that this variation be accounted for in the statistical testing (Figure 29C). A randomized block design ANOVA was therefore employed to test for a significant effect of parental treatment on plant aerial and root weights under zinc stress. This approach allows

detection of a significant effect of parental treatment against a background of experiment-toexperiment variation (Lew, 2007). A significant effect of parental treatment on both aerial and root weights was observed at 250 μ M Zn²⁺ (p = 0.001 & 0.047, respectively). A significant effect of experimental data set was also observed on aerial and root weights at 250 μ M Zn²⁺ (p= 0.000 & 0.043, respectively). In summary, the progeny of zinc stressed plants reproducibly show an increased tolerance to zinc relative to control progeny, although the developmental stage at which the increased tolerance may be observed is inconsistent.

4.1.2.4 The stress memory is stable over one untreated generation

To examine the stability of the stress memory over one untreated generation and whether it could be enhanced by multiple treatments, all 20 individual Zn(500) lines were subjected to an additional stress treatment or control treatment and all control lines were progressed through an additional control treatment. The progeny will here be referred to as "ZZ", "ZC" and "CC" to denote the nature of the two successive parental treatments, where" Z" denotes a zinc stress treatment and "C" a control treatment. Parental treatment had a significant effect on plant weight at 500 μ M zinc (*p*<0.01, ANOVA), but did not significantly affect plant weight at 250 μ M zinc or in control conditions (Figure 30). The stress memory appeared stable over one untreated generation with a 20% increase in plant fresh weight observed for ZC compared to CC when germinated on 500 μ M Zn (*p*<0.05, ANOVA, Tukey HSD post hoc). Although the average weight of ZC plants was lower than ZZ at both concentrations of Zn²⁺ tested, the difference was not significant (*p*>0.05, ANOVA, Tukey HSD post hoc).

4.1.2.5 The increased tolerance is not limited to a hypertolerant subset of seed lines

As seeds were collected from treated plants individually, it was possible to establish whether the observed increase in fresh weight was limited to the progeny of a subset of plants, i.e. was the transgenerational stress memory stochastic with regards to the individually treated plants. Seeds from 17 individual CC and ZC lines were sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with 500 μ M Zn²⁺ and weighed after 14 days. As expected, ZC lines were on average heavier than CC lines. However, the variance in plant weight between the individual lines was almost identical (CC variance = 1.2, ZC = 1.29; Figure 31), indicating that the increased tolerance was not limited to a few hypertolerant seed lines.

4.1.2.6 The heavy metal stress tolerance appears to be specific to zinc

Increased tolerance to zinc stress may be expected to correlate with increased tolerance to other heavy/transitional metal as there is a considerable degree of overlap between the stress responses to excess heavy metals (Maestri *et al.*, 2010). As a screen to identify possible cross-tolerance with other heavy metals, Zn(500) and control seeds were germinated on varying concentrations of nickel, copper, cobalt and caesium (this data is not shown as no replicates were conducted). Fresh weight was higher in Zn(500) compared to control at only 200 μ M Ni and 500 μ M Cu, results which were not verified upon repetition (Figure 32A). Furthermore, Zn(500) plants were not observed to be hypertolerant of NaCl compared to control plants. Additionally, Zn(500)² plants were subjected to nickel, cadmium and cobalt stress at day 28. Again, Zn(500)² plants were not observed to be more tolerant of metals other than zinc (Figure 32B)

4.1.2.7 The transgenerational stress memory appears to "reset" during seed aging

Previous investigations of transgenerational phenomena have indicated that after 3-17 months of seed storage, a parental stress-dependent transgenerational release of silencing may be lost (Lang-Mladek *et al.*, 2010). To examine if a similar resetting occurred during seed storage for the observed zinc transgenerational stress memory, 12 month old CC, ZC and ZZ seeds were sown onto agar plates supplemented with 500 μ M Zn²⁺. Previously, ZC and ZZ seedlings were observed to be approximately 20% heavier than CC seedlings (Figure 30). After 16 months seed storage no difference was observed between the 3 parental treatments, suggesting the memory had been reset (Figure 33).





Figure 26. Effect of parental treatment on zinc stress tolerance in F1 progeny. Parental treatment denoted by bar colour where $Zn(500) = 500 \mu M ZnSO_4$ from stratification for 10 days **A.** Fresh weight (FW) of plants sown onto media supplemented with zinc. Weight recorded 10 days after the end of stratification. Average of 46-50 plants, 6 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE. *= *p*<0.05 relative to Control (ANOVA, Tukey post hoc). **B.** Root growth. Plants transferred 7 days after the end of stratification and onto media supplemented with zinc and additional root growth measured after 7 days. Average of 25-30 plants, 3 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE.



Figure 27. Effect of parental treatment on F1 progeny development in zinc stress. Parental treatment indicated by line type. Seedlings transferred at the 2-leaf stage onto ATS-agar plates supplemented with 0-500 μ M Zn²⁺ and the number of additional leaves recorded daily for 13 days. Data presented as average of 30 plants per parental treatment and zinc concentration.



Figure 28. Effect of parental treatment on zinc stress tolerance in the F1 progeny assessed at an early developmental stage. Parental treatment denoted by bar colour as indicated in legend, where Zn(500)) = 500 μ M ZnSO₄ from stratification for 10 days. The superscript 2 is used to indicate that these F1 plants are the progeny of the repeat zinc stress experiment. Fresh weight (FW) of plants sown onto media supplemented with zinc. Weight recorded 10 days after the end of stratification. Average of 100 plants, 10 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE.







Figure 29. Effect of parental treatment on zinc stress tolerance in the F1 progeny assesses at a later **developmental stage**. Parental treatment denoted by bar colour as indicated in legend, where Zn(500)) = 500 μ M ZnSO₄ from stratification for 10 days. The superscript 2 is used to indicate that these F1 plants are the progeny of the repeat zinc stress experiment. F1 progeny subjected to zinc stress from day 21. A. & B. Aerial and root portions weighed on day 35. Average of 7-10 plants, 9 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE. *= p<0.05 relative to Control² (Randomized block design ANOVA). C. Variation in aerial fresh weight at 250 μ M Zn across the 9 replicate experiments.


Figure 30. Effect of two successive parental treatments on zinc stress tolerance in the F2 progeny. Parental treatment colour coded as indicated in legend, where C=control and Z=zinc stress (500 μ M Zn²⁺ from stratification for 10 days), i.e ZC = zinc stress treatment in F0 and control growth conditions in F1. Seeds sown onto ATS-agar plates supplemented with 0-500 μ M Zn²⁺ and plants weighed 10 days after the end of stratification. 50 plants, n= 5. Error bars = SE.* = p<0.05 (ANOVA, Tukey post hoc).



Figure 31. Distribution of average plant weights for F2 progeny of zinc stressed plants. CC and ZC denote the parental treatments as indicated in Figure 30. 34 seeds each from 17 individual CC and ZC lines sown onto media supplemented with 250 μ M Zn and seedlings weighed 14 days after the end of stratification. Box = middle quartiles, whiskers = range. •=outlier.





Figure 32. Effect of parental zinc treatment on tolerance to heavy/transitional metals and NaCl in F1 progeny. Parental treatments indicated by bar colour, where $Zn(500) = 500 \mu M Zn^{2+}$ from stratification for 10 days. The progeny of the repeat parental treatment are denoted with a superscript 2. **A.** Seeds sown onto ATS-agar supplemented with metal as described and weight measured 10 days after end of stratification. Average of 37-50 plants, 3 repeat experiments, Error bars = SE. **B.** Seeds sown onto ATS-agar and transferred to ATS media in hydoponics 14 days after stratification and subjected to metal stress 7 days later. Plant weight measured 14 days later. Average of 8-12 plants, 6 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE.



Figure 33. Resetting of the transgenerational stress memory in the F2 generation after 16 months seed aging. 16 month old CC, ZC and ZZ seeds (F2 progeny) sown onto ATS-agar plates supplemented with 500 μ M Zn²⁺ and weighed 10 days after the end of stratification. Average of 50 plants, 4 repeat experiments. Error bars = SE.

4.1.3 DNA methylation status in stress and in progeny following stress

DNA methylation changes are frequently observed following stress treatment (Karan et al., 2012; Steward et al., 2002; Tan, 2010; Tricker et al., 2012; L. Zhong et al., 2009). Stressdependent DNA methylation changes may be inherited (Ou et al., 2012; Verhoeven et al., 2010), and these may be associated with an increase in stress tolerance in the progeny (Bilichak et al., 2012; Boyko et al., 2010; H. P. Kou et al., 2011; Ou et al., 2012). To identify if the observed stress memory in response to zinc stress was associated with changes in DNA methylation, the MSAP assay outlined in the previous Chapter was utilised. Aerial and root DNA were extracted at the end of the zinc stress treatment (day 14), after recovery (day 21) and in the following generation. Both HpaII/MspI and MboI MSAP assays were utilized with multiple primer pairs. As NaCl is frequently observed to modify DNA methylation (Karan et al., 2012; Tan, 2010; Verhoeven et al., 2010; Zhong et al., 2009), identical primer pairs were also used to analyse DNA methylation in NaCl treated Col-0 and C24 A.thaliana plants. In total, 534 bands were scored across the two MSAP assays and multiple primer pairs. No consistent band changes were observed compared to control for either zinc or NaCl stress in either aerial or root tissue. An example AseI & MboI MSAP gel is shown in Figure 34.

To further examine a possible role for DNA methylation in the NaCl and zinc stress response, the promoter::GUS lines described in Chapter 3 were utilised to establish if either

stress was correlated with changes in the activity of the *MET1*, *POL IV*, *RDR2*, *DCL3* or *ROS1* promoters. Plants were sown onto ATS-agar plates supplemented with 100 mM NaCl or 500 μ M Zn and stained for GUS expression on day 14. In all instances the expression and localisation of GUS was unchanged in the stressed plants, indicating that neither zinc nor NaCl stress affects the activity of these 5 promoters. Expression of pRDR2:GUS and pPOLIV:GUS are shown in Figure 35.

As mentioned above, an attempt to reproduce a previously observed stress memory (Boyko et al., 2010) using NaCl treatment was unsuccessful. In a follow up publication by the same group, Bilichak, A et al (2012) identified changes in DNA methylation, histone modifications and genes expression in the progeny of NaCl-treated A.thaliana. Their assessment of DNA methylation involved Methyl-DNA immunoprecipitation (MeDIP) using antibodies against methylated cytosine and hybridisation to a genome array consisting of 90 bp reporters covering the whole of chromosome 2 and partially covering chromosomes 3 and 4. Two of the most extreme examples of DNA methylation change were the hypermethylation of the promoters of miRNA 843A (MIR843A) and MSH6. In the two treatments (25 & 75 mM NaCl) the number of methylated reporters in the progeny reportedly increased from 0 to 6/7 (60/70 %) and 0 to 11 (92%) for MIR843A and MSH6 respectively relative to control progeny. In the case of MSH6, this hypermethylation was also negatively correlated with a decrease in mRNA. In order to independently verify this NaCl-stress dependent hypermethylation, bisulphite sequencing was carried out for the two promoters, both after 21 days of stress and in the following generation. Bisulphite sequencing may be considered superior to MeDIP as it enables single base pair resolution analysis of DNA methylation and can be used to estimate the degree of methylation. As a control to identify if full conversion had taken place, bisulphite sequencing of a 157 bp section of the chloroplast PSAA promoter was performed. Full conversion of all 21 cytosines indicated conversion was complete (data not shown). In contrast to Bilichak, A et al (2012) who reported 0% methylation for the MIR843A promoter in the absence of stress, of the 148 cytosines examined here, 14 (9%) were fully methylated, and a further 40 (27%) partially methylated. Methylation was unaffected by stress, being unchanged with regards to both the number of methylated cytosines and the degree of methylation (Figure 36). There were a small number of changes in the degree of partial methylation, however these were never observed both during NaCl stress and in progeny of NaCl stress. Similarly, the methylation status of the MSH6 promoter was unaffected by stress, remaining almost completely unmethylated (2.2 % methylated). As bisulphite sequencing was conducted on a mixed sample of PCR products rather than cloned fragments, it is possible that a bias was

introduced for the sequences that amplified during sequencing. No attempts were made to verify the lack of bias in sequence amplification by sequencing individual clones.



Figure 34. **MSAP analysis of methylation in zinc and NaCl stress and in the progeny of zinc stressed plants**. Band profile shown from 2 representative primer pairs. WGA=Whole genome amplified samples (Col-0). Methylation analysed at the end of the stress treatment (14 or 21 days post stratification depending on the stressor). Methylation analysis repeated in the F1 progeny at 21 days under control conditions. (labelled timepoint = G_1)



Figure 35. **GUS staining of the pPOLIV:GUS and pRDR2:GUS lines in NaCl and zinc stress**. Plants sown onto ATSagar supplemented with NaCl or zinc as described. Staining performed 14 days after stratification. 500μ M Zn²⁺ caused retardation in development compared to control conditions. An examination of GUS expression did not identify changes in GUS expression in either line across the early developmental stages (not shown), hence all plants shown here are 14 days old.



Figure 36. **Bisulphite sequencing peaks for the** *MIR843A* **promoter**. Sequencing performed directly on the PCR product, hence observed intermediate levels of methylation as methylation varies at some sites across the sequenced fragments within a single sample. Genomic sequence show at top. Methylation status of cytosines is inferred from a comparison of genomic sequence and the sequence peaks in the bisulphite treated DNA samples. The degree of methylation was visually assessed by comparing the peak heights resulting from cytosine and thymine incorporation at each cytosine in the genomic sequence. M=methylated (>75% cytosine), P=partially methylated (25-75%), U=unmethylated (<25%).

4.2 Discussion

4.2.1 Most stressful conditions do not produce a stress memory in *Arabidopsis thaliana*

Although there are now numerous reports of stress memories in A.thaliana and other plant species, it is becoming clear that these represent an exceptional response to stress rather than the rule (Pecinka et al., 2009). Nitrogen deficiency, elevated temperature, drought and NaCl, all conditions that have previously been observed to generate a stress memory in plants (Boyko et al., 2010; Kou et al., 2011; Whittle et al., 2009), failed to increase tolerance in the progeny here. Taking each stress condition individually, it is possible to provide plausible explanations why all but one of the conditions tested here were apparently not successful in generating a stress memory. One may conjecture that the stress treatments were not appropriate, being too short, too mild or else introduced at the wrong developmental stage. As very little is known about the sensitivity of the mechanism(s) responsible for the generation of a stress memory, it is difficult to assess how appropriate the stress conditions were. However, as zinc stress did generate a transgenerational stress memory, it is clear that treating plants for a short period early in their lifecycle is a suitable approach. Elevated and reduced temperatures were the only stress conditions tested that were applied here solely at a later developmental stage, however, the application of a milder temperature stress from day 21 was previously observed to be sufficient to generate an increased tolerance in the progeny, albeit after two successive treated generations (Whittle et al., 2009). The increased tolerance detected by Whittle, C. et al (2009) was specific to the number of seeds produced, with no increase in plant height, rosette diameter or dry mass observed. This observation hints at another possible explanation that no other stress memories were detected here: the experiments carried out to detect an increased tolerance were too narrow. Indeed, reported increases in stress tolerance in the progeny of stressed plants is often limited to a single measurement, such as plant height, and not to other measurements that one would also expect to be affected such as plant weight (Kou et al., 2011; Ou et al., 2012). It is possible therefore that wider stress tolerance testing here could have established the existence of an increased tolerance where none was detected. What the biological benefit of such as transgenerational stress memory would be is questionable; no increase in plant biomass or seed production was observed for the progeny of nitrogen-deficiency or elevated temperature treated plants, suggesting any unobserved stress tolerance would likely have little impact on fitness traits. The examination of stress tolerance in the progeny of PEGtreated plants was limited to early developmental stages and only included germination and

plant biomass measurements. Here then, it is possible to imagine the existence of an undetected stress memory with plant fitness benefits.

The above considerations are clearly insufficient by themselves, however, as a previously reported stress memory could not be reproduced even when the stress treatment was performed using an identical experimental set up in terms of accession, growth media, NaCl concentration, period of treatment and stress tolerance testing in the following generation (Boyko et al., 2010). An intriguing possibility is that the transgenic C24 line (15d8) used by Boyko et al (2010) may be more liable to generating a stress memory, having been generated by Agrobacterium transformation in plant cell culture. Indeed, plant cell culture has been shown capable of altering the DNA methylome (Tanurdzic et al., 2008) and regeneration from plant cell culture can cause further heritable changes in DNA methylation (Stroud et al., 2013). This could also explain the discrepancy in promoter methylation in non-stress conditions between the bisulphite sequencing reported here and the published MeDIP data (Bilichak et al., 2012). However, given that the original transformation was performed 20 years ago it seems unlikely that line 15d8 has been stably altered in such a way as to encourage a transgenerational response to NaCl stress. A more likely hypothesis would be that differences in the experimental parameters not reported by Boyko et al (2010), such as light intensity or humidity explain the absence of stress memory observed here. A recent report highlights the considerable variability in plant growth even across laboratories using apparently very similar growth conditions (Massonnet et al., 2010), and considerable variation in plant weight was observed here across experiments with apparently identical growth conditions (Figure 29C). It follows that having failed to reproduce the stress memory, the previously published concurrent DNA methylation changes were also not reproduced here. The differences in DNA methylation in non-stress conditions between the bisulphite sequencing reported here and the previous MeDIP data may be due to the aforementioned effects of regenerating from a plant cell culture but more likely reflect the higher resolution of bisulphite sequencing compared to MeDIP. If growth conditions do explain the lack of stress memory observed here, this would suggest that stress memories are dependent upon the plant's experience of stress conditions in combination with other external factors, and not simply the stress treatment by itself. Recent observations indicate that the circadian clock gates responses to low water potential stress (Seung et al., 2012). Such regulation of stress response pathways in response to a multitude of external factors could also exist for the regulation of plant stress memories. The generation of a stress memory in response to a combination of stress treatment and particular growth conditions may also explain the observation here that, while zinc stress reproducibly results in an increased zinc stress tolerance in the progeny, the developmental stage at which this may be

observed is variable, suggesting a somewhat inconsistent nature to the stress memory. The difficulties in reproducing transgenerational stress memories are most strikingly highlighted by a recent attempt to reproduce the observed increase in HRF in the progeny of A.thaliana subjected to a number of stressors (Molinier et al., 2006; Pecinka and Mittelsten Scheid, 2012). Using an identical seed line, Pecinka & Mittelsten-Scheid (2012) were unable to reproduce the observed increase in HR in the progeny of stressed plants in all but a few of the conditions tested, and observed that the transgenerational effects appeared stochastically, being independent of degree of stimulation. Their hypothesis that transgenerational stress memories may be subjected to a gating function that combines defined treatments with other extraneous triggers or internal latches fits with the hypothesis put forward here that they are dependent upon a combination of treatment and other external factors. Unfortunately, the results presented here do not increase our understanding of the specific environmental conditions required to produce a stress memory. However, as the transgenerational response to zinc stress conditions has been shown here to be reproducible, it is hoped other groups may be able to independently reproduce this transgenerational stress memory using the conditions detailed here, enabling a more rigorous study of the molecular mechanism.

If we choose to discount the previously observed stress memories that could not be reproduced here, we must consider whether the observation that only zinc stress was found to produce a transgenerational stress memory reflects a fundamental difference in the response of A.thaliana to the other stressors. Although no decrease in fitness was observed in the progeny of zinc stressed plants, it must be assumed that, outside of laboratory growth conditions, a transgenerational stress memory will involve a fitness cost in the absence of the stress. Therefore, the balance between fitness costs and benefit could encourage the evolution of a transgenerational stress memory response for stress conditions which would likely continue into the following generation(s), but not for more transient stressors. In the extreme, a stress condition that provided a strong consistent selective pressure would drive genetic change within the population. Theoretically then, a transgenerational response to a particular stress is most likely to evolve only where the stress is intransient enough for the benefit to outweigh the cost, and where the stress lasts only a few generations. Indeed, transgenerational effects are usually observed to last for only a small number of generations in the absence of stress (Boyko and Kovalchuk, 2010; Lang-Mladek et al., 2010; Rahavi et al., 2011), and as observed here can become "reset" during seed aging (Figure 33) (Lang-Mladek et al., 2010), perhaps reflecting the decreasing benefit to the progeny over time. The selective pressure for mechanisms specific to each possible parental stress would be very weak. A more convincing argument can be made for a general transgenerational stress memory response for a broader range of stressful conditions. In this model, when production

of a transgenerational stress memory is triggered, epigenetic modifications could feasibly carry a stable mark of the transcriptional element of the stress response into the next generation, modifying either the basal transcriptome and/or the stress response transcriptome. In this way, a general transgenerational mechanism could produce a relatively specific transgenerational stress memory in the following generations. That zinc was the only stress observed here to generate a transgenerational stress memory could indicate that the other stressors did not activate this general mechanism. For transient/seasonal stressors, such as elevated or reduced temperature or drought, it is conceivable that the mechanism is not activated, to avoid generating a stress memory unnecessarily. That nitrogen deficiency and elevated NaCl should fail to activate the same transgenerational mechanism requires another explanation as these stress conditions would be similarly intransient in the field as elevated zinc.

Could there be a fitness benefit to the plant to respond transgenerationally to a single generation of zinc stress but not to other stress conditions? One would expect the relationship between the environmental conditions of the parent and the progeny in the field to depend on three major factors: seed dispersal, seed dormancy and germination, and the nature of the individual environmental conditions. Unlike other Brassicaceae, Arabidopsis has not evolved a mechanism to disperse seeds (Vaughn et al., 2011), which although light enough to be further dispersed in the wind, will usually settle close to the parent plant. Arabidopsis does not require particularly specific conditions to germinate and will break dormancy with either a mild stratification or dry storage (Bentsink and Koornneef, 2008). However, A.thaliana avoids germinating in unfavourable conditions with regards to NaCl concentration, water potential and nitrogen availability. Germination was observed to be inhibited by NaCl concentrations exceeding 100 mM and by low water potentials. A.thaliana is also known to regulate germination in response to nitrogen levels by responding to nitrate and nitric oxide (Alboresi et al., 2005; Arc et al., 2013), although no decrease in germination was observed here when NO₃ was reduced 5-fold. Interestingly, increasing the zinc concentration in the media to 1 mM had no effect on germination, a concentration observed here to lead to a severe stress response a few days later. As A.thaliana regulates germination in response to high NaCl, low water potential and NO₃ deficiency, but not in response to zinc, this may reduce the benefit of generating a transgenerational response to NaCl, drought or NO₃ deficiency as the progeny are capable of avoiding these stressors by regulating germination, a response that is not possible for high concentrations of heavy metals.

In summary, most of the stress conditions tested did not result in any transgenerational increase in stress tolerance. The hypothesis put forward to explain the failure to reproduce

previously observed stress memories is that the stress memory mechanism responds to a combination of the defined treatment and other environmental conditions. A second hypothesis has been put forward to explain the results here without making reference to the published stress memories that could not be reproduced: Stress memories are triggered only by intransient stress conditions that do not significantly affect germination and are therefore likely to be experienced by the progeny. This hypothesis is not supported by experimental data but rather has been formulated to explain the observed results here in isolation within an evolutionary framework. It is suggested here that *A.thaliana* has evolved a transgenerational response to zinc because it has not evolved a seed dispersal mechanism and hence progeny will likely be exposed to similar zinc concentrations as the parent plant and it does not regulate germination in response to zinc. Zinc stress generates a transgenerational stress memory. Experiments to test these hypotheses are put forward in Chapter 6.

Whilst most stressors examined here did not result in an increased stress tolerance in the progeny, zinc stress was found to generate a transgenerational increase in stress tolerance. Although heavy metals have previously been observed to increase tolerance in the progeny (Ou *et al.*, 2012; Rahavi *et al.*, 2011), the observed transgenerational stress memory in response to elevated zinc is, to the author's knowledge, novel. Further experiments indicate that it is reproducible, stable over one untreated generation and is not stochastic with regards to the individual treated plants. The increased metal tolerance also appears to be specific to zinc.

The original observation of an increased tolerance in the progeny of zinc stressed plants was not definitively heritable through multiple generations, as it was possible the hypertolerance was related to zinc stress-dependent changes in seed composition. However, the stability of the stress tolerance over an untreated generation suggests an epigenetic mechanism and a truly transgenerational stress memory. It is clear that the hypertolerance within the F2 progeny of treated plants is not a consequence of a subset of highly tolerant lines, indicating that the transgenerational stress memory mechanism has been activated at the level of the treated population rather than stochastically with respect to the individual plants treated.

The observation that the transgenerational response, whilst reproducible, is inconsistent with regards to the developmental stage at which an increased tolerance is detected, is difficult to explain. Although the two treatments were identical with respect to the defined chemical treatment, there were some differences in environmental conditions after they had been transferred to soil. In the first experiment, the plants remained in the same growth room as used during stress treatment, with seeds collected by enclosing the aerial portion of the

plants in glassine bags, in the second experiment, the plants were placed in a temperature and light controlled greenhouse and seed collected by enclosing the aerial portions of the plants in micro perforated cellulose. Thus, during the period post-stress, the plants would have been exposed to slightly different light intensities and temperatures, and seeds would likely have developed under different humidities. If these differences in growth conditions post-stress were found to consistently produce the observed differences in the stress tolerance in the progeny, this would fit with the hypothesis that stress memories are generated in response to a combination of defined treatment and other environmental factors, and extend the period during which the plant is sensitive beyond the end of the stress treatment. This could also suggest that particular conditions post-stress may reduce or even erase the stress memory in the treated generation.

The examination of cytosine DNA methylation at CCGG and GATC loci failed to detect any changes in DNA methylation either at the end of the stress treatment, after a recovery period, or in the following generation. As in excess of 500 loci were examined it is reasonable to assume wide-scale changes in DNA methylation levels did not occur. However, DNA methylation remains the most likely mechanism, as it is the only known epigenetic modification which could transmit a transgenerational stress memory in A.thaliana. As described in section 1.7, *C.elegans* have been shown to utilise a RNAi-related pathway whereby the heritable element is a sRNA rather than an epigenetic mark (Alcazar *et al.*, 2008; Buckley et al., 2012; Luteijn and Ketting, 2013; Shirayama et al., 2012) and a similar mechanism operates in Drosophila melanogaster (Grentzinger et al., 2012). A.thaliana has the prerequisite RNA-dependent RNA polymerase to potentially inherit sRNAs through a similar mechanism although this has not been observed to occur. Thus, whilst DNA methylation changes were not observed, this is still considered to be the most likely mechanism underlying the transgenerational stress memory in response to zinc stress. Such a proposed change in the epigenome would necessarily function to increase stress tolerance through modifying the transcriptome. Given the considerable overlap between stress responses to excesses of different heavy metals (Maestri et al., 2010), it is surprising to note how specific the increased tolerance appears to be. Along with the lack of global DNA methylation changes, this suggests the tolerance is a manifestation of very specific changes in the transcriptome of the progeny. Directly analysing the transcriptome has the advantage of detecting transcriptome changes regardless of the mechanism involved and more directly examines the functional differences in the progeny of zinc stressed plants. Another approach would be to perform whole genome bisulphite sequencing to detect changes in DNA methylation and to follow this up with gene expression analysis. Were DNA methylation differences observed, this would provide direct evidence for an epigenetic change in the

progeny. Furthermore, it is possible that discrete regions of the genome observed to be differentially epigenetically modified may be correlated with stress response genes. However, it is not possible to accurately predict the effect of changes in the DNA methylome on the transcriptome, as DNA methylation status is not directly correlated with expression levels even in promoter regions (Vining *et al.*, 2012; Xiaoyu Zhang *et al.*, 2006). Thus, progressing from DNA methylome changes to changes in the transcriptome to functional biochemical changes in the plant is not straightforward. Furthermore, it is possible that the transgenerational stress memory mechanism is novel. Transcriptome changes would still be a possible way in which a novel mechanism could increase the stress tolerance in the progeny. As such, transcriptomics may identify functional differences where a DNA methylome approach would fail to do so. Although the developmental stage at which the increased stress tolerance is observed differs between the two independent experiments, Chapter identifies similarities in the transcriptome and biochemical changes in the transcriptome and biochemical changes in the two independent zinc stress progenies.

Chapter 5. Transcriptome and biochemical changes in the progeny of zinc stressed plants

5.1 RNA-sequencing analysis of the progeny of zinc stressed plants

In order to detect transcriptome differences between the progenies of zinc stressed and unstressed *A.thaliana* plants, RNA-sequencing was carried out on RNA extracted from whole CC and ZC 14 day old seedlings grown on either full strength ATS media, or ATS supplemented with 500 μ M Zn. This experimental design enables identification of genes differentially expressed in ZC relative to CC in both zinc-stress and non-stress conditions, and allows correlation of these genes with the transcriptional changes that occur during zinc stress.

RNA sequencing samples were prepared as explained in Figure 37. For each RNA-Seq sample, RNA was extracted from 3 batches of seedlings (Control=37-40 plants per batch, +Zn = 100-113 per batch) and pooled in equal measure. Plant weight was observed to be significantly higher in ZC than CC at 500 μ M Zn (p<0.001, Student's t-test), although the increase in biomass was less than previously observed with the same seeds (11.2 % compared to 21.0 %; Figure 37). A significant difference in plant weight under zinc stress was still observed between the parental treatments when comparing just those seedling batches used for RNA extractions (p<0.05, Student's t-test). RNA-Seq samples will be referred to as Mock(C), Mock(Z), Zinc(C) and Zinc(Z) to denote whether they received a zinc stress treatment in their parental treatment (Mock = CC, Zinc = ZC) and the conditions the F2 progeny were grown under for transcriptome analysis (C = control, Z = zinc stress), as described in Figure 37.

RNA-Seq samples were analysed by Illumina HiSeq 2500 on a single lane by the Exeter University sequencing service. In total 327 M 100 bp paired end sequence reads were obtained by Exeter University (Mock(C) =120 M, Mock(Z)=68 M, Zinc(C)=68 M, Zinc(Z)=71 M). Exeter University filtered and trimmed reads to remove low quality reads and to remove low scoring base calls, leaving 267 million reads (82%). All further bioinformatics was conducted by the author. 199 million (75%) of the filtered and trimmed reads provided by Exeter University mapped onto the *Arabidopsis thaliana* reference genome for quantification of transcript abundance.









 Parental treatment

 CC
 ZC

 ΔTS
 Mock (C)
 Zinc(C)

 ATS
 Mock(Z)
 Zinc(Z)

 + 500 μM Zn
 Mock(Z)
 Zinc(Z)

Figure 37. **RNA-seq sample preparation, seedling weight and RNA sample nomenclature**. Top panel: RNA-seq sample preparation. CC and ZC seeds sown onto ATS and ATS + 500 μ M Zn²⁺ agar plates. RNA extracted and pooled as indicated 14 days after stratification. Bottom: Weight of seedlings used for RNA extraction and back-up tissue samples= 37-46 plants per ATS weight measurement, 100-113 plants per ATS + 500 μ M Zn²⁺ weight measurement. N=6. **p*<0.001 (Student's t-test). RNA-Seq sample nomenclature based on parental treatment and growth conditions.

5.1.1 Differentially expressed genes

RNA-Seq was performed without repeats, preventing estimation of expression variance and statistical testing of differential transcript abundance between two samples. To select genes differentially expressed in a pairwise comparison of samples, a cut off was set to the calculated fold changes. It was noted that negative correlations existed between gene expression or gene length and the absolute fold-difference in expression between the two control samples, Mock(C) and Zinc(C), such that short and/or lowly expressed transcripts were more likely to be differentially expressed (Figure 38). In part, these correlations could reflect an increased biological variability in expression for genes with a low expression level; however, these relationships are most likely due to the reduced accuracy in transcript abundance quantification for short and lowly expressed genes. Applying a simple foldchange cut-off would therefore preferentially yield short and/or lowly expressed genes. Instead, after removing genes with a low expression and short genes (<256 bp), parameters from the above correlation curves were used to adjust the fold-change values for the remaining 18 697 genes, thereby removing the aforementioned relationships between gene expression or gene length and fold change (Figure 38). After adjustment, genes with a \log_2 fold change greater than 5 standard deviations (SD) from the mean were selected as differentially regulated. This cut off is equivalent to a p value of $<5.8 \times 10^{-7}$. For comparison, a conservative Bonferroni correction (Abdi, 2007) of a=0.05 with 18 697 comparisons (the number of genes analysed) gives a corrected α of 2.7 x 10⁻⁶.

For other pairwise comparisons, fold changes were adjusted using the correlation curves fitted to the control samples data and a cut off applied of pairwise mean +/- 5 control samples SD. In this way, 1935 and 2030 genes were selected as being upregulated and downregulated respectively in Mock(Z) relative to Mock(C). In a pairwise comparison of the progeny of the two parental treatments under control conditions, Zinc(C) vs. Mock(C), 90 genes were differentially regulated (78 downregulated, 12 upregulated). A comparison of the two parental treatments under zinc stress condition yielded 520 differentially expressed genes, of which 259 were upregulated in Zinc(Z) relative to Mock(Z), and 261 were downregulated. All reported \log_2 fold changes are from the raw data without adjustment. Only genes passing the cut off are discussed below.



Figure 38. Adjustment of data to remove relationships between gene expression or gene length and fold-difference between the two control samples. Expression values given as fragments per kilobase exon gene model per million mapped fragments (FPKM). Red = Transcripts with Log₂ Zinc(C)/Mock(C) values +/- 5 SD from the mean after adjustment. A. Raw data presented as gene expression vs. fold-difference. **B**. Correlation curve from plotting average fold-difference (sliding window of 500 genes) vs. expression. C. Data adjusted using parameters from correlation curve in C. and plotted as per A. D. Once adjusted data presented as gene length vs. fold-difference. E. Correlation curve from plotting average folddifference (sliding window of 100 genes) vs. gene length in once adjusted data. F. Once adjusted data adjusted a second time using parameters from correlation curve in C and plotted as per D. Red lines = Cut off of mean Log₂ Zinc(C)/Mock(C) +/- 5 SD after double adjustment.

The 50 most highly zinc-stress upregulated and downregulated genes (derived from the Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C) comparison) are listed in Table 5 & Table 6. The highly upregulated genes include 3 basic helix-loop-helix transcription factors which control the expression of ion homeostasis genes (*BHLH038*, *BHLH039* & *BHLH100*), one of their downstream targets which functions in iron uptake in the roots (*IRT1*), and *PLANT CADMIUM RESISTANCE 1* (*PCR1*). The highly down regulated genes include *FE SUPEROXIDE DISMUTASE 1* (*FSD1*), *FERRITIN 4* (*FER4*) and genes responsive to the hormone jasmonic acid (JA), including *VEGETATIVE STORAGE PROTEIN 2* (*VSP2*) and the peroxidase superfamily protein *NATA1*. All genes showing differential expression in the progeny of the zinc stressed plants under control conditions are listed in Table 7 and Table 8. Genes with a reduced expression in Zinc(C) compared to Mock(C) include *FERRIC REDUCTION OXIDASE 2* (*FRO2*), *NRAMP METAL ION TRANSPORTER 6* (*NRAMP6*), JA biosynthesis genes *ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE 1* (*AOC1*), *AOC2* and *LIPOXYGENASE 2* (*LOX2*), and JAresponsive genes including *VSP1* & *VSP2*, *N-ACETYLTRANSFERASE ACTIVITY 1* (*NATA1*) and *TYROSINE AMINOTRANSFERASE 3* (*TAT3*).

Genes with differential expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants under zinc stress conditions (Zinc(Z) vs. Mock(Z)) are not listed here as these genes do not show enrichment for particular functions and the observed differences between Zinc(Z) and Mock(Z) are best considered at the level of the expression distribution for stress-responsive genes rather than individual genes in isolation, as explained in section 5.1.1.3.

5.1.1.1 Enriched GO terms within the differentially regulated genes

Gene ontology terms describe the known and predicted function and localisation of gene products. Determining which gene ontology terms are significantly overrepresented within a gene set provides an indication of what pathways are most severely affected. A straightforward analysis of each term in isolation (term-by-term), with a confidence correction for multiple comparisons will usually yield a large number of significantly enriched terms from which one must establish trends in the GO terms. A more sophisticated approach taking into account the relationships between the GO terms will yield a smaller, more useful set of GO terms. For instance, if a parent GO term and of all its children are enriched, a term-by-term analysis will report all the child terms along with the parent term, whereas an analysis taking account of GO term relationships will report only the parent term. The model-based gene set analysis (MGSA), as outlined by Bauer, S. *et al*, was used here to identify enriched GO terms (Bauer *et al.*, 2010). This approach will yield only a small number of terms, however, each reported term will be more directly relevant to the

whole get set. MGSA associates a marginal posterior probability to each term that reflects the likelihood of its involvement in the process. A cut off of 0.5 is suggested by the authors.

AGI code	Gene full name (where available)	Gene short name	Mock(C) FPKM	Mock(Z) FPKM	Log ₂ fold change
AT2G14610	PATHOGENESIS-RELATED GENE 1	PR1	0.1	41.3	8.6
AT1G14880	PLANT CADMIUM RESISTANCE 1	PCR1	0.1	17.1	7.4
AT2G21640	Protein of unknown function	RD2	0.2	26.2	7.2
AT4G12735	FASCICLIN-LIKE ARABINOGALACTAN 2	FLA2	0.7	91.6	7.1
AT2G41240	BASIC HELIX-LOOP-HELIX PROTEIN 100	BHLH100	3.1	431.1	7.1
AT4G36700	RmIC-like cupins superfamily protein	ATU2AF65A	0.8	89.8	6.8
AT2G14247	AGAMOUS-LIKE 44	AGL44	10.7	1008.3	6.6
AT5G54165	O-METHYLTRANSFERASE 1	OMT1	0.3	25.4	6.3
AT1G47395	3BETA-HYDROXYSTEROID-DEHYDROGENASE/DECARBOXYLASE ISOFORM 1	3BETAHSD/D1	23.2	1816.4	6.3
AT3G56970	BASIC HELIX-LOOP-HELIX 38	bHLH38	5.4	407.3	6.2
AT1G56160	MYB DOMAIN PROTEIN 72	MYB72	0.1	10.4	6.2
AT2G30766	CYTOCHROME P450, FAMILY 71, SUBFAMILY A, POLYPEPTIDE 12	CYP71A12	20.1	1390.4	6.1
AT5G03210	DBP-INTERACTING PROTEIN 2	DIP2	0.1	5.5	5.9
AT4G10250	Columbia endomembrane-localized small heat shock protein	ATHSP22.0	0.1	4.6	5.9
AT1G61800	GLUCOSE-6-PHOSPHATE/PHOSPHATE TRANSLOCATOR 2	GPT2	0.3	19.6	5.9
AT1G21240	WALL ASSOCIATED KINASE 3	WAK3	0.1	3.8	5.9
AT5G58840	CIS-PRENYLTRANSFERASE 6	cPT6	0.1	2.9	5.8
AT1G13609	BASIC LEUCINE-ZIPPER 58	bZIP58	0.3	18.4	5.8
AT2G04070	DETOXIFICATION 1	DTX1	0.6	31.4	5.7
AT1G52120	Mannose-binding lectin superfamily protein	AR791	0.2	9.3	5.7
AT1G62420	HIGH LEAF TEMPERATURE 1	HT1	1.7	86.3	5.6
AT2G30770	CYTOCHROME P450, FAMILY 71, SUBFAMILY A, POLYPEPTIDE 13	CYP71A13	0.2	10.4	5.6
AT1G12030	SMALL NUCLEOLAR RNA111	SNOR111	1.7	80.0	5.6
AT5G37490	AGAMOUS-LIKE 105	AGL105	0.2	7.7	5.5
AT4G25200	MITOCHONDRION-LOCALIZED SMALL HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN 23.6	HSP23.6-MITO	0.3	12.1	5.4
AT5G10760	HISTIDINE KINASE 5	НК5	0.3	12.1	5.4
AT2G04050	DETOXIFICATION 1	DTX1	2.0	79.0	5.3
AT3G56980	BASIC HELIX-LOOP-HELIX 39	bHLH39	5.8	226.1	5.3
AT2G38340	DEHYDRATION RESPONSE ELEMENT-BINDING PROTEIN 19	DREB19	0.6	20.9	5.1
AT1G35230	ARABINOGALACTAN PROTEIN 5	AGP5	1.1	33.5	5.0
AT1G47405	3BETA-HYDROXYSTEROID-DEHYDROGENASE/DECARBOXYLASE ISOFORM 1	3BETAHSD/D1	0.3	8.7	4.9
AT1G80130	PHLOEM PROTEIN 2-B11	PP2-B11	1.4	43.9	4.9
AT2G14230	AGAMOUS-LIKE 44	AGL44	0.2	4.6	4.9
AT5G51440	EMBRYO YELLOW	EYE	4.5	128.4	4.8
AT5G13170	SENESCENCE-ASSOCIATED GENE 29	SAG29	0.9	24.8	4.8
AT3G27410	SUCCINATE DEHYDROGENASE 2-1	SDH2-1	0.2	4.1	4.8
AT5G45430	CONSERVED PEPTIDE UPSTREAM OPEN READING FRAME 24	CPuORF24	0.4	11.3	4.7
AT1G53540	FATTY-ACID-BINDING PROTEIN 3	FAP3	2.1	55.2	4.7
AT2G18190	MAP KINASE 7	MPK7	0.4	9.7	4.7
AT4G19690	IRON-REGULATED TRANSPORTER 1	IRT1	8.1	208.8	4.7
AT3G28580	DEFECTIVE IN MERISTEM DEVELOPMENT AND FUNCTION 1	TDF1	0.7	17.9	4.7
AT2G36800	DON-GLUCOSYLTRANSFERASE 1	DOGT1	3.3	85.0	4.7
AT2G18193	MAP KINASE 7	MPK7	7.9	200.8	4.7
AT4G31398	ABC1-LIKE KINASE RELATED TO CHLOROPHYLL DEGRADATION AND OXIDATIVE STRESS 1	ACDO1	0.1	2.0	4.7
AT4G08867	PUMILIO 11	PUM11	0.1	3.2	4.6
AT1G47400	3BETA-HYDROXYSTEROID-DEHYDROGENASE/DECARBOXYLASE ISOFORM 1	3BETAHSD/D1	3.7	90.2	4.6
AT1G56650	PRODUCTION OF ANTHOCYANIN PIGMENT 1	PAP1	1.2	30.2	4.6
AT2G04040	DETOXIFICATION 1	DTX1	1.2	29.5	4.6
AT1G01590	FERRIC REDUCTION OXIDASE 1	FRO1	0.1	2.5	4.6
AT1G58225	EMBRYO DEFECTIVE 1674	EMB1674	0.2	5.4	4.5

Table 5. Genes upregulated in zinc stress as derived from the Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C) comparison. Top 50 most differentially expressed are listed in order of fold change. Expression values are given as fragments per kilobase exon gene model per million mapped fragments (FPKM). Where the full gene name is not available, a gene family description is given in lower case.

Chapter 5. Transcriptome and biochemical changes in the progeny of zinc stressed plants

AGI code	Gene full name (Where available)	Gene short name	Mock(C) FPKM	Mock(Z) FPKM	Log ₂ fold change
AT4G25100	FE SUPEROXIDE DISMUTASE 1	FSD1	126.6	0.7	-7.5
AT1G63710	CYTOCHROME P450, FAMILY 86, SUBFAMILY A, POLYPEPTIDE 7	CYP86A7	2.1	0.0	-6.3
AT3G59930	RAB GDP DISSOCIATION INHIBITOR 2	GDI2	7.0	0.1	-6.2
AT3G43850	CALMODULIN 7	CAM7	4.9	0.1	-6.1
AT3G25190	CYTOCHROME P450, FAMILY 82, SUBFAMILY G, POLYPEPTIDE 1	CYP82G1	42.9	0.6	-6.1
AT5G51720	NEET GROUP PROTEIN	NEET	84.7	1.7	-5.7
AT2G33790	ARABINOGALACTAN PROTEIN 30	AGP30	12.4	0.2	-5.6
AT2G40300	FERRITIN 4	FER4	29.0	0.6	-5.6
AT5G15960	Cold and ABA inducible protein	KIN1	18.1	0.4	-5.6
AT3G49160	PEROXIDASE CB	PRXCB	9.7	0.2	-5.4
AT2G38390	PRENYLATED RAB ACCEPTOR 1.84	PRA1.B4	115.0	2.7	-5.4
AT3G62950	ALBINO AND PALE GREEN	APG3	10.6	0.3	-5.3
AT5G14650	SHAGGY-LIKE KINASE 13	SK13	27.2	0.7	-5.2
AT4G21970	Protein of unknown function	PRXR1	3.4	0.1	-5.2
AT2G21650	MATERNAL EFFECT EMBRYO ARREST 3	MEE3	26.0	0.7	-5.1
AT1G52820	LYSOPHOSPHOLIPASE 2	LysoPL2	3.3	0.1	-5.1
AT4G26320	ARABINOGALACTAN PROTEIN 13	AGP13	8.9	0.3	-5.1
AT4G12550	AUXIN-INDUCED IN ROOT CULTURES 1	AIR1	52.7	1.6	-5.0
AT2G36885	METHIONINE ADENOSYLTRANSFERASE 3	MAT3	7.0	0.2	-5.0
AT1G58290	ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA HEMA 1	HEMA1	260.0	8.8	-4.9
AT4G02850	FANTASTIC FOUR 1	FAF1	6.6	0.3	-4.7
AT5G47450	TONOPLAST INTRINSIC PROTEIN 2;3	TIP2;3	16.3	0.7	-4.6
AT3G02885	GAST1 PROTEIN HOMOLOG 5	GASA5	4.9	0.2	-4.6
AT5G17170	ENHANCER OF SOS3-1	ENH1	82.5	3.4	-4.6
AT2G14580	BASIC PATHOGENESIS-RELATED PROTEIN 1	PRB1	2.2	0.1	-4.6
AT1G74890	RESPONSE REGULATOR 15	ARR15	4.9	0.2	-4.6
AT2G39330	JACALIN-RELATED LECTIN 23	JAL23	9.9	0.4	-4.5
AT1G19900	MALE-GAMETE-SPECIFIC HISTONE H3	MGH3	2.3	0.1	-4.5
AT1G13650	ROOT MERISTEM GROWTH FACTOR 2	RGF2	25.2	1.2	-4.4
AT2G39040	N-ACETYLTRANSFERASE ACTIVITY 1	NATA1	2.7	0.1	-4.4
AT1G68650	PERIANTHIA	PAN	13.3	0.6	-4.4
AT4G35720	DUO1-ACTIVATED ZINC FINGER 3	DAZ3	3.4	0.2	-4.3
AT4G36060	BASIC HELIX-LOOP-HELIX 11	bHLH11	2.1	0.1	-4.3
AT4G37220	HIGH CHLOROPHYLL FLUORESCENCE 164	HCF164	4.1	0.2	-4.3
AT2G32870	BETA GLUCOSIDASE 33	BGLU33	18.9	0.9	-4.3
AT4G12545	EARLY ARABIDOPSIS ALUMINUM INDUCED 1	EARLI1	39.5	2.0	-4.3
AT1G06120	SKP1/ASK-INTERACTING PROTEIN 16	SKIP16	3.5	0.2	-4.3
AT2G18328	RAD-LIKE 4	RL4	10.7	0.6	-4.2
AT5G64040	Subunit of photosystem I	PSAN	2762.9	151.5	-4.2
AT1G21140	INDOLE GLUCOSINOLATE O-METHYLTRANSFERASE 4	IGMT4	8.9	0.5	-4.2
AT3G55240	SPLICEOSOME-ASSOCIATED PROTEIN 130 B	SAP130b	83.9	4.8	-4.1
AT2G33850	FRIGIDA-ESSENTIAL 1	FES1	180.8	10.6	-4.1
AT1G02620	MEDEA	MEA	4.5	0.3	-4.1
AT5G10230	ANNEXIN 7	ANNAT7	12.4	0.7	-4.1
AT1G32540	LSD ONE LIKE 1	LOL1	10.4	0.6	-4.0
AT4G01390	MAP KINASE 4	МРК4	31.1	1.9	-4.0
AT3G47340	GLUTAMINE-DEPENDENT ASPARAGINE SYNTHASE 1	ASN1	101.0	6.1	-4.0
AT5G24770	VEGETATIVE STORAGE PROTEIN 2	VSP2	34.3	2.1	-4.0
AT4G35770	SENESCENCE 1	SEN1	223.8	13.9	-4.0
AT4G37700	HEPTAHELICAL PROTEIN 4	HHP4	6.9	0.4	-4.0

Table 6. **Genes downregulated in zinc stress as derived from the Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C) comparison**. Top 50 most differentially expressed are listed in order of fold change. Expression values given as fragments per kilobase exon gene model per million mapped fragments (FPKM). Where the full gene name is not available, a gene family description is given in lower case.

AGI code	Gene full name (Where avialble)	Gene short name	Mock(C) FPKM	Zinc(C) FPKM	Log ₂ fold change
AT3G09480	POL-LIKE 3	PLL3	0.4	3.8	3.4
AT2G31180	MYB DOMAIN PROTEIN 14	MYB14	0.6	3.3	2.5
AT2G43050	Protein of unknown function	ATPMEPCRD	2.3	5.8	1.3
AT1G56090	LOW EXPRESSION OF OSMOTICALLY RESPONSIVE GENES 1	LOS1	5.1	12.6	1.3
AT5G02760	SHOOT GRAVITROPISM 9	SGR9	9.9	20.7	1.1
AT2G39850	TYPE ONE SERINE/THREONINE PROTEIN PHOSPHATASE 4	TOPP4	4.0	7.7	0.9
AT1G56660	PRODUCTION OF ANTHOCYANIN PIGMENT 1	PAP1	10.1	19.1	0.9
AT3G11420	PROTEIN PHOSPHATASE 2CA	PP2CA	10.2	18.5	0.9
AT3G47340	GLUTAMINE-DEPENDENT ASPARAGINE SYNTHASE 1	ASN1	101.0	179.0	0.8
AT5G67470	FORMIN HOMOLOG 6	FH6	5.4	9.5	0.8
AT2G31010	SHAGGY-RELATED PROTEIN KINASE DZETA	SKDZETA	7.8	13.0	0.7
AT1G75310	AUXILIN-LIKE 1	AUL1	12.5	18.9	0.6

Table 7. Genes with higher expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C) listed in order of fold change. Expression values given as fragments per kilobase exon gene model per million mapped fragments (FPKM). Where the full gene name is not available, a gene family description is given in lower case.

AGLoode	Gene full name (Where available)	Gene short name	Mock(C) EPKM	Zinc(C) EPKM	Log. fold change
ATICIONE		MATA1	0 7		Edgy ford change
AT1661130		TDSOA	3.7	0.2	-5.0
AT1G01120	TERPENE STNTHASE 04	TP304	2.2	0.1	-5.4
A12G24850	TYROSINE AMINOTRANSFERASE 3	1413	2.1	0.1	-4.0
A15G53820	MILDEW RESISTANCE LOCUS O 11	MLO11	2.2	0.1	-3.9
AT4G35710	DUO1-ACTIVATED ZINC FINGER 3	DAZ3	1.9	0.1	-3.7
AT2G39330	JACALIN-RELATED LECTIN 23	JAL23	9.9	0.8	-3.6
AT5G12020	17.6 KDA CLASS II HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN	HSP17.6II	4.0	0.4	-3.4
AT5G07840	PHYTOCHROME INTERACTING ANKYRIN-REPEAT PROTEIN 1	PIA1	3.4	0.3	-3.3
AT2G38240	PYRIDOXINE BIOSYNTHESIS 1.1	PDX1.1	2.2	0.3	-2.9
AT1G47400	3BETA-HYDROXYSTEROID-DEHYDROGENASE/DECARBOXYLASE ISOFORM 1	3BETAHSD/D1	3.7	0.5	-2.8
AT1G33960	AVRRPT2-INDUCED GENE 1	AIG1	3.9	0.6	-2.8
AT1G62420	HIGH LEAF TEMPERATURE 1	HT1	1.7	0.3	-2.6
AT1G47395	3BETA-HYDROXYSTEROID-DEHYDROGENASE/DECARBOXYLASE ISOFORM 1	3BETAHSD/D1	23.2	3.8	-2.6
AT2G30766	CYTOCHROME P450, FAMILY 71, SUBFAMILY A, POLYPEPTIDE 12	CYP71A12	20.1	3.3	-2.6
AT3G55970	JASMONATE-REGULATED GENE 21	JRG21	4.2	0.8	-2.5
AT3G57260	BETA-1.3-GLUCANASE 2	BGL2	1.7	0.4	-2.3
AT1G28480	Glutaredoxin family protein	GRX480	40.8	8.6	-2.2
AT2G24940	MEMBRANE ASSOCIATED PROGESTERONE BINDING PROTEIN 2	MAPR2	33.4	7.6	-21
AT2G24340	CHI OROBIASTIC ALDO-KETO REDUCTASE	ChIAKR	2.2	0.5	-2.1
AT1G72590	PAUSED	DSD	17.1	4.2	2.0
AT1072380		FJD	2.4	4.5	-2.0
AT3G44800	PARNESOIC ACID CARBOXTL-O-METHTLTRANSFERASE	FAIVIT	2.4	0.0	-2.0
A14G23600	Alaka /kata Judicelanaa auga afamilu sasta/s	LUATI	30.2	9.5	-1.9
A14G1/470	Alpriarbela-Hydrolases superramily protein	HAT1	0.3	1./	-1.9
AT1G56240	PHLOEM PROTEIN 2-B13	PP2-B13	3.4	1.0	-1.8
AT4G12490	EARLY ARABIDOPSIS ALUMINUM INDUCED 1	EARLI1	100.5	30.0	-1.7
AT5G15265	FTSH PROTEASE 6	FTSH6	12.7	3.8	-1.7
AT2G07783	ATP-BINDING CASSETTE IS	ABCI5	1.8	0.6	-1.7
AT4G14365	XB3 ORTHOLOG 4 IN ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA	XBAT34	5.6	1.8	-1.7
AT1G02820	LATE EMBRYOGENESIS ABUNDANT 3	LEA3	8.3	2.8	-1.6
AT1G52040	MYROSINASE-BINDING PROTEIN 1	MBP1	5.8	1.9	-1.6
AT2G07708	MINICHROMOSOME MAINTENANCE 5	MCM5	6.0	2.0	-1.5
AT5G24780	VEGETATIVE STORAGE PROTEIN 1	VSP1	21.3	7.4	-1.5
AT3G62280	UBIOUITIN 5	UBQ5	70.4	25.1	-1.5
AT2G15970	COLD REGULATED 413 PLASMA MEMBRANE 1	COR413-PM1	328.2	121.3	-1.4
AT1G29355	PLANT IL BOX 17	DUB17	6.0	2.2	-1.4
AT2G39920	W/////24	WUM20	10.3	3.9	-1.4
AT2G55520		PULLINIZU	10.3 E.4	3.5	-1.4
AT3030370	BASIC HELIX-LOOP-HELIX 38	DRLHUS0	5.4	2.1	-1.4
AT3G25760	ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE 1	AUCI	52.0	20.3	-1.4
A12G07687	A IP-BINDING CASSETTE 14	ABCI4	5.8	2.3	-1.3
AT1G56430	NICOTIANAMINE SYNTHASE 4	NAS4	7.0	2.8	-1.3
AT4G12480	EARLY ARABIDOPSIS ALUMINUM INDUCED 1	EARLI1	103.0	42.5	-1.3
AT3G25770	ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE 2	AOC2	248.4	103.4	-1.3
AT3G28220	TRAF-like family protein	PMZ	40.9	17.1	-1.3
AT4G08870	ARGININE AMIDOHYDROLASE 2	ARGAH2	81.1	35.0	-1.2
AT2G16586	GLN PHOSPHORIBOSYL PYROPHOSPHATE AMIDOTRANSFERASE 1	ASE1	319.5	142.3	-1.2
AT3G02468	CONSERVED PEPTIDE UPSTREAM OPEN READING FRAME 9	CPuORF9	91.3	41.7	-1.1
AT4G18170	WRKY DNA-BINDING PROTEIN 28	WRKY28	8.9	4.1	-1.1
AT1G01580	FERRIC REDUCTION OXIDASE 2	FRO2	3.5	1.6	-1.1
AT5G24770	VEGETATIVE STORAGE PROTEIN 2	VSP2	34.3	16.2	-1.1
AT1G14250	SCR-LIKE 28	SCRL28	12.2	6.0	-1.0
AT3G54830	ZINC RIBBON 3	7R3	11.9	5.9	-1.0
AT3G57060	CYSTATHIONINE BETA-I VASE	CBI	7.0	3.5	-1.0
AT5G24420	6-PHOSPHOGUICONOLACTONASE 5	PGIS	18.2	93	-1.0
AT1C19670	CHIOROPHYLLASE 1	CI H1	10.4	5.0	-1.0
AT5G19460		NUIDT20	27.1	10.0	_10
AT4C22120		Phoy	202.2	205.0	-1.0
A14032130		CVD7074 2	372.2	200.0	-0.9
A15G45340	CTTOCHROME P450, FAMILY 707, SUBFAMILY A, POLYPEPTIDE 3	CTP/U/A3	10.0	5.3	-0.9
A15G22920	CATION/H+EXCHANGER 9	CHX9	453.1	240.2	-0.9
AT3G45140	LIPOXYGENASE 2	LOX2	84.2	44.6	-0.9
AT4G15830	HEAT SHOCK FACTOR BINDING PROTEIN	HSBP	72.7	38.6	-0.9
AT1G54270	EIF4A-2	EIF4A-2	87.5	46.5	-0.9
AT1G62430	CDP-DIACYLGLYCEROL SYNTHASE 1	CDS1	67.5	36.2	-0.9
AT5G44680	GALACTAN SYNTHASE 2	GALS2	197.8	106.6	-0.9
AT2G08986	ATP-BINDING CASSETTE IS	ABCI5	3.3	1.8	-0.9
AT2G38380	PRENYLATED RAB ACCEPTOR 1.84	PRA1.B4	297.5	168.6	-0.8
AT5G14650	SHAGGY-LIKE KINASE 13	SK13	27.2	16.0	-0.8
AT1G15960	NRAMP METAL ION TRANSPORTER 6	NRAMP6	16.0	9.6	-0.7
AT5G49740	FERRIC REDUCTION OXIDASE 7	FRO7	11.4	6.9	-0.7
AT5G59730	EXOCYST SUBUNIT EXO70 FAMILY PROTEIN H7	EXO70H7	10.5	6.3	-0.7
AT3G52640	CELL WALL INVERTASE 2	CWINV2	81	49	-0.7
AT3G25610		ΔΔΡΤ2	51	3.2	-0.7
AT2G30210	IACCASE 3	1403	31.0	19.6	-0.7
AT5C/19720	FERRIC REDUCTION OXIDASE 6	FROS	131.0	8/1	-0.5
AT2C44520		CVD71	11.7	7 /	-0.0
AT1052410		TCA1	22.0	7.4	-0.0
AT1052410		1341	32.9	21.8	-0.0
A14G16860	RECOGNITION OF PERONOSPOKA PARASITICA 4	RPP4	15.1	10.2	-0.6
A13G13080	A IP-BINDING CASSETTE C3	АВССЗ	12.1	8.7	-0.5
AT3G07160	IGLUCAN SYNTHASE-LIKE 10	IGSL10	23.7	18.4	-0.4

Table 8. Genes with lower expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C) listed in order of fold change. Expression values given as fragments per kilobase exon gene model per million mapped fragments (FPKM). Where the full gene name is not available, a gene family description is given in lower case.

Enriched gene ontology terms for the genes differentially expressed in zinc stress (Mock(Z) relative to Mock(C)) are shown in Table 9. GO terms enriched within the upregulated genes included terms expected in response to zinc stress: "iron ion homeostasis", "hydrogen peroxide biosynthetic process" and 5 response terms: cyclopentenone, heat, karrakin, fungus and UV-B.

As expected, enriched GO terms within the downregulated genes included terms relating to regulating plant growth: "root epidermal cell differentiation", "regulation of meristem growth" and "cell cycle cytokinesis", as well a stress response term, "Response to desiccation", and a term relating more specifically to zinc stress, "transition metal ion transport".

U	or	eg	ul	at	ed	

GO term	Fold enrichment	Marginal
Response to cyclopentenone	4.4	0.97
Response to heat	3.7	0.95
Amino acid transport	3.2	0.74
Response to karrikin	2.7	0.71
Iron ion homeostasis	4.4	0.68
Hydrogen peroxide biosynthetic process	4.1	0.68
Response to fungus	3.4	0.61
Nucleotide biosynthetic process	3.6	0.61
Response to UV-B	3.0	0.61
Rhythmic process	3.1	0.56
Female gamete generation	4.9	0.52
ATPase activity	3.2	0.51
UDP-glycosyltransferase activity	3.0	0.87
ADP binding	2.9	0.83

Downregulated

GO term	Fold enrichment	Marginal
Transition metal ion transport	3.5	0.94
Cacid phosphatase activity	3.7	0.86
Microtubule-based movement	4.7	0.79
Root epidermal cell differentiation	3.2	0.74
Cell wall biogenesis	3.8	0.74
Lignin metabolic process	3.4	0.67
Regulation of meristem growth	3.8	0.61
Cell cycle cytokinesis	4.2	0.60
Response to fructose stimulus	4.6	0.57
Syncytium formation	5.7	0.54
Cyclin-dependent protein kinase regulator activity	4.1	0.53
Response to desiccation	5.0	0.51
Xyloglucan:xyloglucosyl transferase activity	5.9	0.79
Plant-type cell wall	3.0	0.83
Chloroplast stroma	3.8	0.78

Biological function Molecular function Cellular localisation

Table 9. Gene ontology terms enriched for genes upregulated and downregulated in zinc stress (Mock(Z) relative to Mock(C)). Terms listed in order of marginal posterior probability. Biological function, molecular function and cellular localisation terms listed separately.

Enriched GO terms for genes with a reduced expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C) included the related terms "iron ion binding" and "iron ion homeostasis", as well as "jasmonic acid biosynthetic process" and the related "response to cyclopentenone", and an additional response term, "response to light intensity (Table 10).

Analyses for genes with an increased or decreased expression in Zinc(Z) vs. Mock(Z) did not identify any enriched GO terms. However, approximately 40% of the genes differentially expressed in Zinc(Z) vs. Mock(Z) were identified as zinc stress-responsive (Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C)) and overall trends were observed in the expression of zinc stressresponsive genes in Zinc(Z) vs. Mock(Z), as discussed in section 5.1.1.3. GO enrichment analysis was therefore performed on genes differentially expressed in Zinc(Z) vs. Mock(Z) against a background population of all zinc stress response genes. This analysis identified the single GO term "response to hydrogen peroxide" as being enriched.

Go term	Enrichment	Marginal
Acid phosphatase activity	24.8	1.00
Carbohydrate binding	3.8	0.99
ADP binding	4.4	0.97
Iron ion binding	4.8	0.75
Heme binding	3.0	0.70
Response to light intensity	2.7	0.65
Response to cyclopentenone	8.9	0.99
Ornithine metabolic process	124.0	0.94
Iron ion homeostasis	22.6	0.90
Lipid transport	5.4	0.86
Jasmonic acid biosynthetic process	19.4	0.64
Vacuole	6.1	1.00

Biological function Molecular function Cellular localisation

Table 10. Gene ontology terms enriched for genes with reduced expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C). Terms listed in order of marginal posterior probability. Biological function, molecular function and cellular localisation terms listed separately.

5.1.1.2 Stress response genes differentially expressed in the progeny of zinc stressed plants.

The zinc treatments employed here to examine the transcriptome of Mock and Zinc progeny under zinc stress is identical to the zinc stress treatment two generations previously. This allows comparison and correlation between zinc stress-responsive genes with genes whose expression is altered in the F2 progeny of zinc stressed plants.

Venn diagrams are shown in Figure 39 depicting the overlap between the genes differentially regulated by zinc stress (Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C)) and the genes showing differential expression between the parental treatments in non-stress conditions (Zinc(C) vs. Mock(C)). Many genes with a lower expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C) are differentially expressed in response to zinc stress (45/79 = 57 %, of which 25 are zinc stress upregulated and 20 are zinc stress downregulated). These genes are re-listed in Table 11. Genes upregulated in zinc stress with a reduced expression in Zinc(C) compared to Mock(C) include a class II heat shock protein (*HSP17.6II*), a cytochrome P450 (*CYP71A12*), the ion homeostasis gene *BHLH038* and the ferric reductase *FRO2*.

Genes downregulated in zinc stress with a reduced expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C) include the JA-responsive genes *NATA1*, *VSP1* & *VSP2* and the ferric reductase *FRO6*.

Genes observed to be differentially expressed in the progeny of zinc stressed plants compared to the progeny of mock treated plants when grown under non-stress conditions will be referred to as SMTs (transgenerational <u>Stress Memory Transcripts</u>). Little overlap was observed between genes differentially expressed in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C) and those differentially expressed in Zinc(Z) relative to Mock(Z). A few genes, *AVRRPT2-INDUCED GENE 1* (*AIG1*), *GRX480*, *EIF4A-2* and *TSK-ASSOCIATING PROTEIN 1* (*TSA1*), were observed to have a reduced expression in Zinc relative to Mock in both control and stress growth conditions (Table 11).



Figure 39. Venn diagrams of overlap between zinc stress responsive genes and genes with an increased or decreased expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants relative to control progeny under non-stress conditions. Top and bottom right circles = stress responsive genes (Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C)). Bottom left circle = Differential expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants in non-stress conditions (Zinc(C) vs. Mock(C)), Red = Zinc stress-downregulated, Green=Zinc stress-upregulated, Blue =Reduced expression in Zinc(C) vs. Mock(C), Yellow = Increased expression in Zinc(C) vs. Mock(C).

5.1.1.3 The progeny of zinc stressed plants display a reduced zinc stress response.

As mentioned above, there is very little enrichment of functional groups within the genes passing the cut-off for differential expression in the Zinc(Z) vs. Mock(Z) comparison. Instead, when we observe the overall distribution of fold difference in expression for zinc stress-responsive genes it is apparent that zinc-stress response genes are less activated/repressed in Zinc(Z) compared to Mock(Z) (Figure 40). On average, genes upregulated in response to zinc stress show a 16.8 % reduced expression in Zinc(Z) relative to Mock(Z), whilst downregulated genes show a 16.2 % increased expression in Zinc(Z)relative to Mock(Z).

					Expression	(FPKM)		Fold difference in exp		expression (log 2)	
AGI code	Gene full name	Gene short name	locus	Mock(C)	Mock(Z)	Zinc(C)	Zinc(Z)	Zinc(C)/Mock(C)	Zinc(Z)/Mock(Z)	Mock(Z)/Mock(C)	Zinc(Z)/Zinc(C)
AT2G39030	N-ACETYLTRANSFERASE ACTIVITY 1	NATA1	2:16298226-16299202	8.7	2.2	0.2	1.0	-5.6		-2.0	
AT2G39330	JACALIN-RELATED LECTIN 23	JAL23	2:16419595-16421852	9.9	0.4	0.8	0.4	-3.6		-4.5	
AT5G12020	17.6 KDA CLASS II HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN	HSP17.6II	5:3882236-3882938	4.0	46.3	0.4	19.6	-3.4		3.5	5.7
AT1G47400	3BETA-HYDROXYSTEROID-DEHYDROGENASE/DECARBOXYLASE ISOFO	R 3BETAHSD/D1	1:17385716-17386186	3.7	90.2	0.5	122.2	-2.8		4.6	7.8
AT1G33960	AVRRPT2-INDUCED GENE 1	AIG1	1:12346231-12348513	3.9	10.4	0.6	2.6	-2.8	-2.0	1.4	2.2
AT1G62420	HIGH LEAF TEMPERATURE 1	HT1	1:23102792-23104647	1.7	86.3	0.3	51.8	-2.6		5.6	7.5
AT1G47395	3BETA-HYDROXYSTEROID-DEHYDROGENASE/DECARBOXYLASE ISOFO	R 3BETAHSD/D1	1:17383033-17383408	23.2	1816.4	3.8	823.6	-2.6		6.3	7.8
AT2G30766	CYTOCHROME P450, FAMILY 71, SUBFAMILY A, POLYPEPTIDE 12	CYP71A12	2:13105769-13108863	20.1	1390.4	3.3	379.1	-2.6		6.1	6.8
AT3G55970	JASMONATE-REGULATED GENE 21	JRG21	3:20766734-20769324	4.2	0.7	0.8	0.5	-2.5		-2.6	
AT3G57260	BETA-1,3-GLUCANASE 2	BGL2	3:21188516-21189859	1.7	13.6	0.4	10.0	-2.3		3.0	4.8
AT1G28480		GRX480	1:10013473-10014073	40.8	108.5	8.6	38.7	-2.2	-1.5	1.4	2.2
AT2G24940	MEMBRANE-ASSOCIATED PROGESTERONE BINDING PROTEIN 2	MAPR2	2:10609393-10612232	33.4	15.4	7.6	17.6	-2.1		-1.1	1.2
AT2G37770	CHLOROPLASTIC ALDO-KETO REDUCTASE	ChIAKR	2:15834866-15837001	2.3	28.8	0.5	24.2	-2.1		3.6	5.5
AT1G72580	PAUSED	PSD	1:27334075-27334771	17.1	5.2	4.3	3.8	-2.0		-1.7	
AT4G17470		HAT1	4:9742758-9744860	6.3	1.9	1.7	2.0	-1.9		-1.8	
AT4G12490	EARLY ARABIDOPSIS ALUMINUM INDUCED 1	EARLI1	4:7409620-7410406	100.5	1257.8	30.0	1386.1	-1.7		3.6	5.5
AT5G15265	FTSH PROTEASE 6	FTSH6	5:4956500-4957533	12.7	1.1	3.8	2.3	-1.7		-3.5	
AT4G14365	XB3 ORTHOLOG 4 IN ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA	XBAT34	4:8271463-8273765	5.6	21.2	1.8	25.7	-1.7		1.9	3.8
AT1G52040	MYROSINASE-BINDING PROTEIN 1	MBP1	1:19350374-19352782	5.8	0.4	1.9	0.2	-1.6		-3.8	-3.1
AT5G24780	VEGETATIVE STORAGE PROTEIN 1	VSP1	5:8507589-8508957	21.3	2.0	7.4	2.8	-1.5		-3.4	-1.4
AT3G62280	UBIQUITIN 5	UBQ5	3:23049422-23051152	70.4	9.6	25.1	23.7	-1.5	1.3	-2.9	
AT3G56970	BASIC HELIX-LOOP-HELIX 38	bHLH38	3:21084109-21085150	5.4	407.3	2.1	259.9	-1.4		6.2	7.0
AT1G56430	NICOTIANAMINE SYNTHASE 4	NAS4	1:21136943-21138087	7.0	72.4	2.8	57.1	-1.3		3.4	4.3
AT4G12480	EARLY ARABIDOPSIS ALUMINUM INDUCED 1	EARLI1	4:7406104-7406937	103.0	2087.9	42.5	1269.3	-1.3		4.3	4.9
AT3G28220		PMZ	3:10524403-10526728	40.9	5.6	17.1	3.6	-1.3		-2.9	-2.3
AT1G01580	FERRIC REDUCTION OXIDASE 2	FRO2	1:209394-213041	3.5	44.7	1.6	59.4	-1.1		3.7	5.2
AT5G24770	VEGETATIVE STORAGE PROTEIN 2	VSP2	5:8500475-8502224	34.3	2.1	16.2	2.3	-1.1		-4.0	-2.8
AT3G57060	CYSTATHIONINE BETA-LYASE	CBL	3:21114797-21121113	7.0	2.0	3.5	4.1	-1.0	1.0	-1.8	
AT5G24420	6-PHOSPHOGLUCONOLACTONASE 5	PGL5	5:8336613-8338008	18.2	3.1	9.3	2.7	-1.0		-2.5	-1.8
AT5G19460	NUDIX HYDROLASE HOMOLOG 20	NUDT20	5:6562970-6565632	37.1	15.5	19.0	30.9	-1.0	1.0	-1.3	
AT5G22920	CATION/H+ EXCHANGER 9	СНХ9	5:7664990-7667265	453.1	51.6	240.2	125.8	-0.9	1.3	-3.1	-0.9
AT4G15830	HEAT SHOCK FACTOR BINDING PROTEIN	HSBP	4:8992969-8996601	72.7	15.4	38.6	49.5	-0.9	1.7	-2.2	
AT1G54270	EIF4A-2	EIF4A-2	1:20259691-20262266	87.5	210.9	46.5	79.9	-0.9	-1.4	1.3	
AT1G62430	CDP-DIACYLGLYCEROL SYNTHASE 1	CDS1	1:23105940-23109476	67.5	38.4	36.2	35.7	-0.9		-0.8	
AT5G44680	GALACTAN SYNTHASE 2	GALS2	5:18024214-18025991	197.8	27.9	106.6	29.1	-0.9		-2.8	-1.9
AT2G38380	PRENYLATED RAB ACCEPTOR 1.84	PRA1.B4	2:16076383-16078583	297.5	26.5	168.6	72.9	-0.8	1.5	-3.5	-1.2
AT5G14650	SHAGGY-LIKE KINASE 13	SK13	5:4724449-4726513	27.2	0.7	16.0	1.1	-0.8		-5.2	-3.9
AT1G15960	NRAMP METAL ION TRANSPORTER 6	NRAMP6	1:5478753-5485082	16.0	9.3	9.6	9.1	-0.7		-0.8	
AT3G25610	AMINOALCOHOLPHOSPHOTRANSFERASE	AAPT2	3:9308941-9313353	5.1	13.6	3.2	14.2	-0.7		1.4	2.2
AT2G30210	LACCASE 3	LAC3	2:12887445-12889874	31.0	14.2	19.6	15.2	-0.7		-1.1	
AT5G49730	FERRIC REDUCTION OXIDASE 6	FRO6	5:20201100-20204513	131.9	11.3	84.1	14.4	-0.6		-3.5	-2.5
AT1G52410	TSK-ASSOCIATING PROTEIN 1	TSA1	1:19520727-19525624	32.9	7.8	21.8	4.1	-0.6	-0.9	-2.1	-2.4
AT4G16860	RECOGNITION OF PERONOSPORA PARASITICA 4	RPP4	4:9488465-9495816	15.1	40.2	10.2	38.0	-0.6		1.4	1.9
AT3G13080	ATP-BINDING CASSETTE C3	ABCC3	3:4195785-4201265	12.1	132.8	8.7	104.6	-0.5		3.5	3.6
AT3G07160	GLUCAN SYNTHASE-LIKE 10	GSL10	3:2264944-2279383	23.7	36.1	18.4	32.1	-0.4		0.6	0.8

Table 11 Zinc stress responsive genes with a reduced expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C). Expression values given as fragments per kilobase exon gene model per million mapped fragments (FPKM). Fold changes (Log₂) given where they passed the cut off of +/- 5 SD from the mean after adjustment. Fold changes colour coded, red=downregulated, green = upregulated, blue=reduced expression, yellow = increased expression. Genes ordered by fold difference in Zinc (C) vs. Mock (C). Where the full gene name is not available, a gene family description is given in lower case.



Figure 40. Differential expression of zinc stress-regulated genes in Zinc(Z) relative to Mock(Z). Data expressed as a kernel density plot.

5.1.2 Analysis of functional gene groups

5.1.2.1 DNA methylation and demethylation proteins in zinc stress

As suggested in section 4.1.3, DNA methylation remains the most likely mechanism by which a transgenerational stress memory could be passed onto the next generation. Assuming that changes in DNA methylation occur during stress, one might expect changes in the expression of DNA methylation and/or demethylation genes. To establish if this was the case, the expression of 17 genes involved in DNA methylation or DNA demethylation (Furner and Matzke, 2010) was analysed under zinc stress conditions. These genes included the DNA methyltransferases, *MET1*, *CMT3*, *DRM2* & *DRM1*, the DNA demethylases, *DME1*, 2 & 3 and *ROS1*, the histone H3 K9 lysine methyltransferase and demethylase, *KYP* and *IBM1*, and the methylation DNA binding proteins *VIM1*, 2 & 3.

Table 12 gives results for all genes investigated. The DNA methyltransferases *CMT3* and *MET1* were observed to be downregulated in zinc stress, as was *VIM1* which is required for maintenance of CG methylation (Woo *et al.*, 2007). Conversely, *IBM1* and *DME1*, and *DML2* were upregulated in zinc stress.

None of the 17 DNA methylation/demethylation genes were differentially expressed between the two progenies. Many components of the *A.thaliana de novo* DNA methylation pathway have been identified (Greenberg *et al.*, 2011). None of these were found to be zinc stress-responsive (data not shown).

AGI code	Gene full name	Gene short name	locus	Mock(C) FPKM	Mock(Z) FPKM	Log₂ fold change
AT3G07610	INCREASE IN BONSAI METHYLATION 1	IBM1	3:2426068-2432913	5.21	10.52	1.01
AT3G10010	DEMETER-LIKE 2	DML2	3:3081813-3088195	2.85	5.59	0.97
AT5G04560	DEMETER	DME	5:1309192-1318401	10.43	15.36	0.56
AT4G13940	HOMOLOGY-DEPENDENT GENE SILENCING 1	HOG1	4:8054860-8057181	275.30	372.79	0.44
AT5G14620	DOMAINS REARRANGED METHYLTRANSFERASE 2	DRM2	5:4715252-4718704	3.71	3.78	0.03
AT5G13960	SU(VAR)3-9 HOMOLOG 4	SUVH4	5:4501446-4506188	6.72	6.60	-0.03
AT5G59130	REPRESSOR OF SILENCING3	ROS3	5:23870097-23873720	3.24	2.92	-0.15
AT2G36490	REPRESSOR OF SILENCING1	ROS1	2:15308020-15314807	5.22	4.67	-0.16
AT2G16390	DEFECTIVE IN RNA-DIRECTED DNA METHYLATION 1	DRD1	2:7097279-7101261	3.33	2.86	-0.22
AT5G66750	CHROMATIN REMODELING 1	DDM1	5:26648950-26653073	7.23	5.51	-0.39
AT4G34060	DEMETER-LIKE PROTEIN 3	DML3	4:16314002-16319426	2.54	1.93	-0.40
AT5G49160	METHYLTRANSFERASE 1	MET1	5:19932229-19938369	9.70	6.32	-0.62
AT1G57820	VARIANT IN METHYLATION 1	VIM1	1:21414169-21417946	10.18	6.16	-0.72
AT5G39550	VARIANT IN METHYLATION 3	VIM3	5:15837209-15840638	5.52	3.06	-0.85
AT1G66050	VARIANT IN METHYLATION 2	VIM2	1:24589486-24592747	0.53	0.27	-0.96
AT5G15380	DOMAINS REARRANGED METHYLASE 1	DRM1	5:4991346-4994826	0.15	0.08	-1.00
AT1G69770	CHROMOMETHYLASE 3	СМТЗ	1:26248317-26253585	5.72	2.79	-1.04

Table 12. Expression of genes involved in DNA methylation and DNA demethylation in zinc stress (Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C). Expression values given as fragments per kilobase exon gene model per million mapped fragments (FPKM). Fold changes (Log₂) given where they passed the cut off of +/- 5 SD from the mean after adjustment. Fold changes colour coded, red=downregulated, green = upregulated. Genes ordered by fold difference in Mock (Z) vs. Mock (C).

5.1.2.2 The JA precursor 12-oxo-phytodienoic acid (OPDA) partly functions independently to JA in response to zinc stress

As many genes with a reduced expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C) were JA biosynthesis genes, and JA-responsive genes were downregulated in response to zinc stress, the potential function of JA in zinc stress was explored. As the JA biosynthesis genes with a reduced expression in Zinc(C) all encoded proteins that function in the production of the JAprecursor OPDA (Dave and Graham, 2012), the RNA-Seq data was interrogated to investigate if OPDA or JA-regulated genes are a component of the zinc stress response. OPDA-regulated and JA-regulated genes have previously been identified based on gene expression in response to OPDA, JA or Methyl-JA stimulus (Taki *et al.*, 2005). Using these identifications, the 135 genes upregulated by OPDA were on average 2.47-fold upregulated in zinc stress and the 316 JA-upregulated genes were unaffected (Figure 41A). 5.1.2.3 Specific JA and OPDA-regulated genes have a reduced expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants in non-stress conditions

The expression of both OPDA and JA-upregulated genes is generally unaffected in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C), suggesting that the reduced expression of OPDA synthesis genes under non-stress conditions does not have an overall effect on the expression of either OPDA or JA regulated genes in non-stress conditions (Figure 41B). However, there are a number of OPDA and JA-regulated genes whose expression is affected, as observed by the left hand tails in the distributions. Looking back at the GO term analysis the term "response to cyclopentenone" is enriched in the genes with a lower expression in Zinc(C) vs. Mock(C) (Table 10). Although these genes are apparently not regulated by the cyclopentenone OPDA (Taki *et al.*, 2005), it is possible that they are regulated by a OPDA-derived compound or OPDA precursor.

A subset of the JA-upregulated genes are affected in non-stress conditions; 21 out of 78 genes with reduced expression under non-stress conditions are identified as JA-upregulated (Taki *et al.*, 2005), a 30-fold enrichment over the background population. The GO term "response to jasmonic acid" was not reported by Gene Ontology enrichment analysis with MGSA as it is designed to report as few terms as possible and some of these genes are annotated as being involved in JA biosynthesis, therefore the term "jasmonic acid biosynthetic process" was reported instead (Table 10). Analysing the GO terms on a term-by-term basis with Benjamini-Hochberg correction (Benjamini, Y, Hochberg, 1995), the enrichment of "response to jasmonic acid" in the Zinc(C) vs. Mock(C) comparison is very significant (4.73e -06). In summary, the expression of the vast majority of OPDA and JA-regulated genes were unaffected by the parental treatment, although a subset of cyclopentenone and JA-regulated genes were expressed at a lower level in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C).



Figure 41. **Expression of OPDA and JA upregulated genes in the RNA-Seq data. A.** Kernel distribution plot for the expression of OPDA and JA-regulated genes in zinc stress (Mock(Z) vs. Mock(C)). **B.** Kernel density plot for the expression of OPDA and JA-regulated genes in the progeny of the two parental treatments in non-stress conditions (Zinc(C) vs. Mock(C)).

5.1.2.4 Spliceosome differences could not be established

One of the advantages of RNA-Seq over microarrays for transcriptomics is that RNA-Seq can provide additional information on which splice variants are expressed. Unfortunately,

analysis of differential expression of splice variants yielded a great many results that were not confirmed by visual assessment of the mapped reads. The accuracy of the parsimonious set of transcripts constructed to explain the mapped reads is greatest when combining all the possible gene models into a single gene expression estimate. It appears that due to the lower accuracy of the splice variant expression estimates compared to gene expression estimates, the analysis of splice variants is much more negatively affected by the lack of repeats.

5.1.3 Validation of RNA-Seq results

5.1.3.1 Elevated zinc and iron deficiency cause similar transcriptome changes

Similarities in the transcriptional responses to elevated zinc and iron deficiency have been demonstrated previously (Shanmugam *et al.*, 2011; T. J. W. Yang *et al.*, 2010). To verify that zinc stress produced a transcriptome change in line with expectations, the presence of a Fe-deficiency transcriptome signature was examined. The GO terms " iron ion homeostasis" and "transition metal ion transport" are enriched in the zinc stress responsive genes (Table 9). Additionally, a significant positive correlation was observed between the expression changes identified by Yang *et al* (2010) in Fe-deficiency and the expression changes identified in zinc stress, even across different transcriptomics analysis platforms (Figure 42, p < 0.05, Pearson's r test of significance).



Figure 42. A comparison of the Fe-deficiency and Zn stress transcriptome responses. Expression relative to control (Log₂) in zinc stress and Fe-deficiency for genes with 2-fold up/down regulation in response to Fe-deficiency by microarray analysis.

5.1.3.2 Quantitative reverse transcriptase-PCR

The RNA-Seq samples were derived from equal pooling of 3 RNA samples from at least 37 plants each, which should ensure the RNA-Seq quantification is a reasonable estimate of mean expression. However, without repeats, it is not possible to establish the biological variation which make statistical testing of expression differences impossible. In order to independently validate some of the RNA-Seq results reported in 5.1.1, (SYBR-green) quantitative reverse transcriptase PCR (qRT-PCR) was performed in triplicate using the same 12 RNA samples that were used for RNA-Seq, with 3 technical replicates of each. Genes were selected based on their assumed biological relevance in the observed transgenerational stress memory; hence most of the selected genes were SMTs. Expression quantification was achieved by normalising expression to 3 reference genes, AT2G28390, AT5G15710 and AT5G14030. The first two reference genes were selected for their stable expression in metal stress (Remans *et al.*, 2008) and stable expression across the RNA-Seq results obtained. The third reference gene was selected based upon its stable expression in the RNA-Seq data and across the perturbations available in Genevestigator (Hruz *et al.*, 2008).

A visualisation of gene expression relative to Mock(C) shows that the qRT-PCR data closely fits the RNA-Seq data (Figure 43). A linear line of best fit between RNA-Seq and qRT-PCR data gives a correlation coefficient of 0.81. Whilst the qRT-PCR data for most genes closely fits the RNA-Seq data, there were a few instances of disagreement. For example, whereas in the RNA-Seq data, *ATGPX1* appeared to be downregulated in response to zinc stress in Mock(Z) but not Zinc(Z) (Figure 43A), the qRT-PCR data indicated *ATGPX1* was downregulated in both samples (Figure 43B).

In total, 5 out of 8 SMTs were confirmed to have significantly lower expression in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C) by qRT-PCR (*AOC1*, *EIF4A-2*, *VSP1*, and *BHLH038* & *BHLH039*). In addition, *JAL23* was found to have a lower expression by qRT-PCR, however, the difference was not significant (p=0.067), largely due to considerable variation in the Mock(C) samples.







Figure 43. Independent validation of RNA-Seq by qRT-PCR. A & B: RNA-Seq and PCR data expressed at \log_2 fold relative to Mock(C). B. Error bars = SE, 3 repeat experiments with 3 technical repeats each. * p<0.05, **p<0.01, ***p<0.001. ND=No data. JAL23, BHLH038 & BHLH039 transcript abundances not measured in Mock(Z) and Zinc(Z) samples . C. Correlation of \log_2 fold change (relative to Mock(C) from RNA-Seq and qRT-PCR. Error bars = qRT-PCR SE.

5.1.4 SMT expression in the progeny of the independent zinc stress experiment

As observed in section 4.1.2.1, zinc stress reproducibly results in a transgenerational stress memory in the following generation, however, the developmental stage at which this increased tolerance is observed is inconsistent. To examine whether the same SMTs were consistently differentially expressed in the progeny of zinc stressed plants, qRT-PCR was carried out on RNA samples extracted from 35 day old Zn(500)² and Control² plants which were previously observed to be hypertolerant to zinc stress at this developmental stage (Figure 29A & B). Expression of SMTs validated by qRT-PCR, VSP1 and AOC1 was examined in the root and aerial portions of plants grown under control and zinc stress conditions. In addition, two further SMTs, JAL23 and NATA1, which showed 13-fold and 47-fold reduced expression in Zinc(C) by RNA-Seq, respectively, were examined. Figure 44 shows transcript abundances as measured by qRT-PCR in relative expression units. AOC1, *VSP1* and *NATA1* were all observed to be differentially expressed in aerial tissue in response to zinc stress when assessed at day 35. However, all three genes showed increased expression in $Zn(500)^2$ relative to Control² when assessed at day 35, although they show decreased expression in Mock(Z) relative to Mock(C) when assessed at day 14 (section 5.1.3.2). For example, VSP1 was observed to be downregulated >8-fold when plants were subjected to zinc stress from day 0-14, but was 2.4-fold upregulated in aerial tissue when plants were subjected to zinc stress from day 21-35 (Figure 41 & Figure 44). Looking at the three SMTs at day 35 in control conditions, AOC1, VSP1 and NATA1 expression is 1.6, 1.5 and 2.7-fold higher, respectively, in $Zn(500)^2$ relative to Control². For AOC1, the increase in expression in $Zn(500)^2$ relative to Control² in non-stress conditions is similar to the increase which occurs during zinc stress. For VSP1 and NATA1 the increase in expression in $Zn(500)^2$ relative to Control² is less than the increase which occurs in zinc stress. It appears that, at least looking across these three SMTs, the expression of SMTs in the progeny of zinc stressed plants reflects a mild zinc stress-like response, similar to the expression profiles of these genes in the RNA-Seq data.



Figure 44. qRT-PCR quantification of AOC1, VSP1, NATA1 and JAL23 transcripts in root and aerial portions of the progeny of zinc stressed (Zn(500)2) and control plants (Control2) in zinc stress (500 µM Zn2+; +Zn) and control (Zn) growth conditions. Expression values are expression relative to the mean expression of the 3 reference genes. Error bars = SE. Three repeat experiments were performed with 3 technical replicates each. *p<0.05, Zn(500)2 compared to Control2 (Student's t-test with Benjamini & Hochberg False Discovery Rate correction)

5.2 Ferric reductase oxidase activity in the roots of zinc stress memory plants

One of the most obvious functional groups within the SMTs relates to iron uptake and distribution and includes the basic helix loop helix (bHLH) transcription factor *BHLH038*, the root ferric reductase gene it regulates, *FRO2* (Colangelo and M. Lou Guerinot, 2004; Y. Yuan *et al.*, 2008), and two further ferric reductases, *FRO6* and *FRO7*. Additionally, *BHLH039*, *BHLH100* and *IRT1* which function in the same iron uptake pathway as *BHLH038* and *FRO2* (Y. Yuan *et al.*, 2008) were just below the z-score cut off of +/- 5, at 4.24, 4.97 and 4.26 respectively. *FE-DEFICIENCY INDUCED TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR 1* (*FIT1*) - the bHLH binding partner of BHLH038 and BHLH039, required for their transcription factor activity - was not differentially expressed in Zinc(C) relative to Mock(C).

Since reduced expression of *FRO2* in the progeny of zinc stressed plants would be expected to reduce ferric reductase activity in the roots and zinc stress is known to increase root ferric reductase activity (Shanmugam *et al.*, 2011), a root FRO activity assay was performed across a range of Zn^{2+} concentrations to quantify the reduction of Fe(III) to Fe(II). The $Zn(500)^2$ progeny were utilized for the experiment as the transgenerational stress memory had reset in the ZC line (Figure 33).

Seedlings were transferred on day 7 onto media supplemented with 250-500 μ M Zn. Root weight was higher in Zn(500)² relative to Control² at 250 and 500 μ M Zn, although parental treatment did not have a significant effect on root weight either by itself or in interaction with zinc concentration (*p*>0.05). Root ferric reductase enzyme activity was measured on day 14 (Figure 45). The parental zinc treatment had a significant effect on Fe(III) chelate reductase activity (*p*<0.01, 2-way ANOVA).

Reduced ferric reductase enzyme activity in the roots of zinc-stressed plants would be expected to impact on chlorophyll production in the aerial portion of the plant as reduced iron is known to encourage chlorosis (García-Mina *et al.*, 2013; Sivitz *et al.*, 2012). To test if parental treatment influenced the ability of the progeny to produce chlorophyll under iron limited conditions and how they responded to zinc stress under iron limited or excess iron conditions, plants were grown under 3 concentrations of iron for 14 days (5, 50 & 500 μ M Fe), with zinc stress (500 μ M) introduced for half the plants at day 7. At 14 days, root
weight, aerial chlorophyll content, and root Fe(III) chelate reductase activity were all measured.



Figure 45. Effect of zinc on root ferric chelate reductase activity and root weight in the F1 progeny of zinc stressed plants. Parental treatment denoted by bar colour, where $Zn(500) = 500 \mu M Zn$ for 10 days from stratification. The superscript 2 indicates that these are the F1 progeny of the repeat parental zinc stress experiment. Error bars = SE, 30 plants, 4 repeat experiments. FW=Fresh weight.

As expected, increased Fe alleviated the zinc stress associated chlorosis (Figure 46, bottom left) and lead to a slight increase in root weight under zinc stress conditions (Figure 46, top left and right). Root weight was significantly influenced by Zn and Fe concentrations (p=0.011, p=0.003, 2-way ANOVA), being highest under 50 μ M Fe with no added Zn. Root weight was also influenced by Zn and Fe (p<0.000), with 500 μ M Fe reducing root weight but alleviating the negative effect of Zn on root weight. Root FRO activity was significantly affected by Zn and the Fe*Zn interaction (p=0.015, p=0.003, respectively), with root FRO activity higher upon addition of Zn. Chlorophyll content was significantly affected by Zn, Fe and Zn*Fe (all p<0.000) with chlorophyll content reduced to less than 50% with addition of 500 μ M Zn in 5 or 50 μ M Fe but only slightly reduced with addition of 500 μ M Zn in 500

Whilst root weight and root ferric reductase activity were both affected by parental treatment, chlorophyll content was not. Root weight was affected by parental treatment (p<0.000), being higher in $Zn(500)^2$ under all conditions. Root FRO activity was affected by parental treatment (p<0.000) and the parental treatment*Zn interaction (p<0.000), being lower in $Zn(500)^2$ with the difference between the parental treatments most prominent in 500 μ M Zn and 5 μ M Fe . Chlorophyll content was not affected by parental treatment.

In summary, parental zinc stress treatment reduces the root ferric reductase activity under zinc stress and increases root weight, whilst having no impact on chlorophyll content.



Figure 46. Root weight, root Fe(III) chelate reductase activity and aerial chlorophyll content in F1 progeny of zinc stressed plants under varying concentrations of zinc and iron. Parental treatment denoted by bar colour, where $Zn(500) = 500 \mu$ M Zn for 10 days from stratification. The superscript 2 indicates that these are the F1 progeny of the repeat parental zinc stress experiment. Seedling were transferred 7dps from control conditions (1 μ M Zn²⁺) onto solidified media containing the indicated concentrations of Zn. Fe³⁺ was maintained at the indicated concentration throughout the experiment. Root weight, root FRO activity and aerial chlorophyll concentrations were measured 7 days later. Error bars = SE, 28-30 plants, 3 repeat experiments.

5.3 Discussion

In section 4.1.2, an increased zinc stress tolerance in the progeny of zinc stressed plants was discussed. The hypothesis put forward was that epigenetic modifications would be the most likely mechanism for such a transgenerational memory of stress. Such a proposed change in the epigenome would necessarily function to increase stress tolerance through modifying the transcriptome. Therefore, to detect the hypothesised transcriptome changes, RNA-Seq was performed on RNA samples from the F2 progeny of zinc stressed plants, both in zinc stress and non-stress conditions. This approach has the advantage of detecting transcriptome changes regardless of the mechanism involved and more directly examines the functional differences in the progeny of zinc stressed plants. Before considering the possible biological significance of the transcriptome changes observed in this Chapter, it is important to note that no attempt has been made to correlate changes in the transcriptome changes with the proteome. Whilst changes in DNA transcription would be expected to partially correlate with changes in protein level, buffering can act between the transcriptome and proteome (Fu et al., 2009). For example, a recent report of transcriptome and proteome changes in A.thaliana upon phosphate starvation in roots found that while the correlation between gene and protein expression changes was significant across differentially expressed transcripts, the correlation was most pronounced where transcriptome changes were large (>4 fold) (Lan et al., 2012). Of the transcriptome changes observed in this Chapter, only the reduced expression of BHLH038, BHLH039 and FRO2 was followed up with an analysis of the biochemical differences between the progenies. For all other transcriptome changes observed, the impact of the transcriptome on the proteome, metabolome, and ultimately the phenome remain unknown. For the purposes of all further discussion the transcriptome differences observed are assumed to generate changes in the proteome in the same direction. However, bearing in mind the absence of proteomic data, the hypotheses put forward here to explain the RNA-Seq data are largely concerned with functional groups rather than individual genes.

Before the RNA-Seq data was analysed the expectation was that the zinc hypertolerance observed in the second generation progeny of zinc stress plants would be correlated with either an altered transcriptome response to zinc stress or an altered transcriptome in the absence of stress (Referred to as mechanisms 1 and 2 in Figure 2). Interestingly, in the hypertolerant progeny of zinc stressed plants, zinc stress response genes are on average 16.5 % less up- or downregulated (Figure 40). This reduced stress response is observed across the whole range of zinc stress response genes, although the GO term "response to

hydrogen peroxide" is over-represented amongst the genes passing the cut off for differential expression in Zinc(Z) relative to Mock(Z). Given that the reduced stress response is observed across all aspects of the stress response, the most likely explanation is that the plants are suffering a lower degree of stress. This could account for the observed increase in biomass relative to the control progeny (Figure 26). Within this lower severity of stress experienced, the enrichment for "response to hydrogen peroxide" indicates that reactive oxygen species may be particularly reduced. Since the progeny of zinc stressed plants do not appear to display an altered response to zinc stress, the hypertolerance is likely to be dependent on transcriptome differences in the absence of stress.

Differences were indeed observed by RNA-Seq between the non-stress transcriptomes of the two progenies, even though the stress occurred two generations previously for only 14 days, and with the transcriptome of whole seedlings being studied. The vast majority of the changes are of genes with a lower expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants. As the majority of these genes are zinc-stress responsive, the biochemical pathways affected by the transgenerational stress memory appear to be a subset of the pathways usually activated or repressed in zinc stress. Three major groups of genes exist within the SMTs: genes involved in the biosynthesis of the JA-precursor OPDA, genes whose expression is regulated by JA, and genes involved in the uptake and homeostasis of iron. It appears that zinc stress produces repressive changes in the transcriptome of the progeny in the early developmental stages, such that it is "stress adjusted" and more capable of coping with zinc stress.

The observation that many of the SMTs are defence genes (e.g *NATA1*, *GPX1*) is surprising, especially given the apparent specificity of the increased tolerance to exposure to stressful concentrations of zinc or iron, but not to other heavy metals. However, defence genes have previously been shown to be capable of conferring a zinc specific stress tolerance, indicating that some defence genes may possess additional functions in conveying specific metal tolerance (Mirouze *et al.*, 2006). This stress adjustment is in contrast to transgenerational biotic stress priming which appears to involve alterations in the stress response transcriptome but not the basal transcriptome (Luna *et al.*, 2012; Slaughter *et al.*, 2012)

Three main hypotheses for the mechanism underlying the increased stress tolerance will be discussed here; changes in the expression of JA-regulated genes that cause a mild zinc stress like response under normal growth conditions, changes in OPDA biosynthesis modify the OPDA response to elevated zinc, or changes in iron homeostasis improve the iron deficiency tolerance. The three hypotheses are considered in turn, starting with the role of the JA-regulated SMTs in zinc stress and the implications this could have for their altered

expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants. Following this, the other possible indirect effects of reduced OPDA synthesis gene expression are considered, and finally, the possible benefit of altering iron homeostasis to improve tolerance to the iron deficiency component of zinc stress is discussed. These three hypotheses are not mutually exclusive.

Genes responsible for two of the three steps involved in the synthesis of OPDA from membrane derived octadecatrienoic acid were affected in the progeny of zinc stressed plants. *LOX2*, one of six LOX genes in *A.thaliana*, and *AOC1* & *AOC2*, two of four AOC genes (Stenzel *et al.*, 2012) have reduced expression (Table 8). Additionally, *AOC3* was just outside the cut off for differential regulation. Although OPDA responsive genes are upregulated in zinc stress (Figure 41A), *LOX2* is the only SMT gene involved in OPDA biosynthesis that is zinc stress-responsive. This is similar to a previous report that cadmium stress induces expression of *LOX1*, *LOX3*, *LOX4* and *LOX6*, although changes in *LOX2* transcript abundance were not detected (Keunen *et al.*, 2013). The reduced expression of these genes under non-stress conditions appears to affect the expression of a discrete subset of JA-upregulated genes, including *VSP1* & *VSP1*, *NATA1* and *JAL23*, but does not have a general effect on JA- or OPDA- responsive genes (Figure 41B).

Unlike AOCs1-3, AOC4 was not affected in the second generation progeny of zinc stressed plants. It is possible that this specificity limits the observed JA-regulated gene expression changes to particular tissues as the AOCs have been observed to display tissue and organ specific expression based on promoter activities (Stenzel et al., 2012). Additionally, in vivo dimerization of AOCs has been observed, with AOC4 showing the strongest homo- and heteodimerisation capability (Stenzel et al., 2012). As AOC4 is expressed specifically in the vascular-bundle in the leaves and is expressed in the roots along with AOC3 (Stenzel et al., 2012), it is possible that AOC4's capacity for homodimerisation maintains OPDA/JA production in these tissues, limiting gene expression changes observed to other plant tissues. Indeed, NATA1 and VSP1 were observed to have an altered expression in the aerial portion of zinc stressed progeny under non-stress conditions, with no difference observed in the root tissues (Figure 44). However, as an aerial-specific altered AOC1 expression change was also observed (Figure 44), it is also possible that the tissue specific difference in JA-upregulated genes is due to a tissue specific difference in AOC1 expression, and perhaps AOC2, AOC3 and LOX2 also. As whole seedlings transcriptomes were analysed here, localised transcriptome changes as a result of localised reductions in OPDA biosynthesis may not be detected.

VSP1 and VSP2 are members of the family of vegetative storage proteins that serve to sequester amino acids during development, buffering nutrient availability (Staswick et al., 1991). VSP proteins are induced in response to a wide range of stimuli and stressors including JA, wounding, phosphate deficiency, herbivory and osmotic stress (Berger et al., 2002; Z Gong et al., 2001; Estrella Luna et al., 2012; Mason and John E Mullet, 1990). The downregulation of VSP1 & VSP2 during zinc stress at an early developmental stage (Table 6) may function to release stored amino acids to compensate for reduced nutrient uptake, enabling rapid production of stress-responsive proteins. Furthermore, in keeping with its induction by JA and herbivory, VSP2 has also been shown to possess an insect defence functionality dependent upon its acid phosphatase capability (Liu *et al.*, 2005). Given the 82% sequence identity between the VSP2 and VSP1 genes, it is likely VSP1 possesses the same defence functionality. The low specificity of acid phosphatases (Van Etten and Waymack, 1991) may enable the acid phosphatase capacity of VSP1 and VSP2 to be of biological significance during a wide range of stressors, perhaps including heavy metal stress. Why VSP1 and VSP2 expression should be downregulated in response to zinc stress at an early developmental stage but upregulated at a later developmental stage (Figure 44) is unclear. However, the increased expression of VSP1 and VSP2 when the stress is experienced at a later developmental stage could be beneficial in sequestering unused amino acids as the plant enters a period of senescence.

Similar to VSP2, NATA1 has been shown to have a defence function; N-acetylation of orthinine by NATA1 yields N^{δ}-acetylorthinine, a compound which inhibits herbivory (Adio *et al.*, 2011). While a function for N^{δ}-acetylorthinine in zinc stress is difficult to imagine, one possible function of NATA1 in zinc stress could be to regulate the pool of ornithine, a compound which functions in abiotic stress responses (Kalamaki *et al.*, 2009; Haitao Shi *et al.*, 2013). Again, interpretation of the role this gene may play in zinc stress from the observations in this Chapter is complicated by the observation that the expression of *NATA1* is repressed in zinc stress in an early developmental stage and elevated in zinc stress in a later developmental stage.

As stated above, the role of the JA-upregulated defence genes in zinc stress is unclear given that the three genes (*VSP1*, *JAL23 & NATA1*) examined at two developmental stages all show reduced expression when zinc stress is introduced at an early developmental stage and increased expression when it is introduced at a later developmental stage. However, the progeny of zinc stressed plants show a mild zinc-stress-like expression level of two of these genes, *VSP1* and *NATA1*, in non-stress conditions, at both developmental stages. This suggests that regardless of the function of these genes, the progeny of zinc stressed plants

display a mild zinc-stress-like transcriptome in the absence of stress. Presumably, this zincstress adjusted basal transcriptome reduces the initial shock of zinc stress and also reduces the time between stress signalling pathway activation and achieving sufficient activation/repression of stress-responsive genes. Although the increased tolerance was observed in plants sown directly onto high zinc, it is apparent that the high zinc concentration is not immediately stressful to the plant; germination is unaffected by high zinc, and symptoms of zinc stress such as chlorosis and retarded root growth are not observed within the first few days, presumably because excess zinc has not yet accumulated in the tissues. In this short window after germination and before zinc stress signalling pathways are activated, adjustments to the basal transcriptome could prepare the plants for zinc stress, thus reducing the overall extent of stress experienced, as observed when comparing the stress responses of the progeny of zinc stressed and control plants (Figure 40). Under laboratory growth conditions the altered basal transcriptome does not appear to affect growth under non-stress conditions, which could suggest there is no fitness cost to the plants in activating the transgenerational response to zinc. As discussed in Chapter 3, a more plausible explanation is that the fitness cost is not observed because of the growth conditions. It is very possible that the adjusted basal transcriptome confers an increased zinc tolerance but reduces tolerance to other stressors given the enrichment in GO response terms in the downregulated genes (Table 8).

Alterations to the OPDA/JA biosynthesis pathway will also affect other chemical signalling pathways beyond those directly regulated by OPDA or JA. The green leaf volatiles (GLV) pathway cross-talks with the OPDA synthesis pathway (Hirao *et al.*, 2012) and could have implications in the OPDA-regulated response to zinc stress given the ability of GLVs to prime the OPDA response (Vicedo *et al.*, 2009). The product of LOX-mediated oxidation of octadecatrienoic acid is a precursor to GLVs, chemical signals that function to repel insects, attract foraging predators (Mumm *et al.*, 2008) or signal between different parts of the plant or even between plants (Heil and Ton, 2008). In *Nicotiana attenuate*, the specificity and temporal responses of the LOX enzymes has been clearly demonstrated, with *NaLOX2* expression affecting GLV but not JA biosynthesis, and *NaLOX3* expression having the opposite effect (Allmann *et al.*, 2010).

In *A.thaliana*, LOX2 is required for wound-induced JA biosynthesis(Bell *et al.*, 1995); whether LOX2 also functions in GLV synthesis is unclear. Interestingly, cross talk between the GLV and OPDA/JA synthesis pathways has been observed, with some GLVs capable of priming *A.thaliana* (Col-0) to be more responsive to future Me-JA treatments (Hirao *et al.*, 2012). However, Col-0 cannot produce C_6 GLVs, which are most effective in priming, as it possesses a 10-nucleotide deletion in exon 1 of the prerequisite *CYP74B2* gene, which renders it non-functional (Duan *et al.*, 2005). Thus, it is unclear how the reduced expression of *LOX2* and AOC genes will affect GLV synthesis. Given that reduced expression of a particular LOX may influence the synthesis of JA without affecting GLV, it is possible that the reduced expression of *LOX2*, *AOC1* and *AOC2* could reduce JA biosynthesis whilst maintaining or perhaps increasing C₉ GLV production through decreasing the competition of the AOC genes for LOX products. Interestingly, hexanoic acid, a GLV-related compound, has been shown to prime tomato plants to produce OPDA more rapidly in response to pathogen attack (Vicedo *et al.*, 2009). It is plausible then that decreased OPDA biosynthesis could increase GLV production in non-stress conditions, priming *A.thaliana* to respond more rapidly to zinc stress by modifying the OPDA response. If this were the case, the specificity of AOC gene expression may play a role in limiting the downstream effects to particular tissues, as mentioned previously.

The genes discussed so far display a mild zinc-stress-like expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants. The opposite expression is observed for the iron ion homeostasis genes, *BHLH038*, *BHLH039* and *FRO2*, which are all upregulated in zinc stress but show a reduced expression in the progeny of zinc stress plants in non-stress conditions relative to control progeny. Additionally, further members of this functional group, *IRT1* and *bHLH100* show a similar expression pattern but do not pass the cut off for reduced expression in the progeny of zinc stress conditions.

The upregulation of iron homeostasis genes in zinc stress was to be expected. A component of the transcriptomic response to zinc stress in *A.thaliana* has been observed to correlate with the transcriptomic response to Fe-deficiency ((Yang *et al.*, 2010) & Figure 42). Furthermore, elevating iron in growth media has previously been shown to reduce Zn tissue content and increase the biomass of plants subjected to zinc stress (Shanmugam *et al.*, 2011), the latter of which was confirmed here (Figure 46).

Given zinc stress increases ferric reductase activity in *A.thaliana* roots (Becher *et al.*, 2004; Shanmugam *et al.*, 2011), the reduced expression of *FRO2* in the progeny of zinc stressed plants was intriguing. The investigation of FRO enzyme capacity in the roots indicated that the progeny of zinc stressed plants display a reduced root ferric reductase activity, in agreement with the reduced expression of *FRO2*. Furthermore, root FRO activity was less responsive to elevated zinc or reduced iron without impacting chlorophyll content, whilst root weight was greater. Reduced *FRO2* would not be expected to correlate with increased zinc tolerance as zinc stress can be alleviated by increasing Fe supply, as shown in Figure 46, and co-overexpressing *FIT1* and *BHLH038* or *BHLH039* has previously been shown to increase cadmium stress tolerance by increasing Fe uptake (Wu *et al.*, 2012). However, *Arabidopsis halleri*, a zinc hypertolerant species, shows a 5-fold reduction in root ferric reductase activity compared to *A.thaliana*, and ferric reductase activity is not increased in Fe deficiency or zinc stress conditions (Shanmugam *et al.*, 2011), which indicates that metal stress tolerance may be achieved through many routes including both increasing and limiting the activity of ferric reductases in the roots. Taken together, these results suggest the progeny of zinc stressed plant may be more efficiently distributing iron either subcellularly or between the plant organs. One advantage of responding less to elevated zinc would be to limit the uptake of zinc. The FRO2 and IRT1 proteins are transcriptionally and post-transcriptionally regulated in parallel (Connolly *et al.*, 2003), and although FRO2 is not known to function in zinc uptake, IRT1 has been implicated (Vert *et al.*, 2002). Thus, the reduced expression of *IRT1* in non-stress conditions observed in this Chapter would be expected to correlate with reduced zinc uptake into the roots.

Whilst the function of FRO2 as the prerequisite ferric reductase for uptake of iron from the soil has been firmly established (Connolly *et al.*, 2003; N. J. Robinson *et al.*, 1999), the functions of the other FRO genes with reduced expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants, FRO6 and FRO7, are less clear (Jeong and Connolly, 2009). A recent report indicates that iron homeostasis in plant species including *A.thaliana* may involve a reduction step for each membrane crossed (Guelke and Von Blanckenburg, 2007), highlighting the importance of FRO enzymes in iron homeostasis in *A.thaliana*. On current evidence, FRO6 is postulated to be the major leaf plasma membrane ferric reductase, while FRO7 appears to deliver iron into the chloroplasts (Jeong and Connolly, 2009; Jeong *et al.*, 2008; Li *et al.*, 2011). FRO6 and FRO7 are both Fe-deficiency sensitive although FRO6 is downregulated and FRO7 upregulated (Mukherjee *et al.*, 2006). Overexpression of AtFRO6 in *Nicotiana tabacum* confers Fe-deficiency tolerance (Li *et al.*, 2011), and FRO6 was is downregulated approximately 8-fold in zinc stress (Table 6).

The observed reduction in expression of a NRAMP gene in the progeny of zinc stressed plants would also be expected to affect iron homeostasis. NRAMP3 & NRAMP4 have previously been shown to function in regulating iron storage release from the vacuole (Lanquar *et al.*, 2005), whilst NRAMP6, the gene with reduced expression in this Chapter, has been proposed to provide a pathway for iron transport into the chloroplast (Duy *et al.*, 2007). Concurrent reduced expression of FRO7 and NRAMP6 in the progeny of zinc stressed plants would therefore be expected to reduce the transport of iron into the chloroplast. Unlike in mammals, ferritins are not considered the major iron storage proteins

in *A.thaliana* (Briat *et al.*, 2010; Ravet *et al.*, 2009), however, reduced expression of FRO7 and NRAMP6 may significantly reduce ferritin-dependent storage of iron in the chloroplast. Given that *fro7* chloroplasts contain 33% less iron than wild type (Jeong *et al.*, 2008), it is surprising that the reduced expression of FRO7 observed here in the progeny of zinc stressed plants did not result in a lower chlorophyll concentration. This may reflect an improved regulation of iron distribution throughout the plant via localised changes in FRO enzyme expression that could not be detected as the whole plant transcriptome was examined.

In summary, it appears the progeny of zinc stressed plants are less responsive to elevated zinc/Fe-deficiency. In these plants, genes involved in transporting iron into the chloroplast show a reduced expression without negatively impacting on chlorophyll content, whilst increasing plant biomass, indicating that the reduced expression may lead to more efficient iron homeostasis under Fe-limited conditions including zinc stress.

The changes in the transcriptome of the progeny of zinc stressed plants are assumed to reflect changes in the DNA methylome that occurred during the initial zinc stress and were inherited in the following generations. Both of the DNA methyltransferases responsible for symmetrical DNA methylation, *CMT3* and *MET1*, were slightly downregulated in response to zinc stress, as was *VIM1* which operates with *MET1*. Furthermore, two DNA demethylases, *DME* and *DME2* were both upregulated.

Demethylation by the DME family of genes was originally suggested to function solely in reproductive development, imprinting genes including *FWA* and *MEA* (Choi *et al.*, 2002; T. Kinoshita *et al.*, 2004), however, there are now indications that it may also function in regulating stress responses (Kim *et al.*, 2010).

The observations in this Chapter are insufficient by themselves to conclude that the original zinc stress resulted in DNA methylation changes, although they do offer an initial indication that DNA methylation changes may occur in response to zinc stress. Given that two methyltransferases are repressed during zinc stress, whilst two demethylases are activated, it seems likely that, if DNA methylation changes do occur, hypomethylation would be most prevalent, although it is possible that the analysis of whole seedling transcriptomes missed localised increases in the activity of these and other genes involved in DNA methylation. The most interesting hypothesis in relation to the possible implications is that the expression changes in *MET1*, *CMT3*, *VIM1*, *DME* and *DME2* drives DNA hypomethylation which is inherited by the progeny, in turn increasing zinc stress tolerance. Given that wide-scale DNA hypomethylation was not observed (Figure 34) and the stress tolerance appears to be specific

to elevated zinc/iron deficiency, it is clear that functional DNA methylation changes would have to be directed towards specific loci. Interestingly, the majority of genes affected in the progeny of the zinc stressed plants show reduced expression which would require the proposed DNA hypomethylation to increase the expression of repressive factors or expose repressive promoter elements. Whilst the *de* novo DNA methylation pathway is known to be directed towards specific loci by sRNA sequence (Matzke *et al.*, 2009), a similar mechanism to direct DNA methylation changes via MET1, CMT3, DME or DME2 has not been identified. The maintenance of CMT3 CHG methylation has been shown to be siRNAdependent in some specific cases (Enke *et al.*, 2011), which could indicate a possible mechanism by which directed changes could occur. However, it is difficult on current evidence to hypothesise how an overall changes in the expression of these DNA methyltransferases/demethylases could lead to DNA methylation changes at specific loci.

A simpler hypothesis which does not involve DNA methylation changes could be put forward. For example, expression of symmetrical DNA methyltransferases would be expected to be coupled with the cell cycle, as DNA methylation must be re-established on the nascent daughter strand. Therefore, under stress, when plant growth is reduced, expression of *MET1*, *VIM1* and *CMT3* may be decreased in coordination with a decreased expression of cell cycle factors. Likewise, if *DME* and *DME2* display higher expression in later developmental stages, then retarding development by introducing stress may decrease their expression relative to unstressed plants of the same age.

The ferric reductase genes are suggested as candidates to identify correlated methylation changes as the reduced expression of this gene has been confirmed to have a detectable effect on the root biochemistry. However, the reduced *FRO2* expression is unlikely to be a direct effect of DNA methylation changes as two of its regulatory transcription factors BHLH038 and BHLH039 also show a reduced expression. Little is known about the regulation of *FRO6* and *FRO7* expression beyond their respective expression localisation in aerial portions of the plant and their expression changed in response to heavy metals (Mukherjee *et al.*, 2006). The promoters of the two bHLH genes show large regions of significant sequence identity (by BLAST analysis), indicating their expression may be regulated in unison via shared regions in their promoters. This would likely suggest their reduced expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants is due reduced binding of a transcription factor(s), rather than both promoters being hypermethylated in unison. Furthermore, *B.oleracea* bHLH genes can be identified based on the alignment of their upstream sequence to the *A.thaliana BHLH038* promoter alone (by BLAST), strongly indicating this sequence is under purifying selection. Interestingly, the central motif appears

to be a non-palindromic 24-mer. Given its assumed role in regulating gene expression in *cis*, this is somewhat unexpected as transcription factor and repressor binding sites are usually palindromic, although there are examples of transcription factors binding to non-palindromic or pseudopalindromic sequences (Assunção *et al.*, 2010; Jakoby *et al.*, 2002; Ringli and Keller, 1998; Viola *et al.*, 2011).

In summary, the reduced ferric reductase activity in the roots of the progeny of zinc stressed plants is believed to be the result of reduced *FRO2* expression, in turn resulting from reduced *BHLH038* and *BHLH039* expression. The promoter regions of these genes share a considerable sequence identity with each other and with bHLH genes in other *Brassicae*, and a motif which is highly conserved has been identified. If the expression of *BHLH038* and *BHLH039* is controlled by the binding of a single factor to this motif, a suitable route to start looking for changes in DNA methylation which could explain the transgenerational stress memory would be to identify this factor and analyse the DNA methylation of its genomic loci in the progeny of zinc stressed plants.

Chapter 6. General discussion and future directions

6.1 DNA methylation is relatively unresponsive to stress

The original aim of analysing DNA methylation in response to stress was to identify conditions which could lead to changes in DNA methylation that could be inherited by the progeny, in the hope that these would correlate with an enhanced stress tolerance. In section 1.5.7, examples were given in which DNA methylation was observed to be dynamic in response to stress in *A.thaliana* and other plant species. In many cases these DNA methylation changes are observed at the genome wide level. It was therefore expected that the methylation sensitive amplified polymorphism assay developed here would enable identification of DNA methylation change in response to stress with relative ease. Instead, the DNA methylation profile of *A.thaliana* was observed to be unchanged by most stressors. Treatments which have frequently been reported to generate changes in DNA methylation in plants including NaCl stress (Baek et al., 2010; Cao et al., 2011; Choi and Hiroshi Sano, 2007; Dyachenko et al., 2006; Karan et al., 2012; Tan, 2010) and heat and cold stress (Boyko et al., 2010; Hashida et al., 2006; Steward et al., 2002) failed to generate DNA methylation changes that were detectable by MSAP. Although it's possible that DNA methylation changes went undetected, previous reports have suggested abiotic stressors induce wide scale changes in DNA methylation profiles of aerial tissue (Boyko et al., 2010; Kou et al., 2011; Steward et al., 2002; Tan, 2010). In experiments with maize, Tan et al (2010) observed that over 10% of MSAP bands were affected by osmotic and/or NaCl stress, whilst Steward et al (2002) observed an overall decrease in methylation following eight days of cold treatment (4 °C. The results presented here suggest the DNA methylation profile of A.thaliana is relatively unresponsive to stress.

The only condition which was observed to generate wide scale changes in DNA methylation was treatment with 5-15% PEG. Whilst it's clear that regulation of DNA methylation plays an important role in biotic stressors in *A.thaliana* (Dowen *et al.*, 2012), there have been few observations of dynamic DNA methylation in response to abiotic stressors in *A.thaliana*. Indeed, two such observations involve PEG stress and low humidity (Dowen *et al.*, 2012; Tricker *et al.*, 2012), a stress condition which produces a similar physiological response to PEG/drought stress (Casson and Hetherington, 2010; Levin *et al.*, 2009; Macková *et al.*, 2013). It seems possible then that *A.thaliana*, unlike many other plant species, does not commonly utilise DNA methylation as an abiotic stress response, except in water-limiting stressors. The hypermethylation in response to PEG was detected solely in the roots and suggested to be partly dependent upon DRM2 and other RdDM components. The activity of the *DRM2*, *POL IV* and *RDR2* promoters was relatively unchanged in the roots.

Additionally, the activity of the *ROS1* promoter was unaffected by PEG stress. Therefore, it is suggested that the PEG-induced root DNA hypermethylation is predominantly the result of changes in the siRNA pool from which RdDM targets genomic loci or gene expression changes for other RdDM components not examined, both of which could lead to DRM2dependent methylation at previously unmethylated loci. The restriction of the detected DNA methylation changes to the roots fits with previous observations of DNA methylation changes in response to alkali and NaCl stress in Gossypium hirsutum (Cao et al., 2011) NaCl and heavy metal stress in Oryza sativa (Karan et al., 2012; Ou et al., 2012) and cold and NaCl stress in Zea mays (Steward et al., 2002; Tan, 2010) in which the changes were wholly or largely restricted to the root tissues. Thus, the observed ease at which root DNA methylation may be perturbed (with as little as 5% PEG) relative to the aerial tissues may be common across the plant kingdom. As the root DNA methylation profile will not be inherited in the following generation, it is possible that the methylation status is more easily perturbed as there is no risk to the plant that the considerably altered DNA methylation profile will be inherited. Therefore, wide scale DNA methylation changes could be utilised to regulate some aspects of the stress response without risking inheritance of the alterations into the following generations where they may prove to be deleterious. Future experiments should help to establish whether stress-induced changes in DNA-methylation predominantly occur in non-meristemic tissue and the regulatory pathways which restrict changes in DNA to particular tissue types.

6.2 Is DNA methylation involved in the transgenerational stress memory?

Chapter 1 introduced various mechanisms by which a stress event could lead to changes in DNA methylation which enhance stress tolerance in the progeny. These include the generation of stress-induced siRNAs which could target genomic loci for *de novo* RdDM, the expression of stress-induced RdDM pathway components which could modifying the activity of RdDM at specific loci, and the coupling of DNA methylation to gene expression via the proposed dependency of MET1 CG methylation at gene bodies on POL II activity and the passive methylation of vacant transcription factor binding sites. Although no wide scale changes in DNA methylation were detected in the results presented in Chapter 5 in response to zinc stress, this is still considered the most likely mechanism for the transmission of the transgenerational stress memory that was observed, as no other epigenetic modification has been observed to be inherited. As such, the changes in the transcriptome of the G_2 progeny of zinc stressed plants are assumed to reflect changes in the DNA methylome that occurred during the initial zinc stress and were inherited in the following generations. Unfortunately, without whole genome DNA methylation data, it is not possible to assess the mechanism of inheritance in detail. The observation that greater than 50% of the SMTs are zinc stress responsive clearly indicates that the transcriptome changes are biased towards genomic regions that are differentially regulated during stress. This could suggest that the mechanisms coupling DNA methylation and gene expression in zinc stress drive heritable changes in the DNA methylation of stress-responsive loci which in turn modifies their expression levels. However, it is also possible that stress-induced siRNAs or RdDM genes target stress-responsive genes for differential DNA methylation as part of the plant's stress response, and that these changes in DNA methylation are inherited, again leading to heritable modification of stress-responsive gene expression levels.

The RNA-Seq data identifies loci that could be affected by differential methylation due to their differing expression. On this basis, the transcription factors *BHLH038* and *BHLH039* are candidates since their expression is reduced under non-stress conditions and the *FRO2* gene which they control shows reduced expression in the G_2 progeny of zinc stress plants. As the promoters of these genes share significant homology and do not appear to contain repeat elements, it is possible they are jointly regulated by the expression of an upstream transcription factor rather than co-differential methylation of their promoters. If, as expected, their promoter methylation was unaltered, a suitable approach to identify any common transcription factors for *BHLH038* and *BHLH039* would be a yeast one-hybrid assay using

their promoter sequences and a cDNA library of *A.thaliana* TFs (Gaudinier *et al.*, 2011; Mitsuda *et al.*, 2010).

The other main candidates for DNA methylation analysis are those STMs which are stressresponsive, as their differential expression in the progeny may be the result of an epigenetic memory fixed onto the gene following the change in gene expression during zinc stress. For all candidates, the hypothesis would be that their expression is responsive to zinc stress and that they retain an altered DNA methylation state once the zinc stress has ceased. To test this, promoter and gene body methylation status and mRNA expression of these TFs could be examined during zinc stress and in the progeny of zinc stress plants.

Clearly, a whole genome DNA methylation analysis of the DNA methylation status of the G_2 progeny of zinc stressed plants would be ideal as 45 zinc stress-responsive SMTs have been identified (Figure 39). An additional advantage of a whole DNA methylome analysis is that it would allow DNA methylation and gene expression data to be overlaid across the entire genome which may identify further regions of interest. It is expected that regions of the genome would show differential DNA methylation between control and zinc stress progeny with correlated changes in gene expression. The DNA methylation could then be examined at selected regions during and after zinc stress by bisulphite sequencing and correlated with qRT-PCR transcript abundance data over a time course to establish whether the DNA methylation change or gene expression change occurred first at each individual loci, and whether the DNA methylation change was maintained in its entirety once the change in gene expression has been reversed. These experiments would begin to identify regions of the genome which can carry a memory of zinc stress through to the following generation via alterations in DNA methylation.

6.3 Heritable effects of stress are rare in A.thaliana

Given the diversity of stress conditions which have been reported to produce heritable effects in plants (Boyko *et al.*, 2010; Lang-Mladek *et al.*, 2010; Estrella Luna *et al.*, 2012; Molinier *et al.*, 2006; Ou *et al.*, 2012; Rahavi *et al.*, 2011; Rasmann *et al.*, 2012a; Slaughter *et al.*, 2012; Whittle *et al.*, 2009), one could easily come to the conclusion that plants frequently pass on information about past stress events to their offspring. Having failed to repeat some of these observations, in one case with a near identical experimental set-up, it is the author's opinion that heritable effects of stress in fact represent an exceptional long-term response to stress. This is also the position reached by Pecinka *et al.*, 2006; Pecinka *et al.*, 2009).

Given the publication bias against negative results, it is quite possible that other researchers have also failed to reproduce published heritable effects of stress in plants. In the light of the apparent irreproducibility of many transgenerational stress memories, it is tempting to believe that they represent false positives resulting from the testing of multiple parental treatments followed by significance testing of multiple trait measurements in the offspring, with only the positive results being published. However, there are reasons to believe this is not the case. Importantly, transgenerational stress memories are frequently associated with changes in DNA methylation in the progeny and observed to be dependent upon RdDM components (Boyko *et al.*, 2010; Kou *et al.*, 2011; Rasmann *et al.*, 2012a). This suggests hypertolerant progeny may possess an epigenetic memory of the parental stress treatment, and provides a plausible mechanism for transgenerational stress memory inheritance. In Chapter 4, a transgenerational stress memory is reported in the second generation offspring of zinc stress treated plants. Crucially, transcriptome differences are observed in the second generation progeny of zinc stressed plants which suggests an epigenetic mechanism may be operating.

Two hypothesis are put forward in Chapter 4 to explain why a memory of zinc stress was observed, whilst no memory of a NaCl, PEG, heat, cold or nitrogen deficiency stress was observed. The first hypothesis was that transgenerational stress memories are dependent upon an interaction between the defined stress treatment and other environmental conditions such as light intensity, humidity, etc. In this hypothesis, the failure to reproduce stress memories such as that observed by Boyko et al in response to NaCl stress (Boyko et al., 2010), is postulated to be due to differences in the growth conditions. The second hypothesis is that stress memories must involve a cost to the plant and therefore evolutionary pressures will select for a transgenerational stress memory mechanism that is triggered by stress conditions that are intransient enough to be experienced by the following generations, but not permanent enough to represent a consistent selective pressure. As such, the longevity of the stress conditions in the environment, the capacity of the seed to regulate germination in response to the stress, and the seed dispersal mechanism of the plant are all hypothesised to affect the likelihood of a stress generating a transgenerational stress memory. In this hypothesis, the previously published stress memories in A.thaliana are not included as the results could not be reproduced. Zinc stress is proposed to generate a stress memory in A.thaliana as it is relatively stable within the immediate environment of the parent plant and the seeds cannot regulate germination in response to excess zinc. In contrast, the other stressors tested are transient and/or A.thaliana seeds regulate their germination in response to the stress condition.

When faced with competing hypotheses, the "Occam's razor" principle is usually applied, by which it is stated that the simplest hypothesis should be selected. What constitutes the simplest hypothesis is debated (Riesch, 2010) but a sensible approach is to follow Karl Popper's position and select the hypothesis which can be most easily tested (Popper, 2002). Hence, the hypothesis that transgenerational stress memories are dependent upon the defined treatment in interaction with other environmental conditions should be tested first as it is can be tested relatively simply. This would involve attempting to prevent or facilitate the production of a transgenerational stress memory by altering growth conditions only, with the defined treatment remaining the same. The most straightforward approach would be to alter the growth conditions during the zinc treatment outlined here. For example, does elevating Fe content in the growth media inhibit the transgenerational effects of zinc stress? Or can the transgenerational effect be inhibited by supplementing the growth media with sucrose, thereby negating some of the impact of the zinc-stress induced chlorosis? Or can more subtle changes in light intensity, day length or humidity affect the generation of the stress memory? These experiments would start to test the hypothesis put forward and start to better define the conditions required to generate a transgenerational stress memory in Arabidopsis thaliana. As discussed previously, our poor understanding of the conditions required to generate a transgenerational stress memory makes interrogation of the mechanism(s) involved very difficult. Currently, we have a collection of largely one-off observations from which to attempt to draw conclusions. If the conditions required to generate a transgenerational stress memory could be determined, model stress treatments could then be established for future examinations of the mechanism(s) involved.

If the transgenerational zinc stress memory was observed regardless of variations in other environmental conditions, the second hypothesis should then be tested. Experiments should first establish if other heavy metals which do not affect germination also generate a transgenerational stress memory. As mentioned in Chapter 1, a previous observations of stress memories in response to heavy metals in *A.thaliana* is complicated by the apparent use of lethal heavy metal concentrations (Rahavi *et al.*, 2011). Assuming Rahavi, M. *et al*'s observations are reproducible at non-lethal concentrations, it appears many heavy metals can produce a stress memory in plants, including zinc, mercury (Ou *et al.*, 2012), cadmium, copper and nickel (Rahavi *et al.*, 2011). If transgenerational responses to excess heavy metals or transitional metals were observed to be a general response, it would be interesting to investigate whether other stress conditions which do not affect germination, such as phosphate starvation (Sánchez-Calderón *et al.*, 2005), also lead to a transgenerational response. Testing another assumption of the hypothesis, a comparison of *Brassicaceae* with ballistic seed dispersal, such as *Cardamine hirsute* (Vaughn *et al.*, 2011), *Cardamine*

parviflora (Hayashi *et al.*, 2010) and *Lepidium campestre* (Thiede *et al.*, 2013), with those without a seed dispersal mechanism, such as *A.thaliana*, could indicate if there is a relationship between seed dispersal and the transgenerational response to zinc stress as suggested. In the extreme, it would interesting to investigate if costal *Brassicaceae* capable of dispersing seeds over much larger distance after immersion in sea water, such as *Cakile edentula* - the first plant species to colonise the island of Surtsey over a distance of least 20 km (Edentula and Fridriksson, 1966) - generate transgenerational stress memories, given the potentially much greater distances between parent and progeny. These experiments would test the hypothesised correlation between the similarity in parental:progeny environmental conditions and the evolutionary benefit of responding to stress with a transgenerational response.

6.4 A novel transgenerational zinc stress memory

One of the aims of this project was to identify how changes in the transcriptome could enhance the stress tolerance of the progeny of stressed plants. Two mechanisms were proposed that were described as "stress adjustment" and "stress priming" with the difference being whether the improved stress tolerance related to changes in the transcriptome in the absence of stress or upon triggering of the stress response. RNA-Seq data strongly suggests that the transgenerational zinc stress memory is due to a stress adjusted transcriptome in the progeny. This adjusted basal transcriptome appears to confer a lower zinc stress sensitivity on the plants, as observed by a reduction in the severity of gene expression changes in response to zinc stress. This is in contrast with observations of biotic stress memories in which increased expression of defence genes is observed in response to stress, with no change under non-stress condition (Pastor *et al.*, 2013; Slaughter *et al.*, 2012). It is possible then that abiotic and biotic stressors generate transgenerational stress memories in which the stress tolerance is increased through fundamentally different means. However, there are some striking similarities in the transcriptome changes.

As discussed in section 1.2, biotic stress memories involve alterations in the synthesis of jasmonates and the expression of JA-responsive genes (Estrella Luna *et al.*, 2012; Rasmann *et al.*, 2012a). Increased *P.rapae*-induced expression of *LOX2* is observed in the progeny of *A.thaliana* plants previously challenged with *P.rapae* herbivory (Rasmann *et al.*, 2012a), whilst the progeny of *A.thaliana* plants challenged with *Pst*. exhibit lower expression of the JA-responsive defence gene *VSP2* in response to JA (Estrella Luna *et al.*, 2012). As there was a lower expression of both of these genes in the G₂ progeny of zinc stressed plants in the

results presented in Chapter 5, this suggests that modifications to the jasmonate synthesis and signalling pathways may be a common mechanism across transgenerational stress memories. It has been suggested that jasmonate compounds such as OPDA could act as a memory buffer of previous stress events by enhancing the speed of the JA-dependent response in subsequent stress events (Gális *et al.*, 2009). The results presented here indicate that if such a mechanism does exist, it could extend over multiple generations and allow the plant to fine tune its stress signalling pathways based upon the experience of its progenitors.

Three non-mutually exclusive hypotheses are proposed by which the altered transcriptome could increase the zinc stress tolerance of the progeny. Firstly, changes in the expression of jasmonate-regulated genes could cause a mild zinc stress-like response under normal growth conditions. Secondly, alterations to the OPDA biosynthesis pathway could modify the OPDA response to elevated zinc. Thirdly, enhanced iron homeostasis could improve the iron deficiency tolerance. Within these hypotheses, the possible effects of the differential expressions of many genes were explored. It is unlikely that all the explanations consider in in the discussion in Chapter 5 will be proved true as the transcriptome data presented here contains no temporal element, and has not been correlated with metabolome or proteome data. Indeed, it is distinctly possible that some of the observed transcriptome changes confer no increased tolerance but are instead indirect consequences of functional transcriptome changes, especially given the cross-talk between the stress response pathways. For instance, it is possible that the reduced expression of a variety of defence responsive genes has no role in increasing zinc stress tolerance but instead reflects a fine-tuning of the stress response pathways which raises tolerance to zinc but reduces tolerance to herbivores in response to a perceived shift in relative likelihood of zinc stress. Likewise, the reduced root FRO activity may have no direct benefit but rather reflect altered iron homeostasis through which the plants are more prepared for zinc stress conditions, therefore resulting in a reduced root FRO response.

The RNA-Seq data presented here clearly implicates OPDA in the zinc stress response, which could suggest the reduced expression of OPDA synthesis genes is responsible for the zinc tolerance either through reduced synthesis of OPDA or by priming the OPDA response through the production of C₉ GLV, as discussed in section 5.3. However, OPDA appears to regulate a range of metal stress response genes, thus, priming of the OPDA response would not be expected to confer a zinc-stress-specific tolerance (Taki *et al.*, 2005). Additionally, the JA-regulated genes with reduced expression in the progeny, *VSP1* and *NATA1*, are not known to confer zinc-specific stress tolerance. The observed zinc-specificity combined with differential expression of genes with roles in biotic stress has some similarities with a recent

observation that defensins confer zinc-specific tolerance in *A.halleri* (Mirouze *et al.*, 2006). Attempting to explain the specificity, Mirouze, M. *et al* (2006) proposed that the defensins may confer zinc tolerance by interfering with divalent metal cation trafficking. Although the JA-regulated defence genes with reduced expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants cannot be proposed to function in the same manner, it is clear that there is still much to learn about the function of supposed biotic stress genes in metal stress. The author's view is that JA and OPDA-regulated genes will be shown to possess zinc stress specific functions alongside their biotic stress functions.

There are a multitude of straightforward future experiments that could be carried out to test the hypotheses put forward here. Examination of the iron homeostasis pathways should be prioritised, since the transcriptional changes have already been correlated with biochemical changes in the progeny. At a minimum, the tissue ion content should be examined. The root and aerial tissue accumulation of Fe and Zn in the progeny of zinc stressed plants under elevated Zn and reduced Fe should be determined. This would establish whether reduced root ferric reductase activity is correlated with reduced Fe and Zn uptake as expected. If so, the next hypothesis to test would be whether there is a change in subcellular iron homeostasis. The reduced *FRO6*, *FRO7* and *NRAMP6* expression is hypothesised to reduce chloroplast Fe content without affecting chlorophyll levels. Chloroplast Fe content has been quantified previously in the *fro7* mutant and found to be 33% lower (Jeong *et al.*, 2008). If a similar reduction was observed in the progeny of zinc stressed *A.thaliana*, without impacting on chlorophyll production under elevated Zn/Fe-deficiency, it would strongly suggest improved iron homeostasis in the progeny.

Quantification of OPDA, JA and GLVs within the progeny of the zinc stressed plants would be the obvious first experiment in establishing whether the observed reduced expression of AOC1, AOC2 and LOX2 has biochemical consequences to the plant. If, as hypothesised, the G₂ progeny of the zinc stressed plants produce greater quantities of GLVs, the next step would be to examine whether GLVs can "zinc-prime" plants in the absence of a prior zinc stress, as has been observed for chemical signals such as BABA, which can prime pathogen responses (Slaughter *et al.*, 2012). Analysis of OPDA response genes observed here to be upregulated in response to stress could confirm the hypothesised GLV-dependent priming of the zinc stress response. The other hypothesis surrounding the reduced expression of OPDA synthesis genes and JA-responsive genes is that this may have a negative impact on herbivore/wounding tolerance. A simple experiment to test the herbivore tolerance and JAregulated gene expression in the progeny of zinc stressed plants grazed on by species known to activate JA-responsive genes, such as *Plutella xylostella* or *Spodoptera littoralis*, would test this hypothesis (Berger *et al.*, 2002).

Ideally, temporal data to follow the progression of transcriptome changes during the progress of the zinc stress response, correlated with proteome and ionome data, would allow construction of networks to establish which of the observed changes are functional and which are indirect effects of the increased tolerance. Beyond hopefully confirming some of the trends observed here, this more extensive analysis could potentially identify a small number of hub genes whose expression is crucially altered in the progeny of zinc stressed plants, enabling a more directed examination of the mechanism behind the increased zinc stress tolerance.

To summarise, the results presented indicate that the transcriptome of *A.thaliana* can be modified by stress two generations previously. The tolerance appears to involve an altered transcriptome in the absence of stress which reduces stress sensitivity. The are some similarities with biotic stress memories in that modifications to the jasmonate signalling pathways appear to be involved, although further experiments are required to determine which transcriptome changes are critical for the increased stress tolerance and whether inherited differences in the DNA methylome are involved.

6.5 Concluding remarks

As discussed previously, the lack of a well-established model for abiotic stress memories has hindered investigations into the mechanisms involved. It is the author's opinion that this irreducibility is best explained by underlying stochastic processes which may hindered a satisfactory explanation of transgenerational stress memories for many years to come. However, the novel transgenerational stress memory presented here has the potential to become a general model for abiotic stress memories in plants as the treatment is simple and the effects transmissible through to the F2 progeny. Furthermore, the transcriptome analysis of this stress memory in the F2 progeny yielded many interesting observations and suggests a number of changes due to grandparental stress. Based on observed changes in the expression of iron deficiency response genes in the F2 progeny, the stress memory is postulated to increase zinc stress tolerance partially through modifying iron homeostasis. Additionally, the transcriptomics analysis suggests a role for jasmonate signalling and possible crosstalk with defence response pathways. The presence of a transcriptional mark of parental stress under non-stress conditions is indicative of an epigenetic change in the progeny, with DNA methylation the most plausible candidate mechanism. The analyses performed did not establish if DNA methylation was involved, although it is clear the stress event does not cause wide-scale changes in DNA methylation. The author expects that locispecific changes in DNA methylation are responsible for the observed changes in the transcriptome of the zinc stress progeny and hopes that future experiments will identify the crucial genomics regions. The transcriptomic analysis has identified candidate regions to which the follow-up analyses should be directed in the first instance.

Wide-scale heritable changes in DNA methylation were not detected in response to any of the stressors tested, suggesting DNA methylation is less responsive to stress than the literature may suggest. In order to study DNA methylation in response to stress and its inheritance, the commonly utilised MSAP assay was modified. The introduction of the whole genome amplification step in order to allow conclusive assignment of methylation change from changes in band profile represents a valuable improvement on current practice. It would benefit other researchers currently employing MSAP analyses to adopt this modification to increase the value of their DNA methylation data analyses.

Transgenerational stress memories have attracted much attention recently, with some even suggesting they re-open the debate about the possibility of acquired characteristics. Whilst published plant stress memories are now commonplace, it is still unclear how frequently

plants inherit a mark of parental stress. During the course of this research, multiple attempts were made to identify transgenerational effects of stress in *A.thaliana*. The results presented here indicate that parental stress rarely leads to an improved stress tolerance in the progeny. It is the author's belief that stress memories in plants will ultimately be shown to be rare events which persist for only one or two generations outside of the laboratory.

For the presence of transgenerational stress memories in plants to become widely accepted, there are a number of key areas to be addressed. Firstly, a suitable model of transgenerational stress needs to be established. It is vital that this model is sufficiently robust to be reproducible between independent laboratories. As suggested previously, the zinc stress model may be suitable, however, it has not yet been replicated in an independent laboratory. Once model(s) have been established, concerted efforts will be required to understand the underlying molecular mechanism by which transgenerational stress memories are transmitted through the germline and the mechanisms by which they enhance stress tolerance in the progeny. Given the heritability of DNA methylation changes in response to stress, this remains the most likely molecular mechanism underlying the transmission of transgenerational stress memories. However, for most transgenerational stress memories, there is only weak evidence that DNA methylation is involved. Researchers should focus efforts on attempting to identify causative changes in DNA methylation that are required for transmission of transgenerational stress memories. This may be best achieved by identifying the physiological basis of the increased stress tolerance in the progeny and then directing analysis towards genomic loci that are implicated by the physiological changes. For the zinc stress memory presented here, an altered transcriptome was observed in the absence of stress, with iron homeostasis the clearest physiological change. If the zinc stress memory described here could be conclusively shown to depend on stress-induced changes in DNA methylation at one of the candidate genomic regions identified, this would provide the first firm evidence that DNA methylation represents the crucial transgenerational mark of stress.

It is also currently unclear whether the collection of published transgenerational stress memories are a manifestation of similar responses to diverse stressors, or whether there are fundamental differences between them. The transcriptome results presented here suggest an altered transcriptome in the absence in stress, in contrast with the progeny of biotic stress treated plants which show an altered transcriptomic response to subsequent stress treatment. Further experiments are required to establish whether biotic and abiotic transgenerational stress memories involve the activation of the same response mechanism or if multiple mechanisms exist by which stress may leave a heritable mark on the plant. Cleary the elucidation of the mechanisms by which transgenerational stress memories are transmitted, and how they enhance stress tolerance, is only just beginning. The findings of this research further our understanding of this elusive and intriguing stress response and will hopefully provide many fruitful avenues of exploration for future research.

VII. Appendices

Oligonucleotides

MSAP		
Name	Sequence	Annealing temperature
Asel adapter 1	CTCTGTCCTGACGCTGTG	N/A
Asel adapter 2	TACACAGCGTCAGGAC	N/A
Asel primer +1 (C)	GTCCTGACGCTGTGTAATC	52 °C
Asel primer +1 (G)	GTCCTGACGCTGTGTAATG	52 °C
Asel primer +2 (GG)	GTCCTGACGCTGTGTAATGG	55 °C
Asel primer +2 (GC)	GTCCTGACGCTGTGTAATGC	55 °C
Asel primer +2 (CC)	GTCCTGACGCTGTGTAATCC	55 °C
Asel primer +2 (CG)	GTCCTGACGCTGTGTAATCG	55 °C
H/M adapter 1	CGTAGCAGACTCATCA	N/A
H/M adapter 2	GACGTGATGAGTCTGCTA	N/A
H/M Primer +1 (T)	GATGAGTCTGCTACGGT	52 °C
H/M Primer +1 (C)	GATGAGTCTGCTACGGC	52 °C
H/M Primer +3 (TCA)	GATGAGTCTGCTACGGTCA	55 °C
H/M Primer +3 (TGA)	GATGAGTCTGCTACGGTGA	55 °C
H/M Primer +3 (TCT)	GATGAGTCTGCTACGGTCT	55 °C
H/M Primer +3 (TGT)	GATGAGTCTGCTACGGTGT	55 °C
H/M Primer +3 (CGT)	GATGAGTCTGCTACGGCGT	55 °C
H/M Primer +3 (CGA)	GATGAGTCTGCTACGGCGA	55 °C
H/M Primer +3 (CCT)	GATGAGTCTGCTACGGCCT	55 °C
H/M Primer +3 (CCA)	GATGAGTCTGCTACGGCCA	55 °C
M/S/D adapter 1	CCGAGTGGTCAGTGAT	N/A
M/S/D adapter 2	GATCATCACTGACCACTC	N/A
M/S/D primer +1 (G)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCG	50 °C
M/S/D primer +1 (A)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCA	50 °C
M/S/D primer +1 (T)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCT	47 °C
M/S/D primer +1 (C)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCC	50 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (GCT)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCGCT	55 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (AGC)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCAGC	55 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (TAC)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCTAC	55 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (CAC)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCCAC	55 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (GTC)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCGTC	55 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (GTG)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCGTG	55 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (GAG)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCGAG	55 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (GAC)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCGAC	55 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (AGG)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCAGG	55 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (AGA)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCAGA	55 °C
M/S/D primer +3 (CTC)	AGTGGTCAGTGATGATCCTC	55 °C

Bisulphite Sequencing		
Name	Sequence	Annealing
Name		temperature
MHS6 F1	TGTAAGTAGAATTTGTGTAGGAA	60 °C
MHS6 R1	TATTCCTCCAAACACTCCTT	60 °C
MHS6 F2	AGAGATTTGGGGTGTGAAA	60 °C
MHS6 R2	AAATCCCAAAATTCCACTTTTA	60 °C
MHS6 F3	TTTYAGTTTGGTATAATTTGATTT	57 °C
MHS6 R3	TTCACCAACRRARATCTTCC	57 °C
MIR843A F1	TAYAAAAAATAGATTTTGAGTGT	60 °C
MIR843A R1	AAAACACCACCATCCTAATC	60 °C
MIR843A F2	TATTAGATGTAGGGTTGATGGAT	60 °C
MIR843A R2	CACTCAAATTCATCAARAAAAAT	60 °C
MIR843A F3	TTAATGTGTGGTTGATAAAAAAAG	57 °C
MIR843A R3	TTATTTTRAAAATCTCAAATCT	57 °C
Psa F	ATGATGTTGTTAGAATTTCATATAGG	60 °C
Psa R	CATCATTTARCTATCRCAATTCTTT	60 °C

Table 13 continued on following page

qRT-PCR		
Name	Sequence	Annealing temperature
GES 5'	CTCAAAGATGGTGAACACAAGAAAG	60 °C
GES 3'	CTCCATCTTCAAAGGCTGGAACT	60 °C
elF4A-2 5'	GTGCCAGGCTCTCGTTTTG	60 °C
elF4A-2 3'	GGCACGCATGACCTTCTCA	60 °C
GRX480 5'	TGAAAATGCAAGGAACGATTTCT	60 °C
GRX480 3'	CCGAACTCTCTCGCCGTTT	60 °C
JAL23 5'	AAAGATCACTGAAGTTTGAGCTTAACC	60 °C
JAL23 3'	TCTCCCCTTCGATGTTTCAAAT	60 °C
bHLH038 5'	CGACGCAAGAAGATCAACACTT	60 °C
bHLH038 3'	GAATACTTAGCTTCTTCGATTGATCAGA	60 °C
GPX1 5'	CTAGACCTAATTCCTCAGCAACCTTT	60 °C
GPX1 3'	TTACTCAGATTCGCGAAATTCG	60 °C
AT5G15710 5'	TTATGATTCCAAAACTGACAAATGGT	60 °C
AT5G15710 3'	AGATATAACCGGGAATCACAATAAGC	60 °C
NATA1 5'	ACGAAAAGGCTTCGGAAAACT	60 °C
NATA1 3'	TCTTCCGACACCCAACTTCAC	60 °C
VSP1 5'	CTGGCACCTTGGTGTTGAGA	60 °C
VSP1 3'	CTTCAACATAGGCTTTGCAATTTG	60 °C
AT5G14030 5'	AGCCACTCTCAACAGGCTCAA	60 °C
AT5G14030 3'	CGACGAGGATCCTTGGTTATAGA	60 °C
AT2G28390 5'	CGCTCAGGCCTTTTTGCAT	60 °C
AT2G28390 3'	GGCGTACCCTGCAATCTTTG	60 °C
bHLH039 5'	GCCTCTGGCCAATCGAAGA	60 °C
bHLH039 3'	TTGCAGCTCTGGTATGTACTTCAAG	60 °C

Promoter:GUS lines		
Name	Sequence	Annealing temperature
NRPE1 5'	CACCAGCTCCTGTAAGTAGCAAA	62 °C
NRPE1 3'	TTCGATGATTCAGCTGCGTA	62 °C
NRPD15'	CACCCTCTTTGACTGCTGTCGT	63 °C
NRPD1 3'	TGGGGACTTTGGAATGTGAGAC	63 °C
DRM2 5'	CACCAGATAGCTTCTCAGGAT	55 °C
DRM2 3'	AATACCCAGAGAATTTTTAGTTTGA	55 °C
RDR2 5'	CACCACAAAGAATCAACGACATGGT	61 °C
RDR2 3'	GATTAACCCAAGAGAAAGAGAGA	61 °C
CMT3 5'	CACCTGCATACATATAGCTTCACA	60 °C
CMT3 3'	GATTGAGTCAGAGAATCGAAGGAAG	60 °C
ROS1 5'	CACCAATGTCCAAGACCTTAC	55 °C
ROS1 3'	TTCTGACTCTATTTTTACTTTTCTTCA	55 °C
MET1 5'	CACCATAGAAACTTTTACTCTGTA	53 °C
MET1 3'	TTTCAAAATCCCTAGTTTCA	53 °C
DCL3 5'	CACCAATGAGTAATGTTTTGG	57 °C
DCL3 3'	GACGACGGATAAAAGGAA	57 °C

Table 13. **Tables of oligonucleotides used**. All oligonucleotides except the MSAP adapters were used in PCR reactions, the annealing temperatures used are specified. +2 and +3 MSAP oligonucleotides were used in a touchdown PCR, annealing temperature specified is the final annealing temperature at the end of the touchdown cycles. H/M = Hpall/Mspl. M/S/D = Mbol/Sau3Al/Dpnll.

Chemicals, enzymes, kits, consumbles and equipment

Chemical	Supplier	Order code
10 mM EDTA, pH8.0	Sigma	P3803
Acetic acid (C ₂ H ₄ O ₂ ; 99.7%)	Fisher Scientific	W0189H
Ammonium persulfate (MBG) ((NH4)2S2O8)	Applichem	A2941,0100
Annydrous sodium acetate (NaOAc; MBG)	Sigma	\$2889-250G
Basta (prosprinotrincin) Poric acid (H2RO2: MPG)	WWR International	A 2940 1000
Bromonhenal Blue	sis	17132901
Calcium chloride (CaCl2: USP)	Sigma	C8106
Calcium Nitrate (Ca(NO3)2: MBG)	Sigma	C1396
Chloral hydrate (Cl ₃ CCH(OH) ₂ ; 98.5%)	Acros Organics	AS 302-17-0
Chloroform (ACS Reagent Grade)	Fisher Scientific	67-66-3
Choloform:isoamly alcohol 24:1	Applichem	A1935,0500
Coboltous chloride (CoCl2: 97%)	Sigma	232696
Commercial bleach (Sodium hypochlorite; NaClO)	SLS	X9270
Cupric sulphate pentahydrate (CuSO4; >98%))	Sigma	C8027
Ethanol (>99.8%)	Fisher Scientific	E/0650DF/P17
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid ferric sodium salt (Fe(II)-NaEDTA)	Ducheta	E0509.1000
Ferrozine (3-(2-Pyridyi)-5 6-diphenyi-1 2 4-triazine-pp-disuironic acid monosodium sait hydrate)	Sigma	160601
Ficuli Formaldebyde (CH-O_MBG)	Sigma	F2037
Gvlcerol (C-H=O-)	Fisher Scientific	G/0650/17
Hydrochloric acid (HCl: 36.5-38%)	Fisher Scientific	A144C-212
Hygromycin	Invitrogen	10687-010
Intercept™	Bayer	4985982
Isopropanol (C₃H₅O; >99.5%)	Acros Organics	389710025
Kanamycin	Life Technologies	11815-024
Magnesium Sulphate (MgSO4; >99.5%)	Sigma	M7506
Manganese(II)chloride (MnCl2; MBG)	Sigma	31422
MS Salts	M524	PhytoTechnology Laboratories
N,N DMF (>99%)	Sigma	D4551
Na2HPO4 MBG	MP Biomedicals Europe	219473901
NaH2PO4 MBG	MP Biomedicals Europe	219485091
PolyEthylene Glycol (M.W 6000; MBG)	Calbiochem	528877
Potassium (K3Fe(CN)6 (>98%) Detersium Chlorido/KCl2: MRC)	Alta Aesar	A16946
Potassium chloride (KIC); MBG)	Fisher Scientific	20732.300
SequaFLOWGel Complete Buffer	SLS	H18075
SequaFLOWGel XR Monomer Solution	SLS	H18075
Silwet L-77	Lehle seeds	VIS-30
Sodium chloride (NaCl, MBG)	VWR International	27810.295
Sodium molybate dihydrate (Na2MoO4; >99%)	Sigma	71756
Spectinomycin	Applichem	A3834,0001
Triton-X-100 MBG	Invitrogen	A1388.1000
Trizol Reagent	Invitrogen	15596-026
Water (sterile, nuclease free)	AMRESCO	7732-18-5
X-GICA (CHA salt)	Melford	MB1021
Zinc Sulphate heptahydrate (ZnSO4; >98%)	Alfa Aesar	A12915
Enzyme	Supplier	Order code
Apal	New England Biolabs	R0114S
Asel	New England Biolabs	R0526L
Upnii	New England Biolabs	R0543L
Mbol	New England Biolabs	R01/1L
Msol	New England Biolabs	80106
PfuUltra™ II fusion	Stratagene	600670
RNAse-Free DNase	QIAGEN	79254
Sau3AI	New England Biolabs	R0169L
Superscript II reverse transcriptase	Invitrogen	18064-014
T4 DNA ligase	New England Biolabs	M0202S
Taq DNA polymerase	New England Biolabs	M0273L
Kit	Manufacturer	Order code
Gel Extraction Kit	GenoCruz ™	SC-45048
DNeasy Plant Mini Kit	QIAGEN	69104
EZ DNA Methylation-Lightning™ Ki	Zymo Research	D5030
Gateway® LR Clonase™ II Enzyme Mix	Invitrogen	11791-020
PENTR®/SU/D-TOPO® Cloning Kit with One Shot® TOP10 Chemically Competent E. coli	Invitrogen	K591-20
QiAprep Spin Miniprep Kit		2/104
Qiaquick dei extraction Kit PNaesy Dent Mini Kit		7/19/02
nincasy Flant with NL	QIAGEN	74503

Table 14continued on following page

Consumable	Supplier	Order code
1.5 ml Microcentrifuge tubes	Starstedt	72.690.001
1.75 ml Glass Vials	Fisher Scientific	TUL-520-006J
10/20µl XL Graduated Tip	Star Lab	S1110-3700
10µl Graduated Tip	Star Lab	S1111-3700
1250µl XL Graduated Tip	Star Lab	S1112-1720
1L Plastic Box	The Plastic Box Company	WF1LALL
2 ml Microcentrifuge tubes	Starstedt	72.691
200µl Tip	Star Lab	1111-0810
8-Strip PCR Caps, Domed	Star Lab	11400-0800
8-Strip PCR Tubes	Star Lab	11402-3500
96-well Gel Loading Combs	Web Scientific	CAJ96
96-well plate (semi-skirted with raised rim)	Star Lab	E1403 8200
Axygen™ PCR Tubes	Corning Incorporated	PCR-02D-C
Cuvette Kartell Semi Micro PS 1.5ml Disposable	SLS	1938
Cuvette UV-Cuvette UV disposable plastic 70µL to 850µL	Fisher Scientific	7592 00
Glassine bags (14.0 x 19.1 cm)	Kenro	NB007
Micoscope Slide Coverslips No 1.5 (22x50mm)	SLS	MIC3246
Micropore tape	3M	1530-0
Microscope slides	Fisher Scientific	7101
Plantpak Seed Trays and Unit Paks	Desch Plantpak	PST & P5 & P15 & P40
Square Petri Dishes	Greiner bio-one	688102

Misc	Supplier	Order code
ATP, CTP, GTP, TTP	Promega	U1201, U1211, U1221, U1231
Bacto™ Agar	Becton Dickinson	214010
GeneScan ™ 600 Liz Size standard (Capillary electrophoresis marker)	Life Technologies	4366589
ibrary Efficiency® DH5a™ Competent Cells	Invitrogen	18263-012
IRDye700 50-700 Sizing Standard	Li-COR Biosciences UK	4200-60
Oligo(dT)12-18	Invitrogen	18418-012
SYBR® Green I PCR Master Mix	Applied Biosystems	4309155

Equipment	Manufacturer
5415D Microcentrifuge	Eppendorf
5415R Temperature Controlled Microcentrifuge	Eppendorf
ABI prism 3130	Applied Biosystems
ABI Prism 7000 Sequence Detection Systems	Applied Biosystems
Automtik M0D200 Osmometer	Roebling
DNA Engine Dyad Dual Bay Thermo Cycler	Bio-Rad
Fume Hood	Fumetec
Gene Pulser apparatus	Bio-Rad
Microbiological Incubator	SLS
MLR-352 Growth Cabinet	Sanyo
NanoDrop 2000/8000	Thermo Scientific
Pipettes (0.2 µl - 1000 µl)	Gilson
Pipettor	Aquaboy
Pocket PEA Portable Chlorophyll Fluorimeter	Hansatech
Temperature Controlled Orbit Shaking Incubator	Environ
Ultraspec 2000 Spectrophotomoter	Pharma Biotech
Vacuum	KNF

Table 14. Details of chemicals, enzymes, kits, consumables, equipment and other items used. Chemcial purify

or grade given where specified by supplier. MBG = Molecular Biology grade.

Abbreviations

HSP17.6II	17.6 KDA CLASS II HEAT SHOCK PROTEIN
5-azaC	5-azacytidine
Ac	Activator
AOC1	ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE 1
AOC2	ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE 2
AOC3	ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE 3
AOC4	ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE 4
AFLP	Amplified fragment length polymorphsim
MSH6	MUTS HOMOLOG 6
AG10	ARGONAUTE 10
AGO4	ARGONAUTE 4
AGO6	ARGONAUTE 6
AGO9	ARGONAUTE 9
AIG1	AVRRPT2-INDUCED GENE 1
bHLH	Basic helix loop helix
BLAST	Basic local alignment search tool
BABA	Beta-aminobutyric acid
P5CS	CARBOXYLATE SYNTHETASE
CMT3	CHROMOMETHYLASE 3
cdd	dmt3 drm2 drm1
CNR	COLOURLESS NON-RIPENING
cDNA	Complimentary DNA
CTD	C-terminal domain
Ct	Cycle threshold
CYP71A12	CYTOCHROME P450, FAMILY 71, SUBFAMILY A,
dps	Days post stratification
DRD1	DEFECTIVE IN RNA-DIRECTED DNA METHYLATION 1
DME	DEMETER
DML1	DEMETER-LIKE 1
DML2	DEMETER-LIKE 2
DCL1	DICER-LIKE 1
DCL2	DICER-LIKE 2
DCL3	DICER-LIKE 3
DCL4	DICER-LIKE 4
DNMT1	DNA Methyltransferase 1
DRM2	DOMAINS REARRANGED METHYLTRANSFERASE 2
dsRNA	Doubles stranded RNA
epiRILs	Epigenetic Recombinant Inbred Lines
EVD	Evadé
FSD1	FE SUPEROXIDE DISMUTASE 1
FIT1	FE-DEFICIENCY INDUCED TRANSCRIPTION FACTOR 1
FRO2	FERRIC REDUCTION OXIDASE
FRO6	FERRIC REDUCTION OXIDASE 6

FRO7	FERRIC REDUCTION OXIDASE 7
FER4	FERRITIN 4
FWA	FLOWERING WAGENINGEN
FPKM	Fragments per kilobase exon gene model per million mapped fragments
FW	Fresh weight
GLV	Green leaf volatiles
H3K9me2	Histone 3 lysine 9 dimethylation
H3K4me3	Histone 3 lysine 4 trimethylation
H3K9ac	Histone 3 lysine 9 acetylation
HRF	Homologous recombination frequency
HEN1	HUA ENHANCER 1
HPA	Hypothalamo-pituitary-adrenal
ISR	Induced systemic resistance
IR	Inverted repeats
JA	Jasmonic acid
КҮР	KRYPTONITE
LOX2	LIPOXYGENASE 2
LRH	Low relative humidity
LB	Lysogeny Broth
MECP2	MBP METHYL CPG BINDING PROTEIN 2
MEL1	MEIOSIS ARRESTED AT LEPTOTENE1
Tm	Melting temperature
MSAP	Methylation sensitive amplified polymorphism
MBPs	Methyl-binding proteins
MeDIP	Methyl-DNA immunoprecipitation
MET1	METHYLTRANSFERASE 1
MIR843A	miRNA 843A
MGSA	Model-based gene set analysis
MDS	Multidimensional scaling approach
MS	Murashige & Skoog
Mu	Mutator
NATA1	N-ACETYLTRANSFERASE ACTIVITY 1
NRAMP6	NRAMP metal ion transporter 6
NRPD1	NUCLEAR RNA POLYMERASE D 1A
NRPE1	NUCLEAR RNA POLYMERASE D 1B
δ-ΟΑΤ	ORNITHINE-DELTA-AMINOTRANSFERASE
OPDA	12-oxo-phytodienoic acid
PCRI	PLANT CADMIUM RESISTANCE I
PDF1.2	PLANT DEFENSIN1.2
PEG	Polyethylene glycol
PIGS	Post-transcriptional genes silencing
psm.	Pseudomonas syringae
Pst.	Pseudomonas syringae
qRT-PCR	Quantitative Reverse-Transcriptase PCR
rfu	Relative florescence units
ROS1	REPRESSOR OF SILENCING 1

RNAi	RNA interference
POLII	RNA POLYMERASE II
POL IV	RNA POLYMERASE IV
RdRP	RNA-dependent RNA polymerase
RDR2	RNA-DEPENDENT RNA POLYMERASE 2
RISC	RNA-induced silencing complex
SA	Salicylic acid
SD-AFLP	Secondary digest AFLP
ssRNA	Single stranded RNA
siRNA	Small interfering RNA
transgene	SMTs
SD	Standard deviations
SI	Stomatal index
S.O.C	Super Optimal Broth
SDC	SUPPRESSOR OF DRM2, DRM1, CMT3
SAR	Systemic acquired resistance
TGS	Transcriptional genes silencing
TEs	Transposable elements
TEs	Transposable elements
TSA1	TSK-ASSOCIATING PROTEIN 1
TAT3	TYROSINE AMINOTRANSFERASE 3
UHRFI	Ubiquitin-like, containing PHD and RING finger domains 1
VIM1	VARIANT IN METHYLATION 1
VIM2	VARIANT IN METHYLATION 2
VIM3	VARIANT IN METHYLATION 3
VSP1	VEGETATIVE STORAGE PROTEIN1
VSP2	VEGETATIVE STORAGE PROTEIN2
VOC	Volatile organic compounds
WGA	Whole genome amplification
WT	Wild type
ZDP	ZINC FINGER DNA 3' PHOSPHOESTERASE
GUS	β-glucoronidase

VIII. References

- Abdi, H., 2007. Encyclopedia of Measurement and Statistics: The Bonferonni and Šidák Corrections for Multiple Comparisons, Encyclopedia of Measurement and Statistics. Sage.
- Adio, A.M., Casteel, C.L., De Vos, M., Kim, J.H., Joshi, V., Li, Baohua, Juéry, C., Daron, J., Kliebenstein, D.J., Jander, G., 2011. Biosynthesis and defensive function of Nδacetylornithine, a jasmonate-induced Arabidopsis metabolite. The Plant cell 23, 3303– 18.
- Aguayo, M.F., Ampuero, D., Mandujano, P., Parada, R., Muñoz, R., Gallart, M., Altabella, T., Cabrera, R., Stange, C., Handford, M., 2013. Sorbitol dehydrogenase is a cytosolic protein required for sorbitol metabolism in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant science 205-206, 63–75.
- Akimoto, K., Katakami, H., Kim, H.-J., Ogawa, E., Sano, C.M., Wada, Yuko, Sano, Hiroshi, 2007. Epigenetic inheritance in rice plants. Annals of botany 100, 205–17.
- Alboresi, A., Gestin, C., Leydecker, M.-T., Bedu, M., Meyer, C, Truong, H.-N., 2005. Nitrate, a signal relieving seed dormancy in Arabidopsis. Plant, cell & environment 28, 500–12.
- Alcazar, R.M., Lin, R., Fire, A.Z., 2008. Transmission dynamics of heritable silencing induced by double-stranded RNA in Caenorhabditis elegans. Genetics 180, 1275–88.
- Alexander, R., Beggs, J.D., 2010. Cross-talk in transcription, splicing and chromatin: who makes the first call? Biochemical Society transactions 38, 1251–6.
- Allmann, S., Halitschke, R., Schuurink, R.C., Baldwin, I.T., 2010. Oxylipin channelling in Nicotiana attenuata: lipoxygenase 2 supplies substrates for green leaf volatile production. Plant, cell & environment 33, 2028–40.
- Arc, E., Sechet, J., Corbineau, F., Rajjou, L., Marion-Poll, A., 2013. ABA crosstalk with ethylene and nitric oxide in seed dormancy and germination. Frontiers in plant science 4, 63.
- Asao, T., 2012. Hydroponics A Standard Methodology for Plant Biological Researches.
- Ashapkin, V. V, Kutueva, L.I., Vanyushin, B.F., 2002. The gene for domains rearranged methyltransferase (DRM2) in Arabidopsis thaliana plants is methylated at both cytosine and adenine residues. FEBS letters 532, 367–72.
- Assunção, A.G.L., Herrero, E., Lin, Y.-F., Huettel, B., Talukdar, S., Smaczniak, C., Immink, R.G.H., Van Eldik, M., Fiers, M., Schat, H., Aarts, M.G.M., 2010. Arabidopsis thaliana transcription factors bZIP19 and bZIP23 regulate the adaptation to zinc deficiency. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 10296–301.
- Ausin, I., Greenberg, M.V.C., Li, C.F., Jacobsen, Steven E, 2012. The splicing factor SR45 affects the RNA-directed DNA methylation pathway in Arabidopsis. Epigenetics 7, 29–33.
- Ausin, I., Mockler, T.C., Chory, J., Jacobsen, Steven E, 2009. IDN1 and IDN2 are required for de novo DNA methylation in Arabidopsis thaliana. Nature structural & molecular biology 16, 1325–7.
- Baek, D., Jiang, J., Chung, J.-S., Wang, B., Chen, J., Xin, Z., Shi, Huazhong, 2010. Regulated AtHKT1 Gene Expression by a Distal Enhancer Element and DNA Methylation in the Promoter Plays an Important Role in Salt Tolerance. Plant & cell physiology 52, 149–61.
- Baev, V., Naydenov, M., Apostolova, E., Ivanova, D., Doncheva, S., Minkov, I., Yahubyan, G., 2010. Identification of RNA-dependent DNA-methylation regulated promoters in Arabidopsis. Plant physiology and biochemistry 48, 393–400.
- Ballestar, E., Wolffe, a P., 2001. Methyl-CpG-binding proteins. Targeting specific gene repression. European journal of biochemistry / FEBS 268, 1–6.
- Banks, J. a, Masson, P., Fedoroff, N., 1988. Molecular mechanisms in the developmental regulation of the maize Suppressor-mutator transposable element. Genes & Development 2, 1364–1380.
- Baránek, M., Křižan, B., Ondrušíková, E., Pidra, M., 2009. DNA-methylation changes in grapevine somaclones following in vitro culture and thermotherapy. Plant Cell, Tissue and Organ Culture (PCTOC) 101, 11–22.
- Bauer, S., Gagneur, J., Robinson, P.N., 2010. GOing Bayesian: model-based gene set analysis of genome-scale data. Nucleic acids research 38, 3523–32.
- Baurens, F.-C., Bonnot, F.F., Bienvenu, D., Causse, S., Legavre, T., Agropolis, A., 2003. Using SD-AFLP and MSAP to Assess CCGG Methylation in the Banana Genome. Plant Molecular Biology Reporter 21, 339–348.
- Becher, M., Talke, I.N., Krall, L., Krämer, U., 2004. Cross-species microarray transcript profiling reveals high constitutive expression of metal homeostasis genes in shoots of the zinc hyperaccumulator Arabidopsis halleri. The Plant Journal 37, 251–268.
- Bell, A.C., Felsenfeld, G., 2000. Methylation of a CTCF-dependent boundary controls imprinted expression of the Igf2 gene. Nature 405, 482–5.
- Bell, E., Creelman, R. a, Mullet, J E, 1995. A chloroplast lipoxygenase is required for wound-induced jasmonic acid accumulation in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 92, 8675–9.
- Benjamini, Y, Hochberg, Y., 1995. Controlling the False Discovery Rate: A Practical and Powerful Approach to Multiple Testing. Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological) 57, 289–300.
- Bentsink, L., Koornneef, M., 2008. Seed dormancy and germination. The Arabidopsis book / American Society of Plant Biologists 6, e0119.
- Berger, S., Mitchell-Olds, T., Stotz, H.U., 2002. Local and differential control of vegetative storage protein expression in response to herbivore damage in Arabidopsis thaliana. Physiologia plantarum 114, 85–91.

- Bernatavichute, Y. V, Zhang, Xiaoyu, Cokus, S., Pellegrini, Matteo, Jacobsen, Steven E, 2008. Genome-wide association of histone H3 lysine nine methylation with CHG DNA methylation in Arabidopsis thaliana. PloS one 3, e3156.
- Bernstein, B.E., Birney, E., Dunham, I., Green, E.D., Gunter, C., Snyder, M., 2012. An integrated encyclopedia of DNA elements in the human genome. Nature 489, 57–74.
- Bertani, G., 1951. Studies on lysogenesis. I. The mode of phage liberation by lysogenic Escherichia coli. Journal of bacteriology 62, 293–300.
- Bestor, T., 1987. Supercoiling-dependent sequence specificity of mammalian DNA methyltransferase. Nucleic acids research 15, 3835–43.
- Bhattacharyya, N.P., Maher, V.M., McCormick, J.J., 1989. Ability of structurally related polycyclic aromatic carcinogens to induce homologous recombination between duplicated chromosomal sequences in mouse L cells. Mutation research 211, 205–14.
- Bilichak, A., Ilnystkyy, Y., Hollunder, J., Kovalchuk, I., 2012. The progeny of Arabidopsis thaliana plants exposed to salt exhibit changes in DNA methylation, histone modifications and gene expression. PloS one 7, e30515.
- Bird, A., 2002. DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. Genes & development 16, 6–21.
- Blanco, L., Bernads, A., Lharo, J.M., Martins, G., Garmendia, C., 1989. Highly Efficient DNA Synthesis by the Phage phi29 DNA Polymerase. The Journal of biological chemistry 264, 8935–8940.
- Blödner, C., Goebel, C., Feussner, I., Gatz, C., Polle, a, 2007. Warm and cold parental reproductive environments affect seed properties, fitness, and cold responsiveness in Arabidopsis thaliana progenies. Plant, cell & environment 30, 165–75.
- Boavida, L.C., Becker, J.D., Feijó, J. a, 2005. The making of gametes in higher plants. The International journal of developmental biology 49, 595–614.
- Bossdorf, O., Arcuri, D., Richards, C.L., Pigliucci, M., 2010. Experimental alteration of DNA methylation affects the phenotypic plasticity of ecologically relevant traits in Arabidopsis thaliana. Evolutionary Ecology 24, 541–553.
- Bostick, M., Kim, J.K., Estève, P.-O., Clark, A., Pradhan, S., Jacobsen, Steven E, 2007. UHRF1 plays a role in maintaining DNA methylation in mammalian cells. Science 317, 1760–4.
- Boyko, A., Blevins, T., Yao, Y., Golubov, A., Bilichak, A., Ilnytskyy, Y., Hollander, J., Meins, F., Kovalchuk, I., 2010. Transgenerational adaptation of Arabidopsis to stress requires DNA methylation and the function of dicer-like proteins. PloS one 5.
- Boyko, A., Hudson, D., Bhomkar, P., Kathiria, P., Kovalchuk, I., 2006. Increase of homologous recombination frequency in vascular tissue of Arabidopsis plants exposed to salt stress. Plant & cell physiology 47, 736–42.
- Boyko, A., Kovalchuk, I., 2010. Transgenerational response to stress in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant signaling & behavior 5, 995–8.

- Boyko, A., Kovalchuk, I., 2011. Genome instability and epigenetic modification--heritable responses to environmental stress? Current opinion in plant biology 14, 260–6.
- Brennan, C. a, Van Cleve, M.D., Gumport, R.I., 1986. The effects of base analogue substitutions on the cleavage by the EcoRI restriction endonuclease of octadeoxyribonucleotides containing modified EcoRI recognition sequences. The Journal of biological chemistry 261, 7270–8.
- Briat, J.-F., Duc, C., Ravet, K., Gaymard, F., 2010. Ferritins and iron storage in plants. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1800, 806–14.
- Brooks, J.E., Roberts, R.J., 1982. Modification profiles of bacterial genomes. Nucleic acids research 10, 913–934.
- Bruce, T., Matthes, M.C., Napier, J. a., Pickett, J. a., 2007. Stressful "memories" of plants: Evidence and possible mechanisms. Plant Science 173, 603–608.
- Brutnell, T.P., Ma, B.P., Dellaporta, Stephen L, 1997. Ac-st2 Element of Maize Exhibits a Positive Dosage Effect. Genetics.
- Buckley, B.A., Burkhart, K.B., Gu, S.G., Spracklin, G., Kershner, A., Fritz, H., Kimble, J., Fire, A., Kennedy, S., 2012. A nuclear Argonaute promotes multigenerational epigenetic inheritance and germline immortality. Nature 489, 447–51.
- Bullard, J.H., Purdom, E., Hansen, K.D., Dudoit, S., 2010. Evaluation of statistical methods for normalization and differential expression in mRNA-Seq experiments. BMC bioinformatics 11, 94.
- Burn, J.E., Bagnall, D.J., Metzger, J.D., Dennis, E S, Peacock, W J, 1993. DNA methylation, vernalization, and the initiation of flowering. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 90, 287–91.
- Calarco, J.P., Borges, F., Donoghue, M.T. a, Van Ex, F., Jullien, P.E., Lopes, T., Gardner, R., Berger, Frédéric, Feijó, J. a, Becker, J.D., Martienssen, R. a, 2012. Reprogramming of DNA methylation in pollen guides epigenetic inheritance via small RNA. Cell 151, 194–205.
- Cao, D., Gao, X., Liu, Jie, Kimatu, J.N., Geng, S., Zhao, Jing, Shi, D., 2011. Methylation sensitive amplified polymorphism (MSAP) reveals that alkali stress triggers more DNA hypomethylation levels in cotton (Gossypium hirsutum L.) roots than salt stress. African Journal of Biotechnology 10, 18971–18980.
- Cao, Xiaofeng, Jacobsen, Steven E, 2002a. Locus-specific control of asymmetric and CpNpG methylation by the DRM and CMT3 methyltransferase genes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 99 Suppl 4, 16491– 8.
- Cao, Xiaofeng, Jacobsen, Steven E, 2002b. Role of the arabidopsis DRM methyltransferases in de novo DNA methylation and gene silencing. Current biology 12, 1138–44.
- Case, A.L., Lacey, E.P., Hopkins, R.G., 1996. Parental effects in Plantago lanceolata L. II. Manipulation of grandparental temperature and parental flowering time. Heredity 76, 287–295.

- Casson, S. a, Hetherington, A.M., 2010. Environmental regulation of stomatal development. Current opinion in plant biology 13, 90–5.
- Cervera, M.T., Ruiz-García, L., Martínez-Zapater, J.M., 2002. Analysis of DNA methylation in Arabidopsis thaliana based on methylation-sensitive AFLP markers. Molecular genetics and genomics : MGG 268, 543–52.
- Chan, S.W.-L., Henderson, I.R., Zhang, Xiaoyu, Shah, G., Chien, J.S.-C., Jacobsen, Steven E, 2006. RNAi, DRD1, and histone methylation actively target developmentally important non-CG DNA methylation in arabidopsis. PLoS genetics 2, e83.
- Chan, S.W.-L., Zilberman, Daniel, Xie, Z., Johansen, L.K., Carrington, J.C., Jacobsen, Steven E, 2004. RNA silencing genes control de novo DNA methylation. Science 303, 1336.
- Chellappan, P., Xia, J., Zhou, Xuefeng, Gao, S., Zhang, Xiaoming, Coutino, G., Vazquez, F., Zhang, Weixiong, Jin, Hailing, 2010. siRNAs from miRNA sites mediate DNA methylation of target genes. Nucleic acids research 38, 6883–94.
- Chen, D., Meng, Y., Yuan, C., Bai, L., Huang, D., Lv, S., Wu, P., Chen, L.-L., Chen, M., 2011. Plant siRNAs from introns mediate DNA methylation of host genes. RNA 17, 1012–24.
- Chen, Songbiao, Songkumarn, P., Liu, Jianli, Wang, Guo-Liang, 2009. A versatile zero background T-vector system for gene cloning and functional genomics. Plant physiology 150, 1111–21.
- Chodavarapu, R.K., Feng, Suhua, Bernatavichute, Y. V., Chen, P.-Y., Stroud, Hume, Yu, Y., Hetzel, J. a., Kuo, F., Kim, J., Cokus, S.J., Casero, D., Bernal, M., Huijser, P., Clark, A.T., Krämer, U., Merchant, S.S., Zhang, Xiaoyu, Jacobsen, Steven E., Pellegrini, Matteo, 2010. Relationship between nucleosome positioning and DNA methylation. Nature 466, 388–92.
- Choi, C.-S., Sano, Hiroshi, 2007. Abiotic-stress induces demethylation and transcriptional activation of a gene encoding a glycerophosphodiesterase-like protein in tobacco plants. Molecular genetics and genomics : MGG 277, 589–600.
- Choi, Y., Gehring, M., Johnson, L., Hannon, M., Harada, J.J., Goldberg, R.B., Jacobsen, Steven E, Fischer, R.L., 2002. DEMETER, a DNA glycosylase domain protein, is required for endosperm gene imprinting and seed viability in arabidopsis. Cell 110, 33– 42.
- Chomczynski, P., Sacchi, N., 2006. The single-step method of RNA isolation by acid guanidinium thiocyanate-phenol-chloroform extraction: twenty-something years on. Nature protocols 1, 581–5.
- Chomet, P.S., Wessler, S., Dellaporta, S L, 1987. Inactivation of the maize transposable element Activator (Ac) is associated with its DNA modification. The EMBO journal 6, 295–302.
- Clough, S.J., Bent, A.F., 1998. Floral dip: a simplified method forAgrobacterium-mediated transformation ofArabidopsis thaliana. The Plant Journal 16, 735–743.

- Cokus, S.J., Feng, Suhua, Zhang, Xiaoyu, Chen, Z., Merriman, B., Haudenschild, C.D., Pradhan, S., Nelson, S.F., Pellegrini, Matteo, Jacobsen, Steven E, 2008. Shotgun bisulphite sequencing of the Arabidopsis genome reveals DNA methylation patterning. Nature 452, 215–9.
- Colaneri, A.C., Jones, A.M., 2013. Genome-wide quantitative identification of DNA differentially methylated sites in arabidopsis seedlings growing at different water potential. PloS one 8, e59878.
- Colangelo, E.P., Guerinot, M. Lou, 2004. The essential basic helix-loop-helix protein FIT1 is required for the iron deficiency response. The Plant cell 16, 3400–12.
- Connolly, Erin L, Campbell, N.H., Grotz, N., Prichard, C.L., Guerinot, M. Lou, 2003. Overexpression of the FRO2 ferric chelate reductase confers tolerance to growth on low iron and uncovers posttranscriptional control. Plant physiology 133, 1102–10.
- Conrath, U., Beckers, G.J.M., Flors, Victor, García-Agustín, P., Jakab, Gábor, Mauch, F., Newman, M.-A., Pieterse, C.M.J., Poinssot, B., Pozo, M.J., Pugin, A., Schaffrath, U., Ton, Jurriaan, Wendehenne, D., Zimmerli, L., Mauch-Mani, Brigitte, 2006. Priming: getting ready for battle. Molecular plant-microbe interactions 19, 1062–71.
- Cubas, P., Vincent, C., Coen, E., 1999. An epigenetic mutation responsible for natural variation in floral symmetry. Nature 401, 157–61.
- Dave, A., Graham, I., 2012. Oxylipin Signaling: A Distinct Role for the Jasmonic Acid Precursor cis-(+)-12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid (cis-OPDA). Frontiers in plant science 3, 42.
- Dillies, M.-A., Rau, A., Aubert, J., Hennequet-Antier, C., Jeanmougin, M., Servant, N., Keime, C., Marot, G., Castel, D., Estelle, J., Guernec, G., Jagla, B., Jouneau, L., Laloë, D., Le Gall, C., Schaëffer, B., Le Crom, S., Guedj, M., Jaffrézic, F., 2012. A comprehensive evaluation of normalization methods for Illumina high-throughput RNA sequencing data analysis. Briefings in bioinformatics.
- Dou, K., Huang, C.-F., Ma, Z.-Y., Zhang, C.-J., Zhou, J.-X., Huang, H.-W., Cai, T., Tang, K., Zhu, J.-K., He, X.-J., 2013. The PRP6-like splicing factor STA1 is involved in RNA-directed DNA methylation by facilitating the production of Pol V-dependent scaffold RNAs. Nucleic Acids Research 4, 1–14.
- Dowen, R.H., Pelizzola, M., Schmitz, R.J., Lister, R., Dowen, J.M., Nery, J.R., Dixon, J.E., Ecker, J.R., 2012. Widespread dynamic DNA methylation in response to biotic stress. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109, E2183–91.
- Duan, H., Huang, M., Palacio, K., Schuler, M.A., 2005. Variations in CYP74B2 (Hydroperoxide Lyase) Gene Expression Differentially Affect Hexenal Signaling in the Columbia and Landsberg erecta Ecotypes. Plant physiology 139, 1529–1544.
- Dunoyer, P., Brosnan, C. a, Schott, G., Wang, Yu, Jay, F., Alioua, A., Himber, C., Voinnet, O., 2010. An endogenous, systemic RNAi pathway in plants. The EMBO journal 29, 1699–712.

- Duy, D., Wanner, G., Meda, A.R., Von Wirén, N., Soll, J., Philippar, K., 2007. PIC1, an ancient permease in Arabidopsis chloroplasts, mediates iron transport. The Plant cell 19, 986–1006.
- Dyachenko, O. V., Zakharchenko, N.S., Shevchuk, T. V., Bohnert, H.J., Cushman, J. C., Buryanov, Y.I., 2006. Effect of hypermethylation of CCWGG sequences in DNA of Mesembryanthemum crystallinum plants on their adaptation to salt stress. Biochemistry (Moscow) 71, 461–465.
- Edentula, C., Fridriksson, S., 1966. The Pioneer Species of Vascular Plants in Surtsey, Cakile Edentula. Surtsey Research Progress Report II 6–8.
- Ellouzi, H., Ben Hamed, K., Asensi-Fabado, M.A., Müller, M., Abdelly, C., Munné-Bosch, S., 2013. Drought and cadmium may be as effective as salinity in conferring subsequent salt stress tolerance in Cakile maritima. Planta 237, 1311–23.
- El-Shami, M., Pontier, D., Lahmy, S., Braun, L., Picart, C., Vega, D., Hakimi, M.-A., Jacobsen, Steven E, Cooke, R., Lagrange, T., 2007. Reiterated WG/GW motifs form functionally and evolutionarily conserved ARGONAUTE-binding platforms in RNAirelated components. Genes & development 21, 2539–44.
- Enke, R. a, Dong, Z., Bender, J., 2011. Small RNAs prevent transcription-coupled loss of histone H3 lysine 9 methylation in Arabidopsis thaliana. PLoS genetics 7, e1002350.
- Eun, C., Lorkovic, Z.J., Naumann, U., Long, Q., Havecker, E.R., Simon, S. a., Meyers, Blake C., Matzke, Antonius J. M., Matzke, M., 2011. AGO6 functions in RNAmediated transcriptional gene silencing in shoot and root meristems in Arabidopsis thaliana. PLoS ONE 6, e25730.
- Feng, Q., Zhang, Y, 2001. The MeCP1 complex represses transcription through preferential binding, remodeling, and deacetylating methylated nucleosomes. Genes & development 15, 827–32.
- Feng, Suhua, Cokus, S.J., Zhang, Xiaoyu, Chen, P.-Y., Bostick, M., Goll, M.G., Hetzel, J., Jain, J., Strauss, S.H., Halpern, M.E., Ukomadu, C., Sadler, K.C., Pradhan, S., Pellegrini, Matteo, Jacobsen, Steven E, 2010a. Conservation and divergence of methylation patterning in plants and animals. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 1–6.
- Feng, Suhua, Jacobsen, Steven E, Reik, W., 2010b. Epigenetic reprogramming in plant and animal development. Science 330, 622–7.
- Finn, T.E., Wang, Lei, Smolilo, D., Smith, N.A., White, R., Chaudhury, A., Dennis, Elizabeth S, Wang, M., 2011. Transgene expression and transgene-induced silencing in diploid and autotetraploid Arabidopsis. Genetics 187, 409–23.
- Finnegan, E.J., Dennis, E S, 1993. Isolation and identification by sequence homology of a putative cytosine methyltransferase from Arabidopsis thaliana. Nucleic Acids Research 21, 2383–2388.
- Frederico, L. a, Kunkel, T. a, Shaw, B.R., 1990. A sensitive genetic assay for the detection of cytosine deamination: determination of rate constants and the activation energy. Biochemistry 29, 2532–7.

- Fu, J., Keurentjes, J.J.B., Bouwmeester, H., America, T., Verstappen, F.W. a, Ward, J.L., Beale, M.H., De Vos, R.C.H., Dijkstra, M., Scheltema, R. a, Johannes, F., Koornneef, M., Vreugdenhil, D., Breitling, R., Jansen, R.C., 2009. System-wide molecular evidence for phenotypic buffering in Arabidopsis. Nature genetics 41, 166–7.
- Furner, I.J., Matzke, M., 2010. Methylation and demethylation of the Arabidopsis genome. Current opinion in plant biology 14, 137–41.
- Gális, I., Gaquerel, E., Pandey, S.P., Baldwin, I.T., 2009. Molecular mechanisms underlying plant memory in JA-mediated defence responses. Plant, cell & environment 32, 617–27.
- Gao, Z., Liu, Hai-liang, Daxinger, L., Pontes, O., He, X., Qian, W., Lin, H., Xie, M., Lorkovic, Z.J., Zhang, S., Miki, D., Zhan, X., Pontier, D., Lagrange, T., Jin, Hailing, Matzke, Antonius J M, Matzke, M., Pikaard, C.S., Zhu, Jian-kang, 2010. An RNA polymerase II- and AGO4-associated protein acts in RNA-directed DNA methylation. Nature 465, 106–109.
- García-Mina, J.M., Bacaicoa, E., Fuentes, M., Casanova, E., 2013. Fine regulation of leaf iron use efficiency and iron root uptake under limited iron bioavailability. Plant science 198, 39–45.
- Gasciolli, V., Mallory, A.C., Bartel, D.P., Vaucheret, H., 2005. Partially redundant functions of Arabidopsis DICER-like enzymes and a role for DCL4 in producing trans-acting siRNAs. Current biology 15, 1494–500.
- Gaudinier, A., Zhang, L., Reece-Hoyes, J.S., Taylor-Teeples, M., Pu, L., Liu, Z., Breton, G., Pruneda-Paz, J.L., Kim, Dahae, Kay, S. a, Walhout, A.J.M., Ware, D., Brady, S.M., 2011. Enhanced Y1H assays for Arabidopsis. Nature methods 8, 1053–5.
- Gehring, M., Bubb, K.L., Henikoff, Steven, 2009. Extensive demethylation of repetitive elements during seed development underlies gene imprinting. Science 324, 1447–51.
- Gehring, M., Henikoff, Steven, 2007. DNA methylation dynamics in plant genomes. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1769, 276–86.
- Gentry, M., Meyer, P., 2013. An 11bp region with stem formation potential is essential for de novo DNA methylation of the RPS element. PloS one 8, e63652.
- Glastad, K.M., Hunt, B.G., Yi, S V, Goodisman, M. a D., 2011. DNA methylation in insects: on the brink of the epigenomic era. Insect molecular biology 20, 553–65.
- Gliboff, S., 2005. "Protoplasm...is soft wax in our hands": Paul Kammerer and the art of biological transformation. Endeavour 29, 162–7.
- Goh, C.-H., Nam, H.G., Park, Y.S., 2003. Stress memory in plants: a negative regulation of stomatal response and transient induction of rd22 gene to light in abscisic acid-entrained Arabidopsis plants. The Plant Journal 36, 240–255.
- Gong, Z, Koiwa, H, Cushman, M. a, Ray, a, Bufford, D., Kore-eda, S., Matsumoto, T.K., Zhu, J, Cushman, J C, Bressan, R. a, Hasegawa, P.M., 2001. Genes that are uniquely stress regulated in salt overly sensitive (sos) mutants. Plant physiology 126, 363–75.

- Gong, Zhizhong, Morales-Ruiz, T., Ariza, R.R., Roldán-Arjona, T., David, L., Zhu, J.K., 2002. ROS1, a repressor of transcriptional gene silencing in Arabidopsis, encodes a DNA glycosylase/lyase. Cell 111, 803–14.
- Goswami, A., Banerjee, R., Raha, S., 2010. Mechanisms of plant adaptation/memory in rice seedlings under arsenic and heat stress: expression of heat-shock protein gene HSP70. AoB plants 2010.
- Greenberg, M.V.C., L, W., Josh, T., Law, J.A., Jacobsen, E., Ausin, I., Chan, S.W.L., Cokus, S.J., Cuperus, J.T., Feng, Suhua, Chu, Carolyn, Pellegrini, Matteo, Carrington, J.C., Jacobsen, Steven E, T, J., 2011. Identification of genes required for de novo DNA methylation in Arabidopsis. Epigenetics 6, 344–54.
- Grentzinger, T., Armenise, C., Brun, C., Mugat, B., Serrano, V., Pelisson, A., Chambeyron, S., 2012. piRNA-mediated transgenerational inheritance of an acquired trait. Genome research 22, 1877–88.
- Groszmann, M., Greaves, I.K., Albertyn, Z.I., Scofield, G.N., Peacock, William J, Dennis, Elizabeth S, 2011. Changes in 24-nt siRNA levels in Arabidopsis hybrids suggest an epigenetic contribution to hybrid vigor. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108, 2617–2622.
- Gu, W., Shirayama, M., Conte, D., Vasale, J., Batista, P.J., Claycomb, J.M., Moresco, J.J., Youngman, E.M., Keys, J., Stoltz, M.J., Chen, C.-C.G., Chaves, D. a, Duan, S., Kasschau, K.D., Fahlgren, N., Yates, J.R., Mitani, S., Carrington, J.C., Mello, C.C., 2009. Distinct argonaute-mediated 22G-RNA pathways direct genome surveillance in the C. elegans germline. Molecular cell 36, 231–44.
- Guelke, M., Von Blanckenburg, F., 2007. Fractionation of stable iron isotopes in higher plants. Environmental science & technology 41, 1896–901.
- Gutierrez-Marcos, J.F., Dickinson, H.G., 2012. Epigenetic reprogramming in plant reproductive lineages. Plant & cell physiology 53, 817–23.
- Gutzat, R., Mittelsten Scheid, O., 2012. Epigenetic responses to stress: triple defense? Current opinion in plant biology 15, 568–73.
- Ha, M., Ng, D.W.-K., Li, W.-H., Chen, Z.J., 2011. Coordinated histone modifications are associated with gene expression variation within and between species. Genome research 21, 590–8.
- Hackett, J. a, Surani, M.A., 2013. DNA methylation dynamics during the mammalian life cycle. Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences 368, 20110328.
- Hanahan, D., 1983. Studies on transformation of Escherichia coli with plasmids. Journal of molecular biology 166, 557–80.
- Hashida, S., Uchiyama, T., Martin, C., Kishima, Y., Sano, Y., Mikami, T., 2006. The temperature-dependent change in methylation of the Antirrhinum transposon Tam3 is controlled by the activity of its transposase. The Plant cell 18, 104–18.

- Havecker, E.R., Wallbridge, L.M., Hardcastle, T.J., Bush, M.S., Kelly, K.A., Dunn, R.M., Schwach, F., Doonan, J.H., Baulcombe, David C, 2010. The Arabidopsis RNAdirected DNA methylation argonautes functionally diverge based on their expression and interaction with target loci. The Plant cell 22, 321–34.
- Hayashi, M., Gerry, S.P., Ellerby, D.J., 2010. The seed dispersal catapult of Cardamine parviflora (Brassicaceae) is efficient but unreliable. American journal of botany 97, 1595–601.
- He, Xin-Jian, Hsu, Y.-F., Zhu, S., Wierzbicki, A.T., Pontes, O., Pikaard, C.S., Liu, H.-L., Wang, C.-S., Jin, Hailing, Zhu, Jian-Kang, 2009. An effector of RNA-directed DNA methylation in arabidopsis is an ARGONAUTE 4- and RNA-binding protein. Cell 137, 498–508.
- Heil, M., Ton, Jurriaan, 2008. Long-distance signalling in plant defence. Trends in plant science 13, 264–72.
- Hemberger, M., Dean, W., Reik, W., 2009. Epigenetic dynamics of stem cells and cell lineage commitment: digging Waddington's canal. Nature reviews. Molecular cell biology 10, 526–37.
- Henderson, I.R., Deleris, A., Wong, W., Zhong, X., Chin, H.G., Horwitz, G.A., Kelly, K.A., Pradhan, S., Jacobsen, Steven E., 2010. The De Novo Cytosine Methyltransferase DRM2 Requires Intact UBA Domains and a Catalytically Mutated Paralog DRM3 during RNA–Directed DNA Methylation in Arabidopsis thaliana. PLoS Genetics 6, e1001182.
- Henderson, IR, Jacobsen, S., 2008. Tandem repeats upstream of the Arabidopsis endogene SDC recruit non-CG DNA methylation and initiate siRNA spreading. Genes & development 22, 1597–1606.
- Henikoff, S, Comai, L., 1998. A DNA methyltransferase homolog with a chromodomain exists in multiple polymorphic forms in Arabidopsis. Genetics 149, 307–18.
- Hermann, A., Jeltsch, A., 2003. Methylation sensitivity of restriction enzymes interacting with GATC sites. BioTechniques 34, 924–6, 928, 930.
- Hershberger, R.J., Warren, C. a, Walbot, V., 1991. Mutator activity in maize correlates with the presence and expression of the Mu transposable element Mu9. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 88, 10198–202.
- Hinz, M., Wilson, I.W., Yang, J., Buerstenbinder, K., Llewellyn, D., Dennis, Elizabeth S, Sauter, M., Dolferus, R., 2010. Arabidopsis RAP2.2: an ethylene response transcription factor that is important for hypoxia survival. Plant physiology 153, 757–72.
- Hirao, T., Okazawa, A., Harada, K., Kobayashi, Akio, Muranaka, T., Hirata, K., 2012. Green leaf volatiles enhance methyl jasmonate response in Arabidopsis. Journal of bioscience and bioengineering 114, 540–5.
- Höfgen, R., Willmitzer, L, 1988. Storage of competent cells for Agrobacterium transformation. Nucleic Acids Research 16, 9877–9877.

- Hosono, S., Faruqi, a F., Dean, F.B., Du, Y., Sun, Z., Wu, X., Du, Jing, Kingsmore, S.F., Egholm, M., Lasken, R.S., 2003. Unbiased whole-genome amplification directly from clinical samples. Genome research 13, 954–64.
- Hruz, T., Laule, O., Szabo, G., Wessendorp, F., Bleuler, S., Oertle, L., Widmayer, P., Gruissem, W., Zimmermann, P., 2008. Genevestigator v3: a reference expression database for the meta-analysis of transcriptomes. Advances in bioinformatics 2008, 420747.
- Hsieh, T.-F., Ibarra, C. a, Silva, P., Zemach, A., Eshed-Williams, L., Fischer, R.L., Zilberman, Daniel, 2009. Genome-wide demethylation of Arabidopsis endosperm. Science 324, 1451–4.
- Huang, L., Farnet, C.M., Ehrlich, K.C., Ehrlich, M., 1982. Digestion of highly modified bacteriophage DNA by restriction endonucleases. Nucleic acids research 10, 1579– 1591.
- Huettel, B., Kanno, T., Daxinger, L., Aufsatz, W., Matzke, Antonius J M, Matzke, M., 2006. Endogenous targets of RNA-directed DNA methylation and Pol IV in Arabidopsis. The EMBO journal 25, 2828–36.
- Huettel, B., Kanno, T., Daxinger, L., Bucher, E., Van der Winden, J., Matzke, Antonius J M, Matzke, M., 2007. RNA-directed DNA methylation mediated by DRD1 and Pol IVb: a versatile pathway for transcriptional gene silencing in plants. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1769, 358–74.
- Huh, I., Zeng, J., Park, T., Yi, Soojin V, 2013. DNA methylation and transcriptional noise. Epigenetics & chromatin 6, 9.
- Hutchison, C. a, Smith, H.O., Pfannkoch, C., Venter, J.C., 2005. Cell-free cloning using phi29 DNA polymerase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102, 17332–6.
- Ito, H., Gaubert, H., Bucher, E., Mirouze, M., Vaillant, I., Paszkowski, Jerzy, 2011. An siRNA pathway prevents transgenerational retrotransposition in plants subjected to stress. Nature 472, 5–10.
- Jablonka, E., Lamb, M.J., 2002. The changing concept of epigenetics. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences 981, 82–96.
- Jackson, James P, Lindroth, Anders M, Cao, Xiaofeng, Jacobsen, Steven E, 2002. Control of CpNpG DNA methylation by the KRYPTONITE histone H3 methyltransferase. Nature 416, 556–60.
- Jakab, Gabor, Rigoli, G., Zimmerli, L., 2001. β-Aminobutyric acid-induced resistance in plants 29–37.
- Jakab, Gabor, Ton, Jurriaan, Flors, Victor, Zimmerli, L., Métraux, J.-P., Mauch-Mani, Brigitte, 2005. Enhancing Arabidopsis salt and drought stress tolerance by chemical priming for its abscisic acid responses. Plant physiology 139, 267–74.

- Jakoby, M., Weisshaar, B., Dröge-Laser, W., Vicente-Carbajosa, J., Tiedemann, J., Kroj, T., Parcy, F., 2002. bZIP transcription factors in Arabidopsis. Trends in plant science 7, 106–11.
- Jaskiewicz, M., Conrath, U., Peterhänsel, C., 2011. Chromatin modification acts as a memory for systemic acquired resistance in the plant stress response. EMBO reports 12, 50–5.
- Jeong, J., Cohu, C., Kerkeb, L., Pilon, M., Connolly, Erin L, Guerinot, M. Lou, 2008. Chloroplast Fe(III) chelate reductase activity is essential for seedling viability under iron limiting conditions. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105, 10619–24.
- Jeong, J., Connolly, Erin L., 2009. Iron uptake mechanisms in plants: Functions of the FRO family of ferric reductases. Plant Science 176, 709–714.
- Jia, Y., Lisch, D.R., Ohtsu, K., Scanlon, M.J., Nettleton, D., Schnable, P.S., 2009. Loss of RNA-dependent RNA polymerase 2 (RDR2) function causes widespread and unexpected changes in the expression of transposons, genes, and 24-nt small RNAs. PLoS genetics 5, e1000737.
- Johannes, F., Porcher, E., Teixeira, Felipe K, Saliba-Colombani, V., Simon, M., Agier, N., Bulski, A., Albuisson, J., Heredia, F., Audigier, P., Bouchez, D., Dillmann, C., Guerche, P., Hospital, F., Colot, V., 2009. Assessing the impact of transgenerational epigenetic variation on complex traits. PLoS genetics 5, e1000530.
- Johnson, L.M., Bostick, M., Zhang, Xiaoyu, Kraft, E., Henderson, Ian, Callis, J., Jacobsen, Steven E, 2007. The SRA methyl-cytosine-binding domain links DNA and histone methylation. Current biology 17, 379–84.
- Johnson, L.M., Law, J. a, Khattar, A., Henderson, I.R., Jacobsen, Steven E, 2008. SRAdomain proteins required for DRM2-mediated de novo DNA methylation. PLoS genetics 4, e1000280.
- Jones, L., Ratcliff, F., Baulcombe, D C, 2001. RNA-directed transcriptional gene silencing in plants can be inherited independently of the RNA trigger and requires Met1 for maintenance. Current biology 11, 747–57.
- Jones, P.A., 1985. Altering gene expression with 5-azacytidine. Cell 40, 485-6.
- Jullien, P.E., Kinoshita, T., Ohad, N., 2006. Maintenance of DNA Methylation during the Arabidopsis Life Cycle Is Essential for Parental Imprinting. The Plant cell 18, 1360– 1372.
- Jullien, P.E., Susaki, D., Yelagandula, R., Higashiyama, T., Berger, Frédéric, 2012. DNA methylation dynamics during sexual reproduction in Arabidopsis thaliana. Current biology 22, 1825–30.
- Kageyama, S., Shinmura, K., Yamamoto, H., Goto, M., Suzuki, K., Tanioka, F., Tsuneyoshi, T., Sugimura, H., 2008. Fluorescence-labeled methylation-sensitive amplified fragment length polymorphism (FL-MS-AFLP) analysis for quantitative determination of DNA methylation and demethylation status. Japanese journal of clinical oncology 38, 317– 22.

- Kakutani, T, 1997. Genetic characterization of late-flowering traits induced by DNA hypomethylation mutation in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant journal 12, 1447–51.
- Kalamaki, M.S., Merkouropoulos, G., Kanellis, A.K., 2009. Can ornithine accumulation modulate abiotic stress tolerance in Arabidopsis? Plant signaling & behavior 4, 1099– 1101.
- Kanno, T., Bucher, E., Daxinger, L., Huettel, B., Böhmdorfer, G., Gregor, W., Kreil, D.P., Matzke, M., Matzke, Antonius J M, 2008. A structural-maintenance-of-chromosomes hinge domain-containing protein is required for RNA-directed DNA methylation. Nature genetics 40, 670–5.
- Kanno, T., Bucher, E., Daxinger, L., Huettel, B., Kreil, D.P., Breinig, F., Lind, M., Schmitt, M.J., Simon, S.A., Gurazada, S.G.R., Meyers, Blake C, Lorkovic, Z.J., Matzke, Antonius J M, Matzke, M., 2010. RNA-directed DNA methylation and plant development require an IWR1-type transcription factor. EMBO reports 11, 65–71.
- Kanno, T., Mette, M.F., Kreil, D.P., Aufsatz, W., Matzke, M., Matzke, Antonius J M, 2004. Involvement of putative SNF2 chromatin remodeling protein DRD1 in RNA-directed DNA methylation. Current biology : CB 14, 801–5.
- Karan, R., DeLeon, T., Biradar, H., Subudhi, P.K., 2012. Salt stress induced variation in DNA methylation pattern and its influence on gene expression in contrasting rice genotypes. PloS one 7, e40203.
- Kato, M., Miura, Asuka, Bender, J., Jacobsen, Steven E, Kakutani, Tetsuji, 2003. Role of CG and Non-CG Methylation in Immobilization of Transposons in Arabidopsis. Current biology 13, 421–426.
- Katori, T., Ikeda, A., Iuchi, S., Kobayashi, M., Shinozaki, Kazuo, Maehashi, K., Sakata, Y., Tanaka, S., Taji, T., 2010. Dissecting the genetic control of natural variation in salt tolerance of Arabidopsis thaliana accessions. Journal of experimental botany 61, 1–14.
- Keunen, E., Remans, T., Opdenakker, K., Jozefczak, M., Gielen, H., Guisez, Y., Vangronsveld, J., Cuypers, A., 2013. A mutant of the Arabidopsis thaliana LIPOXYGENASE1 gene shows altered signalling and oxidative stress related responses after cadmium exposure. Plant physiology and biochemistry 63, 272–80.
- Kim, Do-young, Bovet, L., Kushnir, S., Noh, E.W., Martinoia, E., Lee, Y., 2006. AtATM3 is involved in heavy metal resistance in Arabidopsis. Plant physiology 140, 922–32.
- Kim, J.Y., Kwak, K.J., Jung, H.J., Lee, H.J., Kang, H., 2010. MicroRNA402 affects seed germination of Arabidopsis thaliana under stress conditions via targeting DEMETER-LIKE Protein3 mRNA. Plant & cell physiology 51, 1079–83.
- Kinoshita, T., Miura, Asuka, Choi, Y., Kinoshita, Y., Cao, Xiaofeng, Jacobsen, Steven E, Fischer, R.L., Kakutani, Tetsuji, 2004. One-way control of FWA imprinting in Arabidopsis endosperm by DNA methylation. Science 303, 521–3.
- Kinoshita, Y., Saze, H., Kinoshita, T., Miura, Asuka, Soppe, W.J.J., Koornneef, M., Kakutani, Tetsuji, 2007. Control of FWA gene silencing in Arabidopsis thaliana by SINE-related direct repeats. The Plant journal 49, 38–45.

- Kobayashi, Akie, Takahashi, A., Kakimoto, Y., Miyazawa, Y., Fujii, N., Higashitani, A., Takahashi, H., 2007. A gene essential for hydrotropism in roots. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104, 4724–9.
- Kondo, H., Ozaki, H., Itoh, K., Kato, A., Takeno, K., 2006. Flowering induced by 5azacytidine, a DNA demethylating reagent in a short-day plant, Perilla frutescens var. crispa. Physiologia Plantarum 127, 130–137.
- Kondo, H., Shiraya, T., Wada, K.C., Takeno, K., 2010. Induction of flowering by DNA demethylation in Perilla frutescens and Silene armeria: Heritability of 5-azacytidineinduced effects and alteration of the DNA methylation state by photoperiodic conditions. Plant Science 178, 321–326.
- Kou, H.P., Li, Y, Song, X.X., Ou, X.F., Xing, S.C., Ma, J, Von Wettstein, D, Liu, B, 2011. Heritable alteration in DNA methylation induced by nitrogen-deficiency stress accompanies enhanced tolerance by progenies to the stress in rice (Oryza sativa L.). Journal of plant physiology 168, 1685–93.
- Kouskouti, A., Talianidis, I., 2005. Histone modifications defining active genes persist after transcriptional and mitotic inactivation. The EMBO journal 24, 347–57.
- Kouzarides, T., 2007. Chromatin modifications and their function. Cell 128, 693–705.
- Lan, P., Li, W., Schmidt, W., 2012. Complementary proteome and transcriptome profiling in phosphate-deficient Arabidopsis roots reveals multiple levels of gene regulation. Molecular & cellular proteomics 11, 1156–66.
- Lang-Mladek, C., Popova, O., Kiok, K., Berlinger, M., Rakic, B., Aufsatz, W., Jonak, C., Hauser, M.-T., Luschnig, C., 2010. Transgenerational inheritance and resetting of stress-induced loss of epigenetic gene silencing in Arabidopsis. Molecular plant 3, 594–602.
- Lanquar, V., Lelièvre, F., Bolte, S., Hamès, C., Alcon, C., Neumann, D., Vansuyt, G., Curie, C., Schröder, A., Krämer, U., Barbier-Brygoo, H., Thomine, S., 2005. Mobilization of vacuolar iron by AtNRAMP3 and AtNRAMP4 is essential for seed germination on low iron. The EMBO journal 24, 4041–51.
- Latzel, V., Janeček, Š., Doležal, J., Klimešová, J., Bossdorf, O., 2013. Adaptive transgenerational plasticity in the perennial Plantago lanceolata. Oikos.
- Latzel, V., Klimešová, J., Hájek, T., Gómez, S., Šmilauer, P., 2010. Maternal effects alter progeny's response to disturbance and nutrients in two Plantago species. Oikos 119, 1700–1710.
- Law, J. a, Ausin, I., Johnson, L.M., Vashisht, A. a, Zhu, Jian-kang, Wohlschlegel, J.A., Jacobsen, Steven E, 2010. A Protein Complex Required for Polymerase V Transcripts and RNA- Directed DNA Methylation in Arabidopsis. Current biology 20, 951–956.
- Law, J. a, Vashisht, A. a, Wohlschlegel, J. a, Jacobsen, Steven E, 2011. SHH1, a homeodomain protein required for DNA methylation, as well as RDR2, RDM4, and chromatin remodeling factors, associate with RNA polymerase IV. PLoS genetics 7, e1002195.

- Lawley, P.D., Crathorn, A.R., Shah, S.A., Smith, B.A., 1972. Biomethylation of deoxyribonucleic acid in cultured human tumour cells (HeLa). Methylated bases other than 5-methylcytosine not detected. The Biochemical journal 128, 133–8.
- Lebel, E.G., Masson, J., Bogucki, a, Paszkowski, J, 1993. Stress-induced intrachromosomal recombination in plant somatic cells. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 90, 422–6.
- Lee, H.-C., Gu, W., Shirayama, M., Youngman, E., Conte, D., Mello, C.C., 2012. C. elegans piRNAs mediate the genome-wide surveillance of germline transcripts. Cell 150, 78– 87.
- Levin, M., Resnick, N., Rosianskey, Y., Kolotilin, I., Wininger, S., Lemcoff, J.H., Cohen, S., Galili, G., Koltai, H., Kapulnik, Y., 2009. Transcriptional profiling of Arabidopsis thaliana plants' response to low relative humidity suggests a shoot–root communication. Plant Science 177, 450–459.
- Lew, M., 2007. Good statistical practice in pharmacology. Problem 2. British journal of pharmacology 152, 299–303.
- Li, Bing, Carey, M., Workman, J.L., 2007. The role of chromatin during transcription. Cell 128, 707–19.
- Li, Junjie, Yang, Z., Yu, B., Liu, Jun, Chen, X., 2005. Methylation protects miRNAs and siRNAs from a 3'-end uridylation activity in Arabidopsis. Current biology 15, 1501–7.
- Li, L.-Y., Cai, Q.-Y., Yu, D.-S., Guo, C.-H., 2011. Overexpression of AtFRO6 in transgenic tobacco enhances ferric chelate reductase activity in leaves and increases tolerance to iron-deficiency chlorosis. Molecular biology reports 38, 3605–13.
- Li, Xiaojie, Qian, W., Zhao, Yusheng, Wang, C., Shen, J., Zhu, Jian-Kang, Gong, Zhizhong, 2012. Antisilencing role of the RNA-directed DNA methylation pathway and a histone acetyltransferase in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 109, 11425–30.
- Li, Yuan, Xia, Q., Kou, H., Wang, Dan, Lin, X., Wu, Y., Xu, C., Xing, S., Liu, Bao, 2011. Induced Pib Expression and Resistance to Magnaporthe grisea are Compromised by Cytosine Demethylation at Critical Promoter Regions in Rice. Journal of integrative plant biology 53, 814–823.
- Li-Byarlay, H., Li, Yang, Stroud, Hume, Feng, Suhua, Newman, T.C., Kaneda, M., Hou, K.K., Worley, K.C., Elsik, C.G., Wickline, S. a, Jacobsen, Steven E, Ma, Jian, Robinson, G.E., 2013. RNA interference knockdown of DNA methyl-transferase 3 affects gene alternative splicing in the honey bee. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110, 12750–5.
- Lincoln, C., Britton, J.H., Estelle, M., 1990. Growth and development of the axr1 mutants of Arabidopsis. The Plant cell 2, 1071–80.
- Lindroth, A M, Cao, X, Jackson, J P, Zilberman, D, McCallum, C M, Henikoff, S, Jacobsen, S E, 2001. Requirement of CHROMOMETHYLASE3 for maintenance of CpXpG methylation. Science 292, 2077–80.

- Lippman, Z., Gendrel, A.-V., Black, M., Vaughn, M.W., Dedhia, N., McCombie, W.R., Lavine, K., Mittal, V., May, B., Kasschau, K.D., Carrington, J.C., Doerge, Rebecca W, Colot, V., Martienssen, R., 2004. Role of transposable elements in heterochromatin and epigenetic control. Nature 430, 471–6.
- Lippman, Z., May, B., Yordan, C., Singer, T., Martienssen, R., 2003. Distinct mechanisms determine transposon inheritance and methylation via small interfering RNA and histone modification. PLoS biology 1, E67.
- Lister, R., O'Malley, R.C., Tonti-Filippini, J., Gregory, B.D., Berry, C.C., Millar, a H., Ecker, J.R., 2008. Highly integrated single-base resolution maps of the epigenome in Arabidopsis. Cell 133, 523–36.
- Lister, R., Pelizzola, M., Dowen, R.H., Hawkins, R.D., Hon, G., Tonti-Filippini, J., Nery, J.R., Lee, L., Ye, Z., Ngo, Q., Edsall, L., Antosiewicz-Bourget, J., Stewart, R., Ruotti, V., Millar, A.H., Thomson, J.A., Ren, B., Ecker, J.R., 2009. Human DNA methylomes at base resolution show widespread epigenomic differences. Nature 462, 315–22.
- Liu, Q., Feng, Y., Zhu, Z., 2009. Dicer-like (DCL) proteins in plants. Functional & integrative genomics 9, 277–86.
- Liu, Yilin, Ahn, J., Datta, S., Salzman, R.A., Moon, J., Huyghues-despointes, B., Pittendrigh, B., Murdock, L.L., Koiwa, Hisashi, Zhu-salzman, K., 2005. Arabidopsis Vegetative Storage Protein Is an Anti-Insect Acid Phosphatase. Society 139, 1545– 1556.
- Lorincz, M.C., Dickerson, D.R., Schmitt, M., Groudine, M., 2004. Intragenic DNA methylation alters chromatin structure and elongation efficiency in mammalian cells. Nature structural & molecular biology 11, 1068–75.
- Lucht, J.M., Mauch-Mani, Brigitte, Steiner, H.-Y., Metraux, J.-P., Ryals, J., Hohn, B., 2002. Pathogen stress increases somatic recombination frequency in Arabidopsis. Nature genetics 30, 311–4.
- Luna, Estrella, Bruce, T.J.A., Roberts, M.R., Flors, Victor, Ton, Jurriaan, 2012. Nextgeneration systemic acquired resistance. Plant physiology 158, 844–53.
- Luteijn, M.J., Ketting, R.F., 2013. PIWI-interacting RNAs: from generation to transgenerational epigenetics. Nature reviews. Genetics 14, 523–34.
- Macková, J., Vašková, M., Macek, P., Hronková, M., Schreiber, L., Šantrůček, J., 2013. Plant response to drought stress simulated by ABA application: Changes in chemical composition of cuticular waxes. Environmental and Experimental Botany 86, 70–75.
- Maestri, E., Marmiroli, M., Visioli, G., Marmiroli, N., 2010. Metal tolerance and hyperaccumulation: Costs and trade-offs between traits and environment. Environmental and Experimental Botany 68, 1–13.
- Malagnac, F., Bartee, L., Bender, J., 2002. An Arabidopsis SET domain protein required for maintenance but not establishment of DNA methylation. The EMBO journal 21, 6842– 52.

- Manning, K., Tör, M., Poole, M., Hong, Y., Thompson, A.J., King, G.J., Giovannoni, J.J., Seymour, G.B., 2006. A naturally occurring epigenetic mutation in a gene encoding an SBP-box transcription factor inhibits tomato fruit ripening. Nature genetics 38, 948–52.
- Martínez-Macías, M.I., Qian, W., Miki, D., Pontes, O., Liu, Yunhua, Tang, Kai, Liu, R., Morales-Ruiz, T., Ariza, R.R., Roldán-Arjona, T., Zhu, Jian-Kang, 2012. A DNA 3' phosphatase functions in active DNA demethylation in Arabidopsis. Molecular cell 45, 357–70.
- Mason, H.S., Mullet, John E, 1990. Expression of Two Soybean Vegetative Storage Protein Genes during Development and in Response to Water Deficit, Wounding, and Jasmonic Acid. The Plant cell 2, 569–579.
- Massonnet, C., Vile, D., Fabre, J., Hannah, M. a, Caldana, C., Lisec, J., Beemster, G.T.S., Meyer, R.C., Messerli, G., Gronlund, J.T., Perkovic, J., Wigmore, E., May, S., Bevan, M.W., Meyer, Christian, Rubio-Díaz, S., Weigel, D., Micol, J.L., Buchanan-Wollaston, V., Fiorani, F., Walsh, S., Rinn, B., Gruissem, W., Hilson, P., Hennig, L., Willmitzer, Lothar, Granier, C., 2010. Probing the reproducibility of leaf growth and molecular phenotypes: a comparison of three Arabidopsis accessions cultivated in ten laboratories. Plant physiology 152, 2142–57.
- Mathieu, O., Reinders, J., Caikovski, M., Smathajitt, C., Paszkowski, Jerzy, 2007. Transgenerational stability of the Arabidopsis epigenome is coordinated by CG methylation. Cell 130, 851–62.
- Matthews, S.G., Phillips, D.I.W., 2010. Minireview: transgenerational inheritance of the stress response: a new frontier in stress research. Endocrinology 151, 7–13.
- Matzke, M., Kanno, T., Daxinger, L., Huettel, B., Matzke, Antonius J M, 2009. RNAmediated chromatin-based silencing in plants. Current opinion in cell biology 21, 367– 76.
- Matzke, M., Kanno, T., Huettel, B., Daxinger, L., Matzke, Antonius J M, 2007. Targets of RNA-directed DNA methylation. Current opinion in plant biology 10, 512–9.
- Maunakea, A.K., Nagarajan, R.P., Bilenky, M., Ballinger, T.J., D'Souza, C., Fouse, S.D., Johnson, B.E., Hong, C., Nielsen, C., Zhao, Yongjun, Turecki, G., Delaney, A., Varhol, R., Thiessen, N., Shchors, K., Heine, V.M., Rowitch, D.H., Xing, X., Fiore, C., Schillebeeckx, M., Jones, S.J.M., Haussler, D., Marra, M. a, Hirst, M., Wang, T., Costello, J.F., 2010. Conserved role of intragenic DNA methylation in regulating alternative promoters. Nature 466, 253–7.
- McClelland, M., Nelson, M., Raschke, E., 1994. Effect of site-specific modification on restriction endonucleases and DNA modification methyltransferases. Nucleic acids research 22, 3640–59.
- Mei, H., Cheng, N.H., Zhao, Jian, Park, S., Escareno, R. a, Pittman, J.K., Hirschi, K.D., 2009. Root development under metal stress in Arabidopsis thaliana requires the H+/cation antiporter CAX4. The New phytologist 183, 95–105.
- Mirouze, M., Paszkowski, Jerzy, 2011. Epigenetic contribution to stress adaptation in plants. Current opinion in plant biology 14, 267–74.

- Mirouze, M., Reinders, J., Bucher, E., Nishimura, T., Schneeberger, K., Ossowski, S., Cao, J., Weigel, D., Paszkowski, Jerzy, Mathieu, O., 2009. Selective epigenetic control of retrotransposition in Arabidopsis. Nature 461, 427–30.
- Mirouze, M., Sels, J., Richard, O., Czernic, P., Loubet, S., Jacquier, A., François, I.E.J. a, Cammue, B.P. a, Lebrun, M., Berthomieu, P., Marquès, L., 2006. A putative novel role for plant defensins: a defensin from the zinc hyper-accumulating plant, Arabidopsis halleri, confers zinc tolerance. The Plant journal 47, 329–42.
- Mitsuda, N., Ikeda, M., Takada, S., Takiguchi, Y., Kondou, Y., Yoshizumi, T., Fujita, M., Shinozaki, Kazuo, Matsui, M., Ohme-Takagi, M., 2010. Efficient Yeast One-/Two-Hybrid Screening Using a Library Composed Only of Transcription Factors in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant and Cell Physiology 51, 2145–2151.
- Miura, A, Yonebayashi, S., Watanabe, K., Toyama, T., Shimada, H., Kakutani, T, 2001. Mobilization of transposons by a mutation abolishing full DNA methylation in Arabidopsis. Nature 411, 212–4.
- Miura, Asuka, Nakamura, M., Inagaki, S., Kobayashi, Akie, Saze, H., Kakutani, Tetsuji, 2009. An Arabidopsis jmjC domain protein protects transcribed genes from DNA methylation at CHG sites. The EMBO journal 28, 1078–86.
- Mok, Y.G., Uzawa, R., Lee, J., Weiner, G.M., Eichman, B.F., Fischer, R.L., Huh, J.H., 2010. Domain structure of the DEMETER 5-methylcytosine DNA glycosylase. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107, 19225–30.
- Molinier, J., Ries, G., Zipfel, C., Hohn, B., 2006. Transgeneration memory of stress in plants. Nature 442, 1046–9.
- Molnar, A., Melnyk, C.W., Bassett, A., Hardcastle, T.J., Dunn, R., Baulcombe, David C, 2010. Small silencing RNAs in plants are mobile and direct epigenetic modification in recipient cells. Science 328, 872–5.
- Money, N.P., 1989. Osmotic Pressure of Aqueous Polyethylene Glycols : Relationship between Molecular Weight and Vapor Pressure Deficit. Plant physiology 91, 766–9.
- Mosher, R.A., Melnyk, C.W., Kelly, K.A., Dunn, R.M., Studholme, D.J., Baulcombe, David C, 2009. Uniparental expression of PolIV-dependent siRNAs in developing endosperm of Arabidopsis. Nature 460, 283–6.
- Mukherjee, I., Campbell, N.H., Ash, J.S., Connolly, Erin L, 2006. Expression profiling of the Arabidopsis ferric chelate reductase (FRO) gene family reveals differential regulation by iron and copper. Planta 223, 1178–90.
- Mumm, R., Posthumus, M. a, Dicke, M., 2008. Significance of terpenoids in induced indirect plant defence against herbivorous arthropods. Plant, cell & environment 31, 575–85.
- Murashige, T., Skoog, F., 1962. A Revised Medium for Rapid Growth and Bio Assays with Tobacco Tissue Cultures. Physiologia Plantarum 15, 473–497.

- Nakayashiki, H., Ikeda, K., Hashimoto, Y., Tosa, Y., Mayama, S., 2001. Methylation is not the main force repressing the retrotransposon MAGGY in Magnaporthe grisea. Nucleic acids research 29, 1278–84.
- Nonomura, K.-I., Morohoshi, A., Nakano, M., Eiguchi, M., Miyao, A., Hirochika, H., Kurata, N., 2007. A germ cell specific gene of the ARGONAUTE family is essential for the progression of premeiotic mitosis and meiosis during sporogenesis in rice. The Plant cell 19, 2583–94.
- Ooi, S.K.T., Bestor, T.H., 2008. Cytosine methylation: remaining faithful. Current biology 18, R174–6.
- Ou, X., Zhang, Yunhong, Xu, C., Lin, X., Zang, Q., Zhuang, T., Jiang, L., Von Wettstein, Diter, Liu, Bao, 2012. Transgenerational Inheritance of Modified DNA Methylation Patterns and Enhanced Tolerance Induced by Heavy Metal Stress in Rice (Oryza sativa L.). PloS one 7, e41143.
- Park, J., Kim, Y.-S., Kim, S.-G., Jung, J.-H., Woo, J.-C., Park, C.-M., 2011. Integration of auxin and salt signals by the NAC transcription factor NTM2 during seed germination in Arabidopsis. Plant physiology 156, 537–49.
- Pastor, V., Luna, E., Mauch-Mani, B., Ton, J., Flors, V., 2013. Primed plants do not forget. Environmental and Experimental Botany 94, 46–56.
- Paszkowski, Jerzy, Grossniklaus, U., 2011. Selected aspects of transgenerational epigenetic inheritance and resetting in plants. Current opinion in plant biology 14, 195–203.
- Pecinka, A., Dinh, H.Q., Baubec, T., Rosa, M., Lettner, N., Mittelsten Scheid, O., 2010. Epigenetic regulation of repetitive elements is attenuated by prolonged heat stress in Arabidopsis. The Plant cell 22, 3118–29.
- Pecinka, A., Mittelsten Scheid, O., 2012. Stress-induced chromatin changes: a critical view on their heritability. Plant & cell physiology 53, 801–8.
- Pecinka, A., Rosa, M., Schikora, A., Berlinger, M., Hirt, H., Luschnig, C., Mittelsten Scheid, O., 2009. Transgenerational stress memory is not a general response in Arabidopsis. PloS one 4, e5202.
- Penterman, J., Zilberman, Daniel, Huh, J.H., Ballinger, T., Henikoff, Steven, Fischer, R.L., 2007. DNA demethylation in the Arabidopsis genome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104, 6752–7.
- Ponferrada-Marin, M.I., Martinez-Macias, M.I., Morales-Ruiz, T., Roldan-Arjona, T., Ariza, R.R., Ponferrada-Marín, M.I., Martínez-Macías, M.I., Roldán-Arjona, T., 2010. Methylation-independent DNA binding modulates specificity of repressor of silencing 1 (ROS1) and facilitates demethylation in long substrates. The Journal of biological chemistry 1, 23032–9.
- Ponferrada-Marín, M.I., Parrilla-Doblas, J.T., Roldán-Arjona, T., Ariza, R.R., 2010. A discontinuous DNA glycosylase domain in a family of enzymes that excise 5methylcytosine. Nucleic acids research 39, 1–12.

Ponferrada-Marín, M.I., Roldán-Arjona, T., Ariza, R.R., 2009. ROS1 5-methylcytosine DNA glycosylase is a slow-turnover catalyst that initiates DNA demethylation in a distributive fashion. Nucleic acids research 37, 4264–74.

Popper, K., 2002. The Logic of Scientific Discovery. Routledge Classics, London.

- Porra, R.J., Thompson, W. a., Kriedemann, P.E., 1989. Determination of accurate extinction coefficients and simultaneous equations for assaying chlorophylls a and b extracted with four different solvents: verification of the concentration of chlorophyll standards by atomic absorption spectroscopy. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -Bioenergetics 975, 384–394.
- Raghavendra, A.S., Gonugunta, V.K., Christmann, A., Grill, E., 2010. ABA perception and signalling. Trends in plant science 15, 395–401.
- Rahavi, M.R., Migicovsky, Z., Titov, V., Kovalchuk, I., 2011. Transgenerational adaptation to heavy metal salts in Arabidopsis. Frontiers in plant science 2, 91.
- Rangwala, S.H., Elumalai, R., Vanier, C., Ozkan, H., Galbraith, D.W., Richards, E.J., 2006. Meiotically stable natural epialleles of Sadhu, a novel Arabidopsis retroposon. PLoS genetics 2, e36.
- Rasmann, S., De Vos, M., Casteel, C.L., Tian, D., Halitschke, R., Sun, J.Y., Agrawal, A. a, Felton, G.W., Jander, G., 2012a. Herbivory in the previous generation primes plants for enhanced insect resistance. Plant physiology 158, 854–63.
- Rasmann, S., De Vos, M., Jander, G., 2012b. Ecological role of transgenerational resistance against biotic threats. Plant signaling & behavior 7, 447–9.
- Ratel, D., Ravanat, J.-L., Berger, François, Wion, D., 2006a. N6-methyladenine: the other methylated base of DNA. BioEssays : news and reviews in molecular, cellular and developmental biology 28, 309–15.
- Ratel, D., Ravanat, J.-L., Charles, M.-P., Platet, N., Breuillaud, L., Lunardi, J., Berger, François, Wion, D., 2006b. Undetectable levels of N6-methyl adenine in mouse DNA: Cloning and analysis of PRED28, a gene coding for a putative mammalian DNA adenine methyltransferase. FEBS letters 580, 3179–84.
- Ravet, K., Touraine, B., Boucherez, J., Briat, J.-F., Gaymard, F., Cellier, F., 2009. Ferritins control interaction between iron homeostasis and oxidative stress in Arabidopsis. The Plant journal 57, 400–12.
- Ream, T.S., Haag, J.R., Wierzbicki, A.T., Nicora, C.D., Norbeck, A.D., Zhu, Jian-kang, Hagen, G., Guilfoyle, T.J., Pas, L., Pasa-Tolić, L., Pikaard, C.S., 2009. Subunit compositions of the RNA-silencing enzymes Pol IV and Pol V reveal their origins as specialized forms of RNA polymerase II. Molecular cell 33, 192–203.
- Reik, W., 2007. Stability and flexibility of epigenetic gene regulation in mammalian development. Nature 447, 425–32.
- Reinders, J., Wulff, B.B.H., Mirouze, M., Marí-Ordóñez, A., Dapp, M., Rozhon, W., Bucher, E., Theiler, G., Paszkowski, Jerzy, 2009. Compromised stability of DNA

methylation and transposon immobilization in mosaic Arabidopsis epigenomes. Genes & development 23, 939–50.

- Remans, T., Smeets, K., Opdenakker, K., Mathijsen, D., Vangronsveld, J., Cuypers, A., 2008. Normalisation of real-time RT-PCR gene expression measurements in Arabidopsis thaliana exposed to increased metal concentrations. Planta 227, 1343–9.
- Reyna-López, E., Simpson, J., Ruiz-Herrera, J., 1997. Differences in DNA methylation patterns are detectable during the dimorphic transition of fungi by amplification of restriction polymorphisms. Molecular and General Genetics MGG 253, 703–710.
- Richards, E.J., 2006. Inherited epigenetic variation--revisiting soft inheritance. Nature reviews. Genetics 7, 395–401.
- Riesch, H., 2010. Simple or Simplistic? Scientists' Views on Occam's Razor Hauke R. THEORIA 67, 75–90.
- Ringli, C., Keller, B., 1998. Specific interaction of the tomato bZIP transcription factor VSF-1 with a non-palindromic DNA sequence that controls vascular gene expression. Plant molecular biology 37, 977–88.
- Robinson, N.J., Procter, C.M., Connolly, E L, Guerinot, M.L., 1999. A ferric-chelate reductase for iron uptake from soils. Nature 397, 694–7.
- Roll-Hansen, N., 1985. A new perspective on Lysenko? Annals of science 42, 261-78.
- Roosens, N.H., Thu, T.T., Iskandar, H.M., Jacobs, M., 1998. Isolation of the ornithine-deltaaminotransferase cDNA and effect of salt stress on its expression in Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant physiology 117, 263–71.
- Rosenberg, S.M., 2001. Evolving responsively: adaptive mutation. Nature reviews. Genetics 2, 504–15.
- Rountree, M.R., Selker, E.U., 1997. DNA methylation inhibits elongation but not initiation of transcription in Neurospora crassa. Genes & Development 11, 2383–2395.
- Rowley, M.J., Avrutsky, M.I., Sifuentes, C.J., Pereira, L., Wierzbicki, A.T., 2011. Independent Chromatin Binding of ARGONAUTE4 and SPT5L/KTF1 Mediates Transcriptional Gene Silencing. PLoS genetics 7, e1002120.
- Sánchez-Calderón, L., López-Bucio, J., Chacón-López, A., Cruz-Ramírez, A., Nieto-Jacobo, F., Dubrovsky, J.G., Herrera-Estrella, L., 2005. Phosphate starvation induces a determinate developmental program in the roots of Arabidopsis thaliana. Plant & cell physiology 46, 174–84.
- Sano, H., Kamada, I., Youssefian, S., Wabiko, H., 1989. Correlation between DNA undermethylation and dwarfism in maize. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -Gene Structure and Expression 1009, 35–38.
- Sano, Hiroshi, Kamada, Ikuko, Youssefian, Shohab, Katsumi, M., Wabiko, Hiroetsu, 1990. A single treatment of rice seedlings with 5-azacytidine induces heritable dwarfism and undermethylation of genomic DNA. MGG Molecular & General Genetics 220, 441– 447.

- Schor, I.E., Kornblihtt, A.R., 2010. A new layer in alternative splicing regulation. Epigenetics 5, 174–179.
- Seung, D., Risopatron, J.P.M., Jones, B.J., Marc, J., 2012. Circadian clock-dependent gating in ABA signalling networks. Protoplasma 249, 445–57.
- Severin, P.M.D., Zou, X., Gaub, H.E., Schulten, K., 2011. Cytosine methylation alters DNA mechanical properties. Nucleic acids research 39, 8740–51.
- Shanmugam, V., Lo, J.-C., Wu, C.-L., Wang, S.-L., Lai, C.-C., Connolly, Erin L, Huang, J.-L., Yeh, K.-C., 2011. Differential expression and regulation of iron-regulated metal transporters in Arabidopsis halleri and Arabidopsis thaliana - the role in zinc tolerance. The New phytologist 190, 125–137.
- Sheldon, C.C., Hills, M.J., Lister, C., Dean, C., Dennis, Elizabeth S, Peacock, W James, 2008. Resetting of FLOWERING LOCUS C expression after epigenetic repression by vernalization. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105, 2214–9.
- Shi, Haitao, Ye, T., Chen, F., Cheng, Z., Wang, Yanping, Yang, P., Zhang, Yansheng, Chan, Z., 2013. Manipulation of arginase expression modulates abiotic stress tolerance in Arabidopsis: effect on arginine metabolism and ROS accumulation. Journal of experimental botany 64, 1367–1379.
- Shirayama, M., Seth, M., Lee, H.-C., Gu, W., Ishidate, T., Conte, D., Mello, C.C., 2012. piRNAs initiate an epigenetic memory of nonself RNA in the C. elegans germline. Cell 150, 65–77.
- Singh, A., Zubko, E., Meyer, P., 2008. Cooperative activity of DNA methyltransferases for maintenance of symmetrical and non-symmetrical cytosine methylation in Arabidopsis thaliana. The Plant journal 56, 814–23.
- Sivitz, A.B., Hermand, V., Curie, C., Vert, G., 2012. Arabidopsis bHLH100 and bHLH101 control iron homeostasis via a FIT-independent pathway. PloS one 7, e44843.
- Slaughter, A., Daniel, X., Flors, Victor, Luna, Estrella, Hohn, B., Mauch-Mani, Brigitte, 2012. Descendants of primed Arabidopsis plants exhibit resistance to biotic stress. Plant physiology 158, 835–43.
- Slotkin, R.K., Vaughn, M., Borges, F., Tanurdzić, M., Becker, J.D., Feijó, J.A., Martienssen, R. a, 2009. Epigenetic reprogramming and small RNA silencing of transposable elements in pollen. Cell 136, 461–72.
- Staswick, P.E., Huang, J.F., Rhee, Y., 1991. Nitrogen and methyl jasmonate induction of soybean vegetative storage protein genes. Plant physiology 96, 130–6.
- Stenzel, I., Otto, M., Delker, C., Kirmse, N., Schmidt, D., Miersch, O., Hause, B., Wasternack, C., 2012. ALLENE OXIDE CYCLASE (AOC) gene family members of Arabidopsis thaliana: tissue- and organ-specific promoter activities and in vivo heteromerization. Journal of experimental botany 63, 6125–38.

- Steward, N., Ito, M., Yamaguchi, Y., Koizumi, N., Sano, Hiroshi, 2002. Periodic DNA methylation in maize nucleosomes and demethylation by environmental stress. The Journal of biological chemistry 277, 37741–6.
- Stroud, H., Ding, B., Simon, S. a., Feng, S., Bellizzi, M., Pellegrini, M., Wang, G.-L., Meyers, B. C., Jacobsen, S. E., 2013. Plants regenerated from tissue culture contain stable epigenome changes in rice. eLife 2, e00354–e00354.
- Sun, F., Zhang, Wensheng, Hu, H., Li, Bao, Wang, Youning, Zhao, Yankun, Li, K., Liu, M., Li, Xia, 2008. Salt modulates gravity signaling pathway to regulate growth direction of primary roots in Arabidopsis. Plant physiology 146, 178–88.
- Suter, L., Widmer, A., 2013. Environmental heat and salt stress induce transgenerational phenotypic changes in Arabidopsis thaliana. PloS one 8, e60364.
- Suzuki, M.M., Bird, A., 2008. DNA methylation landscapes: provocative insights from epigenomics. Nature reviews. Genetics 9, 465–76.
- Székely, G., Abrahám, E., Cséplo, A., Rigó, G., Zsigmond, L., Csiszár, J., Ayaydin, F., Strizhov, N., Jásik, J., Schmelzer, E., Koncz, C., Szabados, L., 2008. Duplicated P5CS genes of Arabidopsis play distinct roles in stress regulation and developmental control of proline biosynthesis. The Plant journal 53, 11–28.
- Taj, G., Agarwal, P., Grant, M., Kumar, A., 2010. MAPK machinery in plants: Recognition and response to different stresses through multiple signal transduction pathways. Plant Signaling & Behavior 5, 1370–1378.
- Taki, N., Sasaki-sekimoto, Y., Obayashi, T., Kikuta, A., Kobayashi, K., 2005. 12-Oxo-Phytodienoic Acid Triggers Expression of a Distinct Set of Genes and Plays a Role in Wound-Induced Gene Expression in Arabidopsis. Plant physiology 139, 1268–1283.
- Takuno, S., Gaut, B.S., 2012. Body-methylated genes in Arabidopsis thaliana are functionally important and evolve slowly. Molecular biology and evolution 29, 219– 27.
- Tan, M., 2010. Analysis of DNA methylation of maize in response to osmotic and salt stress based on methylation-sensitive amplified polymorphism. Plant physiology and biochemistry 48, 21–6.
- Tanurdzic, M., Vaughn, M.W., Jiang, H., Lee, T.-J., Slotkin, R.K., Sosinski, B., Thompson, W.F., Doerge, R W, Martienssen, R. a, 2008. Epigenomic consequences of immortalized plant cell suspension culture. PLoS biology 6, 2880–95.
- Tariq, M., Saze, H., Probst, A. V, Lichota, J., Habu, Y., Paszkowski, Jerzy, 2003. Erasure of CpG methylation in Arabidopsis alters patterns of histone H3 methylation in heterochromatin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100, 8823–7.
- Teixeira, Felipe Karam, Colot, V., 2009. Gene body DNA methylation in plants: a means to an end or an end to a means? The EMBO journal 28, 997–8.
- Teixeira, Felipe Karam, Heredia, F., Sarazin, A., Roudier, F., Boccara, M., Ciaudo, C., Cruaud, C., Poulain, J., Berdasco, M., Fraga, M.F., Voinnet, O., Wincker, P., Esteller,

M., Colot, V., 2009. A role for RNAi in the selective correction of DNA methylation defects. Science 323, 1600–4.

- Teo, G., Suzuki, Y., Uratsu, S.L., Lampinen, B., Ormonde, N., Hu, W.K., DeJong, T.M., Dandekar, A.M., 2006. Silencing leaf sorbitol synthesis alters long-distance partitioning and apple fruit quality. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103, 18842–7.
- Thellier, M., Lüttge, U., 2013. Plant memory: a tentative model. Plant biology 15, 1–12.
- Theodoulou, F.L., Eastmond, P.J., 2012. Seed storage oil catabolism: a story of give and take. Current opinion in plant biology 15, 322–8.
- Thiede, D.A., Augspurger, C.K., Url, S., Botany, J., 2013. Intraspecific Variation in Seed Dispersion of Lepidium campestre (Barassicaceae). American journal of botany 83, 856–866.
- Thurman, R.E., Rynes, E., Humbert, R., Vierstra, J., Maurano, M.T., *et al.*, 2012. The accessible chromatin landscape of the human genome. Nature 489, 75–82.
- Tompa, R., McCallum, Claire M, Delrow, J., Henikoff, J.G., Van Steensel, B., Henikoff, Steven, 2002. Genome-wide profiling of DNA methylation reveals transposon targets of CHROMOMETHYLASE3. Current biology 12, 65–8.
- Ton, Jurriaan, Mauch-Mani, Brigitte, 2004. Beta-amino-butyric acid-induced resistance against necrotrophic pathogens is based on ABA-dependent priming for callose. The Plant journal 38, 119–30.
- Trapnell, C., Roberts, A., Goff, L., Pertea, G., Kim, Daehwan, Kelley, D.R., Pimentel, H., Salzberg, S.L., Rinn, J.L., Pachter, L., 2012. Differential gene and transcript expression analysis of RNA-seq experiments with TopHat and Cufflinks. Nature protocols 7, 562– 78.
- Tricker, P.J., Gibbings, J.G., Rodríguez López, C.M., Hadley, P., Wilkinson, M.J., 2012. Low relative humidity triggers RNA-directed de novo DNA methylation and suppression of genes controlling stomatal development. Journal of experimental botany 63, 3799–813.
- Tsukahara, S., Kobayashi, Akie, Kawabe, A., Mathieu, O., Miura, Asuka, Kakutani, Tetsuji, 2009. Bursts of retrotransposition reproduced in Arabidopsis. Nature 461, 423–6.
- Turner, J.G., Ellis, C., Devoto, A., 2002. The jasmonate signal pathway. The Plant cell 14, S153–64.
- Vaillant, I., Tutois, S., Jasencakova, Z., Douet, J., Schubert, I., Tourmente, S., 2008. Hypomethylation and hypermethylation of the tandem repetitive 5S rRNA genes in Arabidopsis. The Plant journal 54, 299–309.
- Van Etten, R.L., Waymack, P.P., 1991. Substrate specificity and pH dependence of homogeneous wheat germ acid phosphatase. Archives of biochemistry and biophysics 288, 634–45.

- Van Wees, S.C.M., Van der Ent, S., Pieterse, C.M.J., 2008. Plant immune responses triggered by beneficial microbes. Current opinion in plant biology 11, 443–8.
- Vanyushin, B.F., Ashapkin, V. V, 2011. DNA methylation in higher plants: past, present and future. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1809, 360–8.
- Vargas, A.O., 2009. Did Paul Kammerer discover epigenetic inheritance? A modern look at the controversial midwife toad experiments. Journal of experimental zoology. Part B, Molecular and developmental evolution 312, 667–78.
- Vaughn, K.C., Bowling, A.J., Ruel, K.J., 2011. The mechanism for explosive seed dispersal in Cardamine hirsuta (Brassicaceae). American journal of botany 98, 1276–85.
- Vaughn, M.W., Tanurdzić, M., Lippman, Z., Jiang, H., Carrasquillo, R., Rabinowicz, P.D., Dedhia, N., McCombie, W.R., Agier, N., Bulski, A., Colot, V., Doerge, R W, Martienssen, R. a, 2007. Epigenetic natural variation in Arabidopsis thaliana. PLoS biology 5, e174.
- Verdel, A., Vavasseur, A., Le Gorrec, M., Touat-Todeschini, L., 2009. Common themes in siRNA-mediated epigenetic silencing pathways. The International journal of developmental biology 53, 245–57.
- Verhoeven, K.J.F., Jansen, J.J., Van Dijk, P.J., Biere, A., 2010. Stress-induced DNA methylation changes and their heritability in asexual dandelions. The New phytologist 185, 1108–18.
- Verhoeven, K.J.F., Van Gurp, T.P., 2012. Transgenerational effects of stress exposure on offspring phenotypes in apomictic dandelion. PloS one 7, e38605.
- Verslues, P.E., Agarwal, M., Katiyar-Agarwal, S., Zhu, Jianhua, Zhu, Jian-Kang, 2006. Methods and concepts in quantifying resistance to drought, salt and freezing, abiotic stresses that affect plant water status. The Plant journal 45, 523–39.
- Verslues, P.E., Ober, E.S., Sharp, R.E., 1998. Root Growth and Oxygen Relations at Low Water Potentials . Glycol Solutions 1 116, 1403–1412.
- Vert, G., Grotz, N., Dédaldéchamp, F., Gaymard, F., Guerinot, L., Briat, J., Curie, C., 2002. IRT1, an Arabidopsis Transporter Essential for Iron Uptake from the Soil and for Plant Growth. The Plant cell 14, 1223–1233.
- Vicedo, B., Flors, Víctor, De la O Leyva, M., Finiti, I., Kravchuk, Z., Real, M.D., García-Agustín, P., González-Bosch, C., 2009. Hexanoic acid-induced resistance against Botrytis cinerea in tomato plants. Molecular plant-microbe interactions : MPMI 22, 1455–65.
- Vining, K.J., Pomraning, K.R., Wilhelm, L.J., Priest, H.D., Pellegrini, Matteo, Mockler, T.C., Freitag, M., Strauss, S.H., 2012. Dynamic DNA cytosine methylation in the Populus trichocarpa genome: tissue-level variation and relationship to gene expression. BMC genomics 13, 27.
- Viola, I.L., Uberti Manassero, N.G., Ripoll, R., Gonzalez, D.H., 2011. The Arabidopsis class I TCP transcription factor AtTCP11 is a developmental regulator with distinct DNA-

binding properties due to the presence of a threonine residue at position 15 of the TCP domain. The Biochemical journal 435, 143–55.

- Vos, P., Hogers, R., Bleeker, M., Reijans, M., Van De Lee, T., Hornes, M., Frijters, a, Pot, J., Peleman, J., Kuiper, M., 1995. AFLP: a new technique for DNA fingerprinting. Nucleic acids research 23, 4407–14.
- Wada, Y, Miyamoto, K., Kusano, T., Sano, H, 2004. Association between up-regulation of stress-responsive genes and hypomethylation of genomic DNA in tobacco plants. Molecular genetics and genomics : MGG 271, 658–66.
- Waddington, C.H., 2012. The epigenotype. 1942. International journal of epidemiology 41, 10–3.
- Walter, J., Nagy, L., Hein, R., Rascher, U., Beierkuhnlein, C., Willner, E., Jentsch, A., 2011. Do plants remember drought? Hints towards a drought-memory in grasses. Environmental and Experimental Botany 71, 34–40.
- Wang, H., Zhang, Xiuren, Liu, Jun, Kiba, T., Woo, J., Ojo, T., Hafner, M., Tuschl, T., Chua, N.-H., Wang, X.-J., 2011. Deep sequencing of small RNAs specifically associated with Arabidopsis AGO1 and AGO4 uncovers new AGO functions. The Plant journal 67, 292–304.
- Wang, L, Heinlein, M., Kunze, R., 1996. Methylation pattern of Activator transposase binding sites in maize endosperm. The Plant cell 8, 747–58.
- Wang, Z.X., Yano, M., Yamanouchi, U., Iwamoto, M., Monna, L., Hayasaka, H., Katayose, Y., Sasaki, T., 1999. The Pib gene for rice blast resistance belongs to the nucleotide binding and leucine-rich repeat class of plant disease resistance genes. The Plant journal 19, 55–64.
- Wassenegger, M., Heimes, S., Riedel, L., Sänger, H.L., 1994. RNA-directed de novo methylation of genomic sequences in plants. Cell 76, 567–576.
- Weigel, D., Glazebrook, J., 2006. Transformation of agrobacterium using electroporation. CSH protocols 2006.
- Whittle, C. a. a., Otto, S.P.P., Johnston, M.O.O., Krochko, J.E.E., 2009. Adaptive epigenetic memory of ancestral temperature regime in Arabidopsis thaliana. Botany 87, 650–657.
- Widman, N., Jacobsen, Steve E, Pellegrini, Matteo, 2009. Determining the conservation of DNA methylation in Arabidopsis. Epigenetics 4, 119–24.
- Wierzbicki, A.T., Haag, J.R., Pikaard, C.S., 2008. Noncoding transcription by RNA polymerase Pol IVb/Pol V mediates transcriptional silencing of overlapping and adjacent genes. Cell 135, 635–48.
- Wilson, A.S., Power, B.E., Molloy, P.L., 2007. DNA hypomethylation and human diseases. Biochimica et biophysica acta 1775, 138–62.
- Woo, H.R., Dittmer, T. a, Richards, E.J., 2008. Three SRA-domain methylcytosine-binding proteins cooperate to maintain global CpG methylation and epigenetic silencing in Arabidopsis. PLoS genetics 4, e1000156.

- Woo, H.R., Pontes, O., Pikaard, C.S., Richards, E.J., 2007. VIM1, a methylcytosine-binding protein required for centromeric heterochromatinization. Genes & development 21, 267–77.
- Wu, H., Chen, C., Du, Juan, Liu, Hongfei, Cui, Y., Zhang, Yue, He, Y., Wang, Yiqing, Chu, Chengcai, Feng, Z., Li, Junming, Ling, H.-Q., 2012. Co-overexpression FIT with AtbHLH38 or AtbHLH39 in Arabidopsis-enhanced cadmium tolerance via increased cadmium sequestration in roots and improved iron homeostasis of shoots. Plant physiology 158, 790–800.
- Xiao, W., Custard, K.D., Brown, R.C., Lemmon, B.E., Harada, J.J., Goldberg, R.B., Fischer, R.L., 2006. DNA methylation is critical for Arabidopsis embryogenesis and seed viability. The Plant cell 18, 805–14.
- Xiao, Y.-L., Redman, J.C., Monaghan, E.L., Zhuang, J., Underwood, B. a, Moskal, W. a, Wang, W., Wu, H.C., Town, C.D., 2010. High throughput generation of promoter reporter (GFP) transgenic lines of low expressing genes in Arabidopsis and analysis of their expression patterns. Plant methods 6, 18.
- Xu, X., Pozzo-Miller, L., 2013. A novel DNA-binding feature of MeCP2 contributes to Rett syndrome. Frontiers in cellular neuroscience 7, 64.
- Yaish, M.W.F., Peng, M., Rothstein, S.J., 2009. AtMBD9 modulates Arabidopsis development through the dual epigenetic pathways of DNA methylation and histone acetylation. The Plant journal 59, 123–35.
- Yang, T.J.W., Lin, W.-D., Schmidt, W., 2010. Transcriptional profiling of the Arabidopsis iron deficiency response reveals conserved transition metal homeostasis networks. Plant physiology 152, 2130–41.
- Yokthongwattana, C., Bucher, E., Caikovski, M., Vaillant, I., Nicolet, J., Mittelsten Scheid, O., Paszkowski, Jerzy, 2010. MOM1 and Pol-IV/V interactions regulate the intensity and specificity of transcriptional gene silencing. The EMBO journal 29, 340–51.
- Yoshiba, Y., Kiyosue, T., Katagiri, T., Ueda, H., Mizoguchi, T., Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, K., Wada, K., Harada, Y., Shinozaki, K, 1995. Correlation between the induction of a gene for delta 1-pyrroline-5-carboxylate synthetase and the accumulation of proline in Arabidopsis thaliana under osmotic stress. The Plant journal 7, 751–60.
- Yu, A., Lepère, G., Jay, F., Wang, Jingyu, Bapaume, L., Wang, Yu, Abraham, A.-L., Penterman, J., Fischer, R.L., Voinnet, O., Navarro, L., 2013. Dynamics and biological relevance of DNA demethylation in Arabidopsis antibacterial defense. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110, 2389–94.
- Yu, B., Bi, L., Zhai, J., Agarwal, M., Li, S., Wu, Q., Ding, S.-W.W., Meyers, Blake C., Vaucheret, H., Chen, X., 2010. siRNAs compete with miRNAs for methylation by HEN1 in Arabidopsis. Nucleic Acids Research 38, 5844–50.
- Yuan, Y., Wu, H., Wang, N., Li, Jie, Zhao, W., Du, Juan, Wang, Daowen, Ling, H.-Q., 2008. FIT interacts with AtbHLH38 and AtbHLH39 in regulating iron uptake gene expression for iron homeostasis in Arabidopsis. Cell research 18, 385–97.

- Zemach, A., Grafi, G., 2007. Methyl-CpG-binding domain proteins in plants: interpreters of DNA methylation. Trends in plant science 12, 80–5.
- Zemach, A., Li, Yan, Wayburn, B., Ben-meir, H., Kiss, V., Avivi, Y., Kalchenko, V., Jacobsen, Steven E, Grafi, G., 2005. DDM1 Binds Arabidopsis Methyl-CpG Binding Domain Proteins and Affects Their Subnuclear Localization. The Plant cell 17, 1549– 1558.
- Zhang, C.Y., Wang, N.N., Zhang, Y.H., Feng, Q.Z., Yang, C.W., Liu, B, 2013. DNA methylation involved in proline accumulation in response to osmotic stress in rice (Oryza sativa). Genetics and molecular research : GMR 12, 1269–77.
- Zhang, Cui-Jun, Zhou, Jin-Xing, Liu, Jun, Ma, Ze-Yang, Zhang, S.-W., Dou, Kun, Huang, Huan-Wei, Cai, Tao, Liu, R., Zhu, Jian-Kang, He, Xin-Jian, 2013. The splicing machinery promotes RNA-directed DNA methylation and transcriptional silencing in Arabidopsis. The EMBO journal 1–13.
- Zhang, J., Liu, Hua, Sun, J., Li, Bei, Zhu, Q., Chen, Shaoliang, Zhang, H., 2012. Arabidopsis fatty acid desaturase FAD2 is required for salt tolerance during seed germination and early seedling growth. PloS one 7, e30355.
- Zhang, Xiaoyu, Yazaki, J., Sundaresan, A., Cokus, S., Chan, S.W.-L., Chen, H., Henderson, I.R., Shinn, P., Pellegrini, Matteo, Jacobsen, Steve E, Ecker, J.R., 2006. Genome-wide high-resolution mapping and functional analysis of DNA methylation in arabidopsis. Cell 126, 1189–201.
- Zhang, Y.-Y., Fischer, M., Colot, V., Bossdorf, O., 2013. Epigenetic variation creates potential for evolution of plant phenotypic plasticity. New Phytologist 197, n/a–n/a.
- Zheng, X., Pontes, O., Zhu, J.J.-K.J.J.-K., Miki, D., Zhang, F., Li, W.-X., Iida, K., Kapoor, A., Pikaard, C.S., 2008. ROS3 is an RNA-binding protein required for DNA demethylation in Arabidopsis. Nature 455, 1259–62.
- Zheng, X., Zhu, Jianhua, Kapoor, A., Zhu, Jian-Kang, 2007. Role of Arabidopsis AGO6 in siRNA accumulation, DNA methylation and transcriptional gene silencing. The EMBO journal 26, 1691–701.
- Zhong, L., Xu, Y., Wang, Jian-bo, 2009. DNA-methylation changes induced by salt stress in wheat Triticum aestivum. African Journal of Biotechnology 8, 6201–6207.
- Zhong, S.-H., Liu, J.-Z., Jin, Hua, Lin, L., Li, Q., Chen, Y., Yuan, Y.-X., Wang, Z.-Y., Huang, H., Qi, Y.-J., Chen, X.-Y., Vaucheret, H., Chory, J., Li, Jianming, He, Z.-H., 2013. Warm temperatures induce transgenerational epigenetic release of RNA silencing by inhibiting siRNA biogenesis in Arabidopsis. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 110, 9171–6.
- Zhong, X., Hale, C.J., Law, J. a, Johnson, L.M., Feng, Suhua, Tu, A., Jacobsen, Steven E, 2012. DDR complex facilitates global association of RNA polymerase V to promoters and evolutionarily young transposons. Nature structural & molecular biology 19, 870– 5.
- Zhou, J., Wang, X., He, K., Charron, J.-B.F., Elling, A.A., Deng, X.W., 2010. Genome-wide profiling of histone H3 lysine 9 acetylation and dimethylation in Arabidopsis reveals

correlation between multiple histone marks and gene expression. Plant molecular biology 72, 585–95.

- Zhu, H., Hu, F., Wang, R., Zhou, Xin, Sze, S.-H., Liou, L.W., Barefoot, A., Dickman, M., Zhang, Xiuren, 2011. Arabidopsis Argonaute10 specifically sequesters miR166/165 to regulate shoot apical meristem development. Cell 145, 242–56.
- Zhu, J.J.-K., Kapoor, A., Sridhar, V. V, Agius, F., 2007. The DNA glycosylase/lyase ROS1 functions in pruning DNA methylation patterns in Arabidopsis. Current biology 17, 54–9.
- Zhu, J.J.-K.J.J.-K., Kapoor, A., Sridhar, V. V, Agius, F., 2007. The DNA glycosylase/lyase ROS1 functions in pruning DNA methylation patterns in Arabidopsis. Current biology 17, 54–9.
- Zhu, Jian-Kang, 2002. Salt and drought stress signal transduction in plants. Annual review of plant biology 53, 247–73.
- Zilberman, Daniel, 2008. The evolving functions of DNA methylation. Current opinion in plant biology 11, 554–9.
- Zilberman, Daniel, Cao, Xiaofeng, Jacobsen, Steven E, 2003. ARGONAUTE4 control of locus-specific siRNA accumulation and DNA and histone methylation. Science 299, 716–9.
- Zilberman, Daniel, Gehring, M., Tran, R.K., Ballinger, T., Henikoff, Steven, 2007. Genomewide analysis of Arabidopsis thaliana DNA methylation uncovers an interdependence between methylation and transcription. Nature genetics 39, 61–9.